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3.000
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5.000
3.000
5.000
3.000
4.000
5.000

Price or
Yield
0.410%
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0.900
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1.180
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1.450
1.720
1.720
1.720
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No dealer, broker, salesman or any other person has been authorized by the State of Maryland to give any
information or to make any representations, other than those contained in this Official Statement, and if given or
made, such other information or representations must not be relied upon as having been authorized by the State of
Maryland. This Official Statement does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy, nor shall
there be any sale of the securities described herein by any person in any jurisdiction in which it is unlawful for such
person to make such offer, solicitation or sale.
The information set forth herein has been obtained from the State and other sources that are deemed to be
reliable. The information from sources other than the State is not guaranteed as to accuracy or completeness and
should not be construed as representations of the State or the Underwriters. The State of Maryland believes that the
information contained in this Official Statement is correct and complete and has no knowledge of any inaccuracy or
incompleteness as to any of the information herein. The information and expressions of opinion herein are subject
to change without notice and neither the delivery of this Official Statement nor any sale of the Bonds shall, under
any circumstances, create any implication that there has been no change in the affairs of the State of Maryland since
the respective dates as of which information is given herein.
No quotations from or summaries or explanations of provisions of law and documents herein purport to be
complete and reference is made to such laws and documents for full and complete statements of their provisions.
This Official Statement is not to be construed as a contract or agreement between the State of Maryland and the
purchasers or holders of any of the securities described herein. Any statements made in this Official Statement
involving estimates or matters of opinion, whether or not expressly so stated, are intended merely as estimates or
opinions and not as representations of fact. The cover page hereof, list of officials, this page and the appendices
attached hereto are part of this Official Statement.
The Underwriters have provided the following sentence for inclusion in this Official Statement: The
Underwriters have reviewed the information in this Official Statement in accordance with, and as part of, their
respective responsibilities under the federal securities laws as applied to the facts and circumstances of this
transaction, but the Underwriters do not guarantee the accuracy or completeness of such information.
In connection with the offering of the Second Series E Bonds, the Underwriters may overallot or effect
transactions which stabilize or maintain the market prices of the Second Series E Bonds at levels above those which
might otherwise prevail in the open market. Such stabilizing, if commenced, may be discontinued at any time.
The Bonds have not been registered under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, in reliance upon
exemptions without prior notice contained in such Act. In making an investment decision, investors must rely on
their own examination of the State and terms of the offering, including the merits and risks involved. These
securities have not been recommended by any federal or state securities commission or regulatory authority.
Furthermore, the foregoing authorities have not confirmed the accuracy or determined the adequacy of this
document. Any representation to the contrary may be a criminal offense.
CUSIP numbers on the inside cover page of this Official Statement are copyrighted by the American
Bankers Association. CUSIP data herein is provided by Standard & Poor’s, CUSIP Service Bureau, a division of
The McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., and the State takes no responsibility for the accuracy thereof. These data are not
intended to create a database and do not serve in any way as a substitute for the CUSIP Service.
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INTRODUCTION
ISSUER
SECURITIES

The State of Maryland
General Obligation Bonds, State and Local Facilities Loan of 2011,
Second Series E Tax-Exempt Refunding Bonds – $254,915,000

INTEREST PAYMENT DATES

February 1, 2012 and semiannually thereafter on August 1 and February 1.

STATE ECONOMIC FACTORS

The State of Maryland has a population of approximately 5.7 million, with
employment based largely in services, trade, and government. Those sectors,
along with financial activities, are the largest contributors to the gross state
product, according to the U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of
Economic Analysis. Population is concentrated around the Baltimore and
Washington, D.C. PMSAs, and proximity to Washington, D.C. influences the
above-average percentage of employees in government. Manufacturing, on
the other hand, is a much smaller proportion of employment than for the
nation as a whole. Annual unemployment rates have been below those of the
national average for each of the last 20 years. The average unemployment
figure in 2010 was 7.5% compared to a national rate for the same period of
9.6%. In May 2011, the rates were 6.8% in Maryland and 9.1% in the United
States. The State’s per capita personal income was the fourth highest in the
country in 2010, according to the Bureau of Economic Analysis, at 121% of
the national average. See “STATE DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC
DATA.”

BUDGET AND FINANCIAL

The State enacts its budget annually. Revenues are derived largely from
certain broad-based taxes, including statewide income, sales, motor vehicle,
and property taxes. Non-tax revenues are largely from the federal
government for transportation, health care, welfare and other social
programs. General fund revenues on a budgetary basis realized in the State’s
fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, were above estimates by $190.9 million, or
1.5%. The State ended fiscal year 2010 with a $344.0 million general fund
balance on a budgetary basis. This balance reflects a $190.2 million increase
compared to the balance projected at the time the 2011 budget was enacted.
In addition, there was a balance in the Revenue Stabilization Account of
$611.6 million. For fiscal year 2011, the total budget was $33.7 billion, a
$1,680.2 million increase over fiscal year 2010. The General Fund accounts
for approximately $13.3 billion, of which the largest expenditures are for
health and education, which together represent 74.7% of total general fund
expenditures. General fund expenditures exclude transportation, which is
funded with special fund revenues from the Transportation Trust Fund. See
“STATE FINANCES – State Expenditures and Services.”
On a GAAP basis, the fiscal year 2010 nonspendable general fund balance
was $449.0 million, while the spendable fund balance was $800.1 million.
By comparison, the reserved general fund balance was $1,363.0 million and
unreserved fund balance was $146.9 million at the end of fiscal year 2009.
The change in fund balance classification is due to the implementation of
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GASB Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund
Type Definitions. See APPENDIX A, notes 2 and 13, of the Comprehensive
Annual Financial Report. The total GAAP fund balance for fiscal year 2010
was $1,249.1 million compared with a total GAAP fund balance of $1,509.9
million for fiscal year 2009. See “STATE FINANCES.”
The State Reserve Fund consists of the Revenue Stabilization Account and
other reserve funds, which together totaled $614.7 million at the end of fiscal
year 2010. The Revenue Stabilization Account was established to retain State
revenues for future needs and to reduce the need for future tax increases.
Current estimates for the close of fiscal year 2011 project a total reserve
balance of $627.3 million, of which $624.3 million is projected to be in the
Revenue Stabilization Account. In the proposed 2011 budget, the Revenue
Stabilization Account balance as a percentage of general fund revenues as
stated in the 2009 annual report of the Board of Revenue Estimates equaled
5.0%. The percentage decreased to 4.7% due to increased revenue estimates.
See “STATE FINANCES – State Reserve Fund.”
STATE DEBT

Maryland had $9,770.2 million of net State tax-supported debt outstanding as
of March 31, 2011. General obligation bonds accounted for $6,982.8 million
of that amount as of March 31, 2011. On August 31, 2011, there was
$7,298.9 million in issued and outstanding general obligation Bonds. In
fiscal year 2010, debt service on general obligation bonds was paid primarily
from State property tax receipts. Department of Transportation bonds
outstanding account for another $1,596.6 million of State tax-supported debt
as of March 31, 2011; the debt service on those bonds is payable from taxes
and fees related to motor vehicles and motor vehicle fuel, a portion of the
corporate income tax and a portion of the sales and use tax. Debt obligations
issued by the Maryland Stadium Authority in the form of lease-backed
revenue bonds and equipment lease financing account for $235.8 million of
State tax-supported debt outstanding as of March 31, 2011. Rental payments
under the leases are subject to annual appropriation by the General Assembly.
The State has also financed construction and acquisition of various other
facilities and equipment through lease-type financing, subject to annual
appropriation by the General Assembly in the amount of $316.5 million as of
March 31, 2011.
There was $596.9 million of Grant Anticipation Revenue Vehicle
(“GARVEE”) Bonds outstanding as of March 31, 2011. Debt service is paid
from a portion of Maryland’s federal highway aid. The Maryland
Department of Environment had Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds

outstanding in the amount of $41.6 million as of March 31, 2011.
The State had $1,416.6 million of authorized but unissued debt as of March
31, 2011. The current offering is the second general obligation bond sale of
fiscal year 2012; one additional sale is anticipated during fiscal year 2012.
See “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM –
Tax-Supported Debt Outstanding and Debt Data.”
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APPLICATION OF PROCEEDS

The proceeds of the Bonds will be used to purchase federal securities for
deposit into an escrow deposit fund and applied to the advance refunding
of certain outstanding general obligation bonds of the State. The purpose
of the refunding is the realization of savings in debt service costs.

CONTINUING DISCLOSURE

The State will provide annual financial and other information, including
notices of certain events, in order to assist bidders and the Underwriters in
complying with SEC Rule 15c2-12(b)(5). Appropriate periodic credit
information will be provided to the rating agencies maintaining ratings on
the Bonds.
See APPENDIX F – “FORM OF CONTINUING
DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT.”

THE FOREGOING INFORMATION IS QUALIFIED IN ITS ENTIRETY BY THE DETAILED
INFORMATION CONTAINED IN THIS OFFICIAL STATEMENT.
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STATE OF MARYLAND
Official Statement

$254,915,000
General Obligation Bonds
State and Local Facilities Loan of 2011, Second Series E
Tax-Exempt Refunding Bonds

THE STATE
The State of Maryland (the “State”) ratified the United States Constitution on April 28, 1788. The capital of the
State is Annapolis, where the principal activities of the State Government are centered. The State’s 2010 population is
estimated at 5,737,274 on July 1st of that year. Maryland ranks 42nd among the states in land area with 9,844 square
miles. The largest city in the State is Baltimore with a 2010 population of 634,725 (2,699,135 for the primary
metropolitan statistical area).
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THE BONDS
General
The $254,915,000 principal amount of general obligation bonds offered by this Official Statement constitutes
the State and Local Facilities Loan of 2011, Second Series E Tax-Exempt Refunding Bonds (the “Bonds”). Interest on
the Bonds will accrue from the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds, expected to occur on or about September 28,
2011, and will be payable February 1, 2012, and semiannually thereafter on August 1 and February 1until maturity.
Payment of the principal of and interest on the Bonds shall be in such currency of the United States of America as at the
time of payment is legal tender for payment of public and private debts. The Bonds will be issued in fully registered
form in denominations of $5,000 or any integral multiple thereof. The Bonds will initially be maintained under a bookentry only system; individual purchasers (“Beneficial Owners”) shall have no right to receive physical possession of the
Bonds, and any payment of the principal or redemption price of and interest on the Bonds will be made as described in
APPENDIX G – “BOOK-ENTRY ONLY SYSTEM.” So long as the Bonds are maintained under a book-entry only
system, the Treasurer will serve as Bond Registrar and Paying Agent.
Interest on the Bonds will be paid on the date payable or, if that date is not a Business Day (hereinafter defined),
on the next succeeding Business Day, to the person in whose name the Bond is registered on the registration books (the
“Bond Register”) maintained by the Bond Registrar as of the close of business on the 15th day of the month immediately
preceding each interest payment date for the Bonds. “Business Day” means a day other than a Saturday, Sunday, or day
on which banking institutions are authorized or obligated by law or required by executive order to remain closed.
Principal will be payable upon presentation of the Bonds at the principal office of the Paying Agent, or at the principal
office of any other Bond Registrar and Paying Agent appointed by the Treasurer, on the date the principal is payable or,
if that date is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day. So long as the Bonds are maintained in a bookentry only system, interest will be paid by electronic funds transfer on the interest payment date with respect to Bonds
held by The Depository Trust Company, New York, New York (“DTC”) from funds sent to DTC.
So long as the Bonds are maintained in a book-entry-only system, Beneficial Owners will not have physical
possession of the Bonds and transfers of their interest in the Bonds will be made through DTC. Beneficial Owners
should look to the institution from which their Bonds were purchased for payment.
See “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – General Obligation Bonds” for a
description of the constitutional and other legal foundations of general obligation bonds of the State.
Second Series E Tax-Exempt Refunding Bonds
The State has determined to issue the Bonds to advance refund certain outstanding general obligation bonds of
the State in order to realize savings on debt service costs. As a result of the refunding, a net present value savings of
approximately $11,090,862 will be realized. The general obligation bonds to be refunded consist of the following “State
and Local Facilities Loans” issued in the years and numerical series set out below (the “Refunded Bonds”).
Issue
2003 Second Series
2004 First Series
2005 First Series A
2005 First Series A
2005 Second Series A
2006 First Series A
2008 First Series
2008 First Series

Maturity
08/01/2014
08/01/2015
02/15/2016
02/15/2020
08/01/2018
03/01/2017
03/01/2017
03/01/2018

Par Amount
$41,605,000
33,420,000
29,195,000
35,485,000
39,645,000
23,220,000
30,260,000
31,775,000
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Call Date
08/01/2013
08/01/2014
02/15/2015
02/15/2015
08/01/2015
03/01/2016
03/01/2016
03/01/2016

Call Price
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00
100.00

CUSIP#
574192VJ6
574192WA4
574192XE5
574192XJ4
574192YE4
574192ZC7
574192J35
574192J43

Authorization for the Bonds
The Board of Public Works (the “Board”), a constitutional body composed of the Governor, the Comptroller,
and the Treasurer, by resolution authorizes the issuance of State general obligation bonds. Section 8-131 of the State
Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland authorizes the Board to refund all or any part of its
general obligation indebtedness. The Board has authorized the sale and issuance of up to $550,000,000 of the State’s
general obligation refunding bonds to advance refund certain outstanding general obligation bonds.
The State Constitution prohibits the contracting of State debt unless authorized by a law providing for the
collection of an annual tax or taxes sufficient to pay the interest when due and to discharge the principal within 15 years
of the date of debt issuance. The State Constitution also provides that the taxes levied for this purpose may not be
repealed or applied to any other purpose until the debt is fully discharged.
Security for the Bonds
The Bonds will be general obligations of the State to the payment of which the full faith and credit of the State
are pledged.
Redemption Provisions
The Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to their respective maturities.
Remedies
Based upon the provisions of §§34 and 52 of Article III of the State Constitution, general statutory law, and the
enabling legislation for general obligation bond authorizations, in the opinion of the Attorney General, the courts of
Maryland have jurisdiction to entertain proceedings and power to grant mandatory injunctive relief to: (1) require the
Governor to include in the annual Budget an appropriation sufficient to pay all general obligation bond debt service for
the ensuing fiscal year; (2) prohibit the General Assembly from taking action to reduce any such appropriation below the
level required for that debt service; (3) require the Board of Public Works to fix and collect a tax on all property in the
State subject to assessment for State tax purposes at a rate and in an amount sufficient to make such payments to the
extent that adequate funds are not provided in the annual Budget; and (4) provide such other relief as might be necessary
to enforce the collection of these taxes and payment of the proceeds to the holders of general obligation bonds, pari
passu, subject to the inherent limitations of the Constitution referred to below.
It is also the opinion of the Attorney General that, while the mandatory injunctive remedies would be available
and while the general obligation bonds of the State are entitled to constitutional protection against the impairment of the
obligation of contracts, such constitutional protection and the enforcement of such remedies would not be absolute.
Enforcement of a claim for payment of the principal of or interest on the Bonds could be subject to the provisions of any
statutes that hereafter may be constitutionally enacted by the United States Congress or by the General Assembly
extending the time for payment or imposing other constraints upon enforcement.
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Estimated Sources and Uses of Funds

Sources:
Par Amount ...................................................................
Plus Net Original Issue Premium* ..............................
Total Sources ................................................................

$254,915,000
46,520,568
$301,435,568

Uses:
Purchase of Escrow Securities and Cash Deposit ......
Deposit to the Annuity Bond Fund .............................
Costs of Issuance** ......................................................
Underwriters’ Discount ...............................................
Total Uses ....................................................................

$300,186,463
4,813
160,000
1,084,292
$301,435,568

* The premium earned on the sale of the Bonds will be applied first to pay the underwriters’ discount and costs of issuance.
**Estimated. Includes fees for legal, rating agency, financial advisory services and other miscellaneous expenses.

The proceeds of the Bonds in the amount of $300,186,463 will be applied to the purchase of $300,186,354 in
debt obligations of, or obligations the timely payment of the principal of and interest on which is unconditionally
guaranteed by, the United States of America (the “Federal Securities”) and a cash deposit of $109 which will be held by
Citibank, N.A., as escrow agent (the “Escrow Deposit Agent”), in an Escrow Deposit Fund established under an Escrow
Deposit Agreement dated as of the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds by and between the State and the Escrow
Deposit Agent. The Federal Securities and cash deposit in the Escrow Deposit Fund will mature at stated fixed amounts
as to principal and interest at such times as will be sufficient to pay interest when due on the Refunded Bonds and to
redeem the principal amount of the Refunded Bonds on the respective call dates set forth above. The Federal Securities
will be pledged only to the payment of the Refunded Bonds and will not be available for the payment of principal of, or
premium, if any, or interest on the Bonds.
Verification Agent. The Arbitrage Group, Inc., will deliver to the State, on or before the date of issuance of the
Bonds, an attestation report (the “Verification Report”) indicating that The Arbitrage Group, Inc. has verified, in
accordance with standards established by the American Institute of Certified Public Accountants, the arithmetic accuracy
of the schedules prepared by the State’s Financial Advisor with respect to (a) the mathematical computations of the
adequacy of the cash and the maturing principal of and interest on the Federal Securities to pay, when due, the maturing
principal of, interest on and related premium, if any, of the Refunded Bonds; and (b) the mathematical computations
required by Bond Counsel to support its conclusion that the interest on the Bonds is exempt from federal taxation. The
terms and conditions of The Arbitrage Group, Inc. engagement are such that it has no obligation to update its report after
the date thereof for subsequent events.
(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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STATE GOVERNMENT
Legislature
The State has a bicameral legislature, the General Assembly, composed of the Senate with 47 members and the
House of Delegates with 141 members. The State is divided into 47 legislative districts, each with one senator and three
delegates. All members of the General Assembly are elected for four-year terms. The General Assembly meets annually
for a 90-day session beginning on the second Wednesday in January. This regular session may be extended by the
General Assembly or the Governor, and the General Assembly may meet in special sessions, but no extended or special
session may last for longer than 30 days except for the purpose of enacting the Budget.
Constitutional Officers
The leadership of State government includes four constitutional officers elected by the voters on a statewide
basis for four-year terms: the Governor, the Lieutenant Governor, the Comptroller, and the Attorney General. The
Treasurer is also a constitutional officer, appointed upon a joint ballot of the Senate and the House of Delegates for a
four-year term.
The Governor is the chief executive officer of the State. The Lieutenant Governor has such duties as are
delegated to him by the Governor, which may include any and all powers and duties of the Governor, and may serve as
Acting Governor during the absence or incapacity of the Governor. The Attorney General is legal counsel to the
Governor, the General Assembly, and all departments and units of the State government except the Public Service
Commission and certain authorities.
Together, the Comptroller and the Treasurer constitute the Treasury Department. The Comptroller is required to
exercise general superintendence over the fiscal affairs of the State, to prepare plans for the improvement and
management of revenue and support of public credit, to keep the accounts of the State and its agencies, to prescribe the
form of completing and stating these accounts, and to superintend and enforce the collection of all taxes and revenue.
The Treasurer maintains custody of all deposits of State monies, invests the State’s surplus funds, maintains custody of
all securities, and is responsible for all disbursements of State funds, including payment of principal and interest on State
debt. Acting on behalf of the Board of Public Works, the Treasurer manages the State’s general obligation debt program,
including all matters relating to the issuance and oversight of general obligation bonds.
Principal Departments
The executive functions of State Government are organized into 20 major departments, 19 of which are headed
by a Secretary appointed by the Governor with the advice and consent of the Senate. The State Department of Education
is headed by the State Board of Education, the members of which are appointed by the Governor for overlapping fiveyear terms, and the State Superintendent of Schools, who is appointed by the State Board of Education for a four-year
term. The departments and their principal responsibilities are as follows:
The Department of Aging administers the delivery of services and activities for the elderly.
The Department of Agriculture is responsible for supervising, administering, and promoting agricultural
activities in the State.
The Department of Budget and Management analyzes and plans budgetary matters and provides coordination
and liaison for the Governor with the General Assembly, State operating agencies, and the public on matters relating to
the operating and capital budgets, analysis of program revenues and budget implications, and performance auditing;
manages and coordinates employee health benefits; administers personnel policies with respect to State employees; and
reviews executive agency procurements of services.
The Department of Business and Economic Development promotes economic development, industrial
opportunities, tourism, and economic resources of the State; and provides for and assists in financing industrial and
commercial development.
The Department of Disabilities is responsible for developing, maintaining, revising, and enforcing statewide
disability policies and standards.
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The Department of the Environment is responsible for fostering and protecting the State’s natural environment
and administers various State programs regulating air, water, and hazardous waste pollution.
The Department of General Services advises the Board of Public Works and State agencies on matters of
engineering, construction, and contracts in connection with capital expenditures; coordinates land acquisitions and the
design and construction of State public works projects; and purchases supplies and equipment for the use of State
agencies.
The Department of Health and Mental Hygiene is responsible for matters concerning public health in the State,
including the direct delivery of health care services through State-owned health centers and hospitals and the financing
of health services to low-income individuals through the Medicaid program.
The Department of Housing and Community Development administers the State’s housing and community
development assistance programs, including certain housing loan and mortgage insurance programs.
The Department of Human Resources administers, on the State level, the federal and State social service, public
assistance, child support, and income maintenance programs.
The Department of Information Technology is responsible for statewide Information Technology (“IT”) policy,
oversight of large IT projects and expenditures, and centralization of common IT functions and assets statewide.
The Department of Juvenile Services is responsible for State programs serving delinquent youths, children in
need of supervision, and children in need of assistance.
The Department of Labor, Licensing, and Regulation administers various State regulatory agencies and
licensing boards responsible for licensing and regulating professions, businesses, and trades, and has responsibility for
the direction, coordination, and monitoring of all State employment and training and unemployment insurance programs.
The Department of Natural Resources is responsible for developing, coordinating, and administering policies
and programs involving the natural resources and wildlife of the State.
The Department of Planning is the principal agency for planning matters concerning the development and
effective use of the natural and other resources of the State and also is responsible for various historical and cultural
programs.
The Department of Public Safety and Correctional Services is responsible for public safety, State correctional
facilities, and parole and probation.
The Department of State Police is responsible for law enforcement and crime prevention.
The Department of Transportation is responsible for State-owned transportation facilities and programs,
including the planning, financing, construction, operation, and maintenance of highway, transit, rail, port, and aviation
facilities.
The Department of Veterans Affairs assists the State’s veterans in obtaining benefits and services, maintains
veterans’ cemeteries and war memorials, and operates the State’s veterans’ home.
The State Department of Education is charged with the general supervision of public elementary and secondary
education and is responsible for establishing and administering State educational policies and programs.
See “STATE FINANCES – State Expenditures and Services” for information concerning the activities of the
departments that administer functions requiring the largest expenditures of funds by the State.
Judiciary
The Judiciary, a separate branch of government established in the State Constitution, includes two courts of
appellate jurisdiction. The Court of Appeals, originally created by the State Constitution of 1776, is the State’s highest
court; today this court’s appellate jurisdiction is almost entirely discretionary. The Court of Special Appeals was
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established in 1966 as an intermediate appeals court having statewide jurisdiction; almost all initial civil and criminal
appeals are now included in the jurisdiction of this court.
The Circuit Courts, which function as trial courts of general jurisdiction, are the common law and equity courts
of record exercising original jurisdiction within the State and handle the major civil and the more serious criminal
matters. A Circuit Court sits in each county and in Baltimore City. The District Court of Maryland, created in 1970, is
divided into 12 geographic districts throughout the State and exercises limited civil and criminal jurisdiction.
Board of Public Works
The Governor, Comptroller, and Treasurer are the members of the Board of Public Works. The Constitution of
Maryland, Article XII, §2, provides that a majority of the Board shall be competent to act. A constitutional body, the
Board supervises the expenditure of all funds obtained by State general obligation bond issues and all funds appropriated
for capital improvements other than roads, bridges, and highways. The Board must review and approve all contracts for
such capital expenditures after review by the legislatively authorized control agency, principally, the Department of
Transportation, the Department of General Services, the Department of Budget and Management or the University
System of Maryland. The Board considers, acts upon, and authorizes all issues of State general obligation bonds, fixes
the rate of the State property tax required for debt service, and administers, through the Interagency Committee on
School Construction (“IAC”), the State program for payments to the counties and Baltimore City for public school
construction.
STATE FINANCES
Budgetary System
Maryland has a strong executive system of government. Under the Maryland Constitution, Article III, §52, the
Governor is responsible for the preparation and introduction of the State’s annual budget. The Governor is required by
the Constitution to submit a balanced budget, and in preparing the budget, the Governor is statutorily required to use
revenue estimates reported by the Board of Revenue Estimates, whose members are the Comptroller, the Treasurer and
the Secretary of Budget and Management, or explain the use of different estimates. Except for the General Assembly’s
own budget and the Judiciary’s budget, the General Assembly cannot increase the Governor’s proposed budget, but may
only reduce it.
Passage of the State’s budget is constitutionally prioritized. The General Assembly meets annually for 90 days,
beginning the second Wednesday of each January. If the budget has not been enacted seven days before the end of
session (the 83rd day), the Constitution requires that the Governor issue a proclamation extending the session. If the
budget has not been enacted by the 90th day, the General Assembly cannot consider any matter except the budget. This
places the normal budget deadline in early April, almost 3 months before the start of the next fiscal year. In the past 50
years, the latest date of budget adoption was in 1992 on the 94th day of the session. Although laws enacted by the
General Assembly are generally subject to referendum, the power of referendum is subject to express limitations, and
does not extend to the State budget. The effective date of the State budget cannot be delayed by referendum. Maryland
does not require supermajorities to increase taxes or enact the budget. A simple majority is required for passage of all
bills.
The Governor submits to the General Assembly, shortly after the beginning of its annual session, a budget
containing a complete plan of proposed expenditures and estimated revenues for the ensuing fiscal year, together with a
statement showing: (1) the revenues and expenditures for the preceding fiscal year; (2) the current assets, liabilities,
reserves, and surplus or deficit of the State; (3) the debts and funds of the State; (4) an estimate of the State’s financial
condition as of the beginning and end of the preceding fiscal year; and (5) any explanation the Governor may desire to
make as to the important features of the budget and any suggestions as to methods for reduction or increase of the State’s
revenue. The budget is required to include a total for all appropriations and all estimated revenues; total appropriations
may not exceed the estimated revenues, either as submitted by the Governor or as enacted by the General Assembly. The
Constitution requires the Governor to include appropriations for certain matters, including specifically an appropriation
to pay and discharge the principal and interest of the debt of the State in conformity with Article III, §34 of the
Constitution and all laws enacted pursuant thereto. See “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL
PROGRAM.”
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The Governor also is required to include in his annual budget sufficient appropriations to fund programs for
which specific statutory spending levels or rates have been established by the General Assembly at a preceding session.
With the submission of the budget for the ensuing year, the Governor also presents to the General Assembly any
deficiency appropriations that he may deem necessary to supplement the current year’s appropriations in light of current
conditions. By law the Governor has the power, with the approval of the Board of Public Works, to reduce by not more
than 25% any appropriation that he may deem unnecessary, except appropriations for the payment of interest and the
retirement of State debt, the legislature, the public schools, the judiciary, the salaries of public officers during their terms
of office, and the salaries of non-temporary employees in the State Personnel Management System (except in accordance
with statutory provisions).
The General Assembly is prohibited by the Constitution from amending the Budget to affect certain specified
provisions, including the obligations or debt of the State under Article III, §34 of the Constitution. Except for these
specified provisions, the General Assembly may amend the budget to increase or decrease appropriations relating to the
legislative and judicial branches but it may only strike out or reduce executive branch appropriations submitted by the
Governor. The General Assembly must enact a balanced budget. After the enactment of the budget, and not before, the
General Assembly is permitted to enact supplementary appropriations but may not enact any supplementary
appropriation unless embodied in a separate bill that is limited to a single object or purpose and provides the revenue
necessary to pay the appropriation by a tax to be levied and collected under the terms of the bill.
State expenditures are made pursuant to the appropriations in the annual budget, as amended from time to time
by budget amendment. The various units of State government may, with the Governor’s approval, amend the
appropriations for particular programs in their individual budgets funded from the General Fund, provided they do not
exceed their total general fund appropriations as contained in the annual budget. Additionally, appropriations for
programs funded in whole or in part from funds other than the General Fund may permit expenditures in excess of
original appropriations to the extent that revenues from the particular non-General Fund sources exceed original Budget
estimates and the additional expenditures are approved by the Governor.
The Department of Budget and Management is headed by a Secretary who assists the Governor in the
preparation and administration of the Budget and constitutes a statutorily created department that currently employs
approximately 308 persons.
The Department of Legislative Services provides full-time professional assistance to all committees and
subcommittees of the General Assembly including those involved with budget, taxation and fiscal matters. The
Department also conducts research into fiscal and policy issues. The Office of Legislative Audits is part of the
Department and is required by law to examine and report on the books and accounts of all agencies of State government
at least every three years. See APPENDIX A – “FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING SYSTEM.”
The Spending Affordability Committee consists of certain designated officers of the General Assembly and
other members as may be appointed by the President of the Senate and the Speaker of the House of Delegates. Each year
the Committee must submit a report to the Legislative Policy Committee of the General Assembly and to the Governor
recommending the level of State spending, the level of new debt authorization, the level of State personnel, and the use
of any anticipated surplus.
State Revenues
The State derives most of its revenue from a combination of specialized taxes and user charges. Substantial
changes were made to Maryland’s revenue structure at the 2007 Special Session of the General Assembly, most of which
became effective in January 2008, and one of which had an effective date of July 1, 2008. These changes are described
below. The following are principal sources of the State’s revenues:
Income Taxes. An income tax is imposed on: (1) the federal adjusted gross income of individuals, subject to
certain positive and negative adjustments and minus certain deductions and personal exemptions; and (2) the federal
taxable income of corporations, subject to certain positive and negative adjustments. Individuals may elect to use a
standard deduction in lieu of itemized deductions. The standard deduction is 15% of the individual’s Maryland adjusted
gross income, but not less than $1,500 or more than $2,000 in the case of most individual returns, and not less than
$3,000 or more than $4,000 in the case of a joint return or an individual return of a head of household or surviving
spouse.
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For tax years prior to 2008, $2,400 was allowed for each regular personal exemption and aged dependent, and
$1,000 was allowed for each aged or blind personal exemption. The rate of tax for individuals was 2% on the first $1,000
of taxable income, 3% on the second $1,000, 4% on the third $1,000, and 4.75% on taxable income in excess of $3,000.
For tax year 2008 and later, regular personal exemptions are determined based on federal adjusted gross income, ranging
from $3,200 for those with federal adjusted gross income under $150,000/$100,000 (joint/single returns) to $600 for
those with federal adjusted gross income over $250,000/$200,000 (joint/single returns). The tax brackets have also been
restructured with the addition of 5%, 5.25% and 5.5% brackets beginning at net taxable income levels of
$200,000/$150,000 (joint/single returns), $350,000/$300,000 (joint/single returns), and $500,000 (for both joint and
single returns), respectively.
In the 2008 Legislative Session, an income tax surcharge was imposed for tax years 2008 through 2010 to
address budget shortfalls. The State’s top marginal income tax rate increased from 5.5% to 6.25% for net taxable income
of $1,000,000 or more.
In addition to the above, each county and Baltimore City must levy a local income tax at the rate of at least 1%
but not more than 3.2% of the individual’s Maryland taxable income. There are a number of credits available against the
income taxes, including a refundable earned income credit (which was increased from 20% to 25% of the federal credit
for tax year 2008 and later) and a credit for rehabilitation of historic properties. An additional tax on the income of nonresidents is imposed in the amount of the lowest county income tax rate in effect (currently 1.25%).
For tax year 2007 and earlier, corporations (domestic and foreign), including financial institutions and utilities,
paid tax at the rate of 7% on the portion of net taxable income allocable to the State. Beginning with tax year 2008, the
rate increased to 8.25%. Manufacturing corporations apportion their income based on sales only, rather than the
historically applicable three-factor apportionment of sales, property, and payroll, where the sales factor is doubleweighted. Corporate taxpayers are required to add to income any payments made for interest or intangibles to a related
company and, as of tax year 2007, any payments made as dividends by “captive” Real Estate Investment Trusts, in order
to prevent out-of-state subsidiaries from sheltering income from the Maryland corporate income tax.
Sales and Use Taxes. Effective January 3, 2008, the State imposed a 6% sales and use tax on a retail sale or use
of tangible personal property in the State and certain enumerated services (including custom telephone, detective and
building cleaning services among others); most services are exempt. The prior sales tax rate was 5%. In the 2011
Legislative Session, the sales and use tax rate on alcohol purchases was increased to 9%, effective July 1, 2011. Among
the exemptions from the sales and use tax are sales of food for consumption off the premises by a vendor who operates a
substantial grocery or market business at the same location, medicines, medical supplies and medical aids, agricultural
equipment and supplies, manufacturing and research and development equipment and supplies, tangible personal
property used in a production activity, residential utilities and fuel, motor vehicles and vessels subject to excise taxes,
and sales to nonprofit charitable, educational or religious organizations to enable the organizations to carry on their
exempt activities.
Property Taxes. Generally, all real property in the State is assessed at full cash value once every three years,
with any increase in full cash value arising from the assessment phased in over the ensuing three taxable years in equal
installments. Any decrease in the full cash value is recognized in full in the next taxable year and held constant for the
remaining two taxable years. Certain farm, marshland, woodland, country club, and planned development property is
assessed under special valuation techniques while public utility property is assessed at fair market value determined by
reference to both income and property values.
The State imposes a tax at a rate expressed per $100 of assessed value on all real property subject to taxation.
For fiscal years 1982 through 2003, the effective State property tax rate was maintained at a constant level (8.4 cents).
For fiscal years 2004 through 2006, the State property tax rate was set at 13.2 cents. For fiscal years 2007 through 2011,
the State property tax rate was set at 11.2 cents. Properties exempt from the State property tax include public property
and property owned by certain nonprofit organizations for their designated purposes. The Homestead Property Tax
Credit limits to 10% the maximum annual increase in assessments for owner-occupied principal residences that are
subject to the State property tax. Revenues from the State property tax are credited to the Annuity Bond Fund and used
to service general obligation debt.
Each of the counties and Baltimore City levies its own property tax at rates established by them, as do most
incorporated municipalities. Tangible personal property and commercial and manufacturing inventory of businesses is
assessed at fair market value determined from annual reports filed with the State Department of Assessments and
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Taxation. There is no State personal property tax but nineteen counties levy a tax on business personal property. See
also, “STATE DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC DATA – Assessed Value of Property.”
Lottery Revenues. The State currently operates eight major lottery games: three- and four-digit games drawn
twice daily; a six-number Maryland-only lotto-type game drawn daily; an 18-number, three-line lotto-type game drawn
twice a week; two multi-state six-number lotto-type games (Mega Millions and Powerball) drawn twice a week; Keno
and Racetrax, both terminal games; and various instant ticket games. Lottery tickets are sold by licensed agents under
the supervision of the State Lottery Agency. In fiscal year 2010, the allocation of gross sales was 60.4% to prizes, 9.7%
to administrative costs and agents’ commissions, and 29.9% to State revenues. Except for administrative costs and a
portion of Mega Millions revenues appropriated to the Maryland Stadium Authority, the State revenues are credited to
the General Fund.
Video Lottery Terminals (“VLTs”). In November 2008 voters approved a constitutional amendment authorizing
a maximum of 15,000 VLTs at five geographic locations. State revenues are generated by a one-time licensing fee that
must be paid in order to operate a facility as well as up to two-thirds of the gross revenues from VLT play (after prize
payments). All of the license fee revenue shall be deposited in the Education Trust Fund in order to support primary and
secondary educational programs. Except for the Allegany County VLT facility, the distribution of the gross VLT
revenues will be as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

2% to the State Lottery Agency for costs;
no more than 33% to the video lottery operation licensees;
5.5% in local impact grants;
7% to a Purse Dedication Account, not to exceed a total of $100.0 million to the Account annually;
2.5% for an eight-year period to a Racetrack Facility Renewal Account, not to exceed a total of $40.0 million
annually;
1.5% to a Small, Minority, and Women-Owned Businesses Account; and
the remainder (48.5 – 51.0%) to an Education Trust Fund.

Under legislation enacted in 2011, the operator of the VLT facility in Allegany County must agree to purchase the
Rocky Gap Lodge and Resort, and in return the State will waive the one-time licensing fee for 500 VLTs, and the
distribution of revenue for the first 10 years of operation will be as follows:
•
•
•
•
•
•

2% to the State Lottery Agency for costs;
no more than 50% to the video lottery operation licensee;
2.75% in local impact grants;
2.5% to the Purse Dedication Account;
0.75% to the Small, Minority, and Women-Owned Businesses Account; and
the remainder (42.0%) to the Education Trust Fund.

The Video Lottery Facility Location Commission has approved three facility licenses to date. Two of these
facilities (Worcester and Cecil Counties) opened in fiscal year 2011, while the third facility (Anne Arundel County) is
under construction and is expected to open in June 2012. The Commission is re-bidding the licenses for the two
facilities (Baltimore City and Allegany County) that have not yet been awarded.
Public Service Company Franchise Taxes. The State imposes a franchise tax at the rate of 2% on the gross
receipts from operations of public service companies engaged in the telephone business or in the transmission,
distribution or delivery of electricity or natural gas in Maryland. In addition, a franchise tax of .062 cents for each
kilowatt hour of electricity delivered for final consumption in Maryland, and of .402 cents for each therm of natural gas
delivered for final consumption in Maryland, is imposed on each public service company engaged in the transmission,
distribution or delivery of electricity or natural gas in Maryland. Public service companies subject to the tax on kilowatt
hours of electricity and therms of natural gas are entitled to credits with respect to deliveries of such products to certain
industrial customers.
Insurance Taxes. Insurance companies, including health maintenance organizations, are taxed at the rate of 2%
on all new and renewal gross direct premiums (after certain deductions) allocable to the State.
Motor Vehicle Fuel and Titling Taxes and Registration Fees. The State imposes a per gallon tax of 23.5 cents
on gasoline and motor fuels, 24.25 cents on special fuel other than aviation and turbine fuel, and 7 cents on aviation and
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turbine fuel. There is an excise tax imposed upon the issuance of original and subsequent certificates of title to motor
vehicles at the rate of 6% of the fair market value of the vehicle, with an allowance for 100% of the value of a trade-in
(prior to January 1, 2008, the excise tax rate was 5% and there was no trade-in allowance). The State requires a biennial
registration fee on all motor vehicles that ranges from $2.50 to $1,800 per vehicle depending on the size and type of
vehicle. Registration fees are generally imposed for two years at time of titling or at the time registration is renewed.
There are several classes of vehicles, and fees vary within a class depending on the size of the vehicle. For example, the
registration fee for passenger cars (Class A) ranges from $128 to $180 depending on the weight of the vehicle. An
annual surcharge of $13.50 is included in most registration fees and is dedicated to the statewide Emergency Medical
Services System.
Transfer Taxes. The State imposes a tax upon the recordation of instruments conveying title to real or personal
property and conveying leasehold interests in real property. These are special fund revenues, although in some fiscal
years all or a portion of these revenues were transferred to the General Fund. The most recent transfer occurred in fiscal
year 2010 when a total of $164.3 million in transfer taxes, including $31.0 million in fiscal year 2010 revenues and
$133.3 million of previously allocated revenues, was transferred to the General Fund. Pursuant to the fiscal year 2011
Budget, up to $54.0 million in fiscal year 2011 transfer taxes may be transferred to the General Fund. Legislation
enacted in the 2009 Session also requires that transfer taxes must first be used to pay principal and interest due on certain
general obligation bonds issued for Maryland Program Open Space.
Tobacco Taxes. Effective January 1, 2008, the State imposed a tax at the rate of $2.00 per pack of 20 cigarettes
and 15% of the wholesale price of other tobacco products (the prior rate of tax for cigarettes was $1.00 per pack). All
cigarette packs in retailers’ and wholesalers’ inventories on January 1, 2008 were subject to a floor tax of $1.00 per pack.
Death Taxes. The State’s inheritance tax rate is 10% (bequests to direct relations and siblings are exempt). The
State also imposes an estate tax and a generation-skipping transfer tax. These taxes were initially designed to capture the
maximum revenue possible without imposing an additional tax burden on estates through a credit against the federal
taxes. For State estate tax purposes, the unified credit is fixed at $345,000, which effectively exempts $1.0 million from
the estate tax.
Alcoholic Beverage Taxes. There is a tax at the rate of $1.50 per gallon on all alcoholic beverages, except beer
and wine, sold or delivered by a manufacturer or wholesaler to any retail dealer in the State. Taxes at the rates of 40
cents per gallon of wine and 9 cents per gallon of beer are imposed on the sale or delivery of those beverages by a
manufacturer to a wholesale or retail dealer in the State. In addition, as noted above, the sales and use tax rate on retail
alcoholic purchases was increased from 6% to 9% effective July 1, 2011.
Bay Restoration Fee. All users of sewerage and septic systems in the State are charged a mandatory fee of $30
per year (or $30 per “equivalent dwelling unit”). Revenues from users of sewerage systems are pledged, to the extent
necessary, as security for Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds issued by the Maryland Water Quality Financing
Administration, the proceeds of which will be applied primarily to provide grant funds to upgrade wastewater treatment
plants with enhanced nutrient removal technology. In fiscal year 2010 a total of $155.0 million in Bay Restoration Fee
revenue was transferred to the General Fund. Pursuant to the fiscal year 2011 Budget, $45.0 million in fiscal year 2011
and pursuant to the fiscal year 2012 Budget, $90.0 million in fiscal year 2012 of Bay Restoration Fee revenue may be
transferred to the General Fund. An equal amount of general obligation bonds are planned to fund projects that
otherwise would have been funded with Bay Restoration Fee revenue. The fiscal year 2011 capital budget authorized
general obligation bonds totaling $125.0 million in fiscal year 2011 and the fiscal year 2012 capital budget authorized an
additional $146.8 million in general obligation bonds, with the balance $18.2 million anticipated in the fiscal year 2013
budget, pending legislative approval.
Other Revenues. Exclusive of the proceeds of bond issues, approximately 59.6% of State revenues in fiscal
year 2010 were received from sources other than taxes and lottery receipts. The largest component (31.5% of total
revenues) was received from the federal government for highway and transit reimbursements; reimbursements and grants
for health care programs; categorical and matching aid for public assistance, social services, and employment security;
aid for public education; and miscellaneous grants-in-aid to State agencies. In addition to federal funds, the State
receives revenues from court fines and costs; patient payments for services in State hospitals; interest on invested funds;
and tuition fees paid to institutions of higher education. The State also receives revenues from operations of the
Maryland Transit Administration, the Maryland Port Administration, and the Maryland Aviation Administration, which
are paid into the Transportation Trust Fund.
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Revenue Estimates. The State’s revenue estimates are based upon projections by the Board of Revenue
Estimates, composed of the Comptroller, the Treasurer, and the Secretary of Budget and Management. The Board studies
the findings and recommendations of the Bureau of Revenue Estimates, a statutory State agency administratively under
the Comptroller, that reviews the findings and recommendations of other agencies responsible for economic monitoring
and revenue administration, and reports the estimates of revenue to the Governor for submission to the General
Assembly in connection with the Budget.
In its report issued each December, the Board of Revenue Estimates presents revised revenue estimates for the
current fiscal year (based upon current economic factors and legislative changes), and revenue estimates for the next
succeeding fiscal year, upon which that fiscal year’s budget is based. The revised estimate for the current year is made
seven months before the end of that fiscal year, while the Budget estimate for the next succeeding fiscal year is made 19
months before the end of that fiscal year. The estimates are reviewed in March, prior to final action on the Budget by the
General Assembly, and any appropriate adjustments to the estimates are made at that time. The following table shows the
accuracy of General Fund revenue estimates for the 2006 through 2010 fiscal years.
(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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Historic General Fund Revenue Estimates and Actual Collections
($ in millions)
Fiscal
Year

Actual
Collections

2006 ..................................
2007 ..................................
2008 ..................................
2009 ..................................
2010 ...................................

$12,369.9
12,940.2
13,545.6
12,892.6
12,560.1

Original Estimate
Amount
% (a)
$11,306.3
12,843.2
13,452.8
14,743.1
13,738.3

Final Estimate
Amount
% (a)

109.41%
100.76
100.69
87.45
91.42

$12,323.4
12,865.2
13,616.8
13,240.5
12,382.7

100.38%
100.58
99.48
97.37
101.43

______
(a) Actual collections as a percentage of estimates.
Note: Estimated and actual collections exclude transfers and other actions appearing in APPENDIX C, page C-3 as extraordinary transfers.

Receipts from the State property tax, all of which are devoted to debt service on general obligation bonds and
which provided approximately 92% of the current revenues available for general obligation bond debt service payment in
fiscal year 2010 (see “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – General Obligation Bonds”),
are credited to a separate account known as the Annuity Bond Fund. The Board of Public Works is required annually to
fix the property tax rate by May 1, after the end of the regular legislative session, in an amount sufficient to pay all debt
service for the ensuing fiscal year on general obligation bonds after taking account of the amounts and sources of funds
provided in the budget for that fiscal year, which begins July 1. The Commission on State Debt (consisting of the
Treasurer, the Comptroller, the Secretary of Budget and Management, the Secretary of Transportation, the Director of
the State Department of Assessments and Taxation, and one individual appointed by the Governor and not otherwise
affiliated with State government) makes an original estimate approximately three months before July 1 of the year to
which the property tax rate will apply and a revised estimate approximately nine months after that date. The following
table portrays the accuracy of estimates of State property tax revenue in fiscal years 2006 through 2010.
State Property Tax Revenue Estimates
($ in millions)
Fiscal
Year

2006 .............
2007 .............
2008 .............
2009 .............
2010 (c) .......

Property
Tax Rate
(a)
13.2¢
11.2
11.2
11.2
11.2

Actual
Collections

$575.1
552.7
625.7
698.6
758.9

Original Estimate
Amount
% (b)

Final Estimate
Amount
% (b)

$567.6
547.5
619.4
691.2
751.2

$573.3
552.1
642.0
700.9
762.4

101.33%
100.95
101.02
101.07
101.03

100.31%
100.09
97.47
99.67
99.54

___________
(a) The property tax rate is per $100 of assessed valuation.
(b) Actual collections as a percentage of estimates.
(c) Actual collections in FY 2010 include $16.0 million in revenues due in FY 2010 but collected in FY 2011.

General fund revenues and State property tax revenues (once the rates and structures are set) are entirely
independent of the expenditures from the funds into which they flow, thus accurate forecasting is important. On the other
hand, the vast majority of federal funds are received under matching programs or State administered programs where
receipts vary directly with expenditures or expenditures are directly controlled by receipts. See APPENDIX C,
“SUPPLEMENTARY REVENUE SCHEDULES – State of Maryland” pages C-1 and C-2 for a more detailed
comparison of revenue estimates to actual collections. See also page C-3 for details as to the sources of these revenues.
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State Expenditures and Services
State expenditures and services for capital and operating programs include a typical range of direct
governmental services and activities, as well as State support and aid to local governmental units, primarily in the areas
of education and transportation.
Public Education. The agencies administering public education spend the largest portion of State revenue. In
the fiscal year 2011 Budget, as amended, public education accounted for 50% of general fund appropriations and 38% of
all appropriations.
Elementary and Secondary Education. The school boards of the 23 counties and Baltimore City are responsible
for much of the administration of public elementary and secondary schools, including charter schools. There are no
special, separate school districts in Maryland. The State supports the elementary and secondary education programs of
the counties and Baltimore City through a number of aid programs. The major programs are described as follows: (1)
under a formula equalized for ability to pay and based on wealth and enrollment factors, the State distributes aid to the
local school systems for current expenses; (2) for personnel in local public schools, the State pays directly the
employer’s portion of the retirement system contributions; and (3) the State also distributes aid based on the number of
students receiving free or reduced price meals, under various components of the Students with Disabilities Aid Program,
and for pupil transportation. In addition to these major programs, the State Department of Education provides aid for
local libraries, food service, and various educational activities and, through the State Department of Education’s
Interagency Fund, distributes funds to address the service needs of children at risk.
Higher Education. The public higher education system consists of the University System of Maryland and
Morgan State University, each governed by its respective Board of Regents; St. Mary’s College of Maryland, governed
by its own Board of Trustees; Baltimore City Community College, a State institution governed by its Board of Trustees;
and 17 community colleges, each governed by a local or regional Board of Trustees.
The Maryland Higher Education Commission is responsible for developing a statewide plan for higher
education, approving mission statements, setting funding guidelines and administering State aid to local community
colleges, aid to private colleges and universities, and student financial aid programs.
The State finances the State universities and colleges principally with State general fund revenues. In addition,
the State finances a share of the cost of the locally owned two-year community colleges. State financial assistance is
primarily in the form of general purpose formula grants. The State also makes grants to eligible private institutions of
higher education under a formula based on State support for State four-year universities and colleges. In total, the higher
education share of fiscal year 2010 expenditures was 15.6% and was 15.8% of the fiscal year 2011 Budget.
The following table presents the trends of enrollment (expressed in full-time equivalent students) at the State
universities and colleges and the local community colleges for the fiscal years shown.
Enrollment (full-time equivalent students)
State Universities and Colleges

Fiscal
Year
2007 ......................................................................................
2008 ......................................................................................
2009 ......................................................................................
2010 ......................................................................................
2011 estimate .......................................................................

State
Four-Year
Institutions

Community
Colleges

Total

104,865
108,545
117,618
122,969
122,603

93,255
96,135
101,277
110,688
113,414

198,120
204,680
218,895
233,657
236,017

Health and Mental Hygiene. The Department of Health and Mental Hygiene has general responsibility for
public health in the State and provides direct services through 13 residential health facilities, finances medical services to
the indigent, and aids local health departments on a matching formula basis. For fiscal year 2011, $9,109.7 million was
budgeted for the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, including $4,948.7 million in federal funds and $3,235.7
million in State general funds.
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The largest expenditure is for the medical assistance (Medicaid) program under which the State makes
payments to health service vendors providing services to eligible low-income individuals and families. For fiscal year
2010, $5,690.2 million was spent on this program, virtually all of which was for services for which the State recovered
approximately 50% from the federal government plus American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (“ARRA”)
funds. For fiscal year 2010, the average monthly Medicaid enrollment was estimated at approximately 677,000. For
fiscal year 2011, the Budget provided for 765,000 Medical Assistance enrollees and funding of $6,154.1 million.
The health centers operated by the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene provide care for mentally ill,
intellectually disabled, and chronically ill patients. In recent years the State has expanded programs to provide services
within the community as an alternative to institutionalization in State facilities.
Transportation. Transportation is the third largest category of State expenditures. The Department of
Transportation is responsible for most of the State’s various transportation facilities and for developing and maintaining
a State master plan for transportation. It administers the State highway system; operates a mass transit system in the
Baltimore region; assists mass transit in the Washington, D.C. region; operates and assists commuter rail systems and
certain critical freight railroads; operates two airports, including Baltimore/Washington International Thurgood Marshall
Airport (“BWI”); operates State-owned port facilities, primarily in Baltimore Harbor; and administers the licensing and
regulation of motor vehicle drivers and dealers, as well as motor vehicles. For fiscal year 2011, the transportation budget
totaled $3,400.0 million; on the same basis actual expenditures for fiscal year 2010 were $3,162.5 million. See “STATE
FINANCES – Transportation Trust Fund” with respect to the principal revenues and expenditures related to the
Department of Transportation.
The Maryland Transportation Authority (“MDTA”) of which the Secretary of Transportation is Chairman, is
responsible for the administration of the various toll revenue facilities, which consist of bridges over the Susquehanna,
Patapsco, and Potomac Rivers and the Chesapeake Bay; two tunnels under the Baltimore Harbor; the John F. Kennedy
Memorial Highway; the Intercounty Connector; and other transportation facilities. The MDTA’s financial transactions
are accounted for in a separate special revenue fund and are not included in the Transportation Trust Fund.
Human Resources. The Department of Human Resources administers State and federal programs relating to
child welfare, foster care, public assistance, family investment services, adult services, energy assistance, legal services,
victim services, child support enforcement, and work opportunity assistance for adults receiving public assistance. For
fiscal year 2011, approximately $2,589.3 million was budgeted for the Department of Human Resources, including
$1,937.7 million in federal funds and $555.0 million in State general funds.
Public assistance programs include Temporary Cash Assistance (“TCA”), food stamps, assistance to disabled
citizens, and several emergency assistance programs. The largest categories of programs are TCA, in which the
State/federal shares vary depending upon the areas to which the State directs its Maintenance of Effort and Food Stamps,
which is 100% federal funds. The Department of Human Resources also provides a broad range of social services to the
indigent and other eligible persons under both federal-State and State-only programs.
Public Safety and Correctional Services, State Police, Juvenile Services and Governor’s Office for Crime
Control and Prevention. The Departments of Public Safety and Correctional Services, State Police, and Juvenile
Services, include correctional agencies and institutions, parole units, the Maryland State Police, services and facilities for
adjudicated youth, and related activities. The Governor’s Office for Crime Control and Prevention administers federal
and State grant programs focusing on crime control and prevention. For fiscal year 2011, approximately $1,907.2
million was budgeted for these departments, of which $1,497.6 million is from general funds.
Other Expenditures and Services. The State has numerous other operating units, including the judicial system;
financial and revenue administration; labor, licensing and regulation; planning, budgetary activity, and personnel
administration; natural resources and recreation; business and economic development; housing and community
development; environment; and others, all of which accounted for approximately 8.7% of total expenditures for fiscal
year 2010 and 8.7% of the fiscal year 2011 Budget. General obligation bond debt service accounted for approximately
2.4% of total expenditures for fiscal year 2010 and 2.5% of the fiscal year 2011 Budget.
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State Reserve Fund
The State Reserve Fund is currently composed of four accounts: the Revenue Stabilization Account, which is
established to retain State revenues for future needs and to reduce the need for future tax increases; the Dedicated
Purpose Account, which is established to retain appropriations for major multi-year expenditures and to meet
contingency requirements; the Economic Development Opportunities Program Account, which is to be used for
extraordinary economic development opportunities as a supplement to existing programs; and the Catastrophic Event
Account, which is to be used to respond quickly to a natural disaster or other catastrophic event that cannot be managed
within existing appropriations. All interest earned on the State Reserve Fund is credited to the Revenue Stabilization
Account.
The Governor is required to include in each annual budget bill an appropriation of $100.0 million if the balance
in the Revenue Stabilization Account is less than 3.0% of estimated general fund revenues. If the balance in the Account
is at least 3.0% of estimated general fund revenues but less than 7.5% of estimated general fund revenues, the Governor
is required to include an appropriation to the Account of $50.0 million or the amount necessary to bring the balance of
the Account to 7.5%, whichever is less. Maryland law defines estimated general fund revenues as those stated in the
annual report of the Board of Revenue Estimates submitted to the Governor.
The Governor is also required to include an appropriation to the Revenue Stabilization Account equal to the
unappropriated general fund balance in excess of $10.0 million from the second prior fiscal year. The appropriation
required under this provision may be offset by any appropriation required to reach a certain percent of estimated general
fund revenues, as discussed above.
The provisions discussed above would have required an appropriation to the Revenue Stabilization Account in
fiscal year 2011. However, pursuant to provisions in the Budget Reconciliation and Financing Act of 2009, no
appropriation was made due to requirements in ARRA that the additional Medicaid funds authorized by ARRA could not
directly or indirectly supplement a State’s Rainy Day Fund.
Withdrawals that do not result in a Revenue Stabilization Account balance below 5.0% of estimated general
fund revenues may be authorized by an act of the General Assembly or specifically authorized in the State Budget.
Withdrawals that result in a Revenue Stabilization Account balance below 5.0% of estimated general fund revenues must
be authorized by an act of the General Assembly other than the State Budget Bill.
The following table presents the balances of the State Reserve Fund for the four fiscal years ended June 30,
2007 through June 30, 2010, and the estimate for the fiscal year ended June 30, 2011.
State Reserve Fund
Fiscal Years 2007–2011
($ in millions)
Balance at Fiscal Year End
Fiscal
Year
2007 .................................................
2008 (a)............................................
2009 .................................................
2010 (b) ...........................................
2011 estimate (b) ............................
________

Revenue
Stabilization
Account
$1,432.2
684.8
691.8
611.6
624.3

Other
Accounts
$157.6
35.5
10.0
3.1
3.0

Total State
Reserve Fund
$1,589.7
720.3
701.8
614.7
627.3

Revenue Stabilization
Account as a % of
General Fund Revenue
11.1%
5.1
5.4
4.9
4.7

(a) In fiscal year 2008, transfers to the General Fund included $978.0 million from the Revenue Stabilization Account and $100.0 million from the Dedicated Purpose
Account.
(b) In the proposed budget, the Revenue Stabilization Account balance as a percentage of general fund revenue as stated in the annual report of the Board of Revenue
Estimated equaled 5.0%. Subsequently, the percentage fell below 5.0% due to increased revenues.
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FY 2006-2010 GAAP General Fund Results of Operations
The GAAP General Fund is that fund from which all general costs of State government are paid and to which
taxes and other revenues not specifically directed by law to be deposited in separate funds are recorded in accordance
with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles (“GAAP”). The following table presents the comparative statement of
revenues, expenditures, and changes in fund balances in the GAAP General Fund for fiscal years ended June 30, 2006
through June 30, 2010.
GAAP General Fund Comparative Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balance
Fiscal Years 2006-2010
($ in thousands)
Revenues (a):
Income taxes.......................................................................................................
Sales and use taxes.............................................................................................
Other taxes..........................................................................................................
Other licenses and fees ......................................................................................
Charges for services...........................................................................................
Interest and other investment income...............................................................
Federal revenue..................................................................................................
Other ...................................................................................................................
Total revenues...........................................................................................
Expenditures (a):
General government...........................................................................................
Health and mental hygiene................................................................................
Education ...........................................................................................................
Human resources................................................................................................
Public Safety ......................................................................................................
Judicial................................................................................................................
Labor, licensing and regulation.........................................................................
Natural resources and recreation.......................................................................
Housing and community development.............................................................
Environment.......................................................................................................
Agriculture..........................................................................................................
Business and economic development...............................................................
Intergovernmental..............................................................................................
Total expenditures .....................................................................................
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures.................................
Other sources (uses) of financial resources:
Capital leases......................................................................................................
Operating transfers in ........................................................................................
Operating transfers out ......................................................................................
Net other sources (uses) of financial resources........................................
Net change in fund balances..............................................................................
Fund balances at the beginning of the year..............................................................
Fund balances, June 30..............................................................................................

2006

2007

2008

2009

$ 7,108,573
3,382,851
1,748,366
808,617
597,719
201,783
5,258,137
99,236
19,205,282

$ 7,325,181
3,447,896
1,687,223
782,712
642,801
292,262
5,624,412
206,076
20,008,563

$ 7,868,899
3,748,933
1,816,652
651,079
732,103
296,636
5,846,077
188,575
21,148,954

$ 7,156,297
3,851,752
1,554,732
686,806
830,038
154,895
7,005,387
358,044
21,597,951

$6,957,811
3,754,326
1,542,180
682,756
1,220,226
119,635
8,581,125
395,238
23,253,297

737,060
6,547,288
6,352,121
1,622,922
1,606,314
490,861
154,607
165,439
215,940
83,793
64,044
56,374
553,941
18,650,704
554,578

715,676
7,252,117
7,151,741
1,643,078
1,790,595
527,618
164,255
177,553
228,105
92,460
101,252
65,774
503,014
20,413,238
(404,675)

727,569
7,536,747
7,997,946
1,761,284
1,835,652
556,056
166,848
188,675
244,581
95,918
147,494
94,503
408,208
21,761,481
(612,527)

754,317
8,286,032
8,289,393
2,061,959
1,824,595
585,778
182,751
205,876
244,208
106,307
142,804
90,892
354,617
23,129,529
(1,531,578)

754,139
9,040,549
8,539,556
2,291,347
1,773,141
556,908
226,118
184,342
315,630
110,092
92,954
74,578
336,703
24,296,057
(1,042,760)

71,798
653,163
(368,942)
356,019
910,597
2,621,957
$ 3,532,554

50,575
613,148
(532,635)
131,088
(273,587)
3,532,554
$ 3,258,967

31,185
648,718
(440,755)
239,148
(373,379)
3,258,967
$ 2,885,588

27,945
602,745
(474,778)
155,912
(1,375,666)
2,885,588
$1,509,922

15,472
1,276,702
(510,244)
781,930
(260,830)
1,509,922
$1,249,092

Fund balance as % of revenues.................................................................................

18.4%

16.3%

13.6%

2010

7.0%

_________
(a)

The budgetary system's principal departures from the modified accrual basis, i.e., GAAP, are with the classification of the State's budgetary funds and the
timing of certain revenues and expenditures. See APPENDIX A – “COMPREHENSIVE ANNUAL FINANCIAL REPORT.”
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5.4%

General Fund 2011 Budget
2011 Budget. On April 12, 2010, the General Assembly enacted the Budget for fiscal year 2011 (the “2011
Budget”). The 2011 Budget includes, among other things: (1) funds to the State’s Teachers’ and Employees’ Retirement
and Pension Systems consistent with the “corridor” methodology of funding as prescribed by statute; (2) $5,741.6
million in aid to local governments from general funds; (3) $0.8 million for capital projects; (4) $15.0 million to the State
Reserve Fund; and (5) deficiency appropriations of $195.8 million for fiscal year 2010, including $108.9 million for
Medicaid, $39.3 million for Public Education, $17.3 million to the Department of Human Resources for Temporary
Disability Assistance Payments, $13.3 million to the Department of Assessments and Taxation for tax credit payments,
and $12.0 million for the Department of Public Safety and Correctional Services, mostly for staffing and inmate medical
costs. The 2011 Budget does not include funds for any employee cost of living adjustment, merit increases, or a match
for contributions to deferred compensation.
As part of the fiscal year 2011 budget plan, the General Assembly enacted the Budget Reconciliation and
Financing Act of 2010 (the “2010 Act”), legislation that authorizes various funding changes resulting in increased
general fund revenues and decreased general fund appropriations. The 2010 Act and other revenue adjustments increase
fiscal year 2011 general fund revenues by $367.2 million, including $363.4 million in Highway User Revenues, $22.1
million by diverting to the General Fund a portion of sales taxes and motor fuel taxes from the Chesapeake Bay 2010
Fund, $11.0 million resulting from changes in the allocation of interest earnings that otherwise would be retained in
special funds accounts, and $2.4 million in Admissions and Amusement tax attributable to the cultural arts. Fiscal year
2011 general fund revenue reductions include $41.8 million in corporate income taxes due to the reauthorization of the
Higher Education Investment Fund and $19.0 million related to the Job Creation Tax Credit.
The 2010 Act authorizes transfers to the General Fund in fiscal year 2011 of $22.3 million, including $11.7
million from the University System of Maryland and $6.0 million in furlough-related savings from various special funds.
The 2010 Act also authorizes transfers to the General Fund totaling $111.7 million from capital-related special fund
balances, including $45.0 million from the Bay Restoration Fund and $54.0 million in transfer tax revenues.
Reductions to required fiscal year 2011 general fund appropriations include $350.0 million in Aid to Education
to be replaced with Education Trust Fund revenues being re-allocated from the Local Income Tax Reserve, $156.9
million from reducing operating budget funding for the Intercounty Connector to reflect the use of bonds, $42.1 million
in Higher Education funding to be replaced with Higher Education Investment Fund revenues, and $17.0 million due to
an increase in quality assessments on nursing facilities.
The 2011 Budget includes $15.0 million for the State Reserve Fund in the Dedicated Purpose Account for
distribution to the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene for the Prince George’s County Health Care System. The
2011 Budget also eliminates operating funds for the Intercounty Connector. No transfers from the State Reserve Fund to
the General Fund are planned in fiscal year 2011.
The 2011 Budget funds fiscal year 2011 debt service on the State’s general obligation bonds with $827.5
million in special funds, primarily from State property tax revenues. The projected amount of State property tax
revenues reflects a property tax rate of 11.2 cents (per $100 of taxable assessed value), a rate unchanged from fiscal year
2010.
State aid to primary and secondary schools includes $114.0 million in Education Trust Fund revenues generated
through $60.0 million in anticipated revenue from Video Lottery Terminal (“VLT”) operations and $54.0 million in VLT
licensing fees. The 2011 Budget also includes $389.0 million in additional federal fund attainment in the Medicaid
program.
Based on the Board of Revenue Estimates March 2010 general fund revenue estimate and actions enacted by
the General Assembly in the 2010 session, it was estimated that the general fund balance on a budgetary basis at June 30,
2011 would be $203.9 million.
Subsequent Events. General fund revenues and fund transfers realized in the State’s fiscal year ended June 30,
2010 were $190.9 million above estimates and general fund reversions on a budgetary basis were $0.6 million below
estimates, resulting in a $344.0 million general fund balance on a budgetary basis.
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On August 10, 2010 federal legislation authorizing an extension of enhanced federal fund Medicaid match
provisions was enacted. The extended federal Medicaid match was approved at a level lower than that authorized by the
American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009. The 2010 Act authorized a transfer of $200.0 million from the
Local Income Tax Reserve to the General Fund due to the reduction in the federal match.
On December 15, 2010, the Board of Revenue Estimates increased its fiscal year 2011 general fund revenue
estimate by $57.0 million. In addition, the fiscal year 2012 Budget plan includes $60.5 million in revenue adjustments
including the deposit of $23.0 million in federal retiree drug subsidies to the General Fund pursuant to the Budget
Reconciliation and Financing Act of 2011 (the “2011 Act”). The 2011 Act also authorizes transfers to the General Fund
in fiscal year 2011 of $5.6 million in transfer tax revenues and $3.4 million from various special fund balances. Based on
the events and actions discussed above, it is estimated that the general fund balance on a budgetary basis at June 30,
2011 will equal $646.1 million.
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General Fund Revenues and Appropriations — Budgetary Basis
Fiscal Years 2010-2011
($ in millions)
2011
2010
Original
Actual
Budget
General Fund Revenues
Income Taxes .................................................................................
Sales and Use Taxes ......................................................................
Lottery ............................................................................................
Franchises, Excises, Licenses, Fees..............................................
Extraordinary Items (b) .................................................................
Total ........................................................................................
General Fund Appropriations
Public Education ............................................................................
Human Resources ..........................................................................
Public Health..................................................................................
Public Safety, State Police, and Juvenile Services ......................
Capital Funding..............................................................................
State Reserve Fund – Revenue Stabilization
& Dedicated Purpose Accounts.............................................
Administrative and Other .............................................................
Total ........................................................................................

$6,867.6
3,522.8
491.0
1,678.7
27.0
$12,587.1

$6,805.6
3,667.2
527.6
2,033.1
5.4
$13,038.9

$6,950.6
3,708.3
492.6
2,068.1
3.7
$13,223.2

$6,977.1
607.3
2,963.0
1,499.2
0.1

$6,637.1
557.8
3,150.1
1,500.3
0.8

$6,668.9
555.0
3,235.7
1,497.6
0.8

114.9
1,280.8
$13,442.3

15.0
1,280.5
$13,141.6

15.0
1,289.1
$13,262.1

General Fund Balance — Budgetary Basis
Fiscal Years 2010-2011
($ in millions)
2010
Actual
Balance Beginning of Year (c) ....................................................
Increases:
Revenues..........................................................................
Transfer from Revenue Stabilization Account..............
Transfer from other funds...............................................
Decreases:
Appropriations ................................................................
Reversion of Prior Year Encumbrances ........................
Balance End of Year (c) ................................................................

2011
Estimate (a)

2011
Estimate (a)

$87.2

$ 344.0

12,587.1
210.0
888.4
13,685.5

13,223.2
0.0
340.9
13,564.1

13,442.3
(13.7)
13,428.6
$344.0

13,262.1
13,262.1
$646.1

___________
(a)

(b)
(c)

Estimated revenues include revenues recommended to the Governor by the Board of Revenue Estimates in March 2011 and revenue adjustments
incorporated in the fiscal year 2012 Budget. Estimated appropriations are based on the Budget as enacted and include deficiency appropriations of
$127.3 million and are net of estimated reversions of $37.8 million.
Extraordinary revenues include anticipated collections from the 2009 tax amnesty program.
Fund balance does not include amounts reserved for the State Reserve Fund or encumbrances. See “STATE FINANCES – State Reserve Fund.”
*Totals may not add due to rounding.
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General Fund 2012 Budget
2012 Budget. On April 8, 2011, the General Assembly enacted the Budget for fiscal year 2012 (the“2012
Budget”). The 2012 Budget includes $14,748.7 million in spending for, among other things: (1) $6,256.3 million in aid
to local governments; (2) $2,534.0 million for the Medicaid Program; and (3) $62.5 million in supplementary
appropriations, supported by the increase in the sales tax on alcohol, for public school construction and services to
developmentally disabled individuals. The 2012 Budget also includes deficiency appropriations of $127.3 million for
fiscal year 2011, including $85.6 million to the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene primarily for Medicaid, $33.5
million for the State Department of Education for child care subsidies, local aid and student assessments, and $3.4
million to the Department of Juvenile Services for various operating expenses.
As part of the fiscal year 2012 budget plan, the General Assembly enacted the Budget Reconciliation and
Financing Act of 2011 (the “2011 Act”) which authorizes various funding changes resulting in increased general fund
revenues and decreased general fund appropriations.
The 2011 Act and other revenue adjustments and legislative actions increase fiscal year 2012 revenues by
$312.3 million, including $84.8 million from increasing the sales tax on alcohol, $59.1 million in additional income tax
and sales tax collections as a result of federal tax changes, $24.0 million in federal retiree drug subsidies, $25.4 million
from linking renewals of vehicle registrations to the payment of tax liabilities, $20.2 million in sales and motor fuel tax
diversions from the Chesapeake Bay 2010 Fund, and $18.8 million from maintaining existing payments to businesses for
sales tax collections. The 2011 Act also redistributed certain revenues shared by the General Fund and the
Transportation Trust Fund. The General Fund share of the sales tax increases by $212.4 million while the share of
Highway User Revenues decreases by $150.9 million for a net increase to the General Fund of $61.6 million.
The 2011 Act authorizes transfers to the General Fund in fiscal year 2012 of $36.4 million, including $10.0
million from the Real Property Records Improvement Fund, $8.6 million from the Voluntary Separation Program
savings in various special funds, $4.1 million from the Injured Worker’s Insurance Fund, $4.0 million from the Maryland
Automobile Insurance Fund, $2.0 million from the State Insurance Trust Fund, and $9.7 million from other various
special fund balances. The 2011 Act also authorizes transfers to the General Fund totaling $191.3 million from various
capital-related special funds, including $94.5 million in transfer tax revenues and $90.0 million from the Bay Restoration
Fund.
Reductions authorized in the 2011 Act include $12.1 million in aid to education to maintain State support for
primary and secondary education at the fiscal year 2011 level, $124.4 million in aid to education as a result of prefunding
fiscal year 2012 support in fiscal year 2011, $104.0 million in savings from retirement reforms, $42.1 million for various
proposals in the Department of Health and Mental Hygiene, $34.8 million from shifting a share of the cost of property
valuation to local governments, and $13.9 million in savings from retiree prescription drug benefits.
The 2012 Budget includes $1.5 billion in contributions to the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System
consistent with the corridor funding methodology prescribed by statute. The 2011 Act authorized reforms that are
projected to produce $295.2 million in fiscal year 2012 savings due to increased employee contributions and reduced
future retirement benefits and their associated liabilities. Pursuant to the 2011 Act, the 2012 Budget allocates $120.0
million of the pension reform savings to budget relief through a reduction in employer contributions to the Teachers’ and
Employees’ Pension Systems and reinvests the remaining $175.2 million in those systems. The $120.0 million in
budgetary savings includes $104.0 million in general funds and $16.0 million in special and federal funds.
The 2011 Act also provides that for future fiscal years the State’s contributions to each system shall include an
additional amount reflecting the difference between the State’s required contribution under the corridor funding method
for that fiscal year and the amount that would have been required had pension reforms not been enacted. For fiscal year
2013, State contributions to the system will be reduced by $120.0 million and the amount of savings estimated to be
reinvested in the system will be $192.4 million. Beginning in fiscal year 2014 all savings from the 2011 Act pension
reforms, up to an annual cap of $300.0 million, will be invested in the Teachers’ and Employees’ Pension Systems.
The 2012 Budget includes funds for full employee salaries and does not include any furloughs or temporary
salary reductions. The 2012 Budget also does not include funds for any employee cost of living adjustment, merit
increases, or the statutory match for contributions to deferred compensation but does include $39.2 million for a onetime $750.00 bonus for most employees.
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The 2012 Budget includes $15.0 million to the Dedicated Purpose Account of the State Reserve Fund for
distribution to the Prince George’s County Health System. The 2011 Act directs $40.0 million in transportation related
revenues to the Revenue Stabilization Account of the State Reserve Fund. The balance in the Revenue Stabilization
Account is estimated to equal $681.5 million or 5.0% of general fund revenues as estimated by the Board of Revenue
Estimates in December 2010. No transfers from the State Reserve Fund to the General Fund are planned in fiscal year
2012.
The 2012 Budget funds debt service on the State’s general obligation bonds with $867.3 million in special
funds, primarily from State property tax revenues and $11.1 million in federal funds reflecting the interest subsidy on
current outstanding ARRA Bonds. The projected amount of State property tax revenues reflects a property tax rate of
11.2 cents (per $100 of taxable assessed value), a rate unchanged from fiscal year 2011.
It is estimated that the general fund balance on a budgetary basis at June 30, 2012, will be $56.4 million. In
addition, the balance in the Revenue Stabilization Account of the State Reserve Fund is estimated to be $681.5 million at
June 30, 2012, equal to 5.0% of estimated general fund revenues.
Subsequent Events. It is now projected that the $214.8 million in VLT revenues included in the 2012 Budget to
support Aid to Education will be $87.3 million less than expected due to a delayed opening of the VLT facility in Anne
Arundel County. Additional general fund expenditures will be required to offset any shortfall in VLT revenues available
to Aid to Education. However, it is anticipated that general fund revenues in fiscal year 2011 will exceed estimates by
an amount sufficient to offset the VLT shortfall and not negatively impact the estimated general fund balance on a
budgetary basis at June 30, 2012, as stated above.
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Interim General Fund Revenues and Expenditures
The State does not issue, nor does it have procedures in effect that provide interim financial statements;
however, the Office of the Comptroller has compiled the following summary data with respect to the revenues and
expenditures of the General Fund for the nine months ended March 31, 2010 and 2011. The General Fund is that fund
from which all general costs of State government are paid and to which taxes and other revenues not specifically directed
by law to be deposited in separate funds are recorded. Approximately 40.4% of revenues were accounted for in the
General Fund in fiscal year 2010, and it is currently estimated that the General Fund will account for 39.9% of all
revenues in fiscal year 2011. The presentation of these data does not purport to be, and should not be construed as, an
interim Statement of General Fund Revenues, Expenditures, and Surplus; however, adjustments have been made to
present the revenues on a basis reasonably comparable to the table of operating revenues included in the section “STATE
FINANCES – State Revenues” presented elsewhere in this Official Statement.
General Fund Revenues. The following presents a summary of general fund revenues on a budgetary basis by
major categories for the nine months ended March 31, 2010 and 2011.
General Fund Revenues
($ in millions)
Fiscal Year 2010

Nine Months Ended March 31
Fiscal Year 2011

% of FY Actual
Revenues (a)

Amount

Amount

% of FY Estimated
Revenues (a)

Income Taxes (b) ......................................
Sales and Use Taxes (b) ...........................
Motor Vehicle User Taxes, Fees (c) ........
Property, Franchise, Excise Taxes...........
Sundry Fees, Licenses, Charges, Etc.......
Federal .......................................................

$4,368.0
2,292.1
7.2
679.8
555.5
38.2

63.6%
65.1
85.4
62.4
51.8
56.5

$4,552.6
2,395.8
5.0
710.0
789.9
50.8

65.5%
64.6
100.0
63.0
55.3
74.1

Total...........................................................
____________

$7,940.7

63.2 %

$8,504.1

64.3%

(a)
(b)
(c)

For the first nine months of fiscal year 2010, represents the percentage of actual revenues for the full fiscal year; for the first nine months
of fiscal year 2011, represents the percentage of revenues as estimated by the Board of Revenues Estimates on March 9, 2011.
Income taxes and sales and use taxes reflect amounts actually received from July through March, excluding amounts received in that
period allocable to the preceding fiscal year.
These revenues include existing transportation-related taxes whose distributions were changed for fiscal years 2010 through 2012 in the
fiscal year 2011 operating budget approved by the General Assembly during the 2010 session. The fiscal year 2010 distribution was
treated as a transfer.

* Totals may not add due to rounding.
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General Fund Expenditures. The following presents a summary of general fund expenditures on a budgetary
basis by major category for the nine months ended March 31, 2010 and 2011 (see note (a)):
General Fund Expenditures
($ in millions)
Fiscal Year 2010

% of FY Actual
Expenditures (b)

Amount

Public Education ..............................................
Human Resources ............................................
Public Health....................................................
Public Safety ....................................................
Administrative & Other...................................
State Reserve Fund - Revenue Stabilization
Account.......................................................

$5,641.7
387.1
2,105.1
1,013.2
974.4

Total..................................................................
___________

$10,236.4

(a)

(b)

Nine Months Ended March 31
Fiscal Year 2011

114.9

80.7%
63.8
70.1
71.1
73.3

Amount

% of FY Budget
Expenditures (b)

$4,998.1
404.8
2,128.8
1,016.9
981.1

75.3%
72.6
66.9
71.1
71.9

100.0
76.0%

$9,529.7

72.3%

The State's accounting procedures do not require recording encumbrances (i.e., commitments evidenced by purchase orders or contracts) for
financial reporting purposes except at the end of each fiscal year. Accordingly, no amounts of encumbrances have been recorded for the
nine months ended March 31, 2010 and 2011. At June 30, 2009 and 2010, General Fund encumbrances charged to expenditures for the
fiscal years ended totaled $136.7 million and $97.4 million, respectively. The Office of the Comptroller has no reason to believe that the
current patterns of commitments are not in conformity with historical practices. See APPENDIX A, Notes 1 and 2 of Notes to Financial
Statements and Notes to Required Supplementary Information as to certain changes, accrual methods, and practices affecting the
presentation of expenditures.
For the first nine months of fiscal year 2010, represents the percentage of actual expenditures for the full fiscal year; for the first nine
months of fiscal year 2011, represents the percentage of current budget expenditures.

* Totals may not add due to rounding.

Federal Stimulus Funding
The American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (“ARRA”) provides support to States by funding
infrastructure, education programs and human services programs by providing discretionary and targeted funding. The
table titled Impact of ARRA on Maryland shows that ARRA provides over $4.6 billion in formula funding to the State of
Maryland.
ARRA grants to Maryland provide $581.8 million for educational programs, $767.3 million for infrastructure
programs, and $425.7 million for other programs. These funds provide additional federal support and do not supplant
general funds. ARRA also includes $101.8 million in grants to local governments and aid organizations that are not
appropriated in the State budget. These funds will be distributed directly to the local governments and aid organizations.
ARRA also provides federal grants for which State and local governments must compete, including grants to
support law enforcement, habitat conservation, and the arts. It is uncertain how much of these funds the State will receive
and they are not included in ARRA estimates for Maryland.
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Funds Supporting State General Fund Commitments
ARRA’s most significant impact for Maryland was the $2.8 billion to support State general fund commitments.
These funds support Medicaid, education, and discretionary State spending. The funds were used in the place of general
funds to sustain State funding from fiscal years 2009 to 2011.
Medicaid funds totaled $1,896.3 million and were available from October 2008 through the end of December
2010. A portion of the funds are attributable to a 6.2% increase in the State’s Federal Medical Assistance Percentage.
Impact of ARRA on Maryland
Fiscal Years 2009 through 2011
($ in Millions)
Program
FY 2010

FY 2011
Estimate

FY 2012
Estimate

Estimated
Total
Award

$0.0
1.5
443.5
445.0

$297.3
79.6
785.8
1,162.7

$422.3
79.0
667.0
1,168.3

$0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0

$719.6
160.1
1,896.3
2,776.0

0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.8
0.0
0.8

214.1
130.7
0.0
8.1
0.2
5.3
0.0
358.4

14.2
0.0
173.6
4.6
0.0
2.7
0.0
195.4

0.0
0.0
26.6
0.0
0.3
0.0
0.3
27.2

228.3
130.7
200.2
12.7
0.5
8.8
0.6
581.8

15.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
15.0

155.8
42.4
6.5
0.0
31.7
77.2
0.0
19.1
3.4
336.1

191.0
74.7
7.5
1.1
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.5
0.1
274.9

46.8
35.2
0.0
15.0
0.0
0.0
43.8
0.4
0.1
141.3

408.6
152.3
14.0
16.1
31.7
77.2
43.8
20.0
3.6
767.3

0.0
0.0
6.5
0.0
0.0
0.0
7.2
33.4
16.1
0.0
4.4
14.1
1.8
0.0
1.0
0.1
0.0
0.3
84.9
_____
$545.7

19.3
5.7
52.3
13.7
5.4
2.1
7.1
3.9
32.8
1.6
18.2
12.2
17.1
1.3
0.6
8.8
0.9
3.3
206.3
_______
$2,063.5

28.5
17.5
2.7
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.3
9.6
0.4
2.0
2.8
0.7
2.8
4.0
12.4
9.2
2.9
95.8
_______
$1,734.4

3.7
2.1
0.5
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.0
0.8
1.0
7.8
10.9
11.1
0.8
38.8
______
$207.2

51.5
25.3
62.0
13.7
5.4
2.1
14.3
37.6
58.5
2.0
24.6
29.1
20.4
5.1
13.4
32.2
21.2
7.3
425.7
_______
$4,550.8

FY 2009
Supporting State General Fund Commitments
Fiscal Stabilization – Education
Fiscal Stabilization – Discretionary
Medicaid
Subtotal
Education Grants Appropriated in the State Budget
Special Education
Title I
Race to the Top
Education Technology
School Improvement Program
Vocational Rehabilitation
Head Start
Subtotal
Infrastructure Appropriated in the State Budget
Highways
Transit Capital
Aviation Capital
High Speed Rail
Tax Credit Assistance Program (HOME)
Section 1602 Monetization
Broadband Technology
Clean Water
Drinking Water
Subtotal
Other Grants Appropriated in the State Budget
State Energy Programs
Energy Efficiency and Conservation Block Grant
Weatherization
Community Services Block Grant
Homelessness Prevention
Community Development Block Grant
Foster Care
Food Assistance
Temporary Assistance for Needy Families
Ind. Living, Homeless Educ. & Work Study
Child Care & Development Block Grant
Child Support Enforcement
UI/Workforce Inv./Dislocated Workers
Preventative Health BG/Immunization
Health Information Technology
Byrne Grants/Public Safety Grants
Federal Subsidy on Build America Bonds
Other Grants
Subtotal
Total State Grants
____
Source: Department of Budget and Management.
* Totals may not add due to rounding.
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State Fiscal Stabilization Fund. The table below shows that ARRA provided $879.8 million to Maryland in
Fiscal Stabilization funds. The legislation required that 81.8%, or $719.7 million, support education programs. The
education funds must first be used to restore elementary and secondary school reductions to fiscal year 2008 spending
levels. Since Maryland has increased spending, this requirement does not apply. Remaining funds were required to be
used to support State formula increases in fiscal years 2010 and 2011 for elementary and secondary education or to
restore reductions made to State higher education funding below fiscal years 2008 or 2009 levels. The State has applied
these funds to support elementary and secondary education increases. The fiscal year 2010 Budget included $297.3
million and $422.3 million was included in the 2011 Budget.
Finally, ARRA permits 18.2% of the Fiscal Stabilization funds to support general government services. These
discretionary funds total $160.1 million, of which $1.5 million was spent in fiscal year 2009, $79.6 million was spent in
fiscal year 2010 and the remaining $79.0 million was included in the 2011 Budget.

ARRA – Federal Stabilization Spending by Program
Fiscal Years 2009-2011
($ in Millions)
Program

FY 2010
Estimate

FY 2011
Estimate

Total

$0.0

$297.3

$422.3

$719.7

0.0
0.0
1.5
0.0
1.5

19.9
4.5
1.5
53.7
79.6

19.9
4.5
1.5
53.2
79.1

39.7
9.0
4.5
106.9
160.1

$1.5

$376.9

$501.4

$879.8

FY 2009
Fiscal Stabilization – Education
Fiscal Stabilization – Discretionary
Maryland State Police
Department of Juvenile Services
Department of Human Resources
Department of Public Safety and Correctional Services
Subtotal
Total Fiscal Stabilization
____
* Totals may not add due to rounding.
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FY 2006-2010 General Fund Budget vs Actual
The following statement presents a comparison of budget versus actual revenues, expenditures and
encumbrances and changes in fund balance in the State’s General Fund using the budgetary basis of accounting for each
of the past five fiscal years ended June 30.
Statutory General Fund Comparative Statement of Revenues,
Expenditures and Encumbrances and Changes in Fund Balance
Budget and Actual Fiscal Years 2006 to 2010
($ in thousands)
2006

2007

Budget

Actual

Budget

2008
Actual

2009

Budget

Actual

Budget

2010
Actual

Budget

Actual

Revenues:
Income taxes ....................................................................

$ 6,831,911

$6,843,809

$ 7,167,363

$ 7,268,949

$7,545,165

$7,491,807

7,363,803

7,027,897

$6,600,565

$6,888,949

Sales and use taxes............................................................

3,350,608

3,355,168

3,457,229

3,420,149

3,691,717

3,675,263

3,610,951

3,620,431

3,473,936

3,528,960

Other taxes.........................................................................

976,705

945,458

956,817

961,416

1,083,077

1,100,788

1,113,177

1,056,124

1,010,987

1,034,718

Licenses and fees...............................................................

181,709

198,533

212,457

209,504

205,284

205,314

190,969

207,169

202,944

204,963

Charges for services..........................................................

292,566

296,653

294,546

306,806

308,532

299,709

290,861

298,377

291,250

271,923

Interest and other investment income ..............................

133,976

195,395

172,795

260,708

122,585

234,289

103,000

113,607

35,000

64,759

Other ..................................................................................

572,042

928,778

588,371

1,477,980

601,428

837,322

547,693

878,185

598,114

705,211

Total revenues (a) ......................................................

12,339,517

12,763,794

12,849,578

13,905,512

13,557,788

13,844,492

13,220,454

13,201,790

12,212,796

12,699,483

Payments of revenue to civil divisions of the State ........

132,036

131,793

145,033

144,794

149,512

149,218

120,760

120,760

124,011

124,011

Public debt.........................................................................

-

-

-

-

29,349

29,349

-

-

-

-

Legislative .........................................................................

65,284

64,184

69,128

68,156

72,258

70,838

76,397

73,650

76,403

71,590

Judicial review and legal ..................................................

392,974

392,541

432,829

429,676

457,197

453,810

485,384

477,529

479,558

469,861

Executive and administrative control...............................

169,705

168,299

278,878

276,634

195,834

193,466

254,130

248,094

200,473

197,325

Financial and revenue administration..............................

165,026

164,754

182,851

179,001

185,550

180,191

179,818

178,792

197,695

196,070

Budget and management...................................................

60,033

59,190

65,860

62,537

31,546

28,611

38,839

36,165

38,328

37,062

General services ................................................................

50,388

50,387

59,815

58,814

58,062

58,062

55,284

55,284

51,284

51,209

Natural resources and recreation......................................

65,529

65,298

75,692

75,387

76,856

76,476

57,855

57,718

45,351

45,250

Agriculture.........................................................................

24,822

24,812

30,292

30,021

34,392

33,710

29,155

28,884

25,236

25,236

Health, hospitals and mental hygiene ..............................

3,382,496

3,381,597

3,588,004

3,588,003

3,671,920

3,651,019

3,373,973

3,362,742

2,985,071

2,962,979

Human resources...............................................................

551,865

550,865

569,924

569,924

575,743

575,743

589,585

589,215

607,269

607,266

Labor, licensing and regulation........................................

19,020

16,681

16,004

15,728

15,880

15,440

12,829

12,743

33,235

33,235

Public safety and correctional services............................

890,577

890,305

1,034,310

1,033,397

1,034,831

1,034,830

1,076,908

1,076,861

1,008,610

1,007,312

Public education................................................................

5,523,831

5,517,071

6,201,859

6,197,845

7,014,660

7,007,355

7,246,594

7,242,123

6,977,056

6,973,769

Housing and community development ............................

6,924

6,924

46,132

45,621

13,701

13,688

9,411

9,401

4,231

4,231

Business and economic development ..............................

59,939

59,939

103,205

103,086

95,708

95,670

81,198

80,788

62,702

62,701

Expenditures and encumbrances by major function:

Environment ......................................................................

34,472

34,472

50,835

50,340

44,527

44,471

44,951

44,941

35,500

35,500

Juvenile services................................................................

197,656

197,334

238,791

238,520

267,188

266,734

267,002

266,941

260,637

260,636

State police ........................................................................

230,966

230,555

245,559

245,559

247,375

246,745

180,461

178,772

164,082

162,112

State reserve fund..............................................................
Reversions:
Current year reversions..................................................

349,372

349,372

791,382

791,382

262,795

262,795

211,543

211,543

114,948

114,948

Prior year reversions ......................................................

-

(20,000)

Total expenditures and encumbrances......................

12,352,915

Changes in encumbrances during fiscal year .....................

-

Total expenditures......................................................

12,352,915

Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures.........

(14,863)
12,341,510
2,834
12,344,344

(20,000)
14,206,383

-

(30,000)

-

(29,971)

-

(49,268)

14,174,454

-

(51,543)

14,206,383

14,122,911

14,504,884

14,438,953

-

26,735

14,504,884

14,465,688

(30,000)
-

(44,216)

(63,680)
-

(13,672)

14,362,077

14,308,730

13,428,000

-

42,998

-

39,241

14,362,077

14,351,728

13,428,000

13,467,872

(1,149,938)

(1,215,204)

(13,398)

419,450

(1,356,805)

(217,399)

(947,096)

(621,196)

(1,141,623)

-

30,386

-

(23,798)

-

(72,596)

-

449,836

(1,356,805)

(693,792)

(1,141,623)

13,428,631

(768,389)

Other sources (uses) of financial resources:
Operating transfers in (out) ..............................................
Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures and
other sources of financial resources.........................
Fund balances at the beginning of the year ........................

(13,398)

(241,197)

(947,096)

688,515
(461,423)

1,872,213

1,872,213

2,322,049

2,322,049

2,080,852

2,080,852

1,387,060

1,387,060

Fund balances, June 30 (b) .................................................. $ 1,858,815

$ 2,322,049

$ 965,244

$ 2,080,852

$ 1,133,756

$ 1,387,060

$ 245,437

$ 925,637

-

898,877

(1,215,204)

130,488

925,637
$ (289,567)

925,637
$ 1,056,125

_________
(a) This amount differs from the total general fund revenues noted in the “General Fund Revenues and Appropriations – Budgetary Basis” schedule due to the different treatment of transfers, including the transfer of
revenues from the State Reserve Fund.
(b) Includes balances for the State Reserve Fund and encumbrances.
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General Fund Outlook
The 2012 Budget results in an estimated general fund balance on a budgetary basis at June 30, 2012 of $56.4
million. The Department of Budget and Management forecasts that expenditures will exceed available revenues in
future years but the size of the gap has been reduced due to expenditure reductions included in the 2011 Act and in the
2012 Budget, which together reduce the State’s structural budget imbalance in fiscal year 2012 to an estimated $1.1
billion from an estimated $2.0 billion. The Department of Budget and Management also estimates future shortfalls in the
General Fund between $1.0 billion and $1.3 billion in fiscal years 2013 through 2016. The Governor must submit and
the Legislature must enact a balanced budget. See “STATE FINANCES – Budgetary System”.
As with all future projections, assumptions and estimates may prove to be inaccurate and may be changed in the
future based on future financial conditions and results.
Cigarette Restitution Fund
All payments received by the State related to the tobacco settlement are to be deposited into the Cigarette
Restitution Fund (“CRF”), which can only be spent through appropriations in the annual State budget. At least 50% of
the appropriations must be for: the reduction of tobacco use by minors; implementation of the agriculture plan adopted
by the Tri-County Council for Southern Maryland; public and school education campaigns to decrease tobacco use;
smoking cessation programs; enforcement of laws regarding tobacco sales; support for programs that expand access to
health care for the uninsured; primary health care in rural areas and those targeted by tobacco companies; prevention,
treatment, and research, including capital projects, concerning cancer, heart disease, lung disease, and tobacco use and
control; and substance abuse treatment and prevention programs. Thirty percent of appropriations funded by the CRF
must be for the Medicaid program. The remainder of the CRF may be appropriated for any public purpose. Maryland
law provides a framework for two of the primary uses of the CRF by creating and outlining two specific programs: the
Tobacco Use Prevention and Cessation Program and the Cancer Prevention, Education, Screening, and Treatment
Program.
The special fund appropriations of the CRF are limited to the available proceeds of the tobacco settlement. In
its budgetary process, the State has made various revenue assumptions; in the event the anticipated revenues or funds are
less than the State expects, the appropriations cannot be fully expended. Net expenditures from the CRF were $192.7
million in fiscal year 2009 and $166.4 million in fiscal year 2010.
State Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund
In fiscal year 2010, the Maryland Unemployment Insurance Trust Fund (the “Fund”), which provides funding
for unemployment benefits in the State, received approximately $643.9 million in annual contributions from employers
and workers while paying out approximately $942.6 million in regular, annual state unemployment benefits (excluding
benefits paid entirely by the federal government.) The State's unemployment rate, which was 5.4% in December 2008,
rose to 7.5% in December 2009 and was 7.4% in December 2010 and 6.8% in April 2011.
In 2010, the State borrowed $133.8 million from the U.S. Department of Labor (“DOL”) for cash advances to
provide funding for unemployment insurance benefits. The need for this advance was due to unprecedented demand on
the Fund because of the economic downturn. The Fund pays up to 26 weeks of benefits for Marylanders who lose jobs
through no fault of their own. Extended benefits beyond the first 26 weeks are paid for by federal funds.
Increased unemployment insurance tax payments from employers resulting from automatic rate adjustments
began to flow into the Fund beginning in April 2010 and the Fund repaid the advance to DOL in December 2010.
Repayment of these advances to DOL was solely the obligation of the Fund and was not an obligation of the State's
General Fund. Because the advance was paid by year end, no interest was due.
While the Fund in Maryland has held up better than those in many other states, its reserves declined to less than
$100.0 million in early February 2010, from $755.0 million at the end of calendar year 2008. In April 2010, the Fund in
Maryland received $126.8 million in additional federal funding because of modernization adjustments to the State
Unemployment Insurance laws. $29.1 million of this amount remains as part of the Fund balance which was $465
million as of May 31, 2011.
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Transportation Trust Fund
The Transportation Trust Fund (“TTF”), administered by the Department of Transportation, is the largest of the
special funds and consolidates into a single fund substantially all fiscal resources dedicated to transportation (excluding
the Maryland Transportation Authority) including the excise taxes on motor vehicle fuel and motor vehicle titles, a
portion of sales and use tax on short-term vehicle rentals, a portion of the corporate income tax, wharfage and landing
fees, rentals, fare box revenues, and a portion of the State’s sales and use tax. See “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT –
Department of Transportation Debt.” All expenditures of the Department of Transportation are made from the TTF. In
addition, the various categories of transportation bonds are serviced from the TTF, and the particular taxes and other
designated revenues are both dedicated to the payment of such indebtedness and constitute the sole sources to which
holders of transportation bonds legally may look for repayment.
Amounts in the TTF do not revert to the General Fund if unexpended at the end of the fiscal year; however,
from time to time, the General Assembly has enacted legislation requiring that certain unpledged revenue in the TTF be
delivered to the General Fund. In some instances, such legislation also has provided for the subsequent re-transfers from
the General Fund to the TTF.
The 2011 Act alters the distribution of certain revenues shared by the TTF and the General Fund. Beginning in
fiscal year 2012, the TTF share of the sales tax is permanently credited to the general fund; the TTF share of the
corporate income tax is lowered and the distribution of Highway User Revenues to the General Fund is reduced in fiscal
year 2012 and is entirely credited to the TTF starting in fiscal year 2013.
The following table shows a condensed summary of the fund balances of the Department of Transportation for
each of the past five fiscal years ended June 30.
Department of Transportation Fund Balances
Fiscal Years 2006-2010
($ in thousands)
2006
Revenues ........................................... $3,534,227
Expenditures ..................................... 3,650,196
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures...............................
(115,969)
Net other sources (uses) of
158,510
financial resources .............................
Excess (deficiency) of revenues
over expenditures and net other
sources (uses) of financial
resources.............................................
42,541

2007

2008

2009

2010

$3,501,115
3,670,657

$3,341,196
3,769,682

$3,403,513
3,622,653

$3,506,266
3,785,271

(169,542)

(428,486)

(219,140)

(279,005)

111,077

249,319

404,740

280,002

(58,465)

(179,167)

185,600

997

Fund balance, July 1..........................

345,342

387,883

329,418

150,251

335,851

Fund balance, June 30 .......................

$387,883

$329,418

$150,251

$335,851

$336,848

Note: The Department of Transportation Special Revenue and Debt Service Funds account for substantially all of the financial activities of the Transportation Trust Fund.
The Maryland Transportation Authority (“MDTA”) is not part of the Transportation Trust Fund. The above summary was prepared from the audited financial
statements of the Department of Transportation which are prepared in accordance with Generally Accepted Accounting Principles.

Investment of State Funds
State statute provides that the investment of unexpended or surplus money over which the Treasurer has
custody, which includes both general funds and special funds, is limited to: (1) obligations of the United States or its
agencies or instrumentalities; (2) repurchase agreements collateralized in an amount not less than 102% of principal by
obligations of the United States or its agencies or instrumentalities; (3) bankers’ acceptances, money market mutual
funds and commercial paper (limited to 10% of total investments) all only with the highest rating; and (4) the Maryland
Local Government Investment Pool (“MLGIP”).
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Investment Portfolio Distribution
(par value)
March 31, 2010

March 31, 2011

U.S. Treasuries...............................................
Agencies .........................................................
Repurchase Agreements ................................
Money Market Funds ....................................
MLGIP............................................................

$895,000
3,315,712,000
1,330,212,741
77,092,851
230,733,862

$895,000
4,284,999,000
717,288,978
56,267,850
221,155,380

Total*..............................................................

$4,954,646,454

$5,280,606,208

Weighted Average Maturity in Days............
___

1,157

1,364

* Totals may not add due to rounding.

At March 31, 2011, approximately 81% of the portfolio was invested in U.S. Treasuries and U.S. government
agencies, and 14% of the portfolio was in shorter-term repurchase agreements. Investments in Treasuries and Agencies
were approximately 67% of the portfolio on March 31, 2010, while repurchase agreements were approximately 27% at
that time. The monthly weighted average portfolio interest rate was 2.409% for March 2011 compared to 2.468% for
March 2010.
The portfolio size on March 31, 2011 was almost $326.0 million more than March 2010. Interest earnings are
not expected to significantly increase until the Federal Open Market Committee raises rates.
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System
Introduction. The actuarial information provided in this section has been provided to the Maryland State
Retirement and Pension System (the “System”) by the System’s Actuary, Gabriel Roeder Smith & Company (“GRS”),
which was retained by the Board of Trustees of the System pursuant to statute. As with all actuarial valuations and
future projections, the actuarial valuations are based on actuarial assumptions that have been presented by the actuary
and adopted by the Board. One or more of these assumptions may prove to be inaccurate and may be changed in the
future based on the future experience of the System.
Plan Description. The Maryland State Retirement and Pension System was established by the State Personnel
and Pensions Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland to provide retirement allowances and other benefits in a defined
benefit plan to State employees, teachers, police, judges, legislators and employees of participating governmental units.
The System is made up of two cost-sharing employer pools: the “State Pool” and the “Municipal Pool.” The “State
Pool” consists of the State agencies, boards of education, community colleges and libraries. The “Municipal Pool”
consists of the participating governmental units that elect to join the System. Neither pool shares in each other’s
actuarial liabilities. Participating governmental units that elect to join the System (the “Municipal Pool”) cost-share in
the liabilities of the Municipal Pool only, and receive separate actuarial valuations in order to determine their respective
funding levels and actuarial liabilities. The System is administered by a 14-member Board of Trustees that has the
authority to invest and reinvest the System’s assets. The State is the guarantor for the payment of all pensions, annuities,
retirement allowances, refunds, reserves, and other benefits and expenses of the System.
The “State Pool” comprises five distinct plans: Teachers’ Retirement and Pension System (the “Teachers’
Pension System”), Employees’ Retirement and Pension System (the “Employees’ Pension System”), State Police
Retirement System, Judges’ Retirement System, and Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System. Together, the
Teachers’ and Employees’ Pension Systems account for 98.1% of membership in the “State Pool.” The “Municipal
Pool” covers employees of 151 political subdivisions and other entities within the State.
As of June 30, 2010, the State’s membership in the System included 171,811 active members, 45,154 vested
former members, and 106,776 retirees and beneficiaries.
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Plan Benefits Pre and Post Reform. During the 2011 legislative session, pension reform legislation was
proposed by the Governor and enacted by the General Assembly to ensure the long-term sustainability of the System’s
defined benefit structure and the affordability of the State’s contribution in future years (the “2011 Pension Reforms”).
Comparison summary charts of the 2011 Pension Reform changes enacted by the General Assembly are provided in
Appendix H.
The 2011 Pension Reforms increased employee contributions from 5% to 7% of annual earnable compensation,
decreased future annual cost of living adjustments from a 3% cap to a 2.5% cap and linked the cap to the System’s
achievement of annual return on investments. For employees hired after July 1, 2011, the reforms establish the pension
Benefit Multiplier at 1.5% rather than 1.8%, calculate Average Final Compensation based on 5 highest consecutive years
of service rather than 3 years, allow vesting after 10 years of eligible service rather than 5 years, and establish more
stringent requirements for early and full service retirement. Similar reforms were enacted for the several systems in the
State Pool, and are detailed in Appendix H.
As a result of the 2011 Pension Reforms and the additional annual contributions, the System’s actuary projects
that the “State Pool” portion of the System will reach approximately 80.0% funding by fiscal year 2023, three years
faster than pre-reform projections. The actuary also projects the System will reach full funding in fiscal year 2031. The
actuary also compared the State’s corridor method of funding, described herein under “Funding Policies”, to the Annual
Required Contribution (“ARC”) method and projected that the funded ratio for the corridor method achieves the 80%
target in 2023 - only one year later than the ARC funding method. The actuary also forecasts that the State Pool will be
fully funded at 100% in 2031 in either the ARC or the post-reform corridor funding methods.
Projected Impact Of 2011 Pension Reforms on Funded Ratios
of State Pool (1)
Funded Ratio
Based on 6/30/2010
Based on 7/1/2011
Valuation Year
Contribution Year
Valuation
Enacted Reforms (2)
2010
2012
63.4%
63.8%
2015
2017
61.9
63.8
2020
2022
69.0
73.0
2023
2025
74.6
79.6
2025
2027
78.8
84.4
2030
2032
90.4
97.7
2035
2037
103.0
113.0
(1) Based on current corridor funding policy for TCS and ECS.
(2) Reflects the reinvested savings required by the reforms.

Assumptions. By law, employer contribution rates are established by annual actuarial valuations using the entry
age normal cost method and other actuarial assumptions adopted by the Board of Trustees. The unfunded actuarial
accrued liability (“UAAL”) that existed as of the June 30, 2000 actuarial valuation is being amortized over the period
ending on June 30, 2020. The UAAL for each fiscal year subsequent to the year ended June 30, 2000, represents a
separate liability layer for actuarial funding purposes, and, accordingly, will be amortized over a 25-year period
commencing July 1 of the following fiscal year.
Assets are valued for funding purposes by recognizing investment gains and losses over a five-year period.
Each year’s investment gain or loss is amortized on a straight-line basis over five years. The final actuarial value is
limited to not more than 120% or less than 80% of the market value of assets.
The plan assumes a 7.75% rate of return. The System’s Board of Trustees recently reviewed and voted to retain
an assumed rate of return of 7.75% based on an experience study performed by the System’s Actuary. When the fund’s
recognized investment earnings are greater than [less than] the assumed investment return, then an actuarial gain [loss] is
recorded by the System’s actuary, reducing [increasing] the fund’s expected unfunded actuarial liability.
Other actuarial assumptions adopted by the System include price inflation of 3.0% and payroll growth of 3.5%.
Investments Allocations and Returns. The target asset allocation is set by the Board of Trustees, with no legal
limits imposed by the General Assembly. The actual allocation takes into account that private market investments are
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made gradually in order to prudently reach the target level over multiple years. Amounts not yet invested in private
markets are currently allocated to public equity and fixed income.
Asset Allocation

Public Equity
Fixed Income
Real Return
Credit
Opportunity
Absolute Return
Real Estate
Private Equity
Cash

Actual Allocation
as of 3/31/11
49.0%
18.7
10.3
5.7

Long-Term
Target Allocation
36%
10
15
10

3.9
6.1
3.9
2.4

7
10
10
2

100%

100%

Total

The historical rates of return on the fund’s investments are (as of March 31, 2011 unless otherwise noted):

Annualized
Returns
(gross of
fees)

1 year (1)

3 year

5 year

10 year

20 year

30 year(2)

12.58%

2.49%

3.70%

5.34%

7.61%

9.44%

_______
(1) The difference between gross and net of fees over one year is 31 basis points.
(2) The 30-year data is as of fiscal year-end, June 30, 2010.

Funding Policies. The Budget Reconciliation and Financing Act of 2002 modified the methodology for
determining the State’s annual required employer contribution to the Teachers’ and Employees’ combined plans (i.e., a
portion of the “State Pool”) for fiscal years beginning after June 30, 2002. Accordingly, effective July 1, 2002, the
State’s employer contribution only to the Teachers’ and Employees’ combined plans is determined by the System’s
actuary under a modified corridor funding method. This method effectively maintains the contribution rate in effect for
the Teachers’ and Employees’ combined plans during the preceding fiscal year (as adjusted for any legislative changes in
the benefit structure) as long as such plans remain between 90 percent and 110 percent funded. If either plans falls below
90 percent funded (i.e., below the corridor), then the contribution rate in effect for the subsequent fiscal year will be the
rate in effect for the preceding fiscal year plus 20 percent of the difference between the current fiscal year full funding
rate and the prior fiscal year contribution rate. Conversely, if either plan exceeds 110 percent funded (i.e., above the
corridor), then the contribution rate in effect for the subsequent fiscal year will be the rate in effect for the preceding
fiscal year minus 20 percent of the difference between the current fiscal year full funding rate and the prior fiscal year
contribution rate. The methodology for computing the State’s employer contribution rates for the Law Enforcement
Officers’ Pension System, State Police Retirement System, and the Judges’ Retirement System remained unchanged. For
each of these three plans, the employer contribution rate is equal to the sum of the normal contribution and the accrued
liability contribution.
(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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Employer Contribution. In fiscal year 2010, utilizing the modified corridor method described above for the
Teachers’ and Employees’ Pension plans, the State paid $1.206 billion of the employer ARC of $1.427 billion, or 84.5%
of the actuarial required payment. Approximately $874.0 million was paid from the General Fund and this represented
6.5% of fiscal year 2010 general fund expenditures. The employer contribution paid from general funds in fiscal year
2011 is estimated to total 7.1% of the 2011 Budget. In fiscal years 2010 and 2011 a portion of the employer contribution
for local teachers was paid from federal stimulus funds under ARRA. The Department of Budget and Management
estimates that the general fund portion of the employer corridor method contribution will represent 8.0% of the 2012
general fund budget and increase to 10.5% in 2016. The following table presents estimates of the employer corridor
method contribution relative to the general fund budget in fiscal years 2012 through 2016. As with all future projections,
the data in the following table are based on certain assumptions. One or more of these assumptions may prove to be
inaccurate and may be changed in the future based on future experience.
Projected Employer Contributions as a
Percent of the General Fund Budget

Fiscal Year
2012
2013
2014
2015
2016

Employer Contributions
State Employees
Local Teachers
2.0%
6.0%
2.2
6.6
2.5
7.4
2.6
7.7
2.6
7.9

Total
8.0%
8.8
9.9
10.3
10.5

Funded Status. As reported in the System’s annual Actuarial Valuation Report, the funded status of each plan
in the “State Pool” as of June 30, 2010 was as follows:
Funded Status of the Plans within the “State Pool” Portion of the
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System
($ in thousands)
As of June 30, 2010

Actuarial
Accrued
Liability (AAL)

Actuarial Value
of Assets

Funded Ratio
(Assets/Liab.)

Unfunded AAL
(UAAL)

Covered Payroll
(Active
Members) (1)

UAAL As a
Percent of
Payroll % (1)

Teachers’ Retirement and
Pension System ..............................

$31,963,421

$20,908,150

65.4%

$11,055,271

$6,254,647

176.8%

Employees’ Retirement and
Pension System ..............................

15,451,890

9,224,784

59.7

6,227,106

3,109,731

200.2

State Police Retirement System ....

1,722,564

1,085,281

63.0

637,283

81,705

780.0

Judges’ Retirement System ...........

426,215

276,643

64.9

149,572

39,961

374.3

Law Enforce Officers’ Pension
System ............................................

715,568

367,934

51.4

347,634

87,706

396.4

Total of All Plans...........................

$50,279,658

$31,862,792

$18,416,866

$9,573,750

Plan

63.4%

_______
(1) The Covered Payroll and UAL as a Percentage of Payroll results reported in the System’s Actuarial Valuation Report were calculated using
actual payroll data and differ slightly from the calculations shown in the State’s Financial Statements which were calculated using projected
payroll rather than actual payroll data.
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192.4%

The following table presents information regarding the UAAL of the System, including both the “State Pool”
and the “Municipal Pool” for the years 2001 to 2010 as of June 30 valuation dates, derived from a report by the System’s
independent actuary.
Historical Funding Progress
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (a)
Actuarial Value of Assets
($ in thousands)
Valuation
Date
June 30

Actuarial
Accrued
Liability(AAL)

2001
$32,469,942
2002
34,131,284
2003
34,974,601
2004
36,325,704
2005
39,133,450
2006.......... 43,243,492
2007(b) ..... 47,144,354
2008 ......... 50,244,047
2009.......... 52,729,171
2010.......... 54,085,081
____
(a)
(b)

Actuarial
Value Of
Assets

Unfunded
AAL
(UAAL)

Covered
Payroll
(Active Members)

UAAL As
a Percent
of Payroll%

555,164
1,808,021
2,343,136
2,841,047
4,613,950
7,448,467
9,257,418
10,739,763
18,444,603
19,396,735

$7,255,036
7,867,794
8,134,419
8,069,481
8,603,761
9,287,576
9,971,012
10,542,806
10,714,241
10,657,944

7.7%
23.0
28.8
35.2
53.6
80.2
92.8
101.9
172.2
182.0

Funded Ratio
(Assets/Liab.)

$31,914,778
32,323,263
32,631,465
33,484,657
34,519,500
35,795,025
37,886,936
39,504,284
34,284,569
34,688,346

98.3%
94.7
93.3
92.2
88.2
82.8
80.4
78.6
65.0
64.1

$

Includes both the “State Pool” and the “Municipal Pool” accrued liabilities.
Beginning July 1, 2006, the System changed its funding method from the Aggregate Entry Age Normal method to the Individual Entry Age Normal method.
The Actuary’s revaluation of the State’s fiscal year 2009 contribution resulted in a recommended increase of $87.7 million. Due to timing of the
recommendation, however, this amount was not included in the FY2009 Budget. It was included in the June 30, 2009 valuation and began to be amortized as a
portion of the UAAL on July 1, 2010.

The following table presents information regarding the Asset Market Values of the System, including both the
“State Pool” and the “Municipal Pool” for the years 2001 to 2010 as of June 30 valuation dates, derived from a report by
the System’s independent actuary, and an estimate for 2011.
Historical Market Value of Assets
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (a)
($ in thousands)

Valuation Date,
June 30
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005

Market Value
of Assets
$ 29,481,401
26,586,896
26,727,822
30,166,724
32,073,719

Valuation Date,
June 30
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011

Market Value
of Assets
$ 34,370,819
39,444,781
36,613,710
28,570,474
31,923,637
37,523,709 (b)

____
(a)
(b)

Includes both the “State Pool” and the “Municipal Pool”.
Estimated as of June 30, 2011.

For a more detailed discussion of the System, see APPENDIX A, Note 15 to the Financial Statements and
Required Supplementary Information. A copy of the System’s Actuarial Valuation Report as of June 30, 2010 may be
obtained by sending an e-mail request to Michael Golden, Director of External Affairs for the Maryland State Retirement
Agency, at mgolden@sra.state.md.us.
Ad Hoc Committee Recommendations. In July 2010, the Board of Trustees approved the report and
recommendations of the System’s Ad Hoc Committee on Funding Methodology, provided as part of a periodic review of
actuarial methodology, including analysis by the Board of Trustees’ actuary and review by the System’s accountant. In
summary, these recommendations were: (1) to phase out over 10 years the corridor funding method used by the State;
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(2) to move to a 20-year open amortization of liabilities across all plans, rather than the current amortization periods
ranging between 10 and 25 years; and (3) to retain 5-year asset smoothing, except to smooth FY 2009 losses over 10
years due to the extraordinary nature of the 2008 – 2009 investment climate.
These recommendations have not been implemented and are contingent upon the enactment of legislation by the
General Assembly to implement changes to the corridor funding method and the amortization periods. These
recommendations have been reported to the General Assembly’s Joint Committee on Pensions for review and
consideration. The System’s actuary has subsequently advised that the Ad Hoc Committee’s third recommendation, to
smooth the FY 2009 losses over 10 years due to the extraordinary nature of the 2008 – 2009 investment climate, would
have a negligible effect given the strong market returns that have been experienced in the last year.
The Ad Hoc Committee will reconvene to review its 2010 recommendations in light of the 2011 Pension
Reforms.
Other Retirement Programs
In addition to the principal retirement programs administered by the Board of Trustees, the Maryland Transit
Administration of the Department of Transportation provides pension benefits to its employees for the three unions it
recognizes and for former union members promoted to management positions (the “MTA Plan”). All other management
employees hired after April 30, 1970 are members of the State Employees’ Retirement or Pension Systems.
The MTA Plan provides retirement, death and disability benefits and is funded in compliance with collective
bargaining agreements. Employees are vested after 5 years of service. Employee retirement benefits are based on years
of service times an annual benefit multiplier of 1.4% to 1.6% of final average compensation. Generally, full service
retirement benefits are based on 30 years of service or attainment of age 65.
The annual funding of the plan is based upon a report of the consulting actuary. The Department of
Transportation’s budget for fiscal year 2010 provided $37.8 million for the plan, or 152% of the employer annual
required contribution.
As of June 30, 2010, membership in the MTA Plan included 2,827 active members, 472 vested former
members, and 1,373 retirees and beneficiaries. The funded status of the MTA plan as of June 30, 2010 was as follows:
Funded Status of the MTA Plan
($ in thousands)
Actuarial
Accrued
Liability

Actuarial
Value of
Assets

Funded
Ratio
(Assets/Liab)

Unfunded
Actuarial
Liability

Covered Payroll
(Active Members)

UAL As a
Percent of
Payroll %

$426,041

$162,756

38.20%

$263,285

$145,029

181.5%

For a more detailed discussion of the MTA Plan, see APPENDIX A, Note 15 to the Financial Statements and
Required Supplementary Information.
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Other Post-Employment Benefits (OPEB)
State Employees’ Health Insurance Program. Retired State employees and their eligible dependents meeting
certain qualifications may participate, on a subsidized basis, in the State Employees’ Health Insurance Program (the
“Plan”). As of March 31, 2011, the Plan membership included 88,550 active employees, 4,588 vested former employees
and 62,188 retirees and beneficiaries. The Plan assesses a charge to retirees for post-employment health care benefits
that is based on health care insurance charges for active employees. For the nine months ended March 31, 2011 retiree
plan members contributed $51.5 million and the State contributed $277.7 million for retiree health care benefits.
The State has adopted the Governmental Accounting Standard Board (“GASB”) Statement No. 45 (“GASB
45”) which addresses how state and local governments should account for and report costs and obligations related to
post-employment health care and other post-employment non-pension benefits (“OPEB”). GASB 45 generally requires
that the annual cost of OPEB and the related obligations and commitments be accounted for and reported in essentially
the same manner as pensions. Annual OPEB costs typically will be based on actuarially determined amounts that, if paid
on an ongoing basis, would provide sufficient resources to pay benefits as they come due. The provisions of GASB 45
do not require governments to fund their OPEB plans. GASB 45 establishes accounting standards including disclosure
requirements for the post-employment plans, the funding policies, the actuarial valuation processes and assumptions, and
the extent to which the plans have been funded over time.
As of June 30, 2010, the actuarial accrued liability for benefits was $16.0 billion, and the actuarial value of
assets was $183.4 million, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability (“UAAL”) of $15.9 billion. The discount
rate used was a blended rate of 4.3%. The ratio of the actuarial value of assets to the actuarial accrued liability was
1.1%. The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered under the Plan) was $4.6 billion, and the ratio of
the UAAL to the covered payroll was (343.9%).
The State’s annual OPEB cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution (“ARC”) of the
employer, an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB 45. The ARC represents a
level of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded
actuarial liabilities over a period not to exceed 30 years. The following table from the Actuarial Valuation Report as of
July 1, 2010 was prepared by Gabriel Roeder Smith & Company and shows the components of the State’s projected
annual OPEB cost, the projected contribution to the Plan and the State’s projected net OPEB obligation as of June 30,
2011.
State Employees’ Health Insurance Program
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation
Fiscal Year 2011
Projections as of July 1, 2010
($ in millions)
Annual Required Contribution (ARC)
ARC adjustment
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation
Total Annual OPEB Cost (AOC)
Less: Contributions made
Increase in net OPEB obligation
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year
Net OPEB obligation - end of year
Percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed

$1,225.2
(90.5)
100.3
1,235.0
(379.2)
855.8
2,332.5
$3,188.3
30.7%

The State’s General Fund has historically contributed approximately 60% of the annual pay-as-you-go costs of
other post-employment benefits, with special and federal funds contributing the balance. Chapter 355 of the 2007 Laws
of Maryland created the Postretirement Health Benefits Trust Fund (the “Trust Fund”) as an irrevocable trust. Funds of
the Trust Fund will be used to assist in financing the State’s post-retirement health insurance subsidy. For fiscal years
2008 and 2009, State law provided that the subsidy received by the State as a result of the federal Medicare Prescription
Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003, or similar federal subsidies, should be deposited in the Trust Fund.
During fiscal year 2010, $1.0 million of this subsidy was transferred to the Trust Fund and the remainder was deposited
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into the State Employees and Retirees Health and Welfare Benefits Fund pursuant to the Budget Reconciliation and
Financing Act of 2009. The State also contributed $2.4 million in additional funding. Beginning in fiscal year 2011,
subsidies are deposited into the General Fund. The net assets held in trust for post-retirement health benefits as of June
30, 2010 were $167.9 million. This balance also reflects the activity for investment earnings and administrative
expenses during the year.
2011 Employee and Retiree Health Benefits Reforms. The 2012 Budget implemented changes to employee and
retiree prescription drug and health benefits that are estimated to decrease the State’s OPEB liability from $15.9 billion
to $9.2 billion, and to decrease the projected ARC from $1.22 billion to $690.0 million. The changes increased
employee and retiree prescription drug copayments and increased retiree premium payments and out-of-pocket
maximums. For new employees hired after June 30, 2011, 10 years of service rather than 5 years will be required for
eligibility for retiree health benefits, and 25 years of service rather than 16 years will be required in order to receive a full
State subsidy. Retirees will be required to enroll in Medicare Part D effective July 1, 2020, after the Part D “coverage
gap” is phased out.
Maryland Transit Administration. In addition to the State Employees’ Health Insurance Program, the Maryland
Transit Administration (“MTA”) of the Department of Transportation provides benefits to its employees for the three
unions it recognizes. All employees hired directly into management after April 30, 1970 are members of the State
Employees’ Health Insurance Program. Union employees and those moving from union to management are eligible for
membership in the MTA Health Plan. The annual funding of the plan is based upon a report of the consulting actuary.
MTA OPEB is unfunded.
As of June 30, 2009, the most recent biennial actuarial valuation date, the actuarial liability for benefits was
$431.5 million, and the actuarial value of assets was $0, resulting in UAAL of $431.5 million. The discount was a
blended rate of 4.5%. The ratio of the actuarial value of assets to the actuarial accrued liability was 0%. The covered
payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered under the Plan) was $151.6 million, and the ratio of the UAAL to
the covered payroll was (284.7%).
MTA’s annual OPEB cost is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer, an amount
actuarially determined in accordance with GASB Statement No. 45. The following table shows the components of
MTA’s annual OPEB cost, the amount actually contributed and MTA’s net OPEB obligation as of June 30, 2010.
Maryland Transit Pension Plan OPEB
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation
Fiscal Year 2010
($ in millions)
Annual Required Contribution (ARC)
ARC adjustment
Interest on Net OPEB Obligation
Total Annual OPEB Cost (AOC)
Less: Contributions made
Less: Interest on contributions
Increase in net OPEB obligation
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year
Net OPEB obligation - end of year
Percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed

$45.5
(4.2)
2.9
44.2
(10.9)
(.2)
33.1
64.5
$97.6
24.7%

For a more detailed discussion of the Other Post-employment Health Benefits, see APPENDIX A, Note 16 to
the Financial Statements.
Blue Ribbon Commission
The 2006 General Assembly established a Blue Ribbon Commission (the “Commission”) which is reviewing
the assumptions and qualifications for assessing OPEB liability and is studying funding options. In an Interim Report
released in December 2008, the Commission reported its view that Maryland could not sustain into the future the thencurrent level of retiree health benefits. The Commission is continuing to explore options for redesigning retiree health
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benefits and/or the way the State pays for them to arrive at a solution that is both fiscally sound and fair to current and
retired State employees.
The Commission is also required to:








review the State's legal obligation to provide retiree health benefits;
study the factors contributing to the rising cost of retiree health benefits;
review benefit levels for State employees and retirees;
review the eligibility requirements for retiree health benefits;
review alternatives for providing health benefits to State retirees;
recommend a multi-year plan to fully fund State obligations for retiree health benefits; and
issue periodic reports to the Governor and the General Assembly.

Public Employees’ and Retirees’ Benefit Sustainability Commission
The 2010 General Assembly established a Public Employees’ and Retirees’ Benefit Sustainability Commission
(the “Sustainability Commission”), composed of the State Treasurer, three members appointed by the Governor, two
members appointed by the President of the Senate, and two members appointed by the Speaker of the House of
Delegates. The Sustainability Commission is directed to study and make recommendations with respect to all aspects of
State-funded benefits and pensions provided to State and public education employees and retirees, and review and
evaluate recruitment practices, retention incentives, actuarial liabilities and funding methods, employee contribution
rates, and the comparability and affordability of State Teachers’ and Employees’ Retirement and Pension Systems and
State Employee and Retiree Health Benefit Program.
The Sustainability Commission issued a summary of its key interim recommendations in four areas on
December 21, 2010, and issued an interim report of its findings and recommendations in January 2011, which were
reported to the Governor and the legislative leadership for review and consideration. The Commission released its final
report in July 2011. The Commission recommended that as economic conditions improve and pension liabilities are
reduced, the General Assembly and Governor, in consultation with the Board of Trustees, develop an alternative funding
model that provides for both adequate funding for the Retirement and Pension Systems and relatively stable contribution
rates over the long term. The general intent would be to phase out from the corridor funding method to a more traditional
actuarially-based ARC method.
Labor Management Relations
As of March 31, 2011, the State had approximately 108,427 employees.
States are exempt from the provisions of the National Labor Relations Act; thus, State employees may engage
in collective bargaining only if specifically authorized. Since 1999, collective bargaining has been available to
approximately 31,000 State employees. Eligible State employees are assigned to one of nine bargaining units. These
bargaining units are represented by six certified exclusive bargaining representatives that are entitled to negotiate with
the Governor or his designee(s) regarding wages, hours, and working conditions on behalf of bargaining unit employees.
The negotiating parties execute a memorandum of understanding of not less than 1 year or more than 3 years duration
that incorporates all matters of agreement reached. Matters of agreement that require legislative approval or the
appropriation of funds are subject to the approval of the General Assembly. Additionally, State employees may join
employee associations, and the State permits the deduction of dues from employees’ salaries for these associations.
Approximately 21,058 employees pay dues to 15 State employee associations, including the six certified exclusive
bargaining representatives.
In addition to State employees, in 2001 collective bargaining was extended similarly to approximately 10,000
employees of the University System of Maryland, St. Mary’s College of Maryland, Morgan State University, and
Baltimore City Community College. Eligible employees of these entities are assigned to one of three bargaining units at
each of 15 campus locations, and are represented by a total of three certified exclusive bargaining representatives.
Collectively, approximately 1,400 employees of these higher education institutions pay dues to four employee
associations, including the three certified exclusive bargaining representatives.
Public school teachers throughout the State are not State employees but are employed and otherwise paid by the
local school boards of education. The State, however, pays retirement benefit contributions on behalf of those
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employees. Teachers have been authorized by statute to form and participate in employee organizations for the purpose
of representation on all matters relating to salaries, wages, hours, and other working conditions. Similar laws have been
enacted to cover employees of Baltimore City and some counties.
The employees of the public community colleges and the public libraries are not State employees; the State,
however, pays each employer’s share of the retirement contribution.
Aid to Local Government
The State provides substantial assistance to local governments through a variety of direct and indirect assistance
programs. Cash assistance is provided to support, among other local expenditures, community colleges, basic current
expenses of elementary and secondary schools, pupil transportation, road construction and maintenance, the education of
students with disabilities, local health departments, and local police departments. In addition to cash grants, the State has
paid directly the retirement contributions for local teachers and librarians. The State also has paid directly a major share
of the debt service on bonds issued to pay for the construction of local elementary and secondary schools, community
colleges, and water treatment facilities. Further, the State has assumed the non-federal share of the costs of providing
medical assistance, income maintenance payments, and social services for the needy. In the transportation area, the State
operates the mass transit program in the Baltimore area and provides grant assistance for the Maryland portion of the
Washington metropolitan area transit system.
The following table presents a summary of major State financial support for fiscal years 2007 through 2010, and
estimates for the 2011 fiscal year. Federal funds are generally excluded except for State Fiscal Stabilization Funds for
Education authorized by ARRA.
Major State Financial Support to Local Governments
Fiscal Years 2007–2011
($ in millions)

Education..............................................
Transportation ......................................
Health ...................................................
Environment.........................................
Public Safety ........................................
Other .....................................................
Total......................................................
_____________

2007

2008

2009

2010

2011
Estimated

$4,729
562
64
136
105
151
$5,746

$5,462
537
67
97
110
163
$6,436

$5,687
476
57
20
109
134
$6,483

$5,809
171
37
9
87
137
$6,251

$6,024
144
37
15
83
140
$6,443

* Totals may not add due to rounding.
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STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM
The State issues general obligation bonds, to the payment of which the State ad valorem property tax is pledged,
for capital improvements and for various State-sponsored projects. In addition, the Maryland Department of
Transportation issues for transportation purposes its limited, special obligation bonds payable primarily from specific,
fixed-rate excise taxes and other revenues related mainly to highway use. The State and certain of its agencies also have
entered into a variety of lease-purchase agreements to finance the acquisition of capital assets. These lease agreements
specify that payments thereunder are subject to annual appropriation by the General Assembly.
At least since the end of the Civil War, the State has paid the principal of and interest on its general obligation
bonds when due. There is no general debt limit imposed by the State Constitution or public general laws. Although the
State has the authority to make short-term borrowings in anticipation of taxes and other receipts up to a maximum of
$100.0 million, the State has not issued short-term tax anticipation notes or made any other similar short-term
borrowings for cash flow purposes.
Tax-Supported Debt Outstanding
The aggregate principal amount of outstanding bonded indebtedness of the State is as follows:
Tax-Supported Debt Outstanding
($ in millions)
Outstanding at
March 31, 2011*
$6,982.8
1,596.6

General Obligation Bonds......................................
Consolidated Transportation Bonds (a) ...............
Maryland Stadium Authority Bonds and
Leases (b) ................................................................
Capital Leases (c) ...................................................
GARVEE Bonds (d) ..............................................
Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds (e)......................

235.8
316.5
596.9
41.6

Net Tax-Supported Debt ........................................

$9,770.2

__________
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

See “Department of Transportation Debt.”
See “Maryland Stadium Authority Lease Revenue Debt Outstanding.”
See “Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings.”
See “Other Tax-Supported Debt.”

*On August 31, 2011, there was $7,298.9 million in general obligation bonds issue and outstanding. See
APPENDIX B-1 AND APPENDIX B-2 – SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES for Debt Outstanding and Debt
Service as of August 31, 2011 both before and after the issuance of the Bonds. Appendix B-1 also reports the debt that is
authorized but unissued as of August 31, 2011.
The above table excludes local debt as well as revenue and enterprise debt, all of which are not State taxsupported debt. (For further information on Revenue and Enterprise Debt see “MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE AND
ENTERPRISE FINANCINGS” and APPENDIX B – “SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES – Revenue and
Enterprise Financings.”)
General Obligation Bonds
General obligation bonds are authorized and issued primarily to provide funds for State-owned capital
improvements, including institutions of higher education, and the construction of locally owned public schools. General
obligation bonds also have been issued to fund local government improvements, including grants and loans for water
quality improvement projects and correctional facilities, and to provide funds for repayable loans or outright grants to
private, non-profit, cultural, or educational institutions. In the fiscal year 2011 capital program, 34% of new general
obligation bond authorizations represent financing of State-owned capital facilities, 60% represent financing of grant and
loans to local government units for capital improvements, and 6% represent financing of capital improvements owned by
non-profit or other private entities.
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Dedication of State Property Tax to General Obligation Debt. As stated above, the State Constitution prohibits
the contracting of State debt unless the debt is authorized by a law levying an annual tax or taxes sufficient to pay the
debt service within 15 years and prohibiting the repeal of the tax or taxes or their use for another purpose until the debt is
paid. As a uniform practice, each separate enabling act that authorizes the issuance of general obligation bonds for a
given object or purpose has specifically levied and directed the collection of a State ad valorem property tax on all
taxable property in the State. The Board of Public Works is directed by law to fix by May 1 of each year the property tax
rate necessary to produce revenue sufficient for the debt service requirements of the next fiscal year, which begins July
1, but the taxes so levied need not be collected if or to the extent that funds sufficient for debt service requirements in the
next fiscal year have been appropriated in the annual Budget. Accordingly, the Board, in annually fixing the rate of
property tax after the end of the regular legislative session in April, takes account of appropriations of general and other
funds for debt service.
From fiscal year 1972 through fiscal year 2003, general funds were appropriated to the State Department of
Education for payment of debt service for public school construction debt. Other general obligation bonds have been
serviced to a lesser degree from general funds as well as from the State property tax. As a result, although all the
enabling acts commit the State property tax to the service of general obligation debt, and all amounts collected from such
tax are applied to that purpose, it had been the normal practice to devote a significant amount of general fund revenue to
general obligation debt service. From fiscal years 2004 to 2006, however, an increase in the State property tax rate
eliminated the need for general funds to subsidize funding of general obligation debt service. Although the State
property tax rate was decreased in fiscal year 2007, property tax revenues were sufficient to make future debt service
payments without any general fund subsidy except in fiscal year 2008.
In fiscal year 2010, the primary sources of current revenue of the Annuity Bond Fund, from which debt service
on all general obligation debt was paid, were the State property tax (92%) and premium from bond sales (8%). For fiscal
year 2011, the primary source of current revenues is projected to be the State property tax (93%), premium from bond
sales (5%), federal subsidies for ARRA Bonds (1%), and other revenues (1%).
Department of Transportation Debt
Consolidated Transportation Bonds are limited obligations issued by the State Department of Transportation
(the “Department”), the principal of which must be paid within 15 years from the date of issue, for highway, port, transit,
rail, or aviation facilities or any combination of such facilities. Current law limits the outstanding aggregate principal
amount of these bonds to $2.6 billion. Current law also provides that the General Assembly may establish in the Budget
for any fiscal year a maximum outstanding aggregate amount of these bonds as of June 30 of the fiscal year that is less
than $2.6 billion. For fiscal year 2011, the limit is $1,791.8 million. At March 31, 2011, the principal amount of
outstanding bonds was $1,596.6 million. The Department expects to sell $200.0 million in Consolidated Transportation
Bonds prior to calendar year end.
Debt service on Consolidated Transportation Bonds is payable from those portions of the excise tax on each
gallon of motor vehicle fuel and the motor vehicle titling tax, sales and use tax on short-term vehicle rentals, and the
corporate income tax as are credited to the Department after distribution to the General Fund and political subdivisions,
and a portion of the State’s sales and use tax plus all departmental operating revenues and receipts. The holders of these
bonds are not entitled to look to other sources for payment. The Department has covenanted with the holders of
outstanding Consolidated Transportation Bonds not to issue additional bonds unless certain revenue adequacy tests are
met.
Nontraditional Debt. The 2010 General Assembly established a maximum outstanding principal amount of
$628.3 million as of June 30, 2011, for all nontraditional debt of the Department. Nontraditional debt outstanding is
defined as any debt instrument that is not a consolidated transportation bond or Grant Anticipation Revenue Vehicle
(“GARVEE”) Bond. Such debt includes, but is not limited to: certificates of participation (documented by conditional
purchase agreements), debt backed by customer facility charges, passenger facility charges, or other revenues, and debt
issued by Maryland Economic Development Corporation (“MEDCO”) or any other third party on behalf of the
Department. As of March 31, 2011, the Department’s nontraditional debt outstanding was $638.5 million. The limit of
$628.3 million was increased to $663.3 million by the Department, after appropriate notification to and concurrence of
the Budget Committee, solely for the purpose of a proposed garage financing through MEDCO. See APPENDIX B –
“SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES – State Tax-Supported Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings” and
“ – Revenue and Enterprise Financings” for nontraditional debt of the Department.
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Maryland Stadium Authority Bonds
The Maryland Stadium Authority (the “Authority”) was created in 1986 as an instrumentality of the State
responsible for financing and directing the acquisition and construction of professional sports facilities in Maryland.
Since then, the Authority’s responsibility has been extended to include convention centers in Baltimore City and Ocean
City, and a conference center in Montgomery County, the Hippodrome Theater in Baltimore City, and the Camden
Station Renovation. At March 31, 2011, the principal amount of tax-supported outstanding bonds and capital leases of
the Authority was $235.8 million. See APPENDIX B – “SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES – Maryland
Stadium Authority” for a summary of outstanding debt and interest rate exchange agreements of the Authority and
descriptions of the Authority’s projects.
Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings
The State has financed and expects to continue to finance the construction and acquisition of various facilities
and equipment through conditional purchase, sale-leaseback, and similar transactions. As of March 31, 2011, the total
tax-supported capital leases and conditional purchase financings outstanding were $316.5 million. See APPENDIX B –
“SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES – State Tax-Supported Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings” for
details of the total tax-supported capital leases outstanding. All of the tax-supported lease payments under these
arrangements are subject to annual appropriation by the General Assembly. In the event that appropriations are not made,
the State may not be held contractually liable for the payments. These transactions generally are subject to approval by
the Board of Public Works.
In January 2011 the State sold $40.9 million of Certificates of Participation (“COPs”) to finance the acquisition
of video lottery terminals for facilities located in Perryville, Cecil County and Ocean Downs, Worcester County. Local
government agencies or other lessors have also issued revenue bonds or sold certificates of participation to finance
facilities such as the multi-agency office buildings in St. Mary’s County and Calvert County and district court facilities
in Baltimore and Prince George’s Counties. MEDCO issued lease revenue bonds in the amount of $36.0 million in June
2002, which were partially refunded in May 2010, to finance the construction of a new headquarters building for the
Department of Transportation. In addition, in October 2004, the Department of Transportation sold $15.5 million in
Certificates of Participation for the acquisition of shuttle buses for Baltimore/Washington International Thurgood
Marshall Airport (“BWI”). In July 2005, the Maryland Transportation Authority (“MDTA”) issued lease revenue bonds
in the amount of $23.8 million to finance the costs of a parking facility project for the Annapolis State Office Complex,
operated by the Maryland Department of General Services (“DGS”). Lease revenue payable by DGS is pledged for the
repayment of the bonds.
The State Treasurer’s Office consolidates equipment lease-purchases authorized in the budget into periodic
lease-purchase agreements for all Executive agencies. The State also has a lease-purchase program to provide financing
for energy conservation projects at State facilities. Lease payments are made from the agencies’ annual utility
appropriations from the savings achieved through the implementation of energy performance contracts.
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Other Tax-Supported Debt
Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds. During the 2004 legislative session, the Maryland General Assembly created
the Bay Restoration Fund to be managed by the Water Quality Financing Administration of the Maryland Department of
the Environment (“Administration”). The Bay Restoration Fund receives a mandatory fee of $30 per year per equivalent
dwelling unit from users of sewerage systems in the State, as well as $30 per year from septic system users. The Bay
Restoration Fund sewer fee generated $54.8 million in revenue (cash basis) during fiscal year 2010. Future sewer fee
revenues are projected at approximately $55.0 million per year. The sewer fee revenues are pledged, to the extent
necessary, as security for Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds issued by the Administration, the proceeds of which will be
applied primarily to provide grant funds to upgrade wastewater treatment plants with enhanced nutrient removal
technology. The first $50.0 million of Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds were issued on June 25, 2008. Between 2012
and 2014, the Administration expects to issue an additional $480.0 million in Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds. The
fiscal year 2010 transfer of $155.0 million, the fiscal year 2011 transfer of $45.0 million, and the fiscal year 2012
transfer of $90.0 million from the Bay Restoration Fund to the General Fund pursuant to the Budget Reconciliation and
Financing Acts of 2010 and 2011 will not affect the security of Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds. As of March 31, 2011
the principal amount of outstanding bonds was $41.6 million.
GARVEE Bonds. In 2005, the General Assembly authorized funding for the Intercounty Connector highway
project to be built in Montgomery and Prince George’s Counties, Maryland. The MDTA is authorized to issue
GARVEE bonds in an amount not to exceed $750.0 million, with a maximum maturity of 12 years. Debt service is paid
from a portion of Maryland’s federal highway aid. MDTA issued the first series of GARVEE bonds in June 2007 in the
amount of $325.0 million, and issued the second and final series of GARVEE bonds in December 2008 in the amount of
$425.0 million. As of March 31, 2011, the principal amount of outstanding GARVEE bonds was $596.9 million.
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Debt Data
The following tables present, at fiscal year end, various data showing: (1) the trend of outstanding general
obligation debt, its relationship to assessed value of property, personal income, and population, and the trend of general
obligation debt service and its relationship to revenues; (2) the trend of outstanding general obligation, transportation,
and other State tax-supported debt and debt service and their relationships to the same factors; and (3) the total combined
tax-supported debt of the State and debt of Baltimore City and all of the counties, towns, and special taxing districts
within Maryland, and various relationships of such local combined debt to the assessed value of property, population and
personal income. While the State is not obligated for local debt, the Combined State and Local Unit Debt Ratios
demonstrate the total State and local debt obligations relative to statewide assessed values, population and personal
income for general comparison with other states’ debt levels.
The Capital Debt Affordability Committee (“CDAC”) annually reports ratios for tax-supported debt outstanding
compared to personal income and tax-supported debt service compared to revenues. Debt outstanding, personal income,
debt service, revenues and population in the following tables are all as reported in the 2010 CDAC report. Because some
of the numbers used in the CDAC report are preliminary, they may not agree with more recent figures reported
elsewhere in this Official Statement.
General Obligation Bond Ratios
($ in millions except per capita amounts)

General Obligation Bonds (a)
% Change (b)
Assessed Value (c)
Debt Ratio (d)

2006
$4,868
7.9%

2007
$5,142
5.6%

Fiscal Years
2008
$5,494
6.8%

2009
$5,874
6.9%

2010
$6,523
11.0%

$452,483
1.1%

$527,182
1.0%

$617,632
0.9%

$707,490
0.8%

$751,568
0.9%

Population (e)
Per Capita Debt

5,623
$866

5,646
$911

5,676
$968

5,726
$1,026

5,793
$1,126

Personal Income (f)
Debt Ratio (d)

$252,781
1.9%

$264,368
2.0%

$272,542
2.0%

$274,326
2.1%

$283,227
2.3%

$625
$13,012
4.8%

$654
$13,530
4.8%

$693
$14,208
4.9%

$745
$13,678
5.5%

$778
$13,427
5.8%

General Obligation Debt Service
Revenues (g)
Debt Service Ratio (d)

CONTINUED ON NEXT PAGE
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Combined General Obligation, Transportation
and Other State Tax-Supported Debt Ratios
($ in millions except per capita amounts)

2006

2007

$4,868

$5,142

1,078
227
297
$6,470

Assessed Value (c)...............................
Debt Ratio (d) .................................

Fiscal Years
2008

2009

2010

$5,494

$5,874

$6,523

1,111
248
283
325
$7,109

1,269
247
272
301
50
$7,632

1,583
267
256
704
47
$8,730

1,645
243
252
652
44
$9,359

$452,483
1.4%

$527,182
1.3%

$617,632
1.2%

$707,490
1.2%

$751,568
1.2%

Population (e) .......................................
Per Capita Debt...............................

5,623
$1,151

5,646
$1,259

5,676
$1,345

5,726
$1,525

5,793
$1,616

Personal Income (f) .............................
Debt Ratio (d) .................................
Debt Service .........................................
Revenues (h) ........................................
Debt Service Ratio (d) .........................

$252,781
2.6%
$842
$15,155
5.6%

$264,368
2.7%
$846
$15,652
5.4%

$272,542
2.8%
$929
$16,735
5.6%

$274,326
3.2%
$1,015
$16,334
6.2%

$283,227
3.3%
$1,100
$16,055
6.9%

Debt (a)
General Obligation Bonds (a) .............
Transportation Bonds:
Consolidated Transportation..........
Capital Leases ......................................
Stadium Authority ...............................
GARVEE Bonds ..................................
Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds ........
Total State Tax-Supported Debt

Combined State and Local Unit Debt Ratios
($ in millions except per capita amounts)

2006

2007

Debt (a)
State Tax-Supported Debt ................
Local Debt (i) ....................................

$6,470
13,652

$7,109
14,654

Total Combined Debt.............

$20,122

Assessed Value (c)............................
Debt Ratio (d) ..............................

Fiscal Years
2008

2009

2010

$7,632
15,589

$8,730
16,181

$9,359
16,925

$21,763

$23,221

$24,911

$26,284

$452,483
4.4%

$527,182
4.1%

$617,632
3.8%

$707,490
3.5%

$751,568
3.5%

Population (e) ....................................
Per Capita Debt............................

5,623
$3,579

5,646
$3,855

5,676
$4,091

5,726
$4,351

5,793
4,537

Personal Income (f) ..........................
Debt Ratio (d) ..................................

$252,781
8.0%

$264,368
8.2%

$272,542
8.5%

$274,326
9.1%

$283,227
9.3%

___________
(a)
Shows amount of debt outstanding at the end of fiscal years shown (June 30) less amounts advance refunded and net of any sinking funds. Local debt includes the debt of Baltimore City,
counties, towns, and special districts. Local debt data are derived from compilations by the Department of Legislative Services of data reported by the local units as required by statute.
(b)
Shows the percentage of increase or decrease of the dollar values from the preceding year’s amount.
(c)
Amounts for full value are stated as of January 1, the date assessments are made final for the fiscal year beginning the next July 1.
(d)
The debt ratios are expressed as the principal amounts of outstanding debt as percentages of (i) assessed value and (ii) personal income. The debt service ratios are expressed as the total annual
amounts of debt service as percentages of all relevant revenues.
(e)
Population is stated in thousands.
(f)
Personal income is for the calendar year ended December 31 of the year shown. The 2009 and 2010 figures are estimates.
(g)
Amounts of revenue represent general fund revenues, property taxes, bond premium, U.S. Treasury subsidies, and Educational Trust Fund.
(h)
Amounts of revenue represent general fund revenues, property taxes, bond premium, U.S. Treasury subsidies, Educational Trust Fund, transportation revenues, lottery revenues transferred to the
Stadium Authority, federal capital highway revenues and bay restoration fees.
(i)
Includes outstanding debt of component units.
N/A = Not Available
* Totals may not add due to rounding.
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See APPENDIX B – “SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES – General Obligation Bonds” for: (1)
amounts of the outstanding general obligation bonds of the State at each fiscal year end for the period 2006 - 2010; and
(2) for the annual debt service requirements on all general obligation bonds of the State for future fiscal years.
Capital Programs
General obligation debt is one of several sources of funds used to finance capital assets of the State and to
provide State capital grants and repayable loans to local governments and the private sector (see “STATE TAXSUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – General Obligation Bonds”). Other types of debt incurred by the
State and its units to finance various capital facilities and programs include bonds issued by the Department of
Transportation (see “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – Department of Transportation
Bonds”), bonds issued by the Maryland Stadium Authority (see “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL
PROGRAM – Maryland Stadium Authority Bonds”) and capital leases for the acquisition of property and equipment
(see “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings”).
The State has also funded capital projects through current operating revenues and receipts. For example, the
Department of Transportation funds roads, bridges, and other transportation facilities from current revenues from
dedicated sources; and the Department of Natural Resources constructs waterway improvements, shore erosion and land
development projects, purchases land for recreational and conservation purposes, and provides capital grants to local
governments from revenues in its operating budget. Furthermore, the operating budget from time to time has included
general funds for projects normally eligible for funding by general obligation bonds.
The General Assembly annually enacts a Maryland Consolidated Capital Bond Loan appropriating funds for the
various capital programs to be funded through the sale of State general obligation bonds. Once authorized, the projects
are implemented by various State agencies, generally under the supervision of the Board of Public Works. Project
expenditures are accounted for in the Capital Projects Fund. General obligation bonds are issued as cash is needed to
meet project requirements. General obligation bond proceeds are credited to the State and Local Facilities Loan Fund,
and cash is transferred to fund capital project expenditures, as needed. For each fiscal year from 2007 through 2011, the
following table arrays the amount of bonds authorized, issued, cancelled, and retired; the cumulative amount of general
obligation bonds outstanding; and cumulative amount of bonds authorized but unissued.
Bonds Authorized, Issued, Cancelled and Retired
($ in thousands)

Fiscal
Year
2007............
2008............
2009............
2010 ...........
2011............
2012 (b) ....

Authorized (a)
$840,925
937,644
1,142,833
1,254,268
940,902

-

Activity during Fiscal Year
Issued
Authorizations
New
Refunding
Cancelled
$679,378
$24,444
$
5,393
779,986
845,563
65,800
32,772
1,140,883
798,080
46,751
974,718
4,127
512,400
1,308
-

Status at Fiscal Year End
Principal
Redeemed
$405,695
428,310
464,725
482,754
515,094
196,355

Refunded
$
-

66,825
806,630

-

Outstanding
$5,142,154
5,493,830
5,873,643
6,523,222
6,982,845
7,298,890

Authorized
but Unissued
$1,911,587
2,063,852
2,328,351
2,394,985
2,357,041
1,843,333

________
(a)

(b)

Amounts shown represent authorizations that become effective in the fiscal year indicated. The normal effective date is June 1, which is in
the same fiscal year as the session of the General Assembly enacting the authorization; however, some authorizations are not effective until
July 1, which is the first day of the following fiscal year.
As of August 31, 2011.

* Totals may not add due to rounding.
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The following table reflects activity and ending balances in the Capital Projects Fund on a budgetary basis.
Capital Projects Fund
($ in thousands)
Fiscal
Year

Beginning
Balance

Bond
Proceeds (a)

Project
Expenditures

Other (b)

General Fund
Appropriation

Ending
Balance

2006...................
$ 93,145
$ 751,638
$ (700,692)
$109,212
$ 4,290
$257,593
2007...................
257,593
681,040
(855,953)
125,980
77,562
286,222
2008...................
286,222
794,833
(1,039,012)
168,971
11,810
222,824
222,824
915,987
(1,027,414)
11,529
1,000
123,926
2009 (c).............
2010 (d) ............
123,926
1,143,530
(1,002,558)
(97,114)
167,784
_________
(a) Includes premiums on the sale of bonds used to pay underwriter’s discount and costs of issuance.
(b) Consists primarily of State property transfer tax revenues and other transfers in (out).
(c) Bond proceeds in FY 2009 totaled $985,420,000. Of this amount, $65,800,000 and $3,633,000 were refunding bonds and associated
premiums, respectively.
(d) Bond proceeds in FY 2010 totaled $2,072,065,000. Of this amount, $798,080,000 and $130,455,000 were refunding bonds and associated
premiums, respectively.

The State’s five-year capital program consists of funding for general construction projects, grants for public
school construction, and other capital grant programs. In January of each year, the State publishes a proposed capital
improvements plan for each of these areas for the five ensuing fiscal years. This plan reflects a projection of the capital
improvements that will be required to improve and maintain State facilities, improve public schools, and support State
priorities, such as cleaning up the Chesapeake Bay.
The State’s anticipated capital needs for fiscal years 2012 through 2016 for projects included in the January
2011 capital improvement plan that are to be funded through general obligation bond sales totaled $1,897.0 million as
follows: 2012, $256.9 million; 2013, $336.1 million; 2014, $397.2 million; 2015, $460.4 million; and 2016, $446.5
million. The State’s capital needs for projects included in the January 2010 capital improvement plan that were to be
funded through general obligation bond sales for fiscal years 2011 through 2015 totaled $2,172.1 million.
The January 2011 capital improvement plan includes an additional $1,306.6 million in general obligation bonds
in fiscal years 2012 through 2016 to improve public schools throughout the State as follows: 2012, $262.4 million; 2013,
$271.4 million; 2014, $260.6 million; 2015, $256.1 million; and 2016, $256.1 million. A total of $1,023.3 was included
in the January 2010 capital improvement plan for fiscal years 2011 through 2015 for public school construction.
The January 2011 capital improvement plan also includes an additional $1,483.4 million to address other capital
needs, including Chesapeake Bay restoration, community college facilities, affordable housing, hospital improvements
and other important community facilities. General obligation bonds proposed for these purposes include: 2012, $432.2
million; 2013, $331.9 million; 2014, $269.7 million; 2015, $216.5 million; and 2016, $233.1 million. Other capital
grants projects included in the January 2010 capital improvement plan that were to be funded through general obligation
bond sales for fiscal years 2011 through 2015 totaled $1,678.5 million.
Capital Debt Affordability Committee
The General Assembly created a Capital Debt Affordability Committee (the “CDAC”), the members of which
are the Treasurer, the Comptroller, the Secretary of Budget and Management, the Secretary of Transportation, and one
person appointed by the Governor. The Chairs of the Capital Budget Subcommittees of the Senate Budget and Taxation
Committee and the House Appropriations Committee participate as non-voting members. The CDAC is required to
submit to the Governor by October 1 of each year an estimate of the maximum amount of new general obligation debt
that prudently may be authorized. Although the CDAC’s responsibilities are advisory only, the Governor is required to
give due consideration to the CDAC’s finding in preparing a preliminary allocation of new general obligation debt
authorizations for the next ensuing fiscal year.
The CDAC’s most recent recommendation of September 2010 encompasses all tax-supported debt, including,
in addition to general obligation debt, Consolidated Transportation Bonds issued by the Department of Transportation,
tax-supported bonds issued by the Maryland Stadium Authority, State tax-supported capital lease transactions, GARVEE
Bonds and Bay Restoration Revenue Bonds. This recommendation to the Governor and the General Assembly for fiscal
year 2012 was to limit new general obligation bond authorizations to $925.0 million.
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The following table compares the CDAC’s recommendations for bond authorizations with the authorizations
enacted by the General Assembly during each of the last five sessions.
CDAC’s Recommendations for Bond Authorizations
($ in thousands)
General
Assembly
Session

2007
2008
2009
2010
2011

For
Fiscal
Year

CDAC
Recommendations

2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

810,000
935,000
1,110,000
1,140,000
925,000

Actual
Authorizations (a)
821,126(b)

Difference
11,126(b)

935,000
1,112,000
1,144,543(b)
940,902(b)

2,000(c)
4,453(b)
15,902(b)

_________
(a) Actual authorizations are net of deauthorizations for prior years’ projects of $19.8 million, $2.6 million, $30.8 million, $39.7 million and
$24.1 million for fiscal years 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010 and 2011, respectively.
(b) Reflects bonds authorized for a special federal program (Qualified Zone Academy Bonds), which provide either federal tax credits to
bondholders in lieu of interest or U.S. Treasury subsidies to issuers, and which the CDAC informally indicated should be considered
outside its recommendation.
(c) $2,000,000 Local Government Infrastructure Financing Program Capital Reserve Fund Loan of 2009 – Chapter 719 of the 2009 Laws of
Maryland, effective June 1, 2009.

Total sales of general obligation bonds during the five fiscal years 2007 through 2011 follows:
Total Sales of General Obligation Bonds
Fiscal Years 2007-2011
($ in thousands)
General Construction........................
State Public School Construction ....
Other ..................................................
Total...................................................

2007
$205,029
323,291
151,058
$679,378

2008
$410,882
351,822
17,282
$779,986

2009
$455,200
380,046
10,317
$845,563

2010
$737,441
329,251
74,191
$1,140,883

2011(a)
771,564
189,957
13,197
$974,718

Refunding ..........................................

—

—

65,800

798,080

—

Number of Sales................................

3

3

3

6

3

The sale of the Bonds described in this Official Statement, expected to be delivered on or about September 28,
2011, will be the second sale for the 2012 fiscal year.
____
(a) Through March 31, 2011.
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MISCELLANEOUS REVENUE AND ENTERPRISE FINANCINGS
Certain other units of the State government are authorized to borrow money under legislation that expressly
provides that the loan obligations shall not be deemed to constitute a debt or a pledge of the faith and credit of the State.
The Community Development Administration of the Department of Housing and Community Development, higher
education institutions (including the University System of Maryland, Morgan State University, St. Mary’s College of
Maryland and Baltimore City Community College), the Maryland Transportation Authority, the Maryland Water Quality
Financing Administration, and the Maryland Environmental Service have issued and have outstanding bonds of this type.
The principal of and interest on bonds issued by these bodies are payable solely from various sources, principally fees
generated from use of the facilities or enterprises financed by the bonds. Outstanding revenue and enterprise debt of
these State units, together with their non-State tax-supported lease and conditional purchase financings, amounted to
approximately $7.4 billion at March 31, 2011. See APPENDIX B – “SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES –
Revenue and Enterprise Financings” for a summary of outstanding Revenue and Enterprise Financings.
On February 10, 1998, the Governor issued an Executive Order assigning responsibility to the Department of
Budget and Management to report annually on the levels of debt issued and outstanding by certain State agencies and to
recommend annual debt issuance amounts for those agencies. The Executive Order also provides that the Governor may
establish the amounts of such debt to be issued during the fiscal year, which amounts may be amended by the Governor.
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STATE DEMOGRAPHIC AND ECONOMIC DATA
Introduction
The following selected economic, social, and employment data may be relevant in evaluating the economic and
financial condition of the State; however, this information is not intended to provide all relevant data necessary for a
complete evaluation of the State’s economic and financial condition.
Maryland is located on the East Coast in the South Atlantic Census Region, and is bordered by Delaware,
Pennsylvania, West Virginia, Virginia, and the District of Columbia. Maryland encompasses 12,193 square miles.
Ranking 42nd among the 50 states in size, Maryland’s land area (exclusive of inland waterways and the 1,726 square
miles of the Chesapeake Bay) is 9,844 square miles.
Population
According to 2010 Census reports, Maryland’s population on April 1 of that year was 5,773,552, an increase of
9.0% from the 2000 Census. Maryland’s population is concentrated in urban areas. In 2010 the eleven counties and
Baltimore City located in the Baltimore-Washington region contained 50.1% of the State’s land area and 87.0% of its
population. The 2010 population for the Baltimore PMSA was estimated at 2,699,135 and for the Maryland portion of
the Washington PMSA, 2,291,954. Overall, Maryland’s population per square mile was 583 in 2010. The following
table presents estimated population of Maryland and the United States from 2001 - 2010.
Population
United States

Maryland
Population
Change

Year

5,374,009
5,437,880
5,491,971
5,537,913
5,576,889
5,605,552
5,627,211
5,650,870
5,688,399
5,737,274

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

1.2%
1.2
1.0
0.8
0.7
0.5
0.4
0.4
0.7
0.9

Population

Change

285,049,647
287,745,630
290,242,027
292,936,109
295,618,454
298,431,771
301,393,632
304,177,401
306,656,290
309,050,816

1.0%
0.9
0.9
0.9
0.9
1.0
1.0
0.9
0.8
0.8

___________
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census.
Note: Figures are estimates for July 1 of each year.

The 2009 population of Maryland and the United States was distributed by age as follows:
Age Distribution 2009
Age

Maryland

Under 5 years
5 through 19 years
20 to 44 years
45 to 64 years
65 years and over

6.7%
19.9
34.0
27.2
12.2
100.0%

________
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census.
* Totals may not add due to rounding.
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United States
6.9%
20.2
34.1
25.9
12.9
100.0%

Personal Income
Maryland residents received approximately $283.0 billion in personal income in 2010. Maryland’s total
personal income increased at a rate of 2.9%, in line with the national increase of 3.0%. Additionally, per capita income,
remained significantly above the national average in 2010, $49,025 in Maryland compared with the national average of
$40,584. In 2010, Maryland’s per capita personal income ranked fourth highest in the nation. Per capita income varies
across the State, with the highest incomes in the Washington and Baltimore regions. The table below shows trends in per
capita personal income in Maryland and the United States.
Per Capita Personal Income Trends
Year

Maryland

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

$36,201
37,095
38,150
40,530
42,480
44,979
46,923
48,410
48,275
49,025

Change

US

4.4%
2.5
2.8
6.2
4.8
5.9
4.3
3.2
-0.3
1.6

$31,145
31,461
32,271
33,881
35,424
37,698
39,458
40,673
39,626
40,584

Change
2.7%
1.0
2.6
5.0
4.6
6.4
4.7
3.1
-2.6
2.4

Maryland Ranking
4
4
4
4
4
4
5
5
4
4

________
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis.
Note: Rankings do not include the District of Columbia.

Maryland is more reliant on the service and government sectors than the nation as a whole, while the
manufacturing sector is much less significant than it is nationwide. As one of the wealthier states, a greater share of
personal income is derived from dividends, interest and rent, and a lesser share comes from transfer payments. In 2010,
the sources of personal income in the State and the comparable sources of personal income for the nation were as
follows:
[Table appears on following page]
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Sources of Personal Income
2010
($ in millions)

Maryland

Percentage of Personal Income
Before Residence Adjustment
Maryland
United States

Mining, forestry, fishing.........................................
Construction ............................................................
Manufacturing.........................................................
Trade, transportation & utilities.............................
Information services ...............................................
Finance, insurance & real estate ............................
Professional & business services ...........................
Educational & health services................................
Leisure & hospitality services................................
Other services..........................................................
Government
Federal, civilian ...............................................
Military ............................................................
State & local ....................................................
Farm income ...........................................................

$ 287
11,657
10,305
24,809
5,103
13,270
36,443
25,430
6,778
7,273

0.1%
4.6
4.0
9.7
2.0
5.2
14.3
9.9
2.7
2.8

1.2%
3.6
7.4
11.0
2.4
6.1
11.8
9.3
3.0
2.6

22,284
4,416
22,847
309

8.7
1.7
8.9
0.1

2.5
1.4
9.1
0.6

Earnings by place of work......................................

191,208

Less:
Personal contributions for social insurance...........

(21,927)

(8.6)

(8.0)

Plus:
Dividends, Interest and Rent..................................
Transfer Payments ..................................................

47,561
38,831

18.6
15.2

17.6
18.3

Personal income before residence adjustment ......
Residence adjustment .............................................

255,673
27,376

100.0%*

100.0%*

Total Personal Income...............................................

$283,050*

__________
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis (State Quarterly Personal Income, Series SQ5N).
Note: Total personal income is reported by place of residence; however, income by industry is shown by place of work. The residence adjustment
accounts for Maryland residents who work outside the State.
* Totals may not add due to rounding.
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Over the past five years, total personal income in Maryland and the United States has grown 3.6% annually.
Wage and salary income, roughly half of total personal income, has grown at a higher rate in Maryland than it has
nationally. Supplements to wages and salaries – essentially nonwage benefits – have also grown more quickly in
Maryland, while dividend, interest and rent income and proprietor’s income have grown more slowly. Proprietor’s
income growth was negative over the period, though this component is a very small percentage of Maryland’s total
annual personal income. The disparity in growth of the residence adjustment income earned by residents who work
outside of Maryland or the nation is not as meaningful as it might appear, because the residence adjustment is roughly
10% of Maryland personal income, but only half a basis point of national personal income.
Average Annual Growth of Personal Income Components
(2005 through 2010)

Maryland
Wages and Salaries
Supplements to Wages and Salaries
Proprietors' Income
Contributions for Social Insurance
Residence Adjustment
Dividends, Interest, and Rent
Transfer Payments

United States

2.8%
3.8
-1.0
3.6
2.5
4.7
8.5

2.4%
3.1
-0.3
2.8
1.8
5.1
8.7

___________________
Source: US Department of Commerce, Bureau of Economic Analysis (State Annual Personal Income, Series A04).
Note: Total personal income is reported by place of residence; however income by industry is shown by place of work.
The residence adjustment accounts for Maryland residents who work outside the State.

Employment
Maryland’s labor force totaled just under 3.0 million individuals in 2010, including agricultural and
nonagricultural employment, the unemployed, the self-employed and residents who commute to jobs in other states. The
government, retail trade, and services sectors (notably professional and business, and educational and health) are the
leading areas of employment in the State. In contrast to the nation as a whole, considerably more people in Maryland are
employed in the federal government and service sectors and fewer in manufacturing, as shown in the following table:
Distribution of Employment
2010
Maryland
Construction & mining
Manufacturing
Trade, transportation & utilities
Information services
Financial activities
Professional & business services
Educational & health services
Leisure & hospitality services
Other services
Government
Federal
State & local
Total

5.7%
4.6
17.4
1.7
5.7
15.4
15.9
9.1
4.6

4.8%
8.9
19.0
2.1
5.9
12.9
15.1
10.0
4.1

5.6
14.4
100.0%*

2.3
15.0
100.0%*

________________
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics
*Totals may not add due to rounding.
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United States

In 2010, Maryland employment fell 0.4%, compared to 2009, contributing to a slightly negative employment
growth rate over the past five years, -0.3%. The 2010 decline followed the sharpest drop in employment in nearly two
decades; in 2009, Maryland employment fell by 3%. Following the collapse of the housing market, the construction and
finance industries realized significant job losses, and as the broader recession took hold, several other Maryland
industries were severely impacted. As is often the case, government employment in Maryland has acted as a stabilizing
influence.
Average Annual Employment Growth
(2005 through 2010)
Maryland

United States

Construction & mining
Manufacturing
Trade, transportation & utilities
Information services
Financial activities
Professional & business services
Educational & health services
Leisure & hospitality services
Other services
Government
Federal
State & local

-4.9%
-3.8
-1.4
-2.8
-2.1
-0.2
2.5
0.2
-0.2

-4.8%
-4.1
-1.1
-2.4
-1.3
-0.3
2.4
0.3
-0.1

2.1
1.2

1.7
0.5

Total Non-agricultural Employment

-0.3%

-0.6%

______
Source: U.S. Department of Labor, Bureau of Labor Statistics.

Recent employment trends in Maryland are shown in the following table. Maryland’s unemployment rate has
been lower than the rest of the country for the past ten years, while the labor force has grown more slowly than the rest
of the country in seven of the last ten years.
Employment Trends

Year
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

Unemployment
Rate in
Maryland
4.1%
4.5
4.5
4.3
4.1
3.8
3.6
4.5
7.1
7.5

Unemployment
Rate in the
United States
4.7%
5.8
6.0
5.5
5.1
4.6
4.6
5.8
9.3
9.6

Growth in
Maryland
Labor Force
0.6%
1.3
0.5
0.4
1.8
2.0
0.4
0.6
-1.1
-0.7

________________
Source: Maryland Department of Labor, Licensing and Regulation.
Note: In May 2011 the unemployment rate was 6.8% in Maryland and 9.1% in the United States.
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Growth in
United States
Labor Force
0.8%
0.8
1.1
0.6
1.3
1.4
1.1
0.8
-0.1
-0.2

Educational Levels
Maryland’s work force is more highly educated than that of the rest of the country. The percentage of the
population (25 years and over) with a Bachelor’s degree or higher is 35.7% as compared to 27.9% for the rest of the
country. Maryland ranks third in the nation in the percentage of its population over 25 with a graduate or professional
degree. The percentage of the population with a high school diploma or better is 88.2% in Maryland compared to 85.3%
in the United States. This educational attainment facilitates the rapid growth of the professional services and information
services sectors, which require an educated workforce.
Educational Attainment of Population 25 Years and Over in 2009

Less than High School
High School Diploma
Some College
Associate's Degree
Bachelor's Degree
Graduate or Professional Degree

Maryland
11.8%
26.7
19.7
6.2
19.7
16.0

United States
14.7%
28.5
21.3
7.5
17.6
10.3

________________
Source: American Community Survey.

Assessed Value of Property
Maryland levies a State tax on real property, revenues from which are credited to the Annuity Bond Fund to
pay debt service. Through fiscal year 2003 the rate was 8.4 cents per $100 of assessment (21 cents on utility operating
property). In fiscal year 2004 the rate was increased to 13.2 cents per $100 of assessment (33 cents on utility operating
property). For fiscal years 2007 through 2011, the tax rate is 11.2 cents per $100 of assessment (28 cents on utility
operating property).
Shown below is the assessed value for State purposes of real property as determined by the State Department of
Assessments and Taxation. All real property is assessed at full cash value once every three years, with any increase in
full cash value phased in over the ensuing three taxable years in equal installments. Any decrease in the full cash value
is recognized in full in the next taxable year and held constant for the remaining two taxable years.

Assessed Values of Real Estate
($ in thousands)

Fiscal
Year
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010
2011
2012

Real
Property
$334,732,221
360,626,451
397,093,127
451,090,503
525,706,233
616,526,923
706,403,763
750,498,802
733,884,066
688,430,330

Utility Operating
Real Property
$2,165,542
1,299,590
1,323,073
1,392,322
1,476,219
1,105,319
1,086,209
1,069,237
708,090
704,548

Total
$336,897,763
361,926,041
398,416,200
452,482,825
527,182,452
617,632,242
707,489,972
751,568,039
734,592,156
689,134,878

Change in
Assessed
Values
5.5%
7.4
10.1
13.6
16.5
17.2
14.5
6.2
-2.2
-6.2

________________
Source: State Department of Assessments and Taxation, March, 2011.
Note: See also, “STATE FINANCES – State Revenues, Property Taxes and State Property Tax Revenue Estimates.”
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Residential Construction
The value of all residential unit permits issued in 2010 declined by 6.6% as a result of a weak housing market;
however, the total number of residential building permits increased by 11.8%. Home sales declined in 2006, 2007 and
2008, while home prices, which showed double-digit growth in the five years prior, stagnated in 2006 and 2007 before
turning downwards in 2008. The rate of price decline in 2010 moderated from 2009 levels, though the rate of growth in
volume also moderated.
Aggregate Value of and Building Permits Issued
for Residential Construction in Maryland

Year

Value of
Construction in
Current Dollars
($ in millions)

2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

$3,228.0
3,517.9
3,723.6
3,822.7
4,687.6
3,889.9
3,768.8
2,229.7
2,089.0
1,951.9

Change

Number of
Permits Issued

-0.1%
9.0
5.8
2.7
22.6
-17.0
-3.1
-40.8
-6.3
-6.6

29,059
29,293
29,914
27,382
30,180
23,262
18,582
13,018
11,123
12,436

Change
-4.3%
0.8
2.1
-8.5
10.2
-22.9
-20.1
-29.9
-14.6
11.8

__________________
Source: U.S. Department of Commerce, Bureau of the Census.

Home Sales and Median Home Price
Year
2001
2002
2003
2004
2005
2006
2007
2008
2009
2010

Unit
Home Sales
80,169
84,870
89,371
98,056
98,858
82,787
63,585
46,834
52,591
54,605

Growth

Median
Home Price

Growth

29.6%
5.9
5.3
9.7
0.8
-16.3
-23.2
-26.3
12.3
3.8

$152,748
173,484
200,334
241,454
292,214
307,910
307,744
285,082
256,217
245,726

15.9%
13.6
15.5
20.5
21.0
5.4
-0.1
-7.4
-10.1
-4.1

_________________
Source: Maryland Association of Realtors.

Taxable Retail Sales
Sales accelerated strongly in 2000 with a booming economy, high levels of consumer confidence and the
“wealth effect” generated by the robust equity market. The 2001 recession caused a steep slowdown in fiscal year 2002
and 2003, while a relatively strong economy, low interest rates and high levels of mortgage refinancing resulted in robust
growth in fiscal year 2004 through 2006. As the economy slowed in fiscal year 2007, and the boost from mortgage
refinancing and other housing-related issues faded, growth slowed precipitously. The onset of the most recent recession
coupled with high gas prices resulted in declining taxable retail sales for fiscal year 2008. Fiscal year 2009 saw
continued reductions in retail sales as declining wealth, increased unemployment, and a lack of credit weighed heavily
across all categories of the base. Though sales and use tax collection growth in fiscal year 2010 remained negative,
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Maryland experienced four consecutive months of positive growth in sales and use tax collections in the final months of
fiscal year 2010. The following table illustrates the changes in taxable sales for fiscal 2001 through 2010.
Taxable Retail Sales in Maryland
(includes automobile sales)
($ in thousands)
Fiscal
Year

Taxable
Retail Sales

2001.......................
2002.......................
2003.......................
2004.......................
2005.......................
2006.......................
2007.......................
2008.......................
2009.......................
2010.......................

$65,177,540
66,562,680
67,788,320
73,296,320
77,427,480
81,933,900
82,568,490
80,120,978
72,413,624
71,521,298

Change
5.1%
2.1
1.8
8.1
5.6
5.8
0.8
-3.0
-9.6
-1.2

___________________
Source: Comptroller of the Treasury, Bureau of Revenue Estimates.
Note: Includes sales and use tax base and motor vehicle excise tax base.

Other Economic Factors
The Maryland Economy. While most of the current difficulties caused by the recession are affecting the State’s
economy, these problems have not hit Maryland as hard as many other states. One positive future development for the
State is the implementation of the 2005 decisions of the Base Realignment and Closure Commission (“BRAC”).
Real Estate. Home sales in Maryland started to slow in 2005; prices began to substantively decline in 2008.
More recently, the Maryland Realtors Association reports that the median price for a home sold in 2010 declined 4.1%
from the median price in 2009, a marginal improvement compared to the 2009 year-over-year decline of 10.1%. The
construction industry has contracted as new home construction slowed significantly and commercial construction was
unable to compensate. In addition, retail sales of items such as appliances and furniture, typically associated with a
strong housing market remain depressed compared to pre-recession levels.
Biotechnology. Maryland is well-positioned in the front ranks of the biotechnology field. The State’s
concentration of higher education and research institutions, particularly medical schools, thriving pharmaceuticals
industry and one of the most highly educated workforces in the country has created growth opportunities for the biotech
companies that have located or started up here.
Base Realignment and Closure. The State is poised to receive more federal jobs than any other state in the
country from the 2005 BRAC process. BRAC will also bring indirect jobs, families with income, and increased demand
for goods and services. In the aggregate, Maryland total BRAC-related job creation estimates range between 45,300 and
60,000. The majority of these jobs are expected to be located within an eight county area in central Maryland (Anne
Arundel, Howard, Montgomery, Prince George's, Harford, Baltimore and Cecil Counties, and Baltimore City). Although
direct federal job realignment has a statutory end date of September 15, 2011, many positions have already transferred to
Maryland. Notably, the Army's Command, Control, Communications, Computers, Intelligence, Surveillance, and
Reconnaissance unit (“C4ISR”) began to move to Aberdeen Proving Ground in 2007 and expects the majority of the
transfers to occur in 2010 and 2011. In addition, the Defense Information Systems Agency (“DISA”) expects to begin
shifting jobs in 2010 and 2011, following the completion of a new seven-building, 1,070,000 square foot campus. Many
contractors have already relocated and/or added new offices and positions in Maryland with many more related
expansions expected over an indefinite timeline.
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LEGAL MATTERS
Legality of the Bonds
The legality of the issuance of the Bonds offered by this Official Statement will be passed upon by the
Honorable Douglas F. Gansler, Attorney General of Maryland, and by Ballard Spahr LLP, Baltimore, Maryland, Bond
Counsel. However, Bond Counsel will rely upon the opinions of the Attorney General addressed to Bond Counsel with
respect to the validity of the specified State loans or installments thereof represented by the Bonds and as to compliance
with State law. Delivery of the Bonds is conditioned upon delivery by the Attorney General and Bond Counsel of
unqualified opinions substantially in the respective forms set forth in APPENDIX D.
Litigation
The State and its units are parties to numerous legal proceedings, many of which normally occur in
governmental operations. Except as noted below, the legal proceedings are not, in the opinion of the Attorney General,
likely to have a material adverse effect on the State’s financial position.
The State is the defendant in a class-action proceeding in the Circuit Court for Anne Arundel County
challenging on constitutional grounds the 2007 enactment by the General Assembly of certain State-wide ground rent
reforms. Plaintiffs allege an unconstitutional regulatory taking of property without just compensation in violation of the
United States and Maryland Constitutions and seek damages in excess of $100.0 million. There is a reasonable
possibility of a decision in the Circuit Court that is adverse to the State.
A decision that grants the entirety of the monetary relief sought by the class action plaintiffs in this case
potentially could have a material impact on the State’s finances. Any such decision would likely be the subject
of appeals and/or curative legislation, both of which could reduce any adverse financial impact. The payment of any final
judgment after exhaustion of appeals would be subject to the approval of the Board of Public Works from money
appropriated for that purpose in the State budget. Consequently, neither the fiscal year 2011 nor the fiscal year 2012
budgets were adversely affected, and the payment of any final judgment would impact a future fiscal year budget to the
extent monies are appropriated in that fiscal year to pay such final judgment.

TAX MATTERS
Federal Tax-Exemption
In General. In the opinion of Bond Counsel, under existing laws, regulations, rulings and judicial decisions,
interest on the Bonds (including original issue discount treated as interest, if any), is excludable from gross income for
federal income tax purposes. Interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for purposes of either individual or
corporate federal alternative minimum tax (“AMT”); however, interest paid to corporate holders of the Bonds (other than
an S corporation, regulated investment company, or real estate investment trust) may be indirectly subject to corporate
AMT because of its inclusion in the adjusted current earnings of a corporate holder. The opinions described in the
preceding sentence assume the accuracy of certain representations and compliance by the State with covenants designed
to satisfy the requirements of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) that must be met
subsequent to the issuance of the Bonds. Failure to comply with such requirements could cause interest on the Bonds to
be included in gross income for federal income tax purposes retroactive to the date of issuance of the Bonds. The State
has covenanted to comply with such requirements. Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion regarding other federal tax
consequences arising with respect to the Bonds.
Original Issue Premium. The Bonds are being issued at an initial public offering price which is in excess of the
stated redemption price of such Bonds at maturity. For federal income tax purposes, original issue premium is
amortizable periodically over the term of a Bond through reductions in the holder’s tax basis for the Bond for
determining taxable gain or loss from sale or from redemption prior to maturity. Amortization of premium does not
create a deductible expense or loss. Purchasers of the Bonds should consult with their tax advisors with respect to the
determination and treatment of premium for federal income tax purposes and with respect to the state and local tax
consequences of owning a Bond.
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Backup Withholding. A person making payments of tax-exempt interest to a bondholder is generally required to
make an information report of the payments to the Internal Revenue Service and to perform “backup withholding” from
the interest if the bondholder does not provide an IRS Form W-9 to the payor. “Backup withholding” means that the
payor withholds tax from the interest payments at the backup withholding rate, currently 28%. Form W-9 states the
bondholder’s taxpayer identification number or basis of exemption from backup withholding.
If a holder purchasing a Bond through a brokerage account has executed a Form W-9 in connection with the account, as
generally can be expected, there should be no backup withholding from the interest on the Bond.
If backup withholding occurs, it does not affect the excludability of the interest on the Bonds from gross income for
federal income tax purposes. Any amounts withheld pursuant to backup withholding would be allowed as a refund or a
credit against the owner’s federal income tax once the required information is furnished to the Internal Revenue Service.
Tax-Exemption – State of Maryland Taxation
In the opinion of the Attorney General and of Bond Counsel, under existing law of the State of Maryland, the
Bonds, their transfer, the interest payable thereon, and any income derived therefrom, including any profit realized in the
sale or exchange thereof, will be exempt from taxation within the State of Maryland by the State or by any of its political
subdivisions, municipal corporations, or public agencies; however, the law of the State of Maryland does not expressly
refer to, and no opinion is expressed concerning, estate or inheritance taxes or any other taxes not levied directly on the
Bonds or the interest thereon.
Changes in Federal and State Tax Law
From time to time, there are legislative proposals in the Congress and in the states that, if enacted, could alter or
amend the federal and state tax matters referred to herein or adversely affect the market value of the Bonds. It cannot be
predicted whether or in what form any such proposal might be enacted or whether if enacted it would apply to bonds
issued prior to enactment. In addition, regulatory actions are from time to time announced or proposed and litigation is
threatened or commenced which, if implemented or concluded in a particular manner, could adversely affect the market
value of the Bonds. It cannot be predicted whether any such regulatory action will be implemented, how any particular
litigation or judicial action will be resolved, or whether the Bonds or the market value thereof would be impacted
thereby. Purchasers of the Bonds should consult their tax advisors regarding any pending or proposed legislation,
regulatory initiatives or litigation. The opinions expressed by Bond Counsel are based upon existing legislation and
regulations as interpreted by relevant judicial and regulatory authorities as of the date of issuance and delivery of the
Bonds, and Bond Counsel has expressed no opinion as of any date subsequent thereto or with respect to any pending
legislation, regulatory initiatives or litigation.
UNDERWRITING
The Bonds are being purchased by J.P. Morgan Securities LLC (“JPMS”), as representative of a group of
underwriters named in the Bond Purchase Agreement hereinafter referenced (the “Underwriters”). The Underwriters
have agreed to purchase the Bonds for a purchase price of $300,351,276 (which is equal to the aggregate principal
amount of the Bonds of $254,915,000 plus original issue premium of $46,520,568 less underwriters’ discount of
$1,084,292). The Underwriters’ obligation to purchase the Bonds is subject to certain terms and conditions set forth in
the Bond Purchase Agreement, the approval of certain matters by Bond Counsel, and certain other conditions. The
yields or prices shown on the inside cover page of this Official Statement for the Bonds were furnished by the
Underwriters. All other information concerning the nature and terms of any reoffering of the Bonds should be obtained
from the Underwriters and not from the State.
Certain legal matters will be passed upon for the Underwriters by their counsel, McGuireWoods,LLP,
Baltimore, Maryland.
JPMS, one of the Underwriters of the Bonds, has entered into negotiated dealer agreements (each, a “Dealer
Agreement”) with each of UBS Financial Services Inc. (“UBSFS”) and Charles Schwab & Co., Inc. (“CS&Co.”) for the
retail distribution of certain municipal securities offerings at the original issue prices. Pursuant to each Dealer
Agreement, both UBSFS and CS&Co. will purchase Bonds from JPMS at the original issue price less a negotiated
portion of the selling concession applicable to any Bonds that such firm sells.
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Citigroup Inc., the parent company of Citigroup Global Markets Inc., one of the Underwriters of the Bonds, has
entered into a retail brokerage joint venture with Morgan Stanley. As part of the joint venture, Citigroup Global Markets
Inc. will distribute municipal securities to retail investors through the financial advisor network of a new broker-dealer,
Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC. This distribution arrangement became effective on June 1, 2009. As part of this
arrangement, Citigroup Global Markets Inc. will compensate Morgan Stanley Smith Barney LLC for its selling efforts
with respect to the Bonds.
Goldman, Sachs & Co. (“Goldman Sachs”), one of the Underwriters of the Bonds, has entered into a master
dealer agreement (the “Master Dealer Agreement”) with Incapital LLC (“Incapital”) for the distribution of certain
municipal securities offerings, including the Bonds, to Incapital’s retail distribution network at the initial original issue
prices. Pursuant to the Master Dealer Agreement, Incapital will purchase Bonds from Goldman Sachs at the initial
original issue prices less a negotiated portion of the selling concession applicable to any Bonds that Incapital sells.
OTHER INFORMATION
Report of Independent Public Accountants
The General Purpose Financial Statements of the State of Maryland for the year ended June 30, 2010, included
in the section APPENDIX A – “FINANCIAL STATEMENTS” of this Official Statement have been audited by SB &
Company, LLC, independent certified public accountants, as stated in their report appearing herein.
Financial Advisor
Public Financial Management, Inc. of Philadelphia, Pennsylvania served as financial advisor to the State for the
issuance of the Bonds. Public Financial Management, Inc. is a financial advisory and consulting organization and is not
engaged in the business of underwriting, marketing, or trading municipal securities or any other negotiable instruments.
Investment Advisor
Public Resources Advisory Group of New York, New York, serves as investment advisor and bidding agent to
the State for the purchase, with the proceeds of the Bonds, of Federal Securities that will held by the Escrow Deposit
Agent in an Escrow Deposit Fund.
Ratings
As noted on the cover page of this Official Statement, Moody’s Investors Service, Inc., Standard & Poor’s, a
Division of the McGraw-Hill Companies, Inc., and Fitch Ratings have given the Bonds ratings of Aaa, AAA, and AAA
respectively. An explanation of the significance of a particular rating may be obtained from the rating agency furnishing
it. The State furnished to the rating agencies the information contained in a preliminary form of this Official Statement
and other information. Generally, rating agencies base their ratings on such materials and information, as well as their
own investigations, studies, and assumptions. It should be noted that the ratings may be changed at any time and that no
assurance can be given that they will not be revised downward or withdrawn by any or all rating agencies, if in the
judgment of any or all, circumstances should warrant such actions. Any downward revision or withdrawal of any of the
ratings could have an adverse effect on market prices for the Bonds.
On August 4, 2011, Moody’s confirmed the Aaa ratings of Maryland and four other states previously identified
as indirectly linked to the U.S. government. These actions followed the August 2, 2011, confirmation by Moody’s of the
U.S. Aaa sovereign rating. Moody’s stated: “In conjunction with assignment of a negative outlook (to) the U.S.
government, the outlooks for indirectly linked U.S. public finance issuers (including Maryland) have been revised to
negative…(and) …their outlooks will be reviewed on a case by case basis in the coming weeks.” The complete press
release is available at:
http://www.moodys.com/research/Correction-to-Text-Aug-4-2011-Moodys-confirms-Aaaratings?lang=en&cy=global&docid=PR_224016
The content of such release is maintained solely by Moody's and the State assumes no responsibility for the content or
continued availability thereof.
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Continuing Disclosure
In order to enable the successful bidders and the Underwriters for the Bonds to comply with the requirements of
paragraph (b)(5) of the Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12, the Board of Public Works will execute and
deliver, on or before the date of issuance and delivery of the Bonds, a Continuing Disclosure Agreement, the form of
which is attached as APPENDIX F. Potential purchasers should note that certain of the events listed in Section 4(a) of
the Continuing Disclosure Agreement have been included for purposes of compliance with Rule 15c2-12 but are not
relevant for the Bonds, specifically those events relating to debt service reserves, credit enhancements and liquidity
providers, and property or other collateral. The State has complied with its obligations under its existing Continuing
Disclosure Agreements executed pursuant to Rule 15c2-12(b)(5). As of July 1, 2009, the State files its secondary market
disclosures with the Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system.
Official Statement
This Official Statement has been approved and authorized by the Board of Public Works of Maryland for use in
connection with the sale of the Bonds representing the $254,915,000 State and Local Facilities Loan of 2011, Second
Series E Tax Exempt Refunding Bonds. The Underwriters will be furnished without cost with up to 100 copies of this
Official Statement and of any amendment or supplement that may be issued.
The Board of Public Works has been advised by Ballard Spahr LLP, Baltimore, Maryland, as Bond Counsel in
connection with the issuance of the Bonds. See APPENDIX D to this Official Statement for the forms of the opinions of
the Attorney General and Ballard Spahr LLP, Baltimore, Maryland, to be rendered at the time of delivery of the Bonds.
The statement under “LEGAL MATTERS – Litigation” has been passed upon by the Honorable Douglas F. Gansler,
Attorney General of Maryland, and as to legal conclusions, is stated upon the authority of the Attorney General.

BOARD OF PUBLIC WORKS
OF MARYLAND

MARTIN O’MALLEY
Governor

PETER FRANCHOT
Comptroller

NANCY K. KOPP
Treasurer

Annapolis, Maryland
September 14, 2011
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Appendix A
FINANCIAL AND ACCOUNTING SYSTEM
The financial statements and other financial data contained in this Official Statement have been
prepared by the Office of the Comptroller. The financial statements and notes thereto contained on pages A8 through A-110 have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States and, with respect to the Basic Financial Statements for the year ended June 30, 2010, have
been audited by SB & Company, LLC, independent certified public accountants, whose report thereon is
included in this Official Statement on pages A-8 to A-9. Pagination references within the body of the
financial statements in the CAFR refer to the pages in the CAFR.
The Government Finance Officers Association of the United States and Canada awarded a Certificate
of Achievement for Excellence in Financial Reporting to the State of Maryland for its comprehensive annual
financial reports for fiscal years 1980 through 2009. In order to be awarded a Certificate of Achievement, a
governmental unit must publish a comprehensive annual financial report, the contents of which conform to
program standards. Such reports must satisfy both generally accepted accounting principles and applicable
legal requirements.
Effective June 30, 2002, the State implemented the new reporting model required by GASB
Statement No. 34, “Basic Financial Statements – and Management’s Discussion and Analysis – for State
and Local Governments.” These basic financial statements include Management’s Discussion and
Analysis, which provides a narrative overview and analysis of the State’s financial activities. Furthermore,
they include government-wide financial statements, (i.e., the statement of net assets and the statement of
activites), which provide both short-term and long-term information about the State’s financial position.
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function of the
State’s activities are offset by its program revenues. These statements provide statewide financial
information distinguished between governmental activities, business-type activities and component units.
Included with these statements are reconciliations between the entity-wide statements, prepared on the full
accrual basis, and the fund level statements prepared on the modified accrual basis. In addition, there are
reconciliations between the fund level and budgetary statements. Detailed information on the new reporting
model is provided in the Management’s Discussion and Analysis section and in Note 1 of the “Notes to
the Financial Statements.”
State statutes require an audit of every unit of State government, including the Office of the
Comptroller, by the Legislative Auditor at least every three years or more as determined by the Legislative
Auditor. The Legislative Auditor is required to be, and is, a certified public accountant. The Legislative
Auditor conducts fiscal, compliance, and performance audits of the various agencies and departments of the
State and issues a separate report covering each of those audits. Although certain of those reports include
presentations of detailed financial data and contain expressions of opinion thereon, the audits usually are not
made for that purpose. The primary purpose of the reports is to present the Legislative Auditor’s findings
relative to the fiscal management of those agencies and departments.
The State maintains accounts on a budgetary basis for each program within an agency, and places
strong reliance upon the checks, balances, and controls inherent in the constitutional budgetary system.
Under constitutional and statutory requirements, a balanced State Budget must be adopted each year, and
expenditures may not be made in excess of appropriations. Agencies must report on an object and program
basis to the Office of the Comptroller which, in turn, reports to the Department of Budget and Management,
which monitors compliance with the Budget. See “STATE FINANCES – Budgetary System.” In
addition, for year end reporting purposes, the State converts its financial statements prepared on a budgetary
basis to financial statements prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
Although the accounts maintained by the State on a budgetary basis conform in many respects to
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, there are certain departures from these
principles that are dictated by statutory requirements and historical practices. The principal departures are
the classification of the State’s principal funds and the timing of recognition of certain revenues,
expenditures, and expenses.
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The State’s accounting system is maintained by the Comptroller in compliance with State law and
in accordance with the State’s budgetary funds. In addition to the accounting systems maintained by the
Comptroller, certain individual agencies that are not subject to the State Budget maintain accounting
systems that permit financial reporting on the basis of generally accepted accounting principles.
For the purpose of reporting its financial activities in accordance with generally accepted accounting
principles, at the fund level the State records its activities in Governmental, Proprietary, and Fiduciary
Fund types. See Note 1 to “Notes to the Financial Statements.” On a budgetary basis, the State reports its
financial activities in the General, Special, Federal, Annuity Bond (Debt Service), Capital Projects, and
Higher Education, Current Unrestricted and Current Restricted Funds.
The General Fund is the fund in which all general transactions of the State are recorded unless
otherwise directed by law to be included in another fund. The General Fund includes most of the
governmental operating assets, liabilities, revenues, and expenditures. To the extent that the Budget
enacted by the General Assembly uses an estimated fund balance at the end of the current fiscal year, in
establishing the Budget for the next succeeding year, that amount of General Fund balance existing at June
30 of the current fiscal year is recorded as assigned to supplement the new year’s Budget. See “STATE
FINANCES – Budgetary System.”
The Annuity Bond Fund (Debt Service Fund) is used to account for all payments of debt service on
general obligation bonds.
The Capital Projects Fund is a group of accounts, each set up for a particular legislated
authorization. The proceeds of general obligation bonds, the transfers from the General Fund, and the
expenditures of the funds obtained thereby (which are almost entirely for capital projects) are accounted for
in each of the accounts.
The Federal Funds are used to account for most grants from the federal government.
The Special Funds include the transportation activities of the State, including related indebtedness,
except for federal transportation grants, which are accounted for in Federal Funds. In addition to the
transportation activities, transactions related to dedicated funds, such as fishery and wildlife funds and
shared taxes, are recorded in Special Funds.
The Higher Education, Current Unrestricted and Current Restricted Funds are used to account for
higher education activities. Higher Education, Current Unrestricted and Current Restricted Funds include
all revenues used or available for carrying out the current operations of the State’s universities and colleges.
Under budgetary reporting, revenues generally are recognized when cash is received except for (i)
significant self-assessed taxes, which are recorded in the period to which they apply, and (ii) federal grants,
which are recorded when earned. Expenditures generally are recorded when cash is disbursed or upon the
approval of encumbrances against appropriations. At the fund level under generally accepted accounting
principles, revenues generally are recognized when earned, subject in certain cases to their availability to
fund appropriations. Expenditures and expenses are recognized when liabilities are incurred, subject to
certain modifications for interest and principal on general long-term debt, retirement costs, other postemployment benefits, compensated absences, pollution remediation, and claims and judgments. See Note
2 of “Notes to the Financial Statements” for further information concerning the significant accounting
policies employed by the State in preparing its financial statements in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States.
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A summary of the effects of fund structure and timing differences on the General Fund balances between the
budgetary basis and generally accepted accounting principles basis for fiscal years 2010 and 2009 follows.

Year end fund balance on budgetary basis……………...………………………..
Fund structure reclassifications……………………...…………………………….
Adjustments to the budgetary accounting system:
Cash and cash equivalents……………...……………………………………..
Investments……………………………...……………………………………….
Other accounts receivable….….………….…………........…………………..
Other assets…...…….………………………...…………………………………
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities……...…..…………...…………….
Deferred revenue…………………………………………………………………
Year end fund balance on generally accepted accounting principles basis…….

CAFR page (iii) and 107.XLS page ciii
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(in thousands)
2010
2009
$ 1,056,125
$
925,637
1,263,204
1,100,317
(67,992)
36,579
180,404
(191,201)
(716,542)
(311,485)
$ 1,249,092

51,751
13,754
118,194
(148,474)
(305,308)
(245,949)
$ 1,509,922
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS
The Honorable Peter Franchot
Comptroller of Maryland
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the governmental activities, the business-type
activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major fund, and the aggregate
remaining fund information of the State of Maryland (the State), as of and for the year ended June 30,
2010, which collectively comprise the State’s basic financial statements as listed in the table of contents.
These financial statements, schedules and supplementary information are the responsibility of the State’s
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit.
We did not audit the financial statements of (1) certain Economic Development Loan Programs; (2) the
Maryland State Lottery Agency; (3) the Maryland Transportation Authority; (4) the Economic
Development Insurance Programs; (5) certain foundations included in the higher education component
units; (6) the Maryland Food Center Authority; (7) the Maryland Technology Development Corporation;
and (8) the Investment Trust Fund, which represent the percentages of the total assets, total net assets, and
total operating revenues or additions included in the accompanying financial statements.
Percentage of Opinion Unit

Business-Type Activities
Major Certain Economic Development Loan Programs
Maryland State Lottery Agency
Maryland Transportation Authority
Non-Major Economic Development Insurance Programs
Total percentage of business-type activities
Component Units
Major Certain foundations included in the higher education
component units
Non-Major Maryland Food Center Authority
Maryland Technology Development Corporation
Total percentage of component units
Fiduciary Funds
Investment Trust Fund

Total Assets

Total Net
Assets

Total
Operating
Revenues

30.7 %
2.1
46.0

8.7 %
0.4
48.1

4.3 %
49.3
15.0

0.9
79.7 %

1.7
58.9 %

0.1
68.7 %

12.8 %

15.5 %

13.5 %

0.3
0.3
13.4 %

0.4
0.1
16.0 %

0.4
1.7
15.6 %

5.8 %

6.9 %

75.4 %
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Those financial statements were audited by other auditors whose reports thereon have been furnished to
us, and our opinion, insofar as it relates to the amounts included for the above-mentioned funds and
component units, is based on the reports of the other auditors.
We conducted our audit in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test
basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as
evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audit and the reports of the
other auditors provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
In our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, the financial statements referred to
above present fairly, in all material respects, the respective financial position of the governmental
activities, the business-type activities, the aggregate discretely presented component units, each major
fund, and the aggregate remaining fund information of the State, as of June 30, 2010, and the respective
changes in financial position and cash flows, where applicable, thereof for the year then ended in
conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America.
The management’s discussion and analysis; required supplemental schedules of funding progress and
employer contributions for the Maryland Pension and Retirement System, the Maryland Transit
Administration Pension Plan, and Other Post-employment Benefits Plan; and the respective budgetary
comparison for the budgetary general, special and Federal funds as listed in the table of contents are not a
required part of the basic financial statements but are supplementary information required by the
accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America. We and the other auditors have
applied certain limited procedures, which consisted principally of inquiries of management regarding the
methods of measurement and presentation of the required supplementary information. However, we did
not audit the information and express no opinion on it.
Our audit was conducted for the purpose of forming an opinion on the financial statements that
collectively comprise the State’s basic financial statements. The combining financial statements and
statistical section, as listed in the table of contents, are presented for purposes of additional analysis and
are not a required part of the basic financial statements. The combining financial statements have been
subjected to the auditing procedures applied by us and the other auditors in the audit of the basic financial
statements and, in our opinion, based on our audit and the reports of the other auditors, are fairly stated in
all material respects in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole. The statistical section of
this report has not been subjected to the auditing procedures applied by us or the other auditors in the
audit of the basic financial statements and, accordingly, we express no opinion on it.

Hunt Valley, Maryland
December 10, 2010
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WKHSULRU\HDU

%

ELOOLRQ*HQHUDO2EOLJDWLRQ%RQGVRIZKLFKPLOOLRQZHUHUHIXQGLQJERQGVDQGPLOOLRQ7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ%RQGV
ZHUHLVVXHGGXULQJWKH\HDU

2YHUYLHZRIWKH)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV
7KLVGLVFXVVLRQDQGDQDO\VLVLVLQWHQGHGWRVHUYHDVDQLQWURGXFWLRQWRWKH6WDWHRI0DU\ODQG¶VEDVLF¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV7KH6WDWH¶V
EDVLF¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVFRPSULVHWKUHHFRPSRQHQWV JRYHUQPHQWZLGH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV IXQG¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVDQG 
QRWHVWRWKH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV7KLVUHSRUWDOVRFRQWDLQVDGGLWLRQDOUHTXLUHGVXSSOHPHQWDU\LQIRUPDWLRQDQGRWKHUVXSSOHPHQWDU\
LQIRUPDWLRQLQDGGLWLRQWRWKHEDVLF¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
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*RYHUQPHQWZLGH)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV 5HSRUWLQJWKH6WDWHDVD:KROH
7KHJRYHUQPHQWZLGH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVSURYLGHDEURDGRYHUYLHZRIWKH6WDWH¶VRSHUDWLRQVLQDPDQQHUVLPLODUWRDSULYDWH
VHFWRUEXVLQHVV7KHVWDWHPHQWVSURYLGHERWKVKRUWWHUPDQGORQJWHUPLQIRUPDWLRQDERXWWKH6WDWH¶V¿QDQFLDOSRVLWLRQZKLFK
DVVLVWVUHDGHUVLQDVVHVVLQJWKH6WDWH¶VHFRQRPLFFRQGLWLRQDWWKHHQGRIWKH¿VFDO\HDU7KHVWDWHPHQWVLQFOXGHDOO¿VFDO\HDU
UHYHQXHVDQGH[SHQVHVUHJDUGOHVVRIZKHWKHUFDVKKDVEHHQUHFHLYHGRUSDLG7KHJRYHUQPHQWZLGH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVLQFOXGH
WKHIROORZLQJWZRVWDWHPHQWV
7KH6WDWHPHQWRI1HW$VVHWVSUHVHQWVDOORIWKH6WDWH¶VDVVHWVDQGOLDELOLWLHVZLWKWKHGLIIHUHQFHEHWZHHQWKHWZRUHSRUWHGDV
³QHWDVVHWV´2YHUWLPHLQFUHDVHVDQGGHFUHDVHVLQWKH6WDWH¶VQHWDVVHWVPD\VHUYHDVDXVHIXOLQGLFDWRURIZKHWKHUWKH¿QDQFLDO
SRVLWLRQRIWKH6WDWHLVLPSURYLQJRUGHWHULRUDWLQJ
7KH6WDWHPHQWRI$FWLYLWLHVSUHVHQWVLQIRUPDWLRQVKRZLQJKRZWKH6WDWH¶VQHWDVVHWVFKDQJHGGXULQJWKHPRVWUHFHQW¿VFDO\HDU
$OOFKDQJHVLQQHWDVVHWVDUHUHSRUWHGDVVRRQDVWKHXQGHUO\LQJHYHQWJLYLQJULVHWRWKHFKDQJHRFFXUVUHJDUGOHVVRIWKHWLPLQJ
RIUHODWHGFDVKÀRZV7KXVUHYHQXHVDQGH[SHQVHVDUHUHSRUWHGLQWKLVVWDWHPHQWIRUVRPHLWHPVWKDWZLOOQRWUHVXOWLQFDVK
ÀRZVXQWLOIXWXUH¿VFDOSHULRGV VXFKDVXQFROOHFWHGWD[HVDQGHDUQHGEXWXQXVHGYDFDWLRQOHDYH 7KLVVWDWHPHQWDOVRSUHVHQWVD
FRPSDULVRQEHWZHHQGLUHFWH[SHQVHVDQGSURJUDPUHYHQXHVIRUHDFKIXQFWLRQRIWKH6WDWH
7KHDERYH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVGLVWLQJXLVKEHWZHHQWKHIROORZLQJWKUHHW\SHVRIVWDWHSURJUDPVRUDFWLYLWLHV
*RYHUQPHQWDO$FWLYLWLHV7KHDFWLYLWLHVLQWKLVVHFWLRQDUHW\SLFDOO\VXSSRUWHGE\WD[HVDQGLQWHUJRYHUQPHQWDOUHYHQXHV
LHIHGHUDOJUDQWV0RVWVHUYLFHVQRUPDOO\DVVRFLDWHGZLWK6WDWHJRYHUQPHQWIDOOLQWRWKLVFDWHJRU\LQFOXGLQJWKH/HJLVODWXUH
-XGLFLDU\DQGWKHJHQHUDORSHUDWLRQVRIWKH([HFXWLYH'HSDUWPHQW
%XVLQHVV7\SH$FWLYLWLHV±7KHVHIXQFWLRQVQRUPDOO\DUHLQWHQGHGWRUHFRYHUDOORUDVLJQL¿FDQWSRUWLRQRIWKHLUFRVWVWKURXJK
XVHUIHHVDQGFKDUJHVWRH[WHUQDOXVHUVRIJRRGVDQGVHUYLFHV7KHVHEXVLQHVVW\SHDFWLYLWLHVRIWKH6WDWHLQFOXGHLQVXUDQFHDQG
ORDQSURJUDPVIRUHFRQRPLFGHYHORSPHQWWKH8QHPSOR\PHQW,QVXUDQFH3URJUDPWKH/RWWHU\WKH7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ$XWKRULW\DQG
0DU\ODQG&RUUHFWLRQDO(QWHUSULVHVDSURJUDPZKLFKFRQVWUXFWVRI¿FHIXUQLVKLQJVXWLOL]LQJWKHSULVRQV¶LQPDWHSRSXODWLRQ
'LVFUHWHO\3UHVHQWHG&RPSRQHQW8QLWV±7KHJRYHUQPHQWZLGHVWDWHPHQWVLQFOXGHRSHUDWLRQVIRUZKLFKWKH6WDWHKDV¿QDQFLDO
DFFRXQWDELOLW\EXWDUHOHJDOO\VHSDUDWHHQWLWLHV)LQDQFLDOLQIRUPDWLRQIRUWKHVHFRPSRQHQWXQLWVLVUHSRUWHGVHSDUDWHO\IURP
WKH¿QDQFLDOLQIRUPDWLRQSUHVHQWHGIRUWKHSULPDU\JRYHUQPHQW7KHFRPSRQHQWXQLWDFWLYLWLHVLQFOXGH+LJKHU(GXFDWLRQ
WKH0DU\ODQG3UHSDLG&ROOHJH7UXVWWKH0DU\ODQG6WDGLXP$XWKRULW\DQGRWKHUQRQPDMRUSURSULHWDU\DFWLYLWLHV$OORIWKHVH
HQWLWLHVRSHUDWHVLPLODUO\WRSULYDWHVHFWRUEXVLQHVVDQGWRWKHEXVLQHVVW\SHDFWLYLWLHVGHVFULEHGDERYH7KHFRPSRQHQWXQLW
+LJKHU(GXFDWLRQFRQVLVWVRIWKH8QLYHUVLW\6\VWHPRI0DU\ODQG0RUJDQ6WDWH8QLYHUVLW\6W0DU\¶V&ROOHJHDQG%DOWLPRUH
&LW\&RPPXQLW\&ROOHJHDQGFHUWDLQDI¿OLDWHGIRXQGDWLRQV7KHQRQPDMRUFRPSRQHQWXQLWVLQFOXGHWKH0DU\ODQG)RRG
&HQWHU$XWKRULW\0DU\ODQG(QYLURQPHQWDO6HUYLFH0DU\ODQG,QGXVWULDO'HYHORSPHQW)LQDQFLQJ$XWKRULW\DQGWKH0DU\ODQG
7HFKQRORJ\'HYHORSPHQW&RUSRUDWLRQ
&RPSOHWH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVRIWKHLQGLYLGXDOFRPSRQHQWXQLWVFDQEHREWDLQHGIURPWKH&RPSWUROOHURI0DU\ODQG//*
7UHDVXU\%XLOGLQJ$QQDSROLV0DU\ODQG
7KLVUHSRUWLQFOXGHVWZRVFKHGXOHV SDJHVDQG WKDWUHFRQFLOHWKHDPRXQWVUHSRUWHGRQWKHJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQG¿QDQFLDO
VWDWHPHQWV PRGL¿HGDFFUXDODFFRXQWLQJ ZLWKJRYHUQPHQWDODFWLYLWLHV DFFUXDODFFRXQWLQJ RQWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGHVWDWHPHQWV
7KHIROORZLQJVXPPDUL]HVWKHLPSDFWRIWUDQVLWLRQLQJIURPPRGL¿HGDFFUXDOWRDFFUXDODFFRXQWLQJ
%

&DSLWDODVVHWVXVHGLQJRYHUQPHQWDODFWLYLWLHVDUHQRWUHSRUWHGRQJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGVWDWHPHQWV

%

&HUWDLQWD[UHYHQXHVWKDWDUHHDUQHGDQGRWKHUDVVHWVWKDWDUHQRWDYDLODEOHWRSD\IRUFXUUHQWSHULRGH[SHQGLWXUHVDUH
GHIHUUHGLQJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGVWDWHPHQWVEXWDUHUHFRJQL]HGRQWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGHVWDWHPHQWV

%

'HIHUUHGERQGLVVXDQFHFRVWVDUHFDSLWDOL]HGDQGDPRUWL]HGRQWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGHVWDWHPHQWVEXWUHSRUWHGDV
H[SHQGLWXUHVLQJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGV
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%

8QOHVVFXUUHQWO\GXHDQGSD\DEOHORQJWHUPOLDELOLWLHVVXFKDVFDSLWDOOHDVHREOLJDWLRQVFRPSHQVDWHGDEVHQFHVOLWLJDWLRQDQG
ERQGVDQGQRWHVSD\DEOHRQO\DSSHDUDVOLDELOLWLHVLQWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGHVWDWHPHQWV

%

&DSLWDORXWOD\VUHVXOWLQFDSLWDODVVHWVRQWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGHVWDWHPHQWVEXWDUHUHSRUWHGDVH[SHQGLWXUHVRQWKHJRYHUQPHQWDO
IXQGVWDWHPHQWV

%

%RQGDQGQRWHSURFHHGVUHVXOWLQOLDELOLWLHVRQWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGHVWDWHPHQWVEXWDUHUHFRUGHGDVRWKHU¿QDQFLQJVRXUFHVRQ
WKHJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGVWDWHPHQWV

%

&HUWDLQRWKHUWUDQVDFWLRQVUHSUHVHQWHLWKHULQFUHDVHVRUGHFUHDVHVLQOLDELOLWLHVRQWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGHVWDWHPHQWVEXWDUH
UHSRUWHGDVH[SHQGLWXUHVRQWKHJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGVWDWHPHQWV

7KHJRYHUQPHQWZLGH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVFDQEHIRXQGRQSDJHVRIWKLVUHSRUW

)XQG)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV
$IXQGLVDJURXSLQJRIUHODWHGDFFRXQWVWKDWLVXVHGWRPDLQWDLQFRQWURORYHUUHVRXUFHVWKDWKDYHEHHQVHJUHJDWHGIRUVSHFL¿F
DFWLYLWLHVRUREMHFWLYHV7KH6WDWHOLNHRWKHUVWDWHDQGORFDOJRYHUQPHQWVXVHVIXQGDFFRXQWLQJWRHQVXUHDQGGHPRQVWUDWHFRPSOLDQFH
ZLWK¿QDQFHUHODWHGOHJDOUHTXLUHPHQWV7KH6WDWH¶VIXQGVFDQEHGLYLGHGLQWRWKUHHFDWHJRULHVJRYHUQPHQWDOHQWHUSULVHDQG
¿GXFLDU\(DFKRIWKHVHFDWHJRULHVXVHVDGLIIHUHQWDFFRXQWLQJDSSURDFK
*RYHUQPHQWDOIXQGV±0RVWRIWKHEDVLFVHUYLFHVSURYLGHGE\WKH6WDWHDUH¿QDQFHGWKURXJKJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGV*RYHUQPHQWDO
IXQGVDUHXVHGWRDFFRXQWIRUHVVHQWLDOO\WKHVDPHIXQFWLRQVUHSRUWHGDVJRYHUQPHQWDODFWLYLWLHVLQWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGH¿QDQFLDO
VWDWHPHQWV+RZHYHUXQOLNHWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVWKHJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQG¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVIRFXVRQQHDU
WHUPLQÀRZVDQGRXWÀRZVRIVSHQGDEOHUHVRXUFHVDQGRQWKHEDODQFHVRIVSHQGDEOHUHVRXUFHVDYDLODEOHDWWKHHQGRIWKH¿VFDO\HDU
6XFKLQIRUPDWLRQPD\EHXVHIXOLQHYDOXDWLQJWKH6WDWH¶VQHDUWHUP¿QDQFLQJUHTXLUHPHQWV7KHVHVWDWHPHQWVSURYLGHDGHWDLOHGVKRUW
WHUPYLHZRIWKH6WDWH¶V¿QDQFHVWKDWDVVLVWVLQGHWHUPLQLQJZKHWKHUWKHUHZLOOEHDGHTXDWH¿QDQFLDOUHVRXUFHVDYDLODEOHWRPHHWWKH
FXUUHQWQHHGVRIWKH6WDWH
%HFDXVHWKHIRFXVRIJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGVLVQDUURZHUWKDQWKDWRIWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVLWLVXVHIXOWRFRPSDUH
WKHLQIRUPDWLRQSUHVHQWHGIRUJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGVZLWKVLPLODULQIRUPDWLRQSUHVHQWHGIRUJRYHUQPHQWDODFWLYLWLHVLQWKHJRYHUQPHQW
ZLGH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV%\GRLQJVRUHDGHUVPD\EHWWHUXQGHUVWDQGWKHORQJWHUPLPSDFWRIWKH6WDWH¶VQHDUWHUP¿QDQFLQJ
GHFLVLRQV%RWKWKHJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGEDODQFHVKHHWDQGWKHJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGVWDWHPHQWRIUHYHQXHVH[SHQGLWXUHVDQGFKDQJHVLQ
IXQGEDODQFHVSURYLGHDUHFRQFLOLDWLRQWRIDFLOLWDWHWKLVFRPSDULVRQEHWZHHQJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGVDQGJRYHUQPHQWDODFWLYLWLHV7KHVH
UHFRQFLOLDWLRQVDUHSUHVHQWHGRQWKHSDJHVLPPHGLDWHO\IROORZLQJWKHJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGV¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
7KH6WDWHPDLQWDLQV¿YHJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGV,QIRUPDWLRQLVSUHVHQWHGVHSDUDWHO\LQWKHJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGEDODQFHVKHHWDQGLQ
WKHJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGVWDWHPHQWRIUHYHQXHVH[SHQGLWXUHVDQGFKDQJHVLQIXQGEDODQFHVIRUWKH*HQHUDO)XQGDQGWKH'HSDUWPHQWRI
7UDQVSRUWDWLRQVSHFLDOUHYHQXHIXQGERWKRIZKLFKDUHFRQVLGHUHGWREHPDMRUIXQGV'DWDIURPWKHUHPDLQLQJWKUHHJRYHUQPHQWDO
IXQGVDUHFRPELQHGLQWRDVLQJOHDJJUHJDWHGSUHVHQWDWLRQ'DWDIRUWKHQRQPDMRUJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGVQDPHO\WKHGHEWVHUYLFHIXQG
IRUJHQHUDOREOLJDWLRQERQGVWKHGHEWVHUYLFHIXQGIRUWUDQVSRUWDWLRQUHYHQXHERQGVDQGWKHFDSLWDOSURMHFWVIXQGLVSURYLGHGLQWKH
IRUPRIFRPELQLQJVWDWHPHQWVHOVHZKHUHLQWKLVUHSRUW7KHVHIXQGVDUHUHSRUWHGXVLQJPRGL¿HGDFFUXDODFFRXQWLQJZKLFKPHDVXUHV
FDVKDQGDOORWKHUDVVHWVZKLFKFDQEHUHDGLO\FRQYHUWHGWRFDVK7KHEDVLFJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGV¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVFDQEHIRXQGRQ
SDJHVDQGRIWKLVUHSRUW
(QWHUSULVHIXQGV±(QWHUSULVHIXQGVDUHXVHGWRVKRZDFWLYLWLHVWKDWRSHUDWHVLPLODUWRDFWLYLWLHVRIFRPPHUFLDOHQWHUSULVHV7KHVH
IXQGVFKDUJHIHHVIRUVHUYLFHVSURYLGHGWRRXWVLGHFXVWRPHUVLQFOXGLQJORFDOJRYHUQPHQWV(QWHUSULVHIXQGVSURYLGHWKHVDPHW\SH
RILQIRUPDWLRQDVWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVRQO\LQPRUHGHWDLO7KHUHLVQRUHFRQFLOLDWLRQQHHGHGEHWZHHQWKH
JRYHUQPHQWZLGH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVIRUEXVLQHVVW\SHDFWLYLWLHVDQGWKHHQWHUSULVHIXQG¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVEHFDXVHWKH\ERWKXWLOL]H
DFFUXDODFFRXQWLQJWKHVDPHPHWKRGXVHGIRUEXVLQHVVHVLQWKHSULYDWHVHFWRU
7KH6WDWHKDVVL[HQWHUSULVHIXQGVIRXURIZKLFKDUHFRQVLGHUHGWREHPDMRUHQWHUSULVHIXQGV7KHVHIXQGVDUH(FRQRPLF
'HYHORSPHQW/RDQ3URJUDPVWKH8QHPSOR\PHQW,QVXUDQFH3URJUDPWKH/RWWHU\$JHQF\DQGWKH7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ$XWKRULW\'DWD
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IRUWKHQRQPDMRUHQWHUSULVHIXQGV(FRQRPLF'HYHORSPHQW,QVXUDQFH3URJUDPVDQG0DU\ODQG&RUUHFWLRQDO(QWHUSULVHVDUH
FRPELQHGLQWRDVLQJOHDJJUHJDWHGSUHVHQWDWLRQ,QGLYLGXDOIXQGGDWDIRUWKHVHQRQPDMRUHQWHUSULVHIXQGVLVSURYLGHGLQWKHIRUP
RIFRPELQLQJVWDWHPHQWVHOVHZKHUHLQWKLVUHSRUW
7KHEDVLFHQWHUSULVHIXQGV¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVFDQEHIRXQGRQSDJHVRIWKLVUHSRUW
)LGXFLDU\IXQGV±)LGXFLDU\IXQGVDUHXVHGWRDFFRXQWIRUUHVRXUFHVKHOGIRUWKHEHQH¿WRISDUWLHVRXWVLGHWKHVWDWHJRYHUQPHQW
)LGXFLDU\IXQGVDUHQRWUHÀHFWHGLQWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVEHFDXVHWKHUHVRXUFHVRIWKHVHIXQGVDUHUHVWULFWHGLQ
SXUSRVHDQGDUHQRWDYDLODEOHWRVXSSRUWWKH6WDWH¶VRZQSURJUDPV)LGXFLDU\IXQGVXVHDFFUXDODFFRXQWLQJ
7KH6WDWH¶V¿GXFLDU\IXQGVLQFOXGHWKH3HQVLRQDQG2WKHU(PSOR\HH%HQH¿WV7UXVW)XQGV 3HQVLRQ7UXVW WKH,QYHVWPHQW7UXVW
)XQGWKH3RVWUHWLUHPHQW+HDOWK%HQH¿WV7UXVW)XQG 23(%7UXVW DQG$JHQF\)XQGV7KH3HQVLRQDQG2WKHU(PSOR\HH%HQH¿WV
7UXVW)XQGVFRQVLVWRIWKH5HWLUHPHQWDQG3HQVLRQ6\VWHPWKH0DU\ODQG7UDQVLW$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ3HQVLRQ3ODQDQGWKH'HIHUUHG
&RPSHQVDWLRQ3ODQ7KH3RVWUHWLUHPHQW+HDOWK%HQH¿WV7UXVW)XQGDFFXPXODWHVIXQGVWRDVVLVWZLWKWKHFRVWVRIWKH6WDWH¶V
SRVWUHWLUHPHQWKHDOWKLQVXUDQFHVXEVLG\7KH,QYHVWPHQW7UXVW)XQGDFFRXQWVIRUWKHWUDQVDFWLRQVDVVHWVOLDELOLWLHVDQGIXQG
HTXLW\RIDQH[WHUQDOLQYHVWPHQWSRRO$JHQF\IXQGVDFFRXQWIRUWKHDVVHWVKHOGIRUGLVWULEXWLRQE\WKH6WDWHDVDQDJHQWIRURWKHU
JRYHUQPHQWDOXQLWVRUJDQL]DWLRQVRULQGLYLGXDOV,QGLYLGXDOIXQGGHWDLOIRUWKH¿GXFLDU\IXQGVFDQEHIRXQGLQWKHFRPELQLQJ
¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV
7KHEDVLF¿GXFLDU\IXQGV¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVFDQEHIRXQGRQSDJHVRIWKLVUHSRUW
&RPELQLQJ)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV&RPSRQHQW8QLWV±7KHJRYHUQPHQWZLGH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVSUHVHQWLQIRUPDWLRQIRUWKH
FRPSRQHQWXQLWVLQDVLQJOHDJJUHJDWHGFROXPQLQWKH6WDWHPHQWRI1HW$VVHWVDQGWKH6WDWHPHQWRI$FWLYLWLHV&RPELQLQJ
6WDWHPHQWRI1HW$VVHWVDQG&RPELQLQJ6WDWHPHQWRI$FWLYLWLHVKDYHEHHQSURYLGHGIRUWKH&RPSRQHQW8QLW3URSULHWDU\)XQGV
DQGSURYLGHGHWDLOIRUHDFKPDMRUSURSULHWDU\FRPSRQHQWXQLWZLWKDFRPELQLQJFROXPQIRUWKHQRQPDMRUFRPSRQHQWXQLWV
,QGLYLGXDO¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWLQIRUPDWLRQIRUWKHQRQPDMRUFRPSRQHQWXQLWVLVSURYLGHGHOVHZKHUHLQWKLVUHSRUW
7KHFRPELQLQJ¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVIRUWKHFRPSRQHQWXQLWVFDQEHIRXQGRQSDJHVRIWKLVUHSRUW

1RWHVWRWKH)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV
7KHQRWHVSURYLGHDGGLWLRQDOLQIRUPDWLRQWKDWLVHVVHQWLDOWRDIXOOXQGHUVWDQGLQJRIWKHGDWDSURYLGHGLQWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGH
DQGWKHIXQG¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV7KHQRWHVWRWKH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVFDQEHIRXQGRQSDJHVRIWKLVUHSRUW

5HTXLUHG6XSSOHPHQWDU\,QIRUPDWLRQ
7KHUHTXLUHGVXSSOHPHQWDU\LQIRUPDWLRQLQFOXGHVEXGJHWDU\FRPSDULVRQVFKHGXOHVIRUWKHEXGJHWDU\JHQHUDOVSHFLDOUHYHQXH
DQGIHGHUDOIXQGVDORQJZLWKDUHFRQFLOLDWLRQRIWKHVWDWXWRU\DQG$FFRXQWLQJ3ULQFLSOHV*HQHUDOO\$FFHSWHGLQWKH8QLWHG6WDWHV
RI$PHULFD *$$3 *HQHUDODQG6SHFLDO5HYHQXH)XQGIXQGEDODQFHVDW¿VFDO\HDUHQG7KLVUHSRUWDOVRSUHVHQWVFHUWDLQ
UHTXLUHGVXSSOHPHQWDU\LQIRUPDWLRQFRQFHUQLQJWKH6WDWH¶VSURJUHVVLQIXQGLQJREOLJDWLRQVWRSURYLGHSHQVLRQEHQH¿WVDQG
RWKHUSRVWHPSOR\PHQWEHQH¿WVDQGLQFOXGHVDIRRWQRWHFRQFHUQLQJEXGJHWLQJDQGEXGJHWDU\FRQWURO5HTXLUHGVXSSOHPHQWDU\
LQIRUPDWLRQLPPHGLDWHO\IROORZVWKHQRWHVWRWKH¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWV

2WKHU6XSSOHPHQWDU\,QIRUPDWLRQ
&RPELQLQJ)LQDQFLDO6WDWHPHQWV
7KHFRPELQLQJ¿QDQFLDOVWDWHPHQWVUHIHUUHGWRHDUOLHULQFRQQHFWLRQZLWKQRQPDMRUJRYHUQPHQWDOHQWHUSULVHDQG¿GXFLDU\
IXQGVDQGQRQPDMRUFRPSRQHQWXQLWVDUHSUHVHQWHGLPPHGLDWHO\IROORZLQJWKHUHTXLUHGVXSSOHPHQWDU\LQIRUPDWLRQ

www.marylandtaxes.com 13
A-13

*RYHUQPHQW:LGH)LQDQFLDO$QDO\VLV
7KH6WDWH¶VFRPELQHGQHWDVVHWV JRYHUQPHQWDQGEXVLQHVVW\SHDFWLYLWLHV WRWDOHGELOOLRQDWWKHHQGRIDQGELOOLRQ
DWWKHHQGRI
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2WKHUOLDELOLWLHV
7RWDOOLDELOLWLHV
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,QYHVWHGLQFDSLWDO
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5HVWULFWHG
8QUHVWULFWHG
7RWDOQHWDVVHWV















 


7KHODUJHVWSRUWLRQRIWKH6WDWH¶VQHWDVVHWVELOOLRQUHÀHFWVLQYHVWPHQWLQFDSLWDODVVHWVVXFKDVODQGEXLOGLQJVHTXLSPHQW
DQGLQIUDVWUXFWXUHOHVVDQ\UHODWHGGHEWWRDFTXLUHWKRVHDVVHWVWKDWLVVWLOORXWVWDQGLQJ7KH6WDWHXVHVWKHVHFDSLWDODVVHWVWRSURYLGH
VHUYLFHVWRFLWL]HQV&RQVHTXHQWLDOO\WKHVHDVVHWVDUHQRWDYDLODEOHIRUIXWXUHVSHQGLQJ$OWKRXJKWKH6WDWH¶VLQYHVWPHQWLQFDSLWDO
DVVHWVLVUHSRUWHGQHWRIUHODWHGGHEWLWVKRXOGEHQRWHGWKDWWKHUHVRXUFHVQHHGHGWRUHSD\WKLVGHEWPXVWEHSURYLGHGIURPRWKHU
VRXUFHVVLQFHWKHFDSLWDODVVHWVWKHPVHOYHVFDQQRWEHXVHGWROLTXLGDWHWKHVHOLDELOLWLHV
,QDGGLWLRQDSRUWLRQRIWKH6WDWH¶VQHWDVVHWVELOOLRQUHSUHVHQWVUHVRXUFHVWKDWDUHVXEMHFWWRH[WHUQDOUHVWULFWLRQVRUHQDEOLQJ
OHJLVODWLRQRQKRZWKH\PD\EHXVHG7KHUHPDLQLQJEDODQFHIRUXQUHVWULFWHGQHWDVVHWVDGH¿FLWRIELOOLRQUHÀHFWVWKH6WDWH¶V
H[SHQVHVRYHUUHYHQXHV
7KHIROORZLQJFRQGHQVHG¿QDQFLDOLQIRUPDWLRQZDVGHULYHGIURPWKHJRYHUQPHQWZLGH6WDWHPHQWRI$FWLYLWLHVDQGUHÀHFWVKRZWKH
6WDWH¶VQHWDVVHWVFKDQJHGGXULQJWKH¿VFDO\HDU
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&KDQJHVLQ1HW$VVHWV
)RUWKH<HDU(QGHG-XQH
([SUHVVHGLQ0LOOLRQV
















*RYHUQPHQWDO
$FWLYLWLHV










5HYHQXHV
3URJUDPUHYHQXHV
&KDUJHVIRUVHUYLFHV
2SHUDWLQJJUDQWVDQGFRQWULEXWLRQV
&DSLWDOJUDQWVDQGFRQWULEXWLRQV
*HQHUDOUHYHQXHV
,QFRPHWD[HV
6DOHVDQGXVHWD[HV
0RWRUYHKLFOHWD[HV
7REDFFRWD[HV
,QVXUDQFHFRPSDQ\WD[HV
3URSHUW\WD[HV
(VWDWH LQKHULWDQFHWD[HV
2WKHUWD[HV
8QUHVWULFWHGLQYHVWPHQWHDUQLQJV
7RWDOUHYHQXHV
([SHQVHV
*HQHUDOJRYHUQPHQW
+HDOWKDQGPHQWDOK\JLHQH
(GXFDWLRQ
$LGIRUKLJKHUHGXFDWLRQ
+XPDQUHVRXUFHV
3XEOLFVDIHW\
7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ
-XGLFLDO
/DERUOLFHQVLQJDQGUHJXODWLRQ
1DWXUDOUHVRXUFHVDQGUHFUHDWLRQ
+RXVLQJDQGFRPPXQLW\GHYHORSPHQW
(QYLURQPHQW
$JULFXOWXUH
%XVLQHVVDQGHFRQRPLFGHYHORSPHQW
,QWHUJRYHUQPHQWDOJUDQWV
,QWHUHVW
(FRQRPLFGHYHORSPHQWLQVXUDQFHSURJUDPV
(FRQRPLFGHYHORSPHQWORDQSURJUDPV
8QHPSOR\PHQWLQVXUDQFHSURJUDP
6WDWH/RWWHU\
7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ$XWKRULW\
0DU\ODQG&RUUHFWLRQDO(QWHUSULVHV
7RWDOH[SHQVHV











%XVLQHVVW\SH
$FWLYLWLHV






7RWDO


























































































































































































,QFUHDVH GHFUHDVH LQQHWDVVHWV
EHIRUHWUDQVIHUVDQGVSHFLDOLWHPV
7UDQVIHUVDQGVSHFLDOLWHPV
&KDQJHLQQHWDVVHWV
1HWDVVHWVEHJLQQLQJ DVUHVWDWHG
1HWDVVHWVHQGLQJ
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*RYHUQPHQWDO$FWLYLWLHV
&RPSDULQJFXUUHQW\HDUDFWLYLWLHVWRWKHSULRU\HDUGLVFORVHVWKDWUHYHQXHVLQFUHDVHGE\ELOOLRQRUZKLOHH[SHQVHV
LQFUHDVHGE\ELOOLRQRU7KHUHYHQXHLQFUHDVHZDVSULPDULO\GXHWRDQLQFUHDVHRIELOOLRQRULQRSHUDWLQJ
JUDQWVDQGDQLQFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQRULQFKDUJHVIRUVHUYLFHV7KHLQFUHDVHLQRSHUDWLQJJUDQWVZDVSULPDULO\GXHWR
LQFUHDVHVLQIHGHUDOUHYHQXHVIRU0HGLFDLGH[SHQVHVGXHWRWKHHFRQRP\±GULYHQJURZWKLQHQUROOPHQWHGXFDWLRQDQGWHPSRUDU\
DVVLVWDQFHSURJUDPVLQKXPDQUHVRXUFHV$VLJQL¿FDQWSRUWLRQRIWKLVLQFUHDVHLQFOXGHVJURZWKLQ$PHULFDQ5HFRYHU\DQG
5HLQYHVWPHQW$FWIXQGV
7KHVHLQFUHDVHVZHUHRIIVHWE\DGHFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQRULQLQFRPHWD[HVDQGDGHFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQRULQ
VDOHVDQGXVHWD[HV7KHGHFUHDVHLQWD[HVZDVSULPDULO\GXHWRWKHFRQWLQXHGGHFOLQLQJHFRQRP\QDWLRQZLGH7KHLQFUHDVHLQ
H[SHQVHVZDVSULPDULO\GXHWRLQFUHDVHVRIPLOOLRQRULQKHDOWKFDUHSURJUDPVPLOOLRQRUIRUWUDQVSRUWDWLRQ
DQGPLOOLRQRUIRUKXPDQUHVRXUFHV
%XVLQHVVW\SH$FWLYLWLHV
%XVLQHVVW\SHDFWLYLWLHVLQFUHDVHGWKH6WDWH¶VQHWDVVHWVE\PLOOLRQEHIRUHWUDQVIHUVRIPLOOLRQWRJRYHUQPHQWDO
DFWLYLWLHVIRUDQHWLQFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQLQQHWDVVHWV7KHLQFUHDVHFRPSDUHVWRDQLQFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQEHIRUHWUDQVIHUVRI
PLOOLRQLQWKHSULRU\HDU.H\HOHPHQWVRIWKLVLQFUHDVHDUHDVIROORZV
%

%

7KHFKDQJHLQQHWDVVHWVIRUWKH0DU\ODQG7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ$XWKRULW\ZDVDQLQFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQFRPSDUHGWRDQ
LQFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQLQWKHSULRU\HDU1HWRSHUDWLQJLQFRPHZDVPLOOLRQFRPSDUHGWRPLOOLRQLQWKH
SULRU\HDU2SHUDWLQJUHYHQXHVLQFUHDVHGE\PLOOLRQ  LQFOXGLQJDQLQFUHDVHLQLQWHUJRYHUQPHQWDOUHYHQXH
RIPLOOLRQRIZKLFKPLOOLRQZDVUHFHLYHGIURPWKH6WDWHRI0DU\ODQGIRUUHLPEXUVHPHQWRIFRQVWUXFWLRQFRVWV
IRUWKH,QWHU&RXQW\&RQQHFWRU2SHUDWLQJH[SHQVHVLQFUHDVHGE\PLOOLRQ  GXHSULPDULO\WRLQFUHDVHVLQ
GHSUHFLDWLRQDQGLQVXUDQFH1RQRSHUDWLQJUHYHQXHVDQGH[SHQVHVLQFUHDVHGE\PLOOLRQSULPDULO\IRUWKHJDLQRQ
WKHVDOHRIODQGDWWKH6HDJLUW0DULQH7HUPLQDO PLOOLRQ RIIVHWE\DUHGXFWLRQLQLQYHVWPHQWUHYHQXH PLOOLRQ 
7KHFKDQJHLQQHWDVVHWVIRUWKH8QHPSOR\PHQW,QVXUDQFH3URJUDPZDVDGHFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQFRPSDUHGWRD
GHFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQLQWKHSULRU\HDU2SHUDWLQJDFWLYLWLHVSURGXFHGDGH¿FLWRIELOOLRQFRPSDUHGWRWKHSULRU
\HDU¶VRSHUDWLQJGH¿FLWRIPLOOLRQ:KLOHWKH3URJUDP¶VFKDUJHVIRUVHUYLFHVLQFUHDVHGE\PLOOLRQ  
EHQH¿WSD\PHQWVLQFUHDVHGE\PLOOLRQ  GXHWRWKHFRQWLQXHGLQFUHDVHLQWKHQXPEHURI0DU\ODQGHUV
FROOHFWLQJXQHPSOR\PHQWEHQH¿WV)HGHUDOSD\PHQWVIRUH[WHQGHGEHQH¿WVDQGRWKHUSURJUDPVLQFUHDVHGE\
PLOOLRQ  
([SHQVHVDQG3URJUDP5HYHQXHV%XVLQHVVW\SH$FWLYLWLHV
([SUHVVHGLQ0LOOLRQV


3URJUDPH[SHQVHV
3URJUDPUHYHQXHV













(FRQRPLF
GHYHORSHPHQW
SURJUDPV

8QHPSOR\PHQW
,QVXUDQFH
3URJUDP

0DU\ODQG6WDWH
/RWWHU\
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0DU\ODQG
7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ
$XWKRULW\

0DU\ODQG
&RUUHFWLRQDO
(QWHUSULVHV
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%
%

(FRQRPLF'HYHORSPHQW/RDQ3URJUDPVKDGDGHFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQLQQHWDVVHWVFRPSDUHGWRDQLQFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQ
LQWKHSULRU\HDU7KHGLIIHUHQFHEHWZHHQ\HDUVLVSULPDULO\GXHWRDQLQFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQLQQHWWUDQVIHUVWRWKHJHQHUDO
IXQG
/RWWHU\WLFNHWVDOHVZHUHELOOLRQDQLQFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQ  RYHUODVW\HDU2SHUDWLQJH[SHQVHVGHFUHDVHGE\
PLOOLRQ  DQGWUDQVIHUVWRJRYHUQPHQWDODFWLYLWLHVLQFUHDVHGWRPLOOLRQLQIURPPLOOLRQLQDQ
LQFUHDVHRI9LGHR/RWWHU\7HUPLQDO 9/7 DSSOLFDQWIHHVLQFUHDVHGE\PLOOLRQLQFRPSDUHGWR7KLV
LQFUHDVHLVWKHUHVXOWRIWKHH[SDQVLRQRIWKH9/73URJUDP'XULQJWKH9LGHR/RWWHU\&RPPLVVLRQDSSURYHGWKHDZDUG
RIWZR9/7RSHUDWRUOLFHQVHV

)LQDQFLDO$QDO\VLVRIWKH6WDWH¶V)XQGV
$VRIWKHHQGRIWKHFXUUHQW¿VFDO\HDUWKH6WDWH¶VJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGVUHSRUWHGDFRPELQHGIXQGEDODQFHRIELOOLRQDGHFUHDVH
RIPLOOLRQIURPWKHSULRU\HDU7KHFRPELQHGIXQGEDODQFHLQFOXGHVDGH¿FLWRIPLOOLRQLQXQDVVLJQHGLQFOXGLQJDGH¿FLWRI
PLOOLRQIRUWKHJHQHUDOIXQGDQGDGH¿FLWRIPLOOLRQIRUWKHRWKHUJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGV7KHUHPDLQGHURIWKHIXQGEDODQFH
LVQRQVSHQGDEOHUHVWULFWHGRUFRPPLWWHGEDVHGRQWKHFRQVWUDLQWVRQWKHVSHFL¿FSXUSRVHVIRUZKLFKDPRXQWVLQWKDWIXQGFDQEH
VSHQW7KHUHPDLQGHURIIXQGEDODQFHLV XQVSHQGDEOHEHFDXVHLWLVLQWKHIRUPRISUHSDLGLWHPVLQYHQWRULHVDQGORQJWHUPORDQVDQG
QRWHVUHFHLYDEOH PLOOLRQ  UHVWULFWHGE\RXWVLGHSDUWLHVRUWRSD\GHEWVHUYLFHRQJHQHUDOREOLJDWLRQERQGVIURPVSHFL¿FWD[HV
PLOOLRQ RU FRPPLWWHGWROHJLVODWHGSXUSRVHVRUWROLTXLGDWHFRQWUDFWVDQGSXUFKDVHRUGHUVRIWKHSULRUSHULRG ELOOLRQ 
,QFOXGHGLQFRPPLWWHGIXQGEDODQFHLVPLOOLRQLQWKH³6WDWH5HVHUYH)XQG´ZKLFKLVVHWDVLGHWRPHHWIXWXUH¿QDQFLDOQHHGV%\
ODZWKHJRYHUQRUPXVWDSSURSULDWHWRWKH6WDWH5HVHUYH)XQGWKHJHQHUDOIXQGVXUSOXVRIWKHVHFRQGSUHFHGLQJ¿VFDO\HDUWKDWH[FHHGV
7KHXQDVVLJQHGJHQHUDOIXQGGH¿FLWSOXVWKHDPRXQWLQWKH6WDWH5HVHUYH)XQGLVDSSUR[LPDWHO\RIWKHWRWDODQQXDO
H[SHQGLWXUHVLQJRYHUQPHQWDOIXQGVFRPSDUHGZLWKIRUWKHSULRU\HDU
*HQHUDO)XQG
7KHJHQHUDOIXQGLVWKHPDMRURSHUDWLQJIXQGRIWKH6WDWH$WWKHHQGRIWKHFXUUHQW¿VFDO\HDUWKHXQDVVLJQHGIXQGEDODQFHGH¿FLWRI
WKHJHQHUDOIXQGZDVPLOOLRQZKLOHWRWDOIXQGEDODQFHZDVELOOLRQ7KHIXQGEDODQFHRIWKH6WDWH¶VJHQHUDOIXQGGHFUHDVHG
E\PLOOLRQGXULQJFRPSDUHGWRDGHFUHDVHRIELOOLRQIRU$OWKRXJKLQFUHDVHVLQUHYHQXHVELOOLRQ  
ZHUHJUHDWHUWKDQLQFUHDVHVLQH[SHQGLWXUHVELOOLRQ  WKHUHZDVDGH¿FLHQF\RIUHYHQXHVFRPSDUHGWRH[SHQGLWXUHVRI
ELOOLRQLQWKHFXUUHQW\HDU
5HYHQXHVLQFUHDVHGE\ELOOLRQRYHUWKHSULRU\HDUSULPDULO\GXHWRLQFUHDVHVLQIHGHUDOUHYHQXHVELOOLRQ  DQG
FKDUJHVIRUVHUYLFHVPLOOLRQ  DQGGHVSLWHUHYHQXHGHFUHDVHVIRULQFRPHWD[HVPLOOLRQ  DQGVDOHVDQGXVH
WD[HVPLOOLRQ  
*HQHUDOIXQGH[SHQGLWXUHVLQFUHDVHGE\ELOOLRQ([SHQGLWXUHVIRUHGXFDWLRQKHDOWKDQGPHQWDOK\JLHQHDQGKXPDQUHVRXUFHV
LQFUHDVHGE\PLOOLRQ  PLOOLRQ  DQGPLOOLRQ  UHVSHFWLYHO\7KHVHLQFUHDVHVZHUHWKHUHVXOWRI
FRQWLQXHGLQFUHDVHGIXQGLQJIRUHGXFDWLRQDQGFRQWLQXHGLQFUHDVHVLQ0HGLFDLGFRVWVDQGIXQGLQJIRUIRRGVWDPSVDQGWHPSRUDU\
DVVLVWDQFHGXHWRWKHZRUVHQLQJHFRQRP\
7UDQVIHUVRXWIURPWKHJHQHUDOIXQGZHUHPLOOLRQWKLV\HDUFRPSDUHGWRPLOOLRQIRUWKHSULRU\HDU7KLVLQFUHDVHZDVGXH
SULPDULO\WRDQLQFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQWRWKH(FRQRPLF'HYHORSPHQW/RDQ3URJUDPV
6SHFLDO5HYHQXH)XQG
7KH0DU\ODQG'HSDUWPHQWRI7UDQVSRUWDWLRQVSHFLDOUHYHQXHIXQGDFFRXQWVIRUUHVRXUFHVXVHGIRURSHUDWLRQRIWKH6WDWH¶V
WUDQVSRUWDWLRQDFWLYLWLHVQRWLQFOXGLQJGHEWVHUYLFHDQGSHQVLRQDFWLYLWLHV7KHIXQGEDODQFHRIWKH'HSDUWPHQW¶VVSHFLDOUHYHQXH
IXQGZDVPLOOLRQDVRI-XQHDQLQFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQ  IURPWKHSULRU¿VFDO\HDU5HYHQXHVLQFUHDVHGE\
PLOOLRQ  H[SHQGLWXUHVGHFUHDVHGE\PLOOLRQ  DQGRWKHUVRXUFHVRI¿QDQFLDOUHVRXUFHVGHFUHDVHGE\PLOOLRQ
7KHLQFUHDVHLQUHYHQXHVZDVSULPDULO\IURPDQLQFUHDVHLQIHGHUDOUHYHQXHDQGWKHGHFUHDVHLQH[SHQGLWXUHVZDVSULPDULO\LQ
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LQWHUJRYHUQPHQWDOJUDQWVDQGUHYHQXHVKDULQJDQGFDSLWDORXWOD\V7KHGHFUHDVHLQRWKHUVRXUFHVRI¿QDQFLDOUHVRXUFHVZDVGXHWR
UHGXFWLRQVLQERQGVLVVXHGDQGDQLQFUHDVHLQWUDQVIHUVWRWKHJHQHUDOIXQG

%XGJHWDU\+LJKOLJKWV
'LIIHUHQFHVEHWZHHQWKHRULJLQDOEXGJHWDQG¿QDODPHQGHGEXGJHWDQGWKH¿QDOEXGJHWDQGDFWXDOH[SHQGLWXUHVIRUWKHJHQHUDO
IXQGIRUWKH\HDUDUHVXPPDUL]HGDVIROORZV7KHEXGJHWDU\VFKHGXOHPD\EHIRXQGLQWKH5HTXLUHG6XSSOHPHQWDU\,QIRUPDWLRQ
6HFWLRQ
2YHUDOOWKHFKDQJHEHWZHHQWKHRULJLQDODQG¿QDOJHQHUDOIXQGEXGJHWZDVDGHFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQRU7KH
'HSDUWPHQWRI+HDOWKDQG0HQWDO+\JLHQHDSSURSULDWLRQVGHFUHDVHGE\PLOOLRQSULPDULO\GXHWRFRVWFRQWDLQPHQWDFWLRQV
SDUWLDOO\RIIVHWE\GH¿FLHQF\DSSURSULDWLRQVUHODWHGWR0HGLFDLGHQUROOPHQWJURZWK,QDGGLWLRQWKHUHZHUHFRVWFRQWDLQPHQW
UHGXFWLRQVGXHWRUHGXFHGUHYHQXHHVWLPDWHVWKURXJKRXWDOOIXQFWLRQVRIWKHJHQHUDOIXQGEXGJHW
7KHGLIIHUHQFHEHWZHHQWKH¿QDOEXGJHWELOOLRQDQGDFWXDOH[SHQGLWXUHVELOOLRQZDVPLOOLRQRU7KLV
DPRXQWZDVHQFXPEHUHGIRUIXWXUHVSHQGLQJ7KHYDULDQFHZDVSULPDULO\GXHWRWKHFDQFHOODWLRQRIFXUUHQWDQGSULRU\HDU
HQFXPEUDQFHV$SSURSULDWLRQVZHUHFDQFHOOHGSULPDULO\IRUOHJLVODWLYHMXGLFLDOKHDOWKHGXFDWLRQDQGEXVLQHVVDQGHFRQRPLF
GHYHORSPHQWIXQFWLRQV

&DSLWDO$VVHWDQG'HEW$GPLQLVWUDWLRQ
&DSLWDODVVHWV
$W-XQHWKH6WDWHKDGLQYHVWHGELOOLRQ QHWRIDFFXPXODWHGGHSUHFLDWLRQ LQDEURDGUDQJHRIFDSLWDODVVHWV VHH
WDEOHEHORZ 'HSUHFLDWLRQH[SHQVHIRUWKH¿VFDO\HDUWRWDOHGELOOLRQ ELOOLRQIRUJRYHUQPHQWDODFWLYLWLHVDQGPLOOLRQ
IRUEXVLQHVVW\SHDFWLYLWLHV 7KHLQFUHDVHLQWKH6WDWH¶VLQYHVWPHQWLQFDSLWDODVVHWVQHWRIGHSUHFLDWLRQH[SHQVHIRUWKHFXUUHQW
¿VFDO\HDUZDVPLOOLRQ DGHFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQIRUJRYHUQPHQWDODFWLYLWLHVDQGDQLQFUHDVHRIPLOOLRQIRUEXVLQHVV
W\SHDFWLYLWLHV 

&DSLWDO$VVHWVDVRI-XQH
1HWRI'HSUHFLDWLRQ([SUHVVHGLQ0LOOLRQV

/DQGDQGLPSURYHPHQWV
$UWDQGKLVWRULFDOWUHDVXUHV
6WUXFWXUHVDQGLPSURYHPHQWV
(TXLSPHQW
,QIUDVWUXFWXUH
&RQVWUXFWLRQLQSURJUHVV
7RWDO
 

*RYHUQPHQWDO
$FWLYLWLHV


 












 

%XVLQHVVW\SH
$FWLYLWLHV


 












 

7RWDO




















0DMRUFDSLWDODVVHWHYHQWVGXULQJWKHFXUUHQW¿VFDO\HDUIRUJRYHUQPHQWDODFWLYLWLHVLQFOXGHFRQWLQXHGZLGHQLQJDQGRUH[SDQVLRQ
RI H[LVWLQJ KLJKZD\V DQG EULGJHV YDULRXV WUDQVLW SRUW DQG PRWRU YHKLFOH DGPLQLVWUDWLRQ FRQVWUXFWLRQ SURMHFWV DQG VRIWZDUH
GHYHORSPHQWIRUPRGHUQL]HGLQWHJUDWHGWD[V\VWHP(OHPHQWVRIWKHLQFUHDVHVLQFDSLWDODVVHWVRIEXVLQHVVW\SHDFWLYLWLHVLQFOXGHWKH
,QWHU&RXQW\&RQQHFWRUDQGHOHFWURQLFWROOODQHSURMHFWVZKLFKUHVXOWHGLQLQFUHDVHVLQODQGDQGLPSURYHPHQWVDQGFRQVWUXFWLRQLQ
SURJUHVVDQGWKHUHVWRUDWLRQRIH[LVWLQJIDFLOLWLHV
$GGLWLRQDOLQIRUPDWLRQRQWKH6WDWH¶VFDSLWDODVVHWVFDQEHIRXQGLQIRRWQRWHRIWKLVUHSRUW
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/RQJWHUPGHEW
7KH6WDWHLVHPSRZHUHGE\ODZWRDXWKRUL]HLVVXHDQGVHOOJHQHUDOREOLJDWLRQERQGVZKLFKDUHEDFNHGE\WKHIXOOIDLWKDQGFUHGLW
RIWKH6WDWH7KH6WDWHDOVRLVVXHVGHGLFDWHGUHYHQXHERQGVIRUWKH'HSDUWPHQWRI7UDQVSRUWDWLRQDQGYDULRXVEXVLQHVVW\SHDFWLYLWLHV
7KHSD\PHQWRISULQFLSDODQGLQWHUHVWRQUHYHQXHERQGVFRPHVVROHO\IURPUHYHQXHVUHFHLYHGIURPWKHUHVSHFWLYHDFWLYLWLHV7KLV
GHGLFDWHGUHYHQXHGHEWLVQRWEDFNHGE\WKH6WDWH¶VIXOOIDLWKDQGFUHGLW
$W-XQHWKH6WDWHKDGRXWVWDQGLQJERQGVWRWDOLQJELOOLRQ2IWKLVDPRXQWELOOLRQZHUHJHQHUDOREOLJDWLRQERQGV
EDFNHGE\WKHIXOOIDLWKDQGFUHGLWRIWKH6WDWH7KHUHPDLQLQJELOOLRQZHUHVHFXUHGVROHO\E\WKHVSHFL¿HGUHYHQXHVRXUFHV

Outstanding Bond Debt as of June 30,
(Expressed in Millions)
Governmental
Activities
2010
2009
General Obligation Bonds (backed by the State)
Transportation Bonds (backed by specific revenues)
Revenue Bonds (backed by specific revenues)
Total

$ 6,523
1,645

$ 5,874
1,583

$ 8,168

$ 7,457

Business-type
Activities
2010
2009

$ 6,162
$ 6,162

$ 5,423
$ 5,423

2010
$ 6,523
1,645
6,162
$ 14,330

Total

2009

$ 5,874
1,583
5,423
$ 12,880

7KHWRWDOLQFUHDVHLQERQGHGGHEWLQWKHFXUUHQW¿VFDO\HDUZDVELOOLRQ PLOOLRQLQFUHDVHUHODWHGWRJHQHUDOREOLJDWLRQERQGV
DQGDQGPLOOLRQLQFUHDVHUHODWHGWRWUDQVSRUWDWLRQDQGUHYHQXHERQGVUHVSHFWLYHO\ 7KH6WDWH¶VJHQHUDOREOLJDWLRQERQGV
DUHUDWHG$DDE\0RRG\¶VDQG$$$E\6WDQGDUGDQG3RRUVDQG)LWFK'XULQJ¿VFDO\HDUWKH6WDWHLVVXHGJHQHUDOREOLJDWLRQ
GHEWWRWDOLQJELOOLRQDWDSUHPLXPRIPLOOLRQ2IWKLVDPRXQWPLOOLRQDQGUHODWHGSUHPLXPRIPLOOLRQZDVIRU
UHIXQGLQJERQGV2Q$XJXVW ¿VFDO\HDU WKH6WDWHLVVXHGJHQHUDOREOLJDWLRQERQGVDJJUHJDWLQJPLOOLRQIRU
FDSLWDOLPSURYHPHQWV
6WDWHODZOLPLWVWKHDPRXQWRI&RQVROLGDWHG7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ%RQGVGHGLFDWHGUHYHQXHGHEWWKDWPD\EHRXWVWDQGLQJDVRI-XQH
WRWKHDPRXQWDXWKRUL]HGLQWKHEXGJHWDQGWKLVDPRXQWPD\QRWH[FHHGELOOLRQ7KHDJJUHJDWHSULQFLSDODPRXQWRIWKHVHERQGV
WKDWZDVDXWKRUL]HGWREHRXWVWDQGLQJDVRI-XQHZDVELOOLRQ7KHDFWXDODPRXQWLQ&RQVROLGDWHG7UDQVSRUWDWLRQ%RQGV
RXWVWDQGLQJZDVELOOLRQ
$GGLWLRQDOLQIRUPDWLRQRQWKH6WDWH¶VORQJWHUPGHEWFDQEHIRXQGLQIRRWQRWHRIWKLVUHSRUW

(FRQRPLF)DFWRUVDQG1H[W<HDU¶V%XGJHW
7KHUHFHQWQDWLRQDOUHFHVVLRQKDVVORZHG0DU\ODQG¶VHFRQRP\DQGLWVHIIHFWVZLOOOLNHO\FRQWLQXHWREHIHOWIRUDQH[WHQGHGSHULRG
RIWLPH(FRQRPLFLQGLFDWRUVLQHPSOR\PHQWSHUVRQDOLQFRPHDQGKRXVLQJFRQWLQXHGWRVKRZGHWHULRUDWLRQIURPWKHVWDUWRIWKH
UHFHVVLRQDQGLQVRPHDUHDVKLVWRULFGHFOLQHVIURPUHFHQWGHFDGHV,QWKLVHQYLURQPHQWWKHEXGJHWZLOOEHEDODQFHGLQ¿VFDO\HDU
E\UHGXFLQJJHQHUDOIXQGVSHQGLQJE\PLOOLRQDQGWRWDOVSHQGLQJE\PLOOLRQIURP¿VFDO\HDU
1HYHUWKHOHVV0DU\ODQG¶VHFRQRP\LVVKRZLQJVLJQVRIWKHHPHUJLQJQDWLRQDOUHFRYHU\7KH%DVH5HDOLJQPHQWDQG&ORVXUHSURFHVV
KDVEHJXQWRFUHDWHGHIHQVHUHODWHGMREVDQGVKRXOGDFFHOHUDWHQHZMREVWKURXJK6HSWHPEHU7KLVDQGRWKHUIDFWRUVVXFKDVD
KLJKO\VNLOOHGZRUNIRUFHHPSOR\PHQWLQJURZWKVHFWRUVVXFKDVKHDOWKVHUYLFHVDQGDVWURQJ)HGHUDOJRYHUQPHQWSUHVHQFHVKRXOG
DFFHOHUDWHWKHHPHUJHQFHRI0DU\ODQG¶VHFRQRP\
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5HTXHVWVIRU,QIRUPDWLRQ
7KLV¿QDQFLDOUHSRUWLVGHVLJQHGWRSURYLGHDJHQHUDORYHUYLHZRIWKH6WDWH¶V¿QDQFHVIRUDOOWKRVHZLWKDQLQWHUHVWLQWKH6WDWH¶V
¿QDQFHV4XHVWLRQVFRQFHUQLQJDQ\RIWKHLQIRUPDWLRQSURYLGHGLQWKLVUHSRUWRUUHTXHVWVIRUDGGLWLRQDO¿QDQFLDOLQIRUPDWLRQ
VKRXOGEHDGGUHVVHGWRWKH*HQHUDO$FFRXQWLQJ'LYLVLRQ2I¿FHRIWKH&RPSWUROOHU32%R[$QQDSROLV0DU\ODQG
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STATE OF MARYLAND

Statement of Net Assets
June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)
Primary Government
Governmental
Business-type
Activities
Activities
Assets
Cash and cash equivalents .................................................... $ 206,810
Equity in pooled invested cash ............................................
1,800,805
Investments ............................................................................
280,577
Endowment investments ......................................................
Foundation investments .......................................................
Inventories ..............................................................................
105,076
Prepaid items..........................................................................
498,891
Deferred charges ....................................................................
21,439
Taxes receivable, net ..............................................................
1,011,927
Intergovernmental receivables .............................................
1,049,728
Tuition contracts receivable .................................................
Due from primary government ...........................................
Due from component units ..................................................
702
Other accounts receivable ....................................................
525,939
Loans and notes receivable, net ...........................................
16,367
Investment in direct financing leases ..................................
Other assets ............................................................................
5,725
Collateral for lent securities .................................................
247,824
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ..................................................
41,384
Equity in pooled invested cash ..........................................
105,315
Investments ..........................................................................
2,930
Deferred charges ..................................................................
Deferred outflows on interest rate swaps .........................
Taxes receivable, net ............................................................
26,329
Loans and notes receivable, net .........................................
3,256
Other .....................................................................................
91
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation:
Land ......................................................................................
3,081,026
Art and historical treasures ...............................................
9,370
Structures and other improvements ................................
3,699,877
Equipment ...........................................................................
802,515
Infrastructure .......................................................................
9,310,446
Construction in progress ...................................................
2,348,911
Total capital assets ......................................................... 19,252,145
Total assets ................................................................... 25,203,260
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$

93,366
595,211
415,613
14,412

52,370
606,291
398,906
26,523
1,425,358
1,175,638
17,000
32,630
3,013,361
333,928
404,872
23,590
29,728
1,258,956
2,176,988
3,894,134
12,094,741

Total
$

300,176
2,396,016
696,190
119,488
498,891
21,439
1,011,927
1,049,728
702
578,309
622,658
398,906
32,248
247,824
1,466,742
105,315
1,178,568
17,000
32,630
26,329
3,016,617
334,019

3,485,898
9,370
3,723,467
832,243
10,569,402
4,525,899
23,146,279
37,298,001

Component
Units
$ 121,880
1,294,466
536,198
183,250
819,387
12,343
6,448
4,460
229,735
3,764
433,906
74,964
232,762
21,542
65,359
130,955

165,718
375
3,570,677
389,875
188,142
477,055
4,791,842
8,963,261

Primary Government
Governmental
Business-type
Activities
Activities
Liabilities
Salaries payable .....................................................................
Vouchers payable ...................................................................
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ............................
Internal balances....................................................................
Due to component units .......................................................
Due to primary government ................................................
Accounts payable to political subdivisions .......................
Unearned revenue .................................................................
Interest rate swaps .................................................................
Accrued insurance on loan losses .......................................
Other liabilities ......................................................................
Collateral obligations for lent securities .............................
Bonds and notes payable:
Due within one year ..........................................................
Due in more than one year...............................................
Other noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year ..........................................................
Due in more than one year...............................................
Total liabilities ..............................................................
Net Assets
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt .....................
Restricted for:
Debt service ........................................................................
Capital improvements and deposits ................................
Higher education-nonexpendable ..................................
Higher education-expendable ........................................
Unemployment compensation benefits ..........................
Loan programs ...................................................................
Insurance programs ..........................................................
Other ...................................................................................
Unrestricted (deficit).............................................................
Total net assets ............................................................

172,384
348,025
2,253,746
(38,151)
3,764
274,068
497,797

Total
172,384
348,025
2,628,079

374,333
38,151

3,764
274,068
517,591
32,630
14,453

19,794
32,630
14,453

247,824

247,824

Component
Units
104,083
213,523
702
264,095
3,831
4,997

598,264
8,045,134

358,646
5,802,987

956,910
13,848,121

112,904
1,357,842

365,225
5,149,638
17,917,718

36,757
127,081
6,804,832

401,982
5,276,719
24,722,550

181,348
833,447
3,076,772

13,796,006

1,554,706

15,350,712

3,607,970

151,317
2,657

164,802
494,800

316,119
497,457

9,440
29,868
589,952
444,948

398
(6,664,836)
$7,285,542

498,605
1,019,986
103,379
1,453,631
$5,289,909

498,605
1,019,986
103,379
398
(5,211,205)
$12,575,451

75,308
1,129,003
$5,886,489

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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STATE OF MARYLAND

Functions/Programs
Expenses
Primary government Governmental activities:
General government ............................................................ $ 837,542
Health and mental hygiene .................................................
9,174,006
Education ...............................................................................
7,294,358
Aid for higher education .....................................................
1,908,027
Human resources ..................................................................
2,401,029
Public safety .........................................................................
2,119,696
Transportation ......................................................................
3,460,865
Judicial ...................................................................................
654,605
Labor, licensing and regulation ..........................................
253,977
Natural resources and recreation .......................................
187,525
Housing and community development .............................
319,721
Environment .........................................................................
121,957
Agriculture ............................................................................
57,275
Business and economic development ................................
78,701
Intergovernmental grants and revenue sharing ................
635,467
Interest ...................................................................................
405,163
Total governmental activities ........................................... 29,909,914
Business-type activities:
Economic development - insurance programs .................
4,247
Economic development - general loan programs .............
13,501
Economic development - water quality loan programs ...
99,911
Economic development - housing loan programs ............
201,077
Unemployment insurance program ...................................
2,004,334
Maryland State Lottery .......................................................
1,205,310
Maryland Transportation Authority ..................................
327,360
Maryland Correctional Enterprises ....................................
49,965
Total business-type activities ..........................................
3,905,705
Total primary government ........................................... $33,815,619
1,015,645
$9,675,453

982,803

32,842

857
8,659,808

405
2,819,995
4,591
3,561
80,900
220,874
953,711
1,711,285
588,427
49,278
3,612,627
$6,432,622

$ 76,580
4,814,136
1,362,882
48,173
1,559,696
177,565
90,762
6,422
163,469
33,369
294,567
23,936
4,352
3,042

$ 490,230
948,124
77,003
139,909
92,254
81,459
527,330
246,027
30,154
48,359
17,851
59,156
47,938
13,796

$727,903

727,903

6,127

909

2,347
714,144

$ 4,376

(17,702,208)

$ (266,356)
(3,411,746)
(5,854,473)
(1,719,945)
(749,079)
(1,858,325)
(2,128,629)
(402,156)
(60,354)
(104,888)
(7,303)
(38,865)
1,142
(61,863)
(635,467)
(403,901)
(17,702,208)
344
(9,940)
13,831
19,797
(67,820)
505,975
261,067
(687)
722,567
722,567

$

Component
Units

344
(9,940)
13,831
19,797
(67,820)
505,975
261,067
(687)
722,567
(16,979,641)

$ (266,356)
(3,411,746)
(5,854,473)
(1,719,945)
(749,079)
(1,858,325)
(2,128,629)
(402,156)
(60,354)
(104,888)
(7,303)
(38,865)
1,142
(61,863)
(635,467)
(403,901)
(17,702,208)

Net (Expense) Revenues and
Program Revenues
Changes in Net Assets
Operating
Capital
Primary Government
Charges for
Grants and
Grants and Governmental Business-Type
Services
Contributions Contributions Activities
Activities
Total

(Expressed in Thousands)

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

Statement of Activities
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$1,978,808
57,485
34,311
135,034
$2,205,638

$203,846

$203,846

$1,351,702
21,273
21,451
$1,394,426

General revenues:
Income taxes ....................................................................
Sales and use taxes ..........................................................
Motor vehicle taxes ........................................................
Tobacco taxes....................................................................
Insurance company taxes ................................................
Property taxes ...................................................................
Estate & inheritance taxes ...............................................
Other taxes ........................................................................
Grants and contributions not restricted to
specific programs ......................................................
Unrestricted investment earnings .................................
Changes to permanent endowments ..................................
Transfers ........ ........................................................................
Total general revenues, changes to permanent
endowments, and transfers ........................................
Changes in net assets ..............................................
Net assets - beginning of the year, as restated ...................
Net assets - end of the year ..................................................

$4,295,594
66,942
70,604
151,080
$4,584,220

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.

Component units:
Higher education ..................................................................
Maryland Prepaid College Trust .........................................
Maryland Stadium Authority ..............................................
Other component units .......................................................
Total component units .....................................................

176,649

9,068
(614,794)

167,581
614,794

1,058,628
142,376
(1,367)

15,632,420
(605,726) 15,026,694 1,199,637
(2,069,788)
116,841
(1,952,947) 419,327
9,355,330 5,173,068
14,528,398 5,467,162
$7,285,542 $5,289,909 $12,575,451 $5,886,489

7,003,514
3,760,756
1,796,769
405,915
382,569
1,009,768
196,002
294,752

7,003,514
3,760,756
1,796,769
405,915
382,569
1,009,768
196,002
294,752

$ (761,238)
(9,457)
(15,020)
5,405
(780,310)

STATE OF MARYLAND

Balance Sheet
Governmental Funds
June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

General

Special Revenue
Maryland
Other
Department of Governmental
Transportation
Funds

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ....................................................
Equity in pooled invested cash ............................................
Investments ............................................................................
Prepaid items..........................................................................
Taxes receivable, net ..............................................................
Intergovernmental receivables .............................................
Other accounts receivable ....................................................
Due from other funds ...........................................................
Due from component units ..................................................
Inventories ..............................................................................
Loans and notes receivable ...................................................
Collateral for lent securities .................................................
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .................................................
Cash with fiscal agent.........................................................
Equity in pooled invested cash .........................................
Investments .........................................................................
Taxes receivable ..................................................................
Other accounts receivable .................................................
Due from other funds ........................................................
Loans and notes receivable ...............................................
Total assets ...................................................................

$4,848,607

$870,374

26,329
92
2,425
3,256
$428,293

Liabilities:
Salaries payable ......................................................................
Vouchers payable ...................................................................
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ............................
Due to other funds ................................................................
Due to component units .......................................................
Accounts payable to political subdivisions .......................
Deferred revenue ...................................................................
Accrued self-insurance costs................................................
Collateral obligations for lent securities .............................
Total liabilities ..............................................................

$ 147,411
255,818
1,392,077
467,452
3,764
177,449
802,279
105,441
247,824
3,599,515

$ 24,974
38,932
349,195
12,889

$ 53,275
25,652
54,830

41,946
66,716

54,673
47

534,652

188,477

448,982

171,094

Fund balances:
Nonspendable ........................................................................
Spendable:
Restricted ..............................................................................
Committed ...........................................................................
Unassigned (deficit) ............................................................
Total fund balances .....................................................
Total liabilities and fund balances ...........................

$ 196,138
1,652,469
10,099
408,352
938,646
843,193
411,499
95,867
702
25,987
14,901
247,824

$ 10,672
148,336
90,539
73,281
200,133
114,391
125,030

2,930

3,069
161,559
335,722
$870,374

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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6,402
49

79,089
1,466
27,437

398
1,140,676
(340,964)
1,249,092
$4,848,607

$270,478

13,947
105,315

Total
Governmental
Funds
$ 206,810
1,800,805
280,577
498,891
1,011,927
1,049,728
525,939
220,897
702
105,076
16,367
247,824
27,437
13,947
105,315
2,930
26,329
92
2,425
3,256
$6,147,274
$ 172,385
348,025
1,766,924
535,171
3,764
274,068
869,042
105,441
247,824
4,322,644
620,076

151,317
447,295
(358,796)
239,816
$428,293

154,784
1,749,530
(699,760)
1,824,630
$6,147,274

STATE OF MARYLAND

Reconciliation of the Governmental Funds’ Fund Balance
to the Statement of Net Assets’, Net Assets Balance
June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)
Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Net Assets (pages 24-25)
differ from the amounts for the governmental funds’ fund balances because of:
Amount in governmental funds, fund balance (page 28) ..............................................................................
Capital assets used in governmental activities are not financial resources
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds ................................................................................................
Taxes and other receivables that will not be available to pay for current-period
expenditures and, therefore, are deferred in the funds ...............................................................................
Accrued interest payable on bonds and capital leases are not liquidated
with current financial resources in the governmental funds ......................................................................
Deferred charges not available to pay for current period expenditures .......................................................
Other assets not available to pay for current period expenditures ...............................................................
Long-term liabilities are not due and payable in the current period
and, therefore, are not reported in the funds:
General Obligation Bonds ...........................................................................................................................
Deferred charges to be amortized over the life of the debt ..................................................................
Premiums to be amortized over the life of the debt..............................................................................
Transportation Bonds ................................................................................................................................. .
Deferred charges to be amortized over the life of the debt ..................................................................
Premiums to be amortized over the life of the debt..............................................................................
Accrued self-insurance costs.......................................................................................................................
Accrued annual leave ...................................................................................................................................
Pension liabilities ..........................................................................................................................................
Other post-employment benefits liability .................................................................................................
Pollution remediation ..................................................................................................................................
Obligation under capital leases ...................................................................................................................
Obligations under capital leases with component units..........................................................................
Net assets of governmental activities (page 25) ...............................................................................................

$1,824,630
19,252,145
371,247
(136,823)
21,439
5,725
(6,601,989)
20,530
(340,084)
(1,645,010)
2,491
(79,337)
(228,501)
(324,003)
(1,226,437)
(2,430,102)
(169,416)
(798,201)
(232,762)
$7,285,542

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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STATE OF MARYLAND

Statement of Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund Balances, Governmental Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)

General
Revenues:
Income taxes .......................................................................... $ 6,957,811
Sales and use taxes .................................................................
3,754,326
Motor vehicle taxes and fees ................................................
Tobacco taxes .........................................................................
405,915
Insurance company taxes .....................................................
382,569
Property taxes ........................................................................
262,942
Estate & inheritance taxes ....................................................
196,002
Other taxes .............................................................................
294,752
Other licenses and fees .........................................................
682,756
Charges for services ..............................................................
1,220,226
Revenues pledged as security for bonds .............................
Interest and other investment income ................................
119,635
Federal revenue ......................................................................
8,581,125
Other .......................................................................................
395,238
Total revenues ................................................................... 23,253,297
Expenditures:
Current:
General government ..........................................................
753,206
Health and mental hygiene ...............................................
9,040,549
Education.............................................................................
6,896,720
Aid to higher education .....................................................
1,642,836
Human resources ................................................................
2,291,347
Public safety ........................................................................
1,773,141
Transportation ....................................................................
Judicial .................................................................................
556,908
Labor, licensing and regulation ........................................
226,118
Natural resources and recreation .....................................
184,342
Housing and community development ...........................
315,630
Environment .......................................................................
110,092
Agriculture ..........................................................................
92,954
Business and economic development ..............................
74,578
Intergovernmental grants and revenue sharing ................
336,703
Capital outlays........................................................................
Debt service:
Principal retirement ...........................................................
Interest .................................................................................
Bond issuance costs ............................................................
933
Total expenditures ............................................................ 24,296,057
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over (under)
expenditures ................................................................ (1,042,760)
Other financing sources (uses):
Capital leases ..........................................................................
15,472
Bonds issued...........................................................................
Refunding bonds issued .......................................................
Bond premium .......................................................................
Payments to refunded bond escrow agent .........................
Transfers in .............................................................................
1,276,702
Transfers out...........................................................................
(510,244)
Total other sources (uses) of financial resources ...........
781,930
Net changes in fund balances.....................................
(260,830)
Fund balances, beginning of the year .....................................
1,509,922
Fund balances, end of the year ................................................ $ 1,249,092

Special Revenue
Maryland
Other
Department of Governmental
Transportation
Funds

$1,796,769
$ 746,826

419,691
89,521
394
804,906
18,119
3,129,400

1,204
857
405
749,292

A-30

$ 6,957,811
3,754,326
1,796,769
405,915
382,569
1,009,768
196,002
294,752
682,756
1,639,917
89,521
121,233
9,386,888
413,762
27,131,989

551,686
1,092,891

298,764
107,285

753,206
9,040,549
7,197,678
1,907,014
2,291,347
1,773,141
1,422,085
556,908
226,118
184,342
315,630
110,092
92,954
74,578
1,187,153
1,200,176

3,066,662

560,348
366,237
8,349
1,906,119

560,348
366,237
9,282
29,268,838

62,738

(1,156,827)

(2,136,849)

140,000

1,140,883
798,080
196,323
(924,185)
241,491
(196,690)
1,255,902
99,075
140,741
$ 239,816

15,472
1,280,883
798,080
196,954
(924,185)
1,895,049
(1,280,255)
1,981,998
(154,851)
1,979,481
$ 1,824,630

300,958
264,178
1,422,085

631
376,856
(573,321)
(55,834)
6,904
328,818
$335,722

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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STATE OF MARYLAND

Reconciliation of the Statement of the Revenues, Expenditures, and Changes in Fund
Balances of Governmental Funds to the Statement of Activities
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)

Amounts reported for governmental activities in the Statement of Activities (pages 26-27) are
different from the amounts reported in the Statement of Revenues, Expenditures,
and Changes in Fund Balances of Governmental Funds because of the following:
Net change in fund balances - total governmental funds (page 30) ......................................................
Governmental funds report capital outlays as expenditures. However, in the Statement of
Activities, the cost of those assets is allocated over their estimated useful lives and
reported as depreciation expense. This is the amount by which capital outlays exceed
depreciation in the current period.
Capital outlays.....................................................................................................................................
Depreciation expense .........................................................................................................................

$1,448,945
(1,026,089)

The net effect of various miscellaneous transactions involving capital assets
(i.e., sales, trade-ins, and donations) is to decrease net assets.
Net loss on disposals and trade-ins ...................................................................................................

(435,953)

$ (154,851)

Revenues in the Statement of Activities that do not provide current financial resources are
not reported as revenues in the governmental funds:
Deferred revenues for taxes are recognized,
net of revenue already recognized in the prior year……………..…...………………………….
Deferred revenues for other revenues are recognized,
net of revenue already recognized in the prior year……………..…...………………………….
Revenues from other assets are recognized,
net of revenue already recognized in the prior year……………..…...………………………….
The issuance of long term debt (e.g. bonds, leases) provides current financial resources to
governmental funds, while the repayment of the principal of long term debt consumes
current financial resources of governmental funds. Neither transaction, however, has any
effect on net assets. Also, the governmental funds report the effect of issuance costs,
premiums, discounts and similar items when debt is first issued, whereas these amounts
are deferred and amortized in the Statement of Activities. This amount is the net
effect of these differences in the treatment of long term debt and related items.
Debt issued, General Obligation Bonds ...........................................................................................
Debt issued, Transportation Bonds...................................................................................................
Capital lease financing ........................................................................................................................
Premiums, discounts and issuance costs ..........................................................................................
Principal repayments:
General Obligation Bonds ...............................................................................................................
Transportation Bonds ......................................................................................................................
Capital leases .....................................................................................................................................

422,856

(435,953)

52,132
(108,538)
501

(55,905)

(1,126,770)
(140,000)
(15,472)
(35,734)
482,754
77,595
83,124

Some expenses reported in the Statement of Activities do not require the use of current
financial resources and, therefore, are not reported as expenditures in the governmental
funds:
Accrued interest ...................................................................................................................................
Compensated absences .......................................................................................................................
Self-insurance.......................................................................................................................................
Net pension obligation........................................................................................................................
Other post-employment benefits liability ........................................................................................
Pollution remediation liabilities ........................................................................................................
Change in net assets of governmental activities (page 27) .....................................................................

798
(16,121)
(4,873)
(209,820)
(951,972)
10,556

(674,503)

(1,171,432)
$(2,069,788)

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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STATE OF MARYLAND

ENTERPRISE FUND FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Major Funds
Economic Development Loan Programs
This fund includes the direct loan programs of the Maryland Departments of Housing and Community
Development, Business and Economic Development and Environment.

Unemployment Insurance Program
This fund reflects the transactions, assets, liabilities and net assets of the Unemployment Insurance Program and is used to account for the unemployment assessments collected from employers, Federal revenue
received and remittance of benefits to the unemployed.

Maryland State Lottery Agency
This fund accounts for the operation of the State Lottery.

Maryland Transportation Authority
This fund accounts for the activity of the Maryland Transportation Authority, which is responsible for the
operation and maintenance of toll roads, bridges and tunnels in the State.

Non-major Funds
Other Enterprise Funds
Individual non-major enterprise funds are presented in the combining section following the footnotes.
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STATE OF MARYLAND

Statement of Fund Net Assets
Enterprise Funds
June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)
Economic
Maryland
Development Unemployment
State
Maryland
Other
Loan
Insurance
Lottery Transportation Enterprise
Programs
Program
Agency
Authority
Funds
Assets Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ......................................
Equity in pooled invested cash ..............................
Investments ..............................................................
Other accounts receivable ......................................
Due from other funds .............................................
Inventories ................................................................
Loans and notes receivable, net .............................
Investment in direct financing leases ....................
Other assets ..............................................................
Current restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ..................................
Cash on deposit with U.S. Treasury ..................
Investments ..........................................................
Loans and notes receivable, net .........................
Other accounts receivable ..................................
Total current assets .........................................
Non-current assets:
Investments ..............................................................
Loans and notes receivable, net .............................
Investment in direct financing leases ....................
Other assets ..............................................................
Restricted non-current assets:
Investments ..........................................................
Deferred charges ..................................................
Deferred outflow on interest rate swaps ...........
Loans and notes receivable, net .........................
Other accounts receivable ..................................
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation:
Land ......................................................................
Structures and improvements ............................
Equipment ............................................................
Infrastructure .......................................................
Construction in progress ....................................
Total non-current assets ................................
Total assets ..................................................

$ 2,393
65,955

$ 412,491
6,143
20,985

$ 2,967

29,114

27,152

602,395
122,763
102,829
112,948
1,407,706

$ 90,973

222

$ 93,366
595,211
56,145
52,370
36,841
14,412
27,193
1,674
812

860,477

131,277

969,010
456,348
494,353
102,829
333,726
3,234,290

290,982

1,476
442

56,145
13,015
12,889
4,261

35

1,674
555

640
456,348

31,613

334,362

24,987

346,603

220,647
680,602

131
154,228

67,010
578,656

397,232
25,711

486,088
17,000
32,630
2,910,532
202

88,695

23

4,469

4,092,141
5,499,847

680,602
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93,164
247,392

-------$116,765

Total

4,098
10,151
41

106,502

404,872
22,574
18,950
1,258,902
2,175,250
4,700,975
5,561,452

359,468
579,098
397,232
25,711
681,285
17,000
32,630
2,910,532
202

1,016
6,286
54
1,738
11,012
142,289

404,872
23,590
29,728
1,258,956
2,176,988
8,897,292
12,131,582

Economic
Maryland
Development Unemployment
State
Maryland
Other
Loan
Insurance
Lottery Transportation Enterprise
Programs
Program
Agency
Authority
Funds
LiabilitiesCurrent liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ..............
Due to other funds ..................................................
Accrued insurance on loan losses .........................
Other liabilities ........................................................
Unearned revenue ...................................................
Revenue bonds payable - current ..........................
Total current liabilities ......................................
Non-current liabilities:
Interest rate swaps ...................................................
Other liabilities ........................................................
Revenue bonds payable...........................................
Total non-current liabilities .............................
Total liabilities ...............................................
Net AssetsInvested in capital assets, net of related debt.. ....
Restricted for:
Debt service ...........................................................
Capital improvements ..........................................
Unemployment compensation benefits .............
Loan programs ......................................................
Insurance programs .............................................
Unrestricted .............................................................
Total net assets ..............................................

66,909
2,011
616
6,466
111
140,340
216,453

48,156

133,841
181,997

32,630
18,241
3,126,959
3,177,830
3,394,283

178,356
33,955

25,977
2,322

2,815
14,784
84,465
314,375

146,618
78,817

181,997

23

78,817
225,435
(791)

$498,605

22,748
$ 21,957

1,619
13,837
1,499
2,577
19,532

374,333
74,992
14,453
36,757
19,794
358,646
878,975

27,789
2,676,028
2,703,817
3,018,192

2,234
21,766

32,630
127,081
5,802,987
5,962,698
6,841,673

1,546,380

9,094

1,554,706

164,802
494,800

498,605

1,019,986
1,085,555
$2,105,564

79,293
39,026

Total

337,278
$2,543,260

2,234

164,802
494,800
498,605
1,019,986
103,379
103,379
8,050 1,453,631
$120,523 $5,289,909

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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STATE OF MARYLAND

Statement of Revenues, Expenses, and Changes in Fund Net Assets
Enterprise Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)

Economic
Maryland
Development Unemployment
State
Maryland
Other
Loan
Insurance
Lottery Transportation Enterprise
Programs
Program
Agency
Authority
Funds
Operating revenues:
Lottery ticket sales ...................................................
$1,706,573
Charges for services and sales ................................ $ 68,478
$943,315
3,592
Loan and grant recoveries ......................................
1,501
Unrestricted interest on loan income ...................
12,092
Restricted interest on loan income........................
153,745
Other .........................................................................
6,649
1,120
Total operating revenues .................................
242,465
943,315 1,711,285
Operating expenses:
Prizes and claims .....................................................
1,034,157
Commissions and bonuses .....................................
113,131
Cost of sales and services .......................................
22,986
Operation and maintenance of facilities ..............
General and administrative....................................
39,219
33,672
Benefit payments .....................................................
2,004,334
Capital grant distributions .....................................
91,038
Depreciation and amortization..............................
19
1,308
Provision for insurance on loan losses .................
24,217
Other .........................................................................
15,397
Total operating expenses .................................
169,890
2,004,334 1,205,254
Operating income (loss) ...............................
72,575 (1,061,019) 506,031
Non-operating revenues (expenses):
Unrestricted interest and other
investment income ............................................
8,060
(782)
Restricted interest and other
investment income ............................................
61,611
10,396
Interest expense ....................................................... (143,073)
(56)
Federal grants and distributions ............................
32,842
982,803
Other .........................................................................
(267)
Total non-operating revenues (expenses) ....
(40,827)
993,199
(838)
Income (loss) before transfers.....................
31,748
(67,820) 505,193
Transfers in ..................................................................
40,711
Transfers out................................................................ (168,666)
(510,609)
Changes in net assets...............................
(96,207)
(67,820)
(5,416)
Total net assets - beginning of the year, as restated. 2,201,771
566,425
27,373
Total net assets - end of the year............................... $2,105,564
$498,605 $ 21,957

$ 514,281

4,896
519,177

205,107
26,631

A-36

40,908
10,452
1,450
1,402

282,152
237,025

54,212
(1,370)

1,790

1,034,157
113,131
63,894
205,107
109,974
2,004,334
91,038
53,191
25,619
15,397
3,715,842
(246,758)
9,068

10,543
(45,208)

2,182

58,707
25,832
262,857
30,000

(1,155)
1,027
(343)

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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$1,706,573
1,581,937
1,501
536
12,628
153,745
35
12,700
52,842 3,469,084

$ 52,271

50,414

292,857
2,250,403
$2,543,260

Total

(6,230)
(6,573)
127,096
$120,523

84,732
(188,337)
1,015,645
57,285
978,393
731,635
70,711
(685,505)
116,841
5,173,068
$5,289,909

STATE OF MARYLAND

Statement of Cash Flows
Enterprise Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)

Economic
Maryland
Development Unemployment
State
Maryland
Other
Loan
Insurance
Lottery Transportation Enterprise
Programs
Program
Agency
Authority
Funds
Cash flows from operating activities:
Receipts from customers ........................................ $ 443,249 $ 847,070 $ 1,710,733
Payments to suppliers .............................................
(1,515)
(40,249)
Payments to employees ...........................................
(14,418)
(12,833)
Program loan disbursements ................................. (222,734)
Other receipts ..........................................................
179,258
Other payments ....................................................... (151,944) (2,010,929) (105,725)
Lottery prize payments ...........................................
(1,028,577)
Net cash from operating activities......................
231,896 (1,163,859) 523,349
Cash flows from non-capital financing activities:
Proceeds from the sale of revenue bonds .............
384,535
133,841
Payment on revenue bonds .................................... (242,000)
Interest payments .................................................... (153,998)
Transfers in ...............................................................
45,705
Transfers out............................................................. (161,944)
(529,156)
Grants ........................................................................
35,102
982,803
Lottery installment payments ................................
(29,656)
Net cash from non-capital financing activities .
(92,600) 1,116,644 (558,812)
Cash flows from capital and related
financing activities:
Payments on interfund borrowings ......................
Proceeds from notes payable and revenue bonds
Principal paid on notes payable and revenue
bonds ...................................................................
Interest payments ....................................................
(56)
Proceeds from sale of capital assets.......................
Acquisition of capital assets ...................................
Payments of capital lease obligations ....................
(487)
Net cash from capital and related financing
activities ..............................................................
(543)
Cash flows from investing activities:
Purchase of investments ......................................... (266,448)
(959)
Proceeds from maturity and sale of investments
267,332
29,656
Interest on investments ...........................................
17,555
10,396
Net cash from investing activities ......................
18,439
10,396
28,697
Net changes in cash and cash equivalents ......
157,735
(36,819)
(7,309)
Balance - beginning of the year .......................
444,660
493,807
41,315
Balance - end of the year .................................. $ 602,395 $ 456,988 $ 34,006

Total

$ 495,964 $ 51,679 $3,548,695
(85,854) (32,469) (160,087)
(128,142) (17,490) (172,883)
(222,734)
14,518
8,197
201,973
(1,569) (2,270,167)
(1,028,577)
296,486
8,348
(103,780)
1,590
30,000

31,590

558,053

(7,352)
(7352)
(1,407)

(69,084)
(85,202)
140,000
(763,272)

(3,327)

(219,505)

(4,734)

(4,756,093)
4,644,697
12,026
(99,370)
9,201
416,134
$ 425,335

519,966
(242,000)
(153,998)
75,705
(698,452)
1,017,905
(29,656)
489,470
(1,407)
558,053
(69,084)
(85,258)
140,000
(766,599)
(487)
(224,782)

(5,023,500)
4,941,685
2,182
42,159
2,182
(39,656)
(1,556)
121,252
1,556 1,397,472
$
- $1,518,724
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STATE OF MARYLAND

Statement of Cash Flows
Enterprise Funds

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010
(Continued)
(Expressed in Thousands)

Economic
Development Unemployment
Loan
Insurance
Programs
Program
Reconciliation of operating income (loss) to net
cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Operating income (loss) ........................................ $ 72,575
Adjustments to reconcile operating income
(loss) to net cash from operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization........................
19
Deferred prize payment ....................................
Effect of changes in non-cash operating assets
and liabilities:
Equity in pooled invested cash ........................
97,633
Investments ........................................................
(124)
Other accounts receivable ................................
(56,034)
Due from other funds .......................................
803
Inventories ..........................................................
Loans and notes receivable ...............................
125,078
Other assets ........................................................
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ........
(6,288)
Due to other funds ............................................
(1,407)
Accrued insurance on loan losses ...................
32
Other liabilities ..................................................
(476)
Unearned revenue .............................................
85
Total adjustments ...........................................
159,321
Net cash from operating activities......................... $ 231,896

Maryland
State
Maryland
Other
Lottery Transportation Enterprise
Agency
Authority
Funds

$(1,061,019) $506,031

$237,025

1,308
959

50,414

7,479
(95,884)
(361)

(6,595)

(1,638)

2
(4,553)
13,825

27
(91)
(102,840)
17,318
$(1,163,859) $523,349

Noncash transactions (amounts expressed
in thousands):
Unrealized gain (loss) on investments ..................... $ 12,847
Additions to capital assets .........................................

$ (783)

15,780
1,679
457
(2,285)
59,461
$296,486

$ 1,517
55,607

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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$(1,370) $(246,758)
1,450

7,585

837
(7,246)
(175)

Total

53,191
959

112,697
(124)
296
(152,423)
(6,804)
927
752
30
125,108
(261)
(259)
(405)
(2,061)
14,097
558
590
395
403
(857)
(3,148)
9,718
142,978
$ 8,348 $(103,780)

STATE OF MARYLAND

Statement of Fiduciary Net Assets
Fiduciary Funds
June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)
Pension and Other
Employee Benefits
Trust Funds

Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ..................................................... $ 1,644,895
Equity in pooled invested cash .............................................
Investments:
U.S. Treasury and agency obligations ...............................
1,240,222
Repurchase agreements ......................................................
Bonds ....................................................................................
2,892,918
Corporate equity securities ................................................ 13,160,346
Commercial paper ...............................................................
Mortgage related securities ................................................
1,676,774
Mutual funds ........................................................................
3,024,934
Guaranteed investment contracts......................................
744,569
Real estate .............................................................................
1,212,462
Annuity contracts ................................................................
112,712
Private equity .......................................................................
1,585,865
Alternative investments ......................................................
2,622,000
Investments held by borrowers under
securities lent with cash collateral ..................................
4,496,980
Total investments ............................................................ 32,769,782
Taxes receivable, net ...............................................................
Intergovernmental receivables ..............................................
Other receivables ....................................................................
1,087,082
Accounts receivable from state treasury ..............................
Collateral for lent securities ..................................................
4,630,233
Total assets .................................................................... 40,131,992
Liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities .............................
1,131,912
Accounts payable to political subdivisions ........................
Collateral obligation for lent securities ...............................
4,630,233
Total liabilities ..............................................................
5,762,145
Net assets:
Held in trust for:
Pension benefits (A schedule of funding progress for
each of the plans may be found on pages 107&108) .... 32,053,081
Deferred compensation benefits........................................
2,316,766
Local Government Investment Pool participants ...........
Postretirement health benefits ...........................................
Total net assets ............................................................ $34,369,847

Investment
Trust
Fund

Postretirement
Health
Benefits
Trust Fund
$

$1,755,991
433,016

5

Agency
Funds
$132,682
465,762

18,104
27,243
104,977

238,113
158,551

17,525

2,585,671

167,849

581
2,586,252

167,854

238,885
375,469
2,288
350,000
1,565,086

10,499

163,802
1,401,284

10,499

1,565,086

2,575,753

167,854
$167,854

$2,575,753

$-----------

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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STATE OF MARYLAND

Statement of Changes in Fiduciary Net Assets
Fiduciary Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)

Pension and Other
Employee Benefits
Trust Funds

Additions:
Contributions:
Employers ............................................................................ $ 545,564
Members ..............................................................................
697,151
Sponsors...............................................................................
804,220
Total contributions .........................................................
2,046,935
Investment earnings:
Net increase in fair value of investments .........................
3,670,608
Interest .................................................................................
348,572
Dividends.............................................................................
516,723
Real estate operating net earnings....................................
20,890
Total investment earnings ............................................
4,556,793
Less: investment expense ...................................................
163,199
Net investment earnings ...............................................
4,393,594
Total additions ............................................................
6,440,529
Deductions:
Benefit payments ...................................................................
2,604,377
Distributions to participants ................................................
Redemptions (unit transactions at $1.00 per unit) ...........
Refunds ...................................................................................
33,531
Administrative expenses.......................................................
32,526
Total deductions .........................................................
2,670,434
Changes in net assets...............................................
3,770,095
Net assets - beginning of the year........................................... 30,599,752
Net assets - end of the year ...................................................... $34,369,847

Investment
Trust
Fund

Postretirement
Health
Benefits
Trust Fund

$6,275,672
6,275,672

2,425

6,089

14,704
141
4,292

6,089
774
5,315
6,280,987

19,137
120
19,017
21,442

5,315
6,229,382
6,234,697
46,290
2,529,463
$2,575,753

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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$ 2,425

21,442
146,412
$167,854

STATE OF MARYLAND

COMPONENT UNIT FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Major Component Units
Higher Education
Higher education consists of the University System of Maryland, Morgan State University, St. Mary’s College
of Maryland and Baltimore City Community College and certain of their foundations. Because the universities and colleges are similar in nature and function, they have been combined and presented as a single
component unit. The financial information for certain foundations affiliated with the universities and colleges has not been included in this fund in accordance with GASB Statement No. 14 as amended by GASB
Statement No. 39.

Maryland Prepaid College Trust
The Maryland Prepaid College Trust is a program of the College Savings Plans of Maryland and directed by
the Board to provide a means for payment of the cost of tuition and mandatory fees in advance of enrollment at eligible institutions of higher education.

Maryland Stadium Authority
The Maryland Stadium Authority was created as a body corporate and politic and as an independent unit
of the Executive Department of the State of Maryland. The Authority’s purpose is to acquire land and to
construct, operate and/or manage various capital facilities in the State.

Non-major Component Units
Other Component Units
Non-major component units are presented individually in the combining section following the footnotes.
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STATE OF MARYLAND

Combining Statement of Net Assets
Component Units
June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Higher
Education
Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ..................................... $ 80,669
Equity in pooled invested cash .............................. 1,251,556
Investments ..............................................................
3,952
Endowment investments ........................................
183,250
Foundation investments .........................................
819,387
Tuition contracts receivable ...................................
61,349
Other accounts receivable ......................................
393,907
Due from primary government .............................
Inventories ................................................................
12,343
Prepaid items............................................................
6,448
Deferred charges ......................................................
1,879
Loans and notes receivable, net .............................
69,854
Investments in direct financing leases ..................
Other assets ..............................................................
16,389
Restricted assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ...................................
62,864
Investments ...........................................................
97,231
Capital assets, net of accumulated depreciation:
Land........................................................................
157,702
Art and historical treasures .................................
375
Structures and improvements ............................. 3,362,262
Infrastructure ........................................................
187,640
Equipment .............................................................
371,480
Construction in progress .....................................
461,562
Total assets ...................................................... 7,602,099
Liabilities:
Salaries payable .......................................................
104,083
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ..............
166,027
Due to primary government ..................................
702
Unearned revenue ...................................................
202,955
Accrued insurance on loan losses .........................
Other liabilities ........................................................
4,770
Bonds and notes payable:
Due within one year .............................................
81,271
Due in more than one year.................................. 1,109,196
Other noncurrent liabilities:
Due within one year .............................................
97,447
Due in more than one year..................................
178,101
Total liabilities ............................................... 1,944,552
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Maryland
Prepaid
College
Trust
$ 11,389
159
519,321
168,386
1,844

Maryland
Stadium
Authority

Other
Component
Units

$

682
1,626

$ 29,140
41,125
12,925

8,625
3,764

29,530

Total

2,581
4,470
228,628
185

640
4,134
4,968

$ 121,880
1,294,466
536,198
183,250
819,387
229,735
433,906
3,764
12,343
6,448
4,460
74,964
232,762
21,542

74
21,284

2,421
12,440

65,359
130,955

8,016

165,718
375
3,570,677
188,142
389,875
477,055
8,963,261

183,012
53

10,909

701,152

465,840

25,403
502
7,433
15,493
194,170

285

16,072

31,139

10,562

48,490

2,088
3,831
227

104,083
213,523
702
264,095
3,831
4,997

18,069
244,106

13,564
4,540

112,904
1,357,842

55
881
327,673

29,091
24,075
108,555

181,348
833,447
3,076,772

54,755
630,390
695,992

Higher
Education
Net Assets:
Invested in capital assets, net of related debt ....... 3,458,855
Restricted:
Debt service ...........................................................
Capital improvements and deposits ...................
Nonexpendable:
Scholarships and fellowships ........................
228,954
Research ...........................................................
11,313
Other ................................................................
349,685
Expendable:
Debt service .....................................................
4,521
Capital projects ...............................................
12,542
Loans and notes receivable ............................
75,308
Scholarships and fellowships ........................
106,118
Research ...........................................................
89,768
Other ................................................................
249,062
Unrestricted ............................................................ 1,071,421
Total net assets .............................................. $5,657,547

Maryland
Prepaid
College
Trust

Maryland
Stadium
Authority

53

114,683

34,379

3,607,970

773

4,919
16,438

115

4,919
17,326

Other
Component
Units

Total

228,954
11,313
349,685

$

4,334
5,160

2,127
$138,167

$

51,121
85,615

4,521
12,542
75,308
106,118
89,768
249,062
1,129,003
$5,886,489

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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STATE OF MARYLAND

Combining Statement of Activities
Component Units
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)

Higher
Education
Expenses:
General and administrative ..................................
Operation and maintenance of facilities ............ $ 335,999
Instruction .............................................................. 1,110,146
Research ..................................................................
933,562
Public service .........................................................
145,272
Academic support .................................................
360,179
Student services .....................................................
189,750
Institutional support .............................................
391,454
Scholarships and fellowships ...............................
118,275
Tuition benefits ......................................................
Auxiliary .................................................................
453,460
Hospitals .................................................................
137,710
Interest on long-term debt ...................................
43,121
Depreciation and amortization............................
Foundation expenses.............................................
75,046
Other .......................................................................
1,620
Total expenses ................................................... 4,295,594
Program revenues:
Charges for services:
Student tuition and fees
(net of $240,464 in allowances) .................. 1,112,404
Auxiliary enterprises
(net of $35,350 in allowances) ....................
499,648
Restricted investment earnings ......................
58,050
Other ...................................................................
308,706
Total charges for services .............................. 1,978,808
Operating grants and contributions.................... 1,351,702
Capital grants and contributions .........................
203,846
Total program revenues ............................ 3,534,356
Net program revenue (expense) ..........
(761,238)
General revenues:
Grants and contributions not restricted to
specific programs…. ........................................ 1,058,628
Unrestricted investment earnings (loss).............
89,611
Changes to permanent endowments .......................
(1,367)
Total general revenues, additions and
deductions to permanent endowments .. 1,146,872
Changes in net assets..........................
385,634
Net assets - beginning of the year, as restated......... 5,271,913
Net assets - end of the year ........................................ $5,657,547

Maryland
Prepaid
College
Trust

Maryland
Stadium
Authority

Other
Component
Units

$ 7,593
21,988

$ 13,376
108,551

47

16,499
16,568

980
3,120

18
66,942

7,956
70,604

25,053
151,080

$ 1,970

64,907

A-44

$

22,939
466,538
1,110,146
933,562
145,272
360,179
189,750
391,454
118,275
64,907
453,460
137,710
60,600
19,735
75,046
34,647
4,584,220

1,112,404

57,485
57,485

1,539
32,772
34,311
21,273

25
135,009
135,034
21,451

57,485
(9,457)

55,584
(15,020)

156,485
5,405

64,134

(12,693)

64,134
54,677
(49,517)
$ 5,160

(12,693)
(27,713)
165,880
$138,167

The accompanying notes to the financial statements are an integral part of this financial statement.
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Total

1,324
1,324
6,729
78,886
$ 85,615

499,648
59,614
533,972
2,205,638
1,394,426
203,846
3,803,910
(780,310)
1,058,628
142,376
(1,367)
1,199,637
419,327
5,467,162
$5,886,489
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STATE OF MARYLAND

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

1. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies:
A. Reporting Entity
The accompanying financial statements include the various departments, agencies, and other organizational units governed by the
General Assembly and/or Constitutional Officers of the State of Maryland (State).
As required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (GAAP), these financial statements present
the state government (primary government) and its component units (entities for which the State is considered to be financially
accountable). The Governmental Accounting Standards Board (GASB) has set forth criteria to be considered in determining financial
accountability. These criteria include the State appointing a voting majority of an organization's governing body and (1) the ability of
the governing body to impose its will on that organization, or (2) the potential for the organization to provide specific financial benefits
to, or impose specific financial burdens on, the State.
Discrete Component Units
These component units are entities which are legally separate from the State, but are financially accountable to the State, or whose
relationships with the State are such that exclusion would cause the State's financial statements to be misleading or incomplete. The
Component Units column of the government-wide financial statements includes the financial data of the following major component
units. Individual statements are presented for each component unit.
Higher Education (Proprietary Fund Type) – Higher Education consists of the University System of Maryland, Morgan
State University, St. Mary's College of Maryland and Baltimore City Community College and certain of their foundations.
Each entity is governed by its own Board of Regents, or Board of Trustees, whose members are appointed by the Governor.
The universities and colleges are funded through State appropriations, tuition, Federal grants, and private donations and
grants. Because the universities and colleges are similar in nature and function, they have been combined and presented as a
single discretely presented component unit. Some of the financial information for foundations affiliated with the universities
and colleges has not been included with the financial information of the universities and colleges in accordance with the
requirements of GASB Statement No. 14 as amended by GASB Statement No. 39.
The Maryland Prepaid College Trust (Proprietary Fund Type) is a program of the College Savings Plans of Maryland and
directed by its Board. The Board consists of five State officials and five members of the public appointed by the Governor.
The Maryland Prepaid College Trust provides a means for payment of the cost of tuition and mandatory fees in advance of
enrollment at eligible institutions of higher education. If the Trust’s contract obligations exceed the market value of Trust
assets, State appropriations may be provided.
Maryland Stadium Authority (Proprietary Fund Type) - The Maryland Stadium Authority (Authority) was created as a
body corporate and politic and as an independent unit of the Executive Department of the State. The Authority’s purpose is to
acquire land and to construct, operate and/or manage various capital facilities in the State. The Authority's Board consists of
seven members, of which, six are appointed by the Governor, with the advice and consent of the State Senate, and one whom is
appointed by the Mayor of Baltimore City, with the advice and consent of the State Senate. The Maryland State Legislature and
the Board of Public Works (consisting of the Governor, Comptroller and Treasurer) have approved all of the projects and bond
issuances of the Authority.
The non-major component units are comprised of the following proprietary fund type entities.
The Maryland Food Center Authority (Authority) is a body corporate and politic, the governing board of which is
composed of twelve members. Four members are State officials, and eight members are appointed by the Governor.
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The Authority has statewide jurisdiction to promote the State’s welfare by undertaking real estate development and
management activities that facilitate the wholesale food industry activity in the public interest. It is subject to State
regulations and approvals and has received State subsidies.
The Maryland Environmental Service (Service) was created as a body corporate and politic and is governed by a ninemember Board of Directors. The Board of Directors and the officers of the Service are appointed and/or approved by
the Governor. The Service helps private industry and local governments manage liquid, solid and hazardous wastes. In
accordance with direction from the Governor, the Service plans and establishes major resource recovery facilities, solid
waste management plans and hazardous waste management programs.
The Maryland Industrial Development Financing Authority (MIDFA) was established as a body corporate and politic
and a public instrumentality of the State. The Authority consists of nine members, the Secretary of the Department of
Business and Economic Development, or his designee, the State Treasurer or the State Comptroller, as designated by the
Governor; and seven members appointed by the Secretary of the Department of Business and Economic Development
and approved by the Governor. The MIDFA is subject to the authority of the Secretary and subject to State finance
regulations. It provides financial assistance to enterprises seeking to locate or expand operations in Maryland.
The Maryland Technology Development Corporation (Corporation) was established as a body corporate and politic
and a public instrumentality of the State. The Corporation's Board of Directors consists of 15 individuals, the Secretary
of the Department of Business and Economic Development and 14 members appointed by the Governor with the advice
and consent of the Senate. Its budget is submitted to and approved by the State, and its major revenue source is State
appropriations. The Corporation was created to assist in transferring to the private sector and commercializing the
results and products of scientific research and development conducted by the colleges and universities and to assist in the
commercialization of technology developed in the private sector. The Corporation administers the Maryland Technology
Incubator Program and the Maryland Stem Cell Research Fund.
Complete financial statements of the individual component units and the Local Government Investment Pool of
the Investment Trust Fund may be requested from the Comptroller of Maryland, LLG Treasury Building, Annapolis,
Maryland 21404.
Related Organizations
The Maryland Economic Development Corporation (MEDCO), Injured Workers’ Insurance Fund and the Maryland
Automobile Insurance Fund are related organizations of the State. The Governor appoints a majority of the Board of Directors,
but the State does not have the ability to impose its will on the organizations, and there is no financial benefit/burden relationship.
As of June 30, 2010, the Economic Development Loan Programs, major enterprise funds, had transactions with MEDCO that
included loans, investments and grants totaling $22,155,000. The Maryland Industrial Development Financing Authority
(MIDFA) provides insurance as a credit enhancement for transactions of MEDCO. As of June 30, 2010 the insurance outstanding
on MEDCO’s transactions insured by MIDFA, other component unit, was $387,000.
B. Government-wide and Fund Financial Statements
The State’s government-wide financial statements (i.e., the statement of net assets and the statement of activities) report
information on all nonfiduciary activities of the primary government and its component units. Interfund activity has been
eliminated from these statements except for certain charges for services between activities that would distort the direct costs and
program revenues reported for the applicable functions. Governmental activities, which normally are supported by taxes and
intergovernmental revenues, are reported separately from business-type activities, which rely to a significant extent on fees and
charges for support. Likewise, the primary government is reported separately from certain legally separate component units for
which the primary government is financially accountable.
The statement of activities demonstrates the degree to which the direct expenses of a given function or segment is offset by
program revenues. Direct expenses are those that are clearly identifiable with a specific function or segment. Expenses reported
for functional activities include allocated indirect expenses. Program revenues include 1) charges to customers or applicants
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who purchase, use, or directly benefit from goods, services or privileges provided by a given function or segment and 2) grants and
contributions that are restricted to meeting the operational or capital requirements of a particular function or segment. Taxes and
other items not properly included among program revenues are reported instead as general revenues.
Separate financial statements are provided for governmental funds, proprietary funds, and fiduciary funds, even though the
latter are excluded from the government-wide financial statements as those assets are not available to support government programs.
Major individual governmental funds and major individual enterprise funds are reported as separate columns in the fund financial
statements.
C. Measurement Focus, Basis of Accounting, and Financial Statement Presentation
The government-wide financial statements are reported using the economic resources measurement focus and the accrual basis of
accounting, as are the proprietary fund and fiduciary fund (other than the agency funds), financial statements. The agency funds are
reported using the accrual basis of accounting, but have no measurement focus. Revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are
recorded when a liability is incurred, regardless of the timing of related cash flows. Property taxes are recognized as revenues in the
year for which they are levied. Grants and similar items are recognized as revenue as soon as all eligibility requirements imposed by the
provider have been met.
Governmental fund financial statements are reported using the current financial resources measurement focus and the modified
accrual basis of accounting. Revenues are recognized as soon as they are both measurable and available. Revenues are considered to
be available when they are collectible within the current period or soon enough thereafter to pay liabilities of the current period. For
this purpose, the State considers all revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days of the end of the current fiscal period.
Expenditures generally are recorded when a liability is incurred, as under accrual accounting. However, debt service expenditures, as
well as expenditures related to retirement costs, other post-employment benefits, compensated absences, pollution remediation and
claims and judgments, are recorded only when payment is due.
Property taxes, franchise taxes, licenses and interest associated with the current fiscal period are all considered to be susceptible to
accrual and so have been recognized as revenues of the current fiscal period. All other revenue items are considered to be measurable
and available only when cash is received by the government.
The State reports the following major governmental funds:
General Fund:
Transactions related to resources obtained and used for those services traditionally provided by a state government, which are not
accounted for in other governmental funds, are accounted for in the general fund. These services include, among other items, general
government, health and mental hygiene, education (other than higher education institutions), human resources, public safety, judicial,
labor, licensing and regulation, natural resources and recreation, housing and community development, environment, agriculture,
and business and economic development. Resources obtained from Federal grants and used for general fund activities consistent with
applicable legal requirements, are recorded in the general fund.
Special Revenue Fund, Maryland Department of Transportation:
Transactions related to resources obtained, the uses of which are committed for specific purposes, are accounted for in the special
revenue fund. The Maryland Department of Transportation special revenue fund accounts for resources used for operations (other
than debt service and pension activities) of the Maryland Department of Transportation, including construction or improvement of
transportation facilities and mass transit operations.
Enterprise Funds:
Transactions related to commercial types of activities operated by the State are accounted for in the enterprise funds. The
enterprise funds differ from governmental funds in that the focus is on the flow of economic resources, which, together with the
maintenance of equity, is an important financial indicator.
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The major enterprise funds are as follows.
1. The Economic Development Loan Programs includes the direct loan programs of the Maryland Departments
of Housing and Community Development, Business and Economic Development and Environment.
2. The Unemployment Insurance Program reflects the transactions, assets, liabilities and net assets of the Unemployment
Insurance Program and is used to account for the unemployment taxes collected from employers, Federal revenue received
and remittance of benefits to the unemployed.
3. The Maryland State Lottery Agency operates the State Lottery.
4. The Maryland Transportation Authority is responsible for the operation and maintenance of toll roads, bridges and
tunnels in the State.
Fiduciary Funds:
1. The Pension and Other Employee Benefits Trust Fund (Pension Trust Fund) includes the Maryland State Retirement and
Pension System, the Maryland Transit Administration Pension Plan, and the Deferred Compensation Plan. The Pension Trust
Fund reflects the transactions, assets, liabilities and net assets of the plans administered by the State and is accounted for using
the flow of economic resources measurement focus. The Deferred Compensation Plan, which is reported as of and for its
period ended December 31, accounts for participant earnings deferred in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Sections
457, 403(b), 401(a), and 401(k). Amounts deferred are invested and are not subject to Federal income taxes until paid to
participants upon termination or retirement from employment, death or for an unforeseeable emergency.
2. The Investment Trust Fund reflects the transactions, assets, liabilities and net assets of the Maryland Local Government
Investment Pool and is accounted for using the flow of economic resources measurement focus.
3. The Postretirement Health Benefits Trust Fund (OPEB Trust) accumulates funds to assist the State’s Employee and Retiree
Health and Welfare Benefits Program finance the State’s postretirement health insurance subsidy. The OPEB Trust is
administered by the Board of Trustees for the Maryland State Retirement and Pension System, and its transactions, assets,
liabilities and net assets are accounted for using the flow of economic resources measurement focus. The assets of the Pension
and OPEB Trusts are not pooled for investment purposes, and each trust’s assets may be used only for the payment of benefits
to the trust’s members in accordance with the terms of the trust.
4. The agency funds are custodial in nature and do not present the results of operations or have a measurement focus. The
State uses agency funds to account for the receipt and disbursement of litigants, patient and prisoner accounts, various taxes
collected by the State for distribution to political subdivisions and amounts withheld from employees’ payroll.
D. Change in Accounting Principles and Restatement of Beginning Balances
As of June 30, 2009, the State reported derivative instruments in accordance with GASB Statement No. 53,
Accounting and Financial Reporting for Derivative Instruments. This statement requires governments to measure derivative
instruments at fair value in their economic resources measurement focus financial statements. The changes in fair value of
hedging derivative instruments do not affect investment revenue but are reported as deferrals, whereas the changes in fair value
of investment derivative instruments are reported as investment revenue in the current reporting period. Accordingly, the
beginning net assets for the Economic Development Loan Programs, an enterprise fund, and the Maryland Stadium Authority, a
component unit, are restated as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
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Beginning net assets, as previously reported
Recognition of changes in fair value of derivatives as deferrals
Beginning net assets, as restated

Economic
Development
Loan Programs
$2,217,077
(15,306)
$2,201,771

Maryland
Stadium
Authority
$193,411
(27,531)
$165,880

E. New Pronouncements:
The GASB issued Statement No. 54, Fund Balance Reporting and Governmental Fund Type Definitions, in March 2009, effective
for financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2010. The State has early implemented this statement. In addition, the
GASB issued Statement No. 59, Financial Instruments Omnibus, in June 2010, effective for financial statements for periods beginning
after June 15, 2010, and Statement No. 57, OPEB Measurements by Agent Employers and Agent Multiple-Employer Plans, in December
2009, effective for financial statements for periods beginning after June 15, 2011. The State will implement these statements as of their
effective dates. While the State is still in the process of determining the effect of implementing these GASB statements, they are not
expected to have a material effect on the financial position of the State.

2. Significant Accounting Policies - Assets, Liabilities and Net Assets or Equity:
A. All Funds:
Deposits with Financial Institutions and Investments:
The State Treasurer’s Office operates a centralized cash receipt, investment and disbursement function for the majority of the State’s
funds as required by statute. Certain enterprise activities, pension funds, agency funds and component units are specifically exempted
from this function in the law. Individual fund equity in pooled invested cash is reported as an asset on the balance sheets of those
funds participating in the centralized cash receipt and disbursement function. Investment earnings accrue to those funds reporting
equity in pooled invested cash only if the law specifically provides for the fund’s accrual of interest earnings.
The State Treasurer's Office invests short-term cash balances on a daily basis primarily in U.S. Government obligations and money
market mutual funds. Under the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, Title 6, Subtitle 2, the
State Treasurer may only invest in the following:
%

Any obligation for which the United States Government has pledged its faith and credit for the payment of principal and interest.

%

Any obligation that a United States agency issues in accordance with an act of Congress.

%

Repurchase agreements that any of the above obligations secure.

%

Certificates of deposits of Maryland financial institutions.

%

Banker's acceptances.

%

Money market mutual funds.

%

Commercial paper.

%

Maryland Local Government Investment Pool.

%

Securities Lending Collateral.
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In addition, bond sale proceeds may be invested in Municipal securities. Collateral must be at least 102% of the book value
of the repurchase agreements and must be delivered to the State Treasurer's custodian for safekeeping. Investments are recorded
at fair value and changes in fair value are recognized as revenue. Fair values are based on quotations from national security
exchanges and security pricing services, or by the respective fund managers for securities which are not actively traded. Money
market mutual funds and the Maryland Local Government Investment Pool are operated in accordance with Rule 2a-7 of the
Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended. Their fair values are based on a share price of $1.00 per share. Investments
maturing within 90 days of purchase are reported in the financial statements as cash and cash equivalents.
The Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (System), in accordance with State Personnel and Pensions Article Section
21-123 of the Annotated Code of Maryland, is permitted to make investments subject to the terms, conditions, limitations and
restrictions imposed by the Board of Trustees of the System. The law further provides that no more than 25% of the assets that
are invested in common stocks may be invested in nondividend paying common stocks. In addition, no investment in any one
organization may constitute more than 5% of the total assets of the System. The System is authorized by Section 21-116 of the
State Personnel and Pensions Article to establish and maintain the investment policy manual, which authorizes investing in all
major sectors of the capital market in order to diversify and minimize total investment program risk. Such sectors include, but are
not limited to, common stock, preferred stock, convertible securities, warrants and similar rights of U.S. and non-U.S. companies;
private equity - direct/partnership/funds; real estate investment trusts; commingled real estate funds; directly owned real estate;
fixed income obligations of the U.S. government and its states and local subdivisions, non-U.S. governments and their states and
local subdivisions, U.S. and non-U.S. companies, and supra-national organizations; futures and options; foreign exchange forward
and future contracts and options; equity index futures; and equity options.
Investments of the System, the Postretirement Health Benefits Trust Fund (OPEB Trust) and the Maryland Transit
Administration (MTA) Pension Plan are stated at fair value. The investments of the OPEB Trust and the MTA Pension Plan are
held and invested on their behalf by the System and are limited to those allowed for the System. For fixed income securities, fair
value is based on quoted market prices provided by independent pricing services. Securities traded on a national or international
exchange are valued at the last reported sales price at current exchange rates. Mortgages and mortgage related securities are valued
on the basis of future principal and interest payments and are discounted at prevailing interest rates for similar instruments. Fair
value for real estate investments is based on estimated current values and independent appraisals. Fair value for private equity
investments and mutual funds (other than those funds traded on a national or international exchange) is based on information
provided by the applicable fund managers.
State employees are offered participation in deferred compensation plans created in accordance with the Internal Revenue
Code, Sections 401(a), 401(k), 403(b) and 457. The Board of Trustees of the Maryland Teachers and State Employees Supplemental
Retirement Plans is responsible for the implementation, maintenance and administration of the Plans. The Board has appointed
a private company as the Plans' administrator. Assets of the Plans are held in trusts for the exclusive benefit of participating
employees and their beneficiaries. Investments of the Plans are valued at cost plus interest credited which approximates fair value
for fixed earnings investment contract pools and at fair value based on published quotations at each December 31, or net asset
value as provided by the investment custodian, for variable earnings investments.
Retirement Costs:
Substantially all State employees participate in one of several State retirement systems. (See footnote 15.) The State also
provides retirement benefits to teachers and certain other employees of its political subdivisions. Retirement costs have been
provided on the accrual basis, based upon actuarial valuations, except that retirement expenditures for governmental funds
represent amounts contributed by the State for the fiscal year.
Other Post-Employment Benefit Costs:
Substantially all State retirees may participate in the various health care plans offered by the State. (See footnote 16.) Postemployment health care costs have been provided on the accrual basis, based upon actuarial valuations, except that other postemployment expenditures for governmental funds represent amounts contributed by the State for the fiscal year.
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Accrued Self-Insurance Costs:
The accrued self-insurance costs represent the State’s liability for its various self-insurance programs. The State is self-insured for
general liability, property and casualty, workers’ compensation, environmental and anti-trust liabilities and certain employee health
benefits. The State records self-insurance expenses in the proprietary funds and discretely presented component units on an accrual
basis and the modified accrual basis for the governmental funds. The long-term accrued self-insurance costs of the governmental
funds, which are not expected to be funded with current resources, are reported in the government-wide financial statements.
Annual Leave Costs:
Principally all full-time employees accrue annual leave based on the number of years employed up to a maximum of 25 days per
calendar year. Earned annual leave may be accumulated up to a maximum of 75 days as of the end of each calendar year. Accumulated
earned but unused annual leave for general government employees is accounted for in the government-wide financial statements.
Liabilities for accumulated earned but unused annual leave applicable to proprietary funds and component units are reported in the
respective funds.
Capital Assets:
Capital assets, which include property, plant, art and historical treasures, equipment, and infrastructure assets
(e.g., roads, bridges, sidewalks, and similar items), are reported in the applicable governmental or business-type activities columns in
the government-wide financial statements. Infrastructure acquired prior to June 30, 1980, is not reported. Capital assets are defined
by the government as assets with an initial, individual cost of more than $50,000 and an estimated useful life in excess of two years.
Such assets are recorded at historical cost or estimated historical cost if purchased or constructed. Donated capital assets are recorded
at estimated fair market value at the date of donation. The costs of normal maintenance and repairs that do not add to the value of the
asset or materially extend asset lives are not capitalized. Major outlays for capital assets and improvements are capitalized as projects
are constructed.
Capital assets of the primary government, as well as the component units, are depreciated using the straight line method over the
following estimated useful lives:
Assets
Buildings
Building improvements
Vehicles
Office equipment
Computer equipment
Computer software
Infrastructure

Years
5-50
5-50
3-25
3-10
3-10
5-10
10-50

Long-term Obligations:
In the government-wide financial statements, and for proprietary fund types in the fund financial statements, long-term debt and
other long-term obligations are reported as liabilities in the applicable governmental activities, business-type activities, or proprietary
fund type statement of net assets. Bond premiums and discounts, as well as issuance costs, are deferred and amortized over the life of
the bonds. Bonds payable are reported net of the applicable bond premium or discount. Bond issuance costs are reported as deferred
charges and amortized over the term of the related debt.
In the fund financial statements, governmental fund types recognize bond premiums and discounts, as well as bond issuance costs,
during the current period. The face amount of debt issued is reported as other financing sources. Premiums received on debt issuances
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are reported as other financing sources while discounts on debt issuances are reported as other financing uses. Issuance costs,
whether or not withheld from the actual debt proceeds received, are reported as debt service expenditures.
Restricted Resources:
When both restricted and unrestricted resources are available for use, it is the State’s policy to use restricted resources first, and
then unrestricted resources as they are needed.
Debt Refinancing:
The gain or loss associated with debt refinanced is deferred and amortized to interest expense over the remaining life of the old
debt or the life of the new debt whichever is shorter.
Net Assets:
Net assets are divided into three categories. Net assets invested in capital assets net of related debt is the capital assets less
accumulated depreciation and outstanding principal of the related debt. Restricted net assets reflect restrictions on assets imposed
by parties outside the State or imposed by the State by constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Unrestricted net assets are
total net assets of the State less net assets invested in capital assets net of related debt and restricted net assets. Unrestricted net
assets are comprised mainly of cash, investments, loans and receivables.
B. Governmental Funds:
Inventories and Prepaid Items:
All inventories are valued at cost using the first-in/first-out (FIFO) method. Inventories of governmental funds are recorded
as expenditures when consumed rather than when purchased.
Certain payments to vendors reflect costs applicable to future accounting periods and are recorded as prepaid items in the
fund financial statements under the consumption method.
Grants:
Revenues from Federal reimbursement type grants are recognized when the related expenditures are incurred and the revenues
are both measurable and available. The government considers all grant revenues to be available if they are collected within 60 days
of the current fiscal period. Distributions of food stamp benefits are recognized as revenues and expenditures when the benefits
are distributed to individual recipients.
Income Taxes:
The State accrues the net income tax receivable or records a deferred revenue based on estimated income tax revenues and
refunds due relating to the fiscal year, that will not be collected or paid until after the fiscal year end. This accrual is computed
based on projected calendar year net tax collections, tax laws in effect, future projections and historical experience.
Sales and Use Taxes:
The State accrues June sales taxes that are not remitted at year end as a receivable. These taxes are considered measurable and
available since they represent June collections that are remitted to the State in July by merchants who collect the related sales tax.
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Property Taxes:
The State levies an annual tax for the fiscal year beginning July 1 and ending June 30 on all real property subject to taxation, due
and payable each July 1 and December 1 (lien dates), based on assessed values as of the previous January 1, established by the State
Department of Assessments and Taxation at 100% of estimated market value. Each of the counties, Baltimore City and incorporated
municipalities establish rates and levy their own tax on such assessed values. The State tax rate in fiscal year 2010 was 11.2 ¢ per $100
of assessed value. Unpaid property taxes are considered in arrears on October 1 and January 1, respectively, and penalty and interest
of 1% is assessed for each month or fraction of a month that the taxes remain unpaid. Property taxes are accrued to the extent they are
collected within 60 days of year end.
Escheat Property:
Escheat property is property that reverts to the State’s general fund in the absence of legal claimants or heirs. The escheat activity
is reported in the general fund. An asset is recognized in the period when the legal claim to the assets arises or when the resources are
received, whichever occurs first, and a liability is recognized for the estimated amount that ultimately will be reclaimed and paid.
Intergovernmental Expenditures:
General, special revenue and capital projects fund revenues paid to political subdivisions, and bond proceeds granted to political
subdivisions, are recorded as intergovernmental expenditures if such payments do not require mandatory use for specific functions.
Direct grants and other payments to, or on behalf of, political subdivisions are recorded as current expenditures.
Capital Assets:
Expenditures for capital assets are reported as capital outlays in the governmental funds.
Compensated Absences:
It is the State’s policy to permit employees to accumulate earned but unused vacation and sick pay benefits. There is no liability for
unpaid accumulated sick leave since the State does not have a policy to pay any amounts when employees separate from service with
the government. A liability for vacation pay amounts is reported in governmental funds only if they have matured, for example, as a
result of employee resignations and retirements.
Fund Equity:
Fund balance for governmental funds is reported in categories and classifications that are presented in order of constraints on the
specific purposes for which amounts in that fund can be spent. Nonspendable fund balance represents amounts that cannot be spent
because they are either (a) not in spendable form or (b) legally or contractually required to be maintained intact. Spendable fund
balance is classified as restricted, committed, assigned, or unassigned. Amounts are reported as restricted when spending constraints
are (a) externally imposed or (b) imposed by the government by constitutional provisions or enabling legislation. Committed fund
balance includes amounts committed for specific purposes by formal action of the government’s highest level of decision-making
authority. In Maryland, the uses of these funds are established in statute after appropriate action by the General Assembly and
the Governor. Assigned fund balance is intended spending expressed by (a) the governing body or (b) a body or official to which
the governing body has delegated the authority to assign amounts. The Governor is authorized to assign current year funds for
appropriation in the subsequent year’s budget pursuant to budgetary policies adopted by the General Assembly. Unassigned fund
balance is the residual classification for the general fund.
When an expenditure is incurred for purposes for which committed, assigned, or unassigned fund balance is available, the State
considers committed, assigned, and unassigned amounts to have been spent in that order.
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C. Enterprise Funds, Fiduciary Funds and Component Units:
Basis of Accounting:
The accounts of the enterprise funds, fiduciary funds and component units are maintained and reported using the accrual
basis of accounting. Under this method, revenues are recorded when earned and expenses are recorded at the time liabilities
are incurred. For both the government-wide business-type activities and the enterprise fund financial statements, the State has
selected the option to apply all applicable GASB pronouncements and only FASB Statements and Interpretations, Accounting
Principles Board (APB) Opinions and Accounting Research Bulletins (ARB) issued on or before November 30, 1989.
Enterprise funds and component units distinguish operating revenues and expenses from non-operating items. Operating
revenues and expenses generally result from providing services and producing and delivering goods in connection with a
proprietary fund’s principal ongoing operations. Operating expenses include the cost of sales and services, administrative
expenses, and depreciation on capital assets. All revenues and expenses not meeting this definition are reported as non-operating
revenues and expenses.
Cash and Cash Equivalents:
The enterprise funds consider all highly liquid investments that mature within 90 days of purchase to be cash and cash
equivalents for reporting on the statement of cash flows.
Grants:
Revenues from Federal reimbursement type grants are recorded when the related expenses are incurred.
Capital Assets:
Capital assets are stated at cost. Depreciation of the cost of capital assets is provided on the straight-line basis over
estimated useful lives of 5 to 50 years for depreciable real property and building improvements, and 3 to 10 years for equipment.
Construction period interest is capitalized. Repairs and maintenance are charged to operations in the period incurred.
Replacements, additions and betterments are capitalized.
Lottery Revenues, Prizes and Related Transfers:
Revenues and prizes of the Maryland State Lottery Agency (Lottery) are primarily recognized when drawings are held.
Certain prizes are payable in deferred installments. Such liabilities are recorded at the present value of amounts payable in the
future. State law requires the Lottery to transfer to the State revenues in excess of amounts allocated to prize awards, operating
expenses and capital expenditures. The excess revenues from certain select games are transferred to the State's general fund, which
then transfers the amounts to the Maryland Stadium Authority for operations and to cover the State’s capital lease payments to the
Maryland Stadium Authority.
Provisions for Insurance and Loan Losses:
Current provisions are made for estimated losses resulting from insuring loans and uncollectible loans. Loss provisions are
based on the current status of insured and direct loans, including delinquencies, economic conditions, loss experience, estimated
value of collateral and other factors which may affect their realization.

Inventories:
Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or market, using the first-in, first-out method.
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3. Deposits with Financial Institutions and the U.S. Treasury, Equity in Pooled Invested Cash
and Investments:
Cash and cash equivalents, equity in pooled invested cash and investments as shown on the basic financial statements as of June 30,
2010, reconcile to cash deposit and investment disclosures as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Government-wide statement of net assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ............................................................................................................. $ 422,056
Equity in pooled invested cash .....................................................................................................
3,690,482
Investments......................................................................................................................................
2,235,025
Collateral for lent securities ..........................................................................................................
247,824
Restricted cash and cash equivalents ...........................................................................................
1,532,101
Restricted equity in pooled invested cash ...................................................................................
105,315
Restricted investments ...................................................................................................................
1,309,523
Statement of fiduciary net assets:
Cash and cash equivalents .............................................................................................................
1,777,582
Equity in pooled invested cash .....................................................................................................
465,762
Investments......................................................................................................................................
35,523,302
Collateral for lent securities ..........................................................................................................
4,630,233
Total cash and cash equivalents and investments per basic financial statements .....
51,939,205
Less: Cash and cash equivalents and investments of higher education
foundations not subject to disclosure ...........................................................................
864,234
Total cash and cash equivalents and investments per Note 3 ....................................... $51,074,971
Note 3 of the financial statements:
Cash deposits:
Governmental funds .................................................................................................................... $ 247,275
Enterprise funds...........................................................................................................................
519,794
Fiduciary funds ............................................................................................................................
266,610
Component units .........................................................................................................................
90,625
Investments:
Governmental funds ...................................................................................................................
4,793,812
Enterprise funds...........................................................................................................................
2,590,180
Fiduciary funds ............................................................................................................................ 41,664,505
Component units .........................................................................................................................
902,170
Total cash deposits and investments .................................................................................... $51,074,971
Cash and cash equivalents for financial statement presentation include short-term investments maturing within 90 days
of purchase. Investments for financial statement presentation include certificates of deposit maturing 90 days or more from date of
purchase.
A. Cash Deposits:
As of June 30, 2010, the carrying value for the bank deposits of the governmental funds, enterprise funds, fiduciary funds and
component units were $247,275,000, $519,794,000, $266,610,000 and $90,625,000, respectively. The bank balances were $247,275,000,
$530,956,000, $266,610,000, and $94,471,000, respectively.
Custodial Credit Risk. Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of a bank failure, the government's deposits may not
be returned. Deposits are exposed to custodial credit risk if they are not covered by depository insurance and the deposits are (a)
uncollateralized, (b) collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution, or (c) collateralized with securities held
by the pledging financial institution's trust department or agent but not in the government's name. State law permits the Treasurer
to deposit in a financial institution in the State, unexpended or surplus money in which the Treasurer has custody if (a) the deposit is
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interest bearing; (b) the financial institution provides collateral that has a market value that exceeds the amount by which a deposit
exceeds the deposit insurance; and (c) a custodian holds the collateral.
The Economic Development Loan Programs, Higher Education component unit, and Maryland Stadium Authority do not
have a deposit policy for custodial credit risk. As of June 30, 2010, $37,000, $21,271,000, and $73,000, respectively, of their bank
balances were exposed to custodial credit risk as uninsured and uncollateralized. The Maryland Prepaid College Trust does not
have a policy for custodial credit risk. As of June 30, 2010, $12,863,000, of its bank balances were exposed to custodial credit risk
as uninsured and collateralized with securities held by the pledging financial institution’s trust department or agent but not in the
Trust’s name.
B. Investments:
The State discloses investment risks as follows:
Interest Rate Risk. Interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will adversely affect the fair value of an investment.
Credit Risk. Credit risk is the risk that an issuer or other counterparty to an investment will not fulfill its obligations.
Concentration of Credit Risk. Concentration of credit risk is the risk of loss attributed to the magnitude of a government's
investment in a single issuer.
Custodial Credit Risk. Custodial credit risk is the risk that, in the event of the failure of the counterparty, the government
will not be able to recover the value of its investments or collateral securities that are in the possession of an outside party.
Investment securities are exposed to custodial credit risk if the securities are uninsured, are not registered in the name of
the government and are held by either (a) the counterparty or (b) the counterparty's trust department or agent but not in
the government's name.
Foreign Currency Risk. Foreign currency risk is the risk that changes in exchange rates will adversely affect the fair value of an
investment.
1. Investments-Governmental Funds:
The State Treasurer's Office is authorized to make investments as stated in footnote 2.A.
Investments are stated at fair value that is based on quoted market prices. The investments and maturities as of
June 30, 2010, for the governmental funds of the primary government are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).

Investment Type
U.S. agencies (a) ..........................................
Repurchase agreements ..............................
Local Government Investment Pool .........
Total investments ...................................
Collateral for lent securities .......................
Total investments and
collateral for lent securities ................

Fair
Value

Investment Maturities (in Years)
Less
More
than 1
1-3
than 3

$ 2,814,275
1,510,903
220,810
4,545,988
247,824

...............
$1,498,082
220,810
1,718,892
247,824

...............

________

$2,814,275 (b)
12,821
________
2,827,096
________

$4,793,812

$1,966,716

$..........–...

$2,827,096

________

(a) Investments held by broker dealers under securities lending program are $177,917,000.
(b) Bonds in the amount of $2,145,820,000, mature February 2014 to June 2015, but are callable July 2010 to
June 2012.
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Interest Rate Risk. The State Treasurer's Office's investment policy states that to the extent possible, it will attempt to match its
investments with anticipated cash flow requirements. Unless matched to a specific cash flow, the Treasurer's Office will not directly
invest in securities maturing more than five years from the date of purchase. Sinking fund investments with guaranteed earnings to
redeem term bonds beginning in fiscal year 2016 were $12,821,000.
Credit Risk. State law requires that the governmental funds' repurchase agreements be collateralized by U.S. Treasury and agency
obligations. In addition, investments are made directly in U.S. agency obligations. Obligations of the Federal National Mortgage
Association, Federal Farm Credit Bank, and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation are rated Aaa by Moody’s and AAA by
Standard & Poor’s and Fitch. Obligations of the Federal Home Loan Bank are rated Aaa by Moody’s and AAA by Standard & Poor’s.
Obligations of the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation are not rated. The Local Government Investment Pool is rated AAAm
by Standard & Poor’s.
Concentration of Credit Risk. The State Treasurer's Office's investment policy limits the amount of repurchase agreements to be
invested with a particular institution to 30% of the portfolio. There is no other limit on the amount that may be invested in any one
issuer. More than 5 percent of the governmental funds' investments are in the Federal National Mortgage Association, the Federal
Home Loan Mortgage Corporation, the Federal Agricultural Mortgage Corporation, and the Federal Home Loan Bank. These
investments are 56.0%, 17.0%, 12.8%, and 8.6% of the governmental funds' total investments, respectively.
2. Investments - Enterprise Funds:
The enterprise funds' bond indentures and investment policies, with the exception of the Economic Development Loan Programs,
authorize the investment of assets related to the indentures and other funds in obligations in which the State Treasurer may invest.
The Economic Development Loan Programs are authorized to invest in obligations of the U.S. Treasury, U.S. government agencies,
obligations of U.S. political subdivisions, bankers' acceptances, commercial paper, repurchase agreements, guaranteed investment
contracts, corporate debt securities and mutual funds.
Investments of the enterprise funds are stated at fair value, which is based on quoted market prices.
The investments and maturities as of June 30, 2010, for the enterprise funds of the primary government are as follows (amounts
expressed in thousands).

Investment Type
U.S. Treasury obligations ...........................
U.S. Government agency obligations .......
Repurchase agreements ..............................
Guaranteed investment contracts..............
Money market mutual funds .....................
Total ..........................................................

Fair
Value

Less
than 1

$ 470,792
894,275
35,547
20,677
1,002,456
$2,423,747

$ 15,416
488,040
17,397
1,002,456
$1,523,309

Investment Maturities (in Years)
1-5

More
than 15

6-10

11-15

$ 547
397,484

$6,077
2,484

$4,284

_______
$398,031

20,677
______
$29,238

$444,468
6,267
18,150

_______
$4,284

_______
$468,885

In addition to the investments scheduled above, as of June 30, 2010, the enterprise funds’ investments also include the fair value of
direct equity investments, $52,752,000.
The State Lottery Agency, a major enterprise fund, invests in U.S. Treasury obligations and annuity contracts that provide for
guaranteed payouts to jackpot prize winners and, therefore, have no interest rate risk to the Lottery. At June 30, 2010, the fair value of
these investments was $113,334,000 and $347,000, respectively. Of these investments, U.S. Treasury obligations held by broker dealers
under the securities lending program were $64,771,000.
Interest Rate Risk. The enterprise funds' policy for managing their exposure to fair value loss arising from increasing interest rates
is to manage investment maturities so that they precede or coincide with the expected need for funds.
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Credit Risk. The investment policies of the enterprise funds require that repurchase agreements are collateralized by U.S.
Treasury and agency obligations. The policies also require that money market mutual funds contain only U.S. Treasuries or
agencies or repurchase agreements secured by these or that they receive the highest possible rating from at least one nationally
recognized securities rating organization and that commercial paper be rated A-1, P-1. According to the indenture and investment
policy of the Economic Development Loan Programs, investments must be rated no lower than the rating on the Loan Programs'
bonds or F1/P1 for the issuer's short-term accounts or securities. The rating on the Loan Programs' bonds as of June 30, 2010, was
Aa by Moody's and AA by Fitch.
As of June 30, 2010, the enterprise funds had the following investments and quality ratings (amounts expressed in thousands).

Investment Type
U.S. Government agency obligations ..........
Money market mutual funds .......................
Repurchase agreements-underlying
securities .......................................................
Total ............................................................

Fair Value
$ 894,275
1,002,456
35,547
$1,932,278

Quality
Rating
AAA/Aaa
AAAm/Aaa

Rating
Organization
S&P/Moody’s
S&P/Moody’s

AAA/Aaa

S&P/Moody’s

Percentage
of Total
Investments
34.53%
38.70
1.37
74.60%

Concentration of Credit Risk. The enterprise funds place no limit on the amount they may invest in any one issuer of U.S.
Government agency obligations. More than 5% of the enterprise funds' investments are in obligations of the Federal Home
Loan Bank and Federal Home Loan Mortgage Corporation. These investments are 13.8% and 9.8% of the enterprise funds' total
investments.
3. Investments - Fiduciary Funds:
The Pension and OPEB Trust Funds are authorized to make investments as stated in footnote 2.A.
The Maryland Local Government Investment Pool is authorized by Article 95, Section 22G, of the Annotated Code of
Maryland to invest in any instrument in which the State Treasurer may invest. Investments of the Pool are stated at fair value.
Securities are valued daily on an amortized cost basis which approximates market value. Money market funds are valued at the
closing net asset value per share on the day of valuation.
The investments and maturities as of June 30, 2010, for the fiduciary funds of the primary government are as follows (amounts
expressed in thousands).

Investment Type
U.S. Treasury notes and bonds ........................................
U.S. Treasury strips............................................................
U.S. Government agency obligations ..............................
Repurchase agreements ....................................................
Commercial paper .............................................................
Guaranteed investment contracts (a)..............................
Corporate bonds ................................................................
International bonds ...........................................................
Other government bonds .................................................
Mortgage-backed securities .............................................
Asset-backed securities .....................................................
Bond mutual funds............................................................
Swaps ...................................................................................
Alternative investments ....................................................
Money market mutual funds ...........................................
Total investments .......................................................
Collateral for lent securities .............................................
Total investments and collateral for lent securities .....

Fair
Value
$ 3,195,166
16,426
1,758,141
433,016
238,113
744,568
1,683,423
896,864
439,593
1,688,588
212,709
478,464
3,264
1,061,648
1,665,571
14,515,554
4,630,233
$19,145,787

Less
than 1
$ 484,956
1,529,916
433,016
238,113
102,065
110,282
14,627
17,445
975
25,126
8,625
410,963
1,665,571
5,041,680
4,630,233
$9,671,913

Investment Maturities (in Years)
1-5
$ 1,091,696
141,117
744,568
688,560
264,213
205,527
12,400
74,407
318,913
(1,106)
195,255
________
3,735,550
________
$3,735,550

6-10
$ 856,867
2,444
74,960

More
than10
$ 761,647
13,982
12,148

617,874
274,924
243,533
278,836
104,960
114,479
81,571
1,577,172
34,485
102,842
134,425
(1,433)
(2,822)
455,430
________ ________
2,605,116
3,133,208
________ ________
$2,605,116 $3,133,208

(a) These investments are stated at contract value at December 31, 2009. The fair value as of December 31, 2009, was
$736,258,000, and the wrapper value was $2,302,000.
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In addition to the investments scheduled above, as of June 30, 2010, the fiduciary funds’ investments also include the fair value
of stock mutual funds, $2,546,470,000, corporate equity securities, $15,430,583,000, private equity, $1,585,865,000, real estate,
$1,229,987,000, annuity contracts, $112,712,000, insurance contracts, $3,952,000, and other investments, $1,609,149,000.
Interest Rate Risk. At June 30, 2010, the System had $1.2 billion invested in mortgage pass-through securities. These investments
are moderately sensitive to changes in interest rates because they are backed by mortgage loans in which the borrowers have the option
of prepaying.
The Deferred Compensation Plans (Plans) invest in annuity contracts and insurance contracts that provide for guaranteed payouts
to participants and, therefore, have no interest rate risk to the Plans. As of June 30, 2010, the fair value of these investments was
$112,712,000 and $3,952,000, respectively.
The State Treasurer's Office manages the Local Government Investment Pool. The State Treasurer's investment policies state that
no direct investment by the Pool may have a maturity date of more than 13 months after its acquisition.
Credit Risk. The investment policy of the System regarding credit risk is determined by each investment manager’s mandate.
The Local Government Investment Pool may invest in banker’s acceptances and commercial paper rated only Tier 1 by at least one
nationally recognized securities rating organization. As of June 30, 2010, the fiduciary funds' investments were rated by Standard and
Poor's and/or an equivalent national rating organization and the ratings are presented below using the Standard and Poor's rating scale
(amounts expressed in thousands).
Investment Type
Fair Value
U.S. Government agency obligations…………….
$1,750,611
U.S. Government agency obligations…………….
684
U.S. Government agency obligations…………….
684
U.S. Government agency obligations…………….
1,711
U.S. Government agency obligations…………….
4,449
Repurchase agreements-underlying securities…
433,016
Money market mutual funds………………………
198,125
Money market mutual funds………………………
12,128
Money market mutual funds………………………. 1,403,935
Money market mutual funds……………………….
51,383
Commercial paper…………………………………..
238,113
Guaranteed investment contracts…………………
739,973
Guaranteed investment contracts….……………...
4,595
Corporate bonds……………………………………. 224,199
Corporate bonds……………………………………. 115,826
Corporate bonds……………………………………. 459,620
Corporate bonds…………………………………….
60,122
Corporate bonds…………………………………….
7,050
Corporate bonds……………………………………. 479,461
Corporate bonds……………………………………. 104,061
Corporate bonds……………………………………. 121,642
Corporate bonds…………………………………….
19,188
Corporate bonds…………………………………….
647
Corporate bonds…………………………………….
21,784
Corporate bonds…………………………………….
320
Corporate bonds…………………………………….
959
Corporate bonds…………………………………….
967
Corporate bonds…………………………………….
67,176
International bonds…………………………………. 620,239
International bonds………………………………….
90,392
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Quality Rating
AAA
AA
A
BAA
Unrated
AAA
AAA
AA
A
Unrated
AAA
AA
Unrated
AAA
AA
A
BAA
BA
BBB
BB
B
CAA
CA
CCC
CC
C
D
Unrated
AAA
AA
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Percentage of Total
Investments
4.73%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.01%
1.17%
0.53%
0.03%
3.79%
0.14%
0.64%
2.00%
0.01%
0.61%
0.31%
1.24%
0.16%
0.02%
1.29%
0.28%
0.33%
0.05%
0.00%
0.06%
0.00%
0.00%
0.00%
0.18%
1.67%
0.24%

International bonds…………………………………. 100,969
International bonds………………………………….
1,603
International bonds………………………………….
2,885
International bonds………………………………….
10,578
International bonds………………………………….
5,770
International bonds………………………………….
6,090
International bonds………………………………….
962
International bonds………………………………….
57,376
Other government bonds……………………………
97,202
Other government bonds……………………………
70,647
Other government bonds…………………………… 153,503
Other government bonds……………………………
21,023
Other government bonds……………………………
75,865
Other government bonds……………………………
3,188
Other government bonds……………………………
7,650
Other government bonds……………………………
319
Other government bonds……………………………
319
Other government bonds……………………………
9,877
Mortgage-backed securities……………………….. 1,404,156
Mortgage-backed securities………………………..
21,795
Mortgage-backed securities………………………..
58,024
Mortgage-backed securities………………………..
11,859
Mortgage-backed securities………………………..
4,167
Mortgage-backed securities………………………..
11,538
Mortgage-backed securities………………………..
5,449
Mortgage-backed securities………………………..
19,556
Mortgage-backed securities………………………..
14,743
Mortgage-backed securities………………………..
60,577
Mortgage-backed securities………………………..
18,270
Mortgage-backed securities………………………..
4,807
Mortgage-backed securities………………………..
53,647
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
111,632
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
4,798
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
11,515
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
640
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
320
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
19,832
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
18,872
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
15,993
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
320
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
13,434
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
1,919
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
2,559
Asset-backed securities-other……………………..
10,875
Bond mutual funds………………………………..
478,464
Swaps……………………………………………....
3,264
Total………………………………………….. $ 10,241,911

A
BAA
BA
BBB
BB
B
CCC
Unrated
AAA
AA
A
BAA
BBB
BB
B
CCC
C
Unrated
AAA
AA
A
BAA
BA
BBB
BB
B
CAA
CCC
CC
D
Not rated
AAA
AA
A
BAA
BA
BBB
BB
B
CAA
CCC
CC
D
Not rated
Not rated
Not rated

0.27%
0.00%
0.01%
0.03%
0.02%
0.02%
0.00%
0.15%
0.26%
0.19%
0.41%
0.06%
0.20%
0.01%
0.02%
0.00%
0.00%
0.03%
3.79%
0.06%
0.16%
0.03%
0.01%
0.03%
0.01%
0.05%
0.04%
0.16%
0.05%
0.01%
0.14%
0.30%
0.01%
0.03%
0.00%
0.00%
0.05%
0.05%
0.04%
0.00%
0.04%
0.01%
0.01%
0.03%
1.29%
0.01%
27.66%

Foreign Currency Risk. The majority of the System's foreign currency-denominated investments are in equities, which the
System's asset allocation policy limits to 15%. The System has an overlay program to minimize its currency risk.
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The System's exposure to foreign currency risk as of June 30, 2010, is as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Currency
Australian dollar ........
Brazilian real ..............
Canadian dollar .........
Czech koruna .............
Danish krone ..............
Egyptian pound .........
Euro currency ............
Hong Kong dollar ......
Hungarian forint........
Indonesian rupish......
Israeli shekel ...............
Japanese yen ...............
Malaysian ringgit .......
Mexican peso .............
New Taiwan dollar.....
New Turkish lira .......
New Zealand dollar ...
Norwegian krone .......
Philippine peso ..........
Polish zloty .................
Pound sterling ............
Singapore dollar .........
South African rand ....
South Korean won .....
Swedish krona ............
Swiss franc ..................
Thailand baht .............
Turkish lira .................
Yuan renminbi ...........
Multiple.......................
Total .......................

Equity

Fixed Income

$405,826
59,409
465,401
5,661
75,801
1,093
1,776,002
577,502
1,005
21,115
21,761
1,272,499
22,827
32,462
733
25,993
3,916
56,656
3,401
7,257
1,222,340
143,418
42,169
144,753
167,829
491,021
20,283
41,955

$ 58,032
119
50,506

$7,110,088

694
520,249
815

60,308

18,630
185,481

23,922
95
194
558
$919,603

Alternative
Investments

Mutual
Funds

$ 3,076
2,122
2,082
91
388

______

______

14,783
2,515
2
19
125
10,671
46
40
10,622

$253,380

Cash

45
374
32
3
5,960
561
219
169
475
617
8
182
$55,227

79,886

123,204
$456,470

$462,514
$462,514

Total
$ 466,934
61,650
517,989
5,752
76,883
1,093
2,564,414
580,832
1,007
21,134
21,886
1,343,478
22,873
32,502
11,355
25,993
3,961
57,030
3,433
25,890
1,493,667
143,979
42,388
144,922
192,226
491,733
20,291
42,137
194
586,276
$9,003,902

Derivatives:
Each System investment manager’s guidelines determine the extent to which derivatives are permissible. Futures and other
derivatives are permitted to the extent that they are used in a manner that does not materially increase total portfolio volatility or relate
to speculative activities. Unleveraged derivatives are permitted for the purpose of hedging investment risk, to replicate an investment
that would otherwise be made directly in the cash market or to modify asset exposure in tactical portfolio shifts. Use of derivatives
is not permitted to materially alter the characteristics, including the investment risk, of each manager’s account. The investment
managers are to have in place, and use, procedures that subject derivative based strategies to rigorous scenario and volatility analysis.
Futures and short option positions must be hedged with cash, cash equivalents or current portfolio security holdings.
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A list of derivatives aggregated by investment type is as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Changes in Fair Value
Classification
Amount(1)
Commodity futures long
Commodity futures short
Credit default swaps bought
Credit default swaps written
Fixed income futures long
Fixed income futures short
Fixed income options bought
Fixed income options written
Foreign currency options bought
Foreign currency options written
Futures options bought
Futures options written
FX forwards
Index futures long
Index futures short
Interest rate swaps
Pay fixed interest rate swaps
Receive fixed interest rate swaps
Rights
TBA transactions long
TBA transactions short
Total return swaps bond
Warrants
Totals

Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue
Investment revenue

$ (8,159)
3,093
(1,705)
15,693
51,539
(20,970)
30
3,064
(105)
683
(1,134)
3,141
129,042
7,069
(3,245)
366
(3,590)
5,606
2,904
13,290
(827)
(122)
139
$195,802

Fair Value at June 30, 2010
Classification
Amount (2)
Futures
Futures
Swaps
Swaps
Futures
Futures
Options
Options
Options
Options
Options
Options
Long term instruments
Futures
Futures
Swaps
Swaps
Swaps
Common stock
Long term instruments
Long term instruments
Swaps
Common stock

Notional*

$ (12,041)
3,096
(259)
(5,060)
16,570
(8,363)

$ 66,678
6
4,351
109,200
625,250
(713,150)

(1,905)
93
(2)
328
(325)
70,623
(1,079)

(277,300)
193
(1,500)
3,969
(1,784)

(2,157)
2,120
537
1,374
(496)

42,062
2,566,000
2,497
216,973
(41,495)

256

4,020
$ 67,074

1,435

*Notional may be a dollar amount or size of underlying for futures and options, negative values refer to short positions.
Credit Risk. The System is exposed to credit risk on derivative instruments that are in asset positions. To minimize its
exposure to losses related to credit risk, the investment managers use counterparty collateral in their non-exchange-traded
derivative instruments. Netting arrangements are also used when entering into more than one derivative instrument transaction
with a counterparty. At the present time the System does not have a formal policy relating to counterparty collateral or netting
arrangements.
The aggregate fair value of derivative instruments in asset positions as of June 30, 2010 was $683,501,000. This represents the
maximum loss that would be recognized at the reporting date if all counterparties failed to perform. The maximum loss would,
however, be reduced by the counterparty collateral and the liabilities included in netting arrangements with counterparties.
The following tables list the fair value of credit exposure per ratings of Standard & Poor’s (S&P), Moody’s and Fitch for the
counterparties (amounts expressed in thousands).
Fair Value
$411,103
272,398
________
$683,501

S&P Rating
AA
A

Fair Value
$ 31,445
645,097
6,959
$683,501

Moody’s Rating
Aaa
Aa
A

Fair Value
$515,481
168,020
________
$683,501
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Fitch Rating
AA
A
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Risk concentrations are presented in the table below.
Percentage
of Net
Counterparty Name
Exposure
UBS AG London
23%
Barclays Bank Plc Wholesale
15%
Royal Bank of Scotland Plc
14%
HSBC Bank Plc
10%
JP Morgan Chase Bank
10%
BNP Paribas SA
9%
Westpac Banking Corporation
9%
Royal Bank of Canada (UK)
4%
Northern Trust Co. London
2%
Toronto Dominion Bank
1%
Morgan Stanley & Co.
International Plc
1%
UBS AG
1%
Deutsche Bank AG London
1%

S&P
Rating
A
AA
A
AA
AA
AA
AA
AA
AA
AA

Fitch
Rating
A
AA
AA
AA
AA
AA
AA
AA
AA
AA

Moody’s
Rating
Aa
Aa
Aa
Aa
Aa
Aa
Aa
Aaa
Aa
Aaa

A
A
A

A
A
AA

A
Aa
Aa

4. Investments - Component Units:
Investment accounts established by higher education institutions relate principally to endowments and trust accounts required by
debt instruments and are invested in accordance with the investment policies adopted by the Board of Trustees. In general, endowment
resources can be invested in debt and equity securities, and trust accounts can be invested only in debt securities. These investments
include U.S. Treasury and agency obligations, corporate debt and equity securities, asset-backed securities and mutual funds that
invest in government securities. The investments of the higher education foundations are not included in the GASB Statement No. 40
disclosures below because the foundations are not required to and do not follow the statements of GASB.
In July 2005, one of the institutions, the University System of Maryland, transferred title to its endowment investments to its
foundation in exchange for an equivalent proportionate interest in the long-term investment portfolio managed by the foundation.
The agreement is for a term of five years, with renewable two-year extensions at the option of the institution, unless notice of intent
to terminate the arrangement is provided prior to the expiration of the term. If the agreement is terminated, funds invested with
individual investment managers that have commitments from the foundation to maintain investments for certain minimum time
periods may not be returned to the institution until those constraints have been satisfied. For reporting purposes, the foundation's
investments have been reduced by the amount of the institution's investments with the foundation.
The Maryland Stadium Authority is restricted by the trust indenture for each bond issue as to the investments which can be
made. Authorized investments under the indentures include U.S. Treasury and agency obligations, municipal obligations, banker's
acceptances, and repurchase agreements.
Investments of the component units are stated at fair value, which is based on quoted market prices.
The investments and maturities as of June 30, 2010, for the component units are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).

Investment Type

Fair Value

U.S. Treasury obligations ................................
U.S. Government agency obligations ............
Bond mutual funds..........................................
Corporate debt securities ...............................
Municipal bonds ..............................................
Money market mutual funds .........................
Total ............................................................

$ 35,315
148,487
11,034
88,570
4,456
118,596
$406,458
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Less
than 1

Investment Maturities (in Years)
1-5

6-10

11-15

More
than 15

$ 18,322
54,495

$10,428
3,746

$3,577

$ 5,738
45,153

31,214
341
118,596
_____
$177,256 $104,372

15,660
658
______
$30,492

677
418
______
$4,672

35,736
3,039
_______
$89,666

$

827
41,516
11,034
5,283
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In addition to the investments scheduled above, as of June 30, 2010, the component units’ investments include the fair value
of stock mutual funds, $184,662,000, corporate equity securities, $104,784,000, real estate, $29,059,000, and the share of assets
invested with the foundation, $177,207,000.
Interest Rate Risk. The policy of the higher education institutions for managing their exposure to fair value loss arising from
increasing interest rates is to comply with their investment policy, which sets maximum maturities for various fixed income
securities.
Credit Risk. The policies of the higher education institutions for reducing their exposure to credit risk is to require minimum
quality ratings for fixed income securities. The investment policy of the Maryland Prepaid College Trust requires the average
rating in each portfolio to be “AA” or better. The trust indenture for each bond issuance by the Maryland Stadium Authority
requires money market investments to be rated in the highest category by two nationally recognized securities rating organizations.
As of June 30, 2010, the component units had the following investments and quality ratings (amounts expressed in thousands).

Investment Type
U.S. agencies ........................................
U.S. agencies ........................................
Money market mutual funds ............
Money market mutual funds ............
Bond mutual funds.............................
Corporate debt securities ..................
Corporate debt securities ..................
Corporate debt securities ..................
Corporate debt securities ..................
Corporate debt securities ..................
Corporate debt securities ..................
Municipal bonds .................................
Total .............................................

Fair Value
$ 3,070
145,417
97,365
21,231
11,034
10,545
12,868
19,333
33,419
118
12,287
4,456
$371,143

Rating
AAA/Aaa
Not rated
Aaa
Not rated
Not rated
AAA/Aaa
AA/Aa
A
Less than A
BBB
Not rated
Aaa

Rating
Organization
S&P & Moody's
Moody's
S&P & Moody's
S&P & Moody's
S&P & Moody's
Moody's
S&P & Moody's
Moody's

Percentage
of Total
Investments
0.34%
16.13%
10.80%
2.35%
1.22%
1.17%
1.43%
2.14%
3.70%
0.01%
1.36%
0.49%
41.14%

Concentration of Credit Risk. The component units place no limit on the amount they may invest in U.S. Government issuers.
In addition to the Maryland Prepaid College Trust, the College Savings Plans of Maryland consists of the Maryland College
Investment Plan, a fiduciary component unit. As of June 30, 2010, the Plan has $1,851,223,000 of investments held in trust for
individuals and organizations.
C. Securities Lending Transactions:
1. Governmental and Enterprise Fund Types:
Under Section 2-603 of the State’s Finance and Procurement Article, the State lends U.S. Government securities to brokerdealers and other entities (borrowers). The State Treasurer’s Office controls the program and authorizes all transactions. These
transactions may involve certain investments held in the State treasury for the benefit of State agencies. The State’s custodial bank
manages the securities lending program by contracting with a lending agent who receives cash as collateral. The lending agent may
use or invest cash collateral in accordance with the reinvestment guidelines approved by the State Treasurer’s Office. Additionally,
under the terms of the lending agreement, the lending agent indemnifies the State against any credit loss arising from investment
of the collateral. The collateral will be returned for the same securities in the future. Cash collateral is initially pledged at greater
than the market value of the securities lent and additional cash collateral has to be provided by the next business day if the
aggregate value of the collateral falls to less than 100 percent of the market value of the securities lent.

A-65

www.marylandtaxes.com 65

Securities on loan at year-end are owned by the general fund and the Maryland State Lottery Agency and are included in the
preceding Investments Note 3.B. At year-end, the State has no credit risk exposure to borrowers because the amounts the State owes
the borrowers exceed the amounts the borrowers owe the State. As of June 30, 2010, the fair value of the loaned securities and the
related collateral were as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).

Securities-General fund ............................................
Securities-Lottery Agency ........................................
Total ....................................................................

Fair Value_____
Lent
Collateral
Securities
Received
$ 177,917
$ 182,000
64,771
65,824
$ 242,688
$ 247,824

Percent
Collateralized
102.3%
101.6
102.1%

Either the State or the borrower may terminate the lending agreements on demand. Lending agreements are usually short in
duration. The duration of lending agreements is matched with the term to maturity of the investment of the cash collateral by investing
only in repurchase agreements. Such matching existed at year-end. Investments made with cash received as collateral are included in
the preceding Investments-Governmental Funds Schedule in 3.B.1.
The State's custodial bank is obligated to indemnify the State against liability for any suits, actions or claims of any character arising
from or relating to the performance of the bank under the contract, except for liability caused by acts or omissions of the State.
The State did not experience any losses on their securities lending transactions for the year ended June 30, 2010.
2. Fiduciary Funds:
The Pension Trust Funds (Funds) participate in a securities lending program as permitted by the investment policies as approved
by the Board of Trustees. The Funds’ custodian lends specified securities to independent brokers in return for collateral of greater
value. The preceding Investments – Fiduciary Funds Schedule in 3.B.3 includes (1) securities lent at year-end for cash collateral; (2)
securities lent for securities collateral; and (3) investments purchased with cash collateral.
Borrowing brokers must transfer in the form of cash or other securities, collateral valued at a minimum of 102% of the fair value
of domestic securities and international fixed income securities, or 105% of the fair value of international equity securities on loan.
Collateral is marked to market daily. If the fair value of the pledged collateral falls below the specified levels, additional collateral is
required to be pledged by the close of the next business day. In the event of default by a borrowing broker, the Funds’ custodial bank
is obligated to indemnify the Funds if, and to the extent that, the fair value of collateral is insufficient to replace the lent securities. The
Funds have not experienced any loss due to credit or interest rate risk on securities lending activity since inception of the program. As
of June 30, 2010, the Funds had no credit risk exposure to borrowers because the fair value of collateral held for securities lent exceeded
the fair value of the related securities, as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).

Fair
Value

Securities Lent
Lent for cash collateral:
Fixed income securities ........................................................... $ 2,331,720
Domestic equities .....................................................................
1,680,536
International equities ...............................................................
484,724
Subtotal ...................................................................................
4,496,980
Lent for noncash collateral:
Fixed income securities ..........................................................
25,890
Domestic equities ....................................................................
11,956
International equities ..............................................................
3,542
Total securities lent............................................................... $ 4,538,368
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Cash Collateral
Received or NonCash Collateral Value

Percent
Collateralized

$ 2,383,436
1,734,086
512,711
4,630,233

102.3%
103.2
105.8

26,146
16,458
_
$ 4,672,837

101.0
137.7
103.0%

_

During fiscal year 2010, the Funds maintained the right to terminate securities lending transactions upon notice. Cash
collateral is invested in one of the lending agent’s short-term investment pools, which as of June 30, 2010, had a weighted
average maturity of 33 days and an average expected maturity of 73 days. Because the relationship between the maturities of
the investment pools and the Funds’ security loans is affected by the maturities of the loans made by other entities that use the
agent’s pools, the Funds cannot match maturities. The Funds cannot pledge or sell collateral securities received unless and until a
borrower defaults.

4. Receivables:
Taxes receivable, as of June 30, 2010, consisted of the following (amounts expressed in thousands).

Income taxes ..............................................................
Sales and use taxes .....................................................
Transportation taxes, principally
motor vehicle fuel and excise ..................................
Other taxes, principally alcohol and property .......
Less: Allowance for uncollectibles.....................
Taxes receivable, net ........................................

Major Governmental
Funds
Special
General
Revenue
$ 550,918
389,252
40,736
42,260
$ 938,646

$73,281
_______
$ 73,281

Total
Non-Major
Governmental
Governmental Funds
Funds
$ 550,918
389,252
$ 26,329
_______
$ 26,329

73,281
67,065
42,260
$1,038,256

Tax revenues are reported net of uncollectible amounts. Total uncollectible amounts related to tax revenues of the current
period are $5,469,000.
Other accounts receivable in the governmental funds of $526,031,000, including $70,658,000 due in excess of one year,
consist of various miscellaneous receivables for transportation costs, collection of bills owed to the State’s collection unit, Medicaid
reimbursements, and child support and public assistance overpayments.
Other accounts receivable for the enterprise funds of $386,298,000, primarily consist of $220,647,000 due to the Maryland
Unemployment Program from employers and for benefit overpayments, and $29,245,000, due to the Maryland State Lottery
Agency for lottery ticket sale proceeds.
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5. Deferred Revenue:
Governmental funds report deferred revenue in connection with receivables for revenues that are not considered to be available to
liquidate liabilities of the current period. Governmental funds, enterprise funds and component units also defer revenue recognition in
connection with resources that have been received, but not yet earned.
As of June 30, 2010, the various components of deferred revenue reported in the governmental funds and enterprise funds were as
follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Tax receivables for revenues not considered available to
liquidate liabilities of the current period (general fund)..........................
Other receivables for revenues not considered available
to liquidate liabilities of the current period (general fund) .....................
Other receivables for revenues not considered available to
liquidate liabilities of the current period (special revenue
fund) ................................................................................................................
Other receivables for revenues not considered available
to liquidate liabilities of the current period
(other governmental funds) .........................................................................
Receipts that have been received, but not earned (general fund) ...............
Revenue in connection with resources that have been received,
but not earned (special revenue fund) .......................................................
Revenue in connection with resources that have been received,
but not earned (enterprise funds) ..............................................................
Total deferred/unearned revenue for governmental funds
and enterprise funds ..........................................................................

Unavailable

Unearned

Total

$217,688

$217,688

208,607

208,607

50,254

50,254

47

$375,984

47
375,984

16,462

16,462

________

19,794

19,794

$476,596

$412,240

$888,836

6. Loans and Notes Receivable and Investment in Direct Financing Leases:
A. Loans and Notes Receivable:
Loans and notes receivable, as of June 30, 2010, consisted of the following (amounts expressed in thousands).

Notes receivable:
Political subdivisions:
Water quality projects .............................
Public school construction .....................
Other .........................................................
Volunteer fire & rescue companies .........
Permanent mortgage loans.......................
Student and health profession loans .......
Shore erosion loans ...................................
Other ...........................................................
Total ......................................................
Less: Allowance for possible loan losses.... .
Loans and notes receivable, net .........
Due within one year ......................................
Due in more than one year...........................
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___________Primary Government___________
Special Revenue Non-major
Department of Governmental
General Transportation
Funds
Enterprise

$ 8,275
6,369
___257
14,901
______
14,901
__2,074
$12,827

$ 2,887
351
18

$ 1,466

______
3,256
______
3,256
___551
$ 2,705
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Higher
Education

Stadium
Authority

Other

$ 847,484

3,042,242
______
1,466
______
1,466
__ 300
$ 1,166

______Component Units______

________
3,889,726
__270,074
3,619,652
__130,022
$3,489,630

$78,495
5,224
83,719
13,865
69,854
8,186
$61,668

$ 4,470
4,470
______
4,470
___401
$ 4,069

$674
674
34
640
79
$ 561

Certain notes receivable for advances of general obligation bond proceeds bear interest at rates ranging from 4.4% to
8.8% and mature within 23 years.
Water quality project loans consist of loans to various local governments and other governmental entities in the State for
wastewater and drinking water projects under the United States Environmental Protection Agency’s (EPA) Capitalization Grants
for State Revolving Funds’ Federal assistance program. The permanent mortgage loans consist of financing for single and
multi-family projects, rental projects, small businesses, industrial sites and various other purposes. Student and health profession
loans are made pursuant to student loan programs funded through the U.S. Government.
B. Investment in Direct Financing Leases:
Enterprise Funds:
As of June 30, 2010, the Maryland Transportation Authority (Authority) has direct financing leases with the State’s
Department of Transportation, the Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (WMATA), and the general fund. The
present value of the direct financing leases as of June 30, 2010, was $398,906,000. As of June 30, 2010, the Authority held
$48,589,000 to be spent to complete assets under these direct financing leases. Lease payments receivable, including unearned
interest for each of the five succeeding fiscal years and thereafter, including repayment of amounts to be spent, consist of the
following amounts (expressed in thousands).
___________________________________________________________________________________________________
2011 ..........................................................................................................................................................................
$ 25,024
2012 ..........................................................................................................................................................................
26,189
2013 ..........................................................................................................................................................................
27,294
2014 ..........................................................................................................................................................................
28,484
2015 ..........................................................................................................................................................................
18,119
2016-2020 ................................................................................................................................................................
98,236
2021-2025 ................................................................................................................................................................
110,500
2026-2030 ................................................................................................................................................................
81,175
2031-2035 ................................................................................................................................................................
28,040
Total ..................................................................................................................................................................
443,061
Unearned interest income .............................................................................................................................
4,434
Total lease payments ..................................................................................................................................
447,495
Restricted investments related to unexpended bond proceeds ............................................................
48,589
Net investments in direct financing leases ........................................................................................
$398,906
Component Units:
As of June 30, 2010, the Maryland Stadium Authority (Authority) has direct financing leases with the State. The present
value of the direct financing leases as of June 30, 2010, is $228,628,000. As of June 30, 2010, the Authority held $7,857,000 to
be spent to complete assets under these direct financing leases. Lease payments receivable, including unearned interest for
each of the five succeeding fiscal years and thereafter, including repayment of amounts to be spent, consist of the following
amounts (expressed in thousands).
___________________________________________________________________________________________________
2011 ..........................................................................................................................................................................
$ 31,652
2012 ..........................................................................................................................................................................
31,822
2013 ..........................................................................................................................................................................
31,835
2014 ..........................................................................................................................................................................
31,924
2015 ..........................................................................................................................................................................
30,688
2016-2020 ................................................................................................................................................................
123,584
2021-2025 ................................................................................................................................................................
47,290
2026-2030 ................................................................................................................................................................
6,432
Total ..................................................................................................................................................................
335,227
Less: Unearned interest income....................................................................................................................
98,742
Total lease payments ..................................................................................................................................
236,485
Restricted investments related to unexpended bond proceeds ............................................................
7,857
Net investments in direct financing leases ........................................................................................
$228,628
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7. Restricted Assets:
Certain assets of the governmental activities, business-type activities and component units are classified as restricted assets on
the Statement of Net Assets. The purpose and amount of restricted assets as of June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in
thousands).

Amount

Purpose

Governmental Activities:
$ 27,437
1,126
147,813
2,929
$179,305

Represents money restricted for completion of transportation construction projects maintained in a trust
account per Certificates of Participation agreements
Represents investments restricted for debt service payments according to bond agreements
Represents State property taxes restricted to pay debt service on general obligation debt
Represents certificates of deposit linked to funds loaned under the State’s housing loan program

Business-type Activities:
$3,718,470
668,917
677,635
145,426
787,467
$5,997,915

Assets of the Community Development Administration and the State Funded Loan Programs are restricted
for various mortgage loans for low-income housing and local governments’ public facilities
The purpose of the restricted assets is to secure the revenue bonds of the Maryland Water Quality
Administration made for waste-water treatment systems and bay restoration
Restricted assets represent deposits with the U.S. Treasury and amounts due from employers to pay
unemployment compensation benefits in accordance with Federal statute
This cash is held in separate annuity contracts and coupon bonds in the Maryland State
Lottery Agency for winning lottery ticket payouts and escrow deposits from video lottery
terminal license applicants
Cash and investments have been restricted in accordance with revenue bond debt covenants
of the Maryland Transportation Authority for completion of capital projects and debt service

Component Units:
$ 160,095
21,358
14,861
_
$ 196,314

Restricted assets of higher education include funds held by the trustee for future construction projects and
to pay debt service and cash restricted for endowment purposes
Restricted assets of Maryland Stadium Authority include cash and investments that relate to
revenue bond indentures and master equipment lease financing agreements
Restricted assets include investments that relate to revenue bond indentures and to restricted
project advances for the provision of water supply and waste-water treatment by the Maryland
Environmental Service
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8. Interfund Receivables and Payables:
Interfund balances, as of June 30, 2010, consisted of the following (amounts expressed in thousands).
Receivable Fund
General Fund

Special Revenue Fund

Payable Fund
Non-major governmental funds
Enterprise Funds Economic Development Loan Programs
Maryland State Lottery Agency

Amount
$ 54,830 (b)

General Fund
Enterprise Funds Maryland Transportation Authority

$ 91,075 (d)

2,011 (c)
39,026 (a)
$95,867

33,955 (e)
$125,030

Non-major governmental funds

General Fund

$ 2,425 (f)

Enterprise Funds –
Economic Development Loan Programs
Unemployment Insurance Program
Maryland Transportation Authority

General Fund
General Fund
Special Revenue Fund

Agency Fund –
Local Income Taxes

$ 20,985 (h)
2,967 (h)
12,889 (g)
$ 36,841

General Fund

$ 350,000 (i)



The receivable and payable transactions between the governmental funds and the enterprise funds are reported as due from
and due to other funds. The receivable and payable transactions between the agency fund and the general fund are reported as
accounts receivable from State treasury by the agency fund and due to other funds by the general fund.
The receivable and payable transactions between the Primary Government and Component Units, as of June 30, 2010, consist of
the following (amounts expressed in thousands).
Receivable Fund
General Fund

Payable Fund
Higher Education Fund

Component Units Maryland Stadium Authority

General Fund

Amount
$ 702
$3,764

(a) The amounts represent monies collected by the Maryland State Lottery in June, 2010, and paid to the general fund in July,
2010.
(b) This amount represents an overdraft in the non-major governmental funds’ share of pooled invested cash.
(c) The amount represents short term advances from the general fund for principal and interest payments.
(d) The amount represents income tax subsidies and return of health insurance costs from the general fund.
(e) The Maryland Transportation Authority collects fees for the special revenue fund. The money will be used to build and
maintain special revenue fund infrastructure, structures and other improvements.
(f) The amount represents monies collected by the general fund in June, 2010, and paid to the non-major governmental
funds in July, 2010.
(g) The Maryland Transportation Authority receives rent, interest income and fees for services form the special revenue fund.

A-71

www.marylandtaxes.com 71

(h) These amounts represent receivable balances from general fund subsidies.
(i) The loan was made in accordance with Section 2-606 of Tax-General Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland from the
reserve of unallocated tax revenue that the Comptroller estimates will be claimed and refunded to taxpayers within 3 years of
the date that the income tax return was filed. The money will be used to provide funding for public elementary and secondary
education. According to the same law, an additional loan from this Agency Fund (reserve) of $200,000,000 to the General
Fund, is required to be made in fiscal year 2011 to assist in funding the Maryland Medicaid Program.
All interfund balances except for (i) above, are expected to be repaid by June 30, 2011. For (i) above, the General Fund is required
to pay $50,000,000 a year in each of fiscal years 2014 through 2020 to the Agency Fund for the $350,000,000 loan and $33,333,000 a
year in each of fiscal years 2021 through 2026 for the $200,000,000 loan.

9. Interfund Transfers:
Interfund transfers, for the year ended June 30, 2010, consisted of the following (amounts expressed in thousands).
Transfers In
General Fund

Transfers Out
Special Revenue Fund
Non-major Governmental Funds
Enterprise Funds Maryland State Lottery Agency
Economic Development Loan Programs
Non-major Enterprise Funds

Amount
$ 398,284
192,913
510,609
168,666
6,230
$1,276,702

Special Revenue Fund

General Fund

$ 376,856

Non-major Governmental Funds

General Fund
Special Revenue Fund

$

96,454
145,037
$ 241,491

General Fund
Non-major Governmental Funds
Special Revenue Fund

$

Enterprise Funds Loan Programs
Maryland Transportation Authority

$

36,934
3,777
30,000
70,711

Transfers are primarily used to 1) transfer revenues from the fund required by statute or budget to collect the revenue to the fund
required by statute or budget to expend them, 2) transfer receipts restricted to debt service from the funds collecting the receipts to the
non-major governmental funds as debt service payments become due, and 3) provide unrestricted revenues collected in the general
fund to finance various programs accounted for in other funds in accordance with budgetary authorizations. In addition, the nonmajor governmental funds transferred $185,835,000 of Program Open Space funds, $185,000 of interest earned on bonds, $981,000
for expenses for bond sales, $87,000 return of funds for rescinded pay-as-you-go capital projects, and $5,825,000 of Shore Erosion loan
repayments to the general fund.
The Maryland State Lottery transferred revenue in excess of funds allocated to prize awards, operating expenses and capital
expenditure payments in the amount of $510,609,000, to the general fund. The general fund transferred $36,934,000 to support the
operations of Enterprise Funds – Loan Programs, and the Enterprise Funds – Loan Programs transferred $168,666,000 of unused funds
to the general fund. The special revenue fund also transferred $30,000,000 to the Enterprise Fund – Maryland Transportation Authority
for design, planning and land purchases for the Inter-County Connector Project. Expenditures for capital projects of $3,777,000 were
transferred to Enterprise Funds – Loan Programs.
During the year, the general fund and other governmental funds had expenditures of $1,642,836,000, and $264,178,000,
respectively, that were for funds provided to supplement revenues and construction costs, respectively, of the higher education
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component units. The general fund also had net expenditures of $19,537,000 that were for funds provided to supplement revenues
of the Maryland Stadium Authority. The general fund transferred $15,743,000 to the non-major component unit, the Maryland
Technology Development Corporation, for Maryland Stem Cell Research and other operating grants.

10. Capital Assets:
A. Capital Assets, Primary Government:
Capital assets activity by asset classification net of accumulated depreciation, for the year ended June 30, 2010, was as follows
(amounts expressed in thousands).
Governmental activities:

Balance
June 30, 2009

Additions

Deletions

$ 2,995,299
27,795
_3,455,727
_6,478,821

$ 91,737
55
722,380
_814,172

$ 1,209
18,480
__48,861
__68,550

Capital assets, being depreciated,
Structures and improvements ..........................
Equipment ..........................................................
Infrastructure .....................................................
Total capital assets, being depreciated .........

5,843,377
2,546,277
16,905,796
25,295,450

162,655
87,523
524,594
774,772

12,824
167,502
__11,812
_192,138

Less accumulated depreciation for,
Structures and improvements... .......................
Equipment ..........................................................
Infrastructure .....................................................
Total accumulated depreciation ...................
Total capital assets, net.............................

2,302,540
1,758,132
__8,448,357
_12,509,029
$ 19,265,242

182,577
152,895
_690,617
1,026,089
$ 562,855

3,102
93,556
___1,848
_ 98,506
$ 162,182

Classification
Capital assets, not being depreciated,
Land and improvements ...................................
Art and historical treasures .............................
Construction in progress ..................................
Total capital assets, not being depreciated .
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Transfers
In/Out*
$

(4,801)

(1,780,335)
(1,785,136)
188,684
153,688
1,028,994
1,371,366

________
________
$ (413,770)

Balance
June 30, 2010
$ 3,081,026
9,370
_2,348,911
_5,439,307
6,181,892
2,619,986
18,447,572
27,249,450
2,482,015
1,817,471
_9,137,126
13,436,612
$ 19,252,145
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Business-type activities:
Balance
June 30, 2009

Additions

Deletions

Balance
June 30, 2010

$ 395,850
1,381,193

$ 17,763
797,665

$ 8,741
1,870

$ 404,872
2,176,988

1,777,043

815,428

10,611

2,581,860

Capital assets, being depreciated,
Structures and improvements ............................
Equipment ............................................................
Infrastructure .......................................................
Total capital assets, being depreciated ...........

45,890
85,522
2,544,235
2,675,647

150
6,641
1,648
8,439

240
31,235
145,323
176,798

45,800
60,928
2,400,560
2,507,288

Less accumulated depreciation for,
Structures and improvements ............................
Equipment ............................................................
Infrastructure .......................................................
Total accumulated depreciation .....................
Total capital assets, net .............................

21,393
55,943
1,168,574
1,245,910
$3,206,780

980
6,520
45,691
53,191
$770,676

163
31,263
72,661
104,087
$83,322

22,210
31,200
1,141,604
1,195,014
$3,894,134

Classification
Capital assets, not being depreciated,
Land and improvements .....................................
Construction in progress ....................................
Total capital assets, not being
depreciated ................................................

*A large decrease for transfers from the State Highway Administration (SHA) to an agency outside the State was made via an
ownership agreement with the State of Virginia (VDOT) for half ownership of the completed Woodrow Wilson Bridge project in
the amount of $413,770,000. These assets were transfered from SHA to VDOT for the year ended June 30, 2010.
B. Depreciation Expense, Primary Government:
The depreciation expense for the year ended June 30, 2010, for the primary government was charged as follows
(amounts expressed in thousands).
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
Governmental activities:
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
Function
Amount
General government ...........................................................................................................
$ 37,248
Education..............................................................................................................................
5,374
Human resources.................................................................................................................
10,936
Health and mental hygiene ................................................................................................
8,588
Environment ........................................................................................................................
514
Public safety .........................................................................................................................
51,547
Housing and community development ............................................................................
113
Natural resources and recreation ......................................................................................
16,643
Transportation ....................................................................................................................
878,817
Agriculture ...........................................................................................................................
13,729
Labor, licensing and regulation .........................................................................................
607
Judicial ..................................................................................................................................
1,973
Total depreciation expense – governmental activities ............................................
$1,026,089
Business-type activities:
____________________________________________________________________________________________
Function
Amount
State Lottery ........................................................................................................................
$
1,308
Transportation Authority ..................................................................................................
50,414
Maryland Correctional Enterprises .................................................................................
1,450
Economic Development Loan Programs ........................................................................
19
Total depreciation expense - business type activities ............................................
$ 53,191
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11. Long-Term Obligations:
A.

Governmental Activities:

Changes in governmental activities’ long-term debt, for the year ended June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in
thousands).

Bonds and notes payable:
General obligation bonds ............
Transportation bonds...................
Deferred amounts:
Issuance premiums ....................
On refunding..............................
Total bonds and notes payable ....
Other liabilities:
Compensated absences ................
Self insurance costs ......................
Net pension obligation.................
Net other post employment
benefits obligation .....................
Obligations under
capital leases ...............................
Obligations under capital
leases with component units ....
Pollution remediation ..................
Total other liabilities..................
Total long-term liabilitiesgovernmental activities ..........

Balance
June 30, 2009
$ 5,873,643
1,582,605

Additions
$1,938,963
140,000

Reductions

Balance
Amounts Due
June 30, 2010 Within One Year

$1,289,384
77,595

$ 6,523,222
1,645,010

$515,094
83,170

474,565
(37,402)
7,893,411

196,954
(117,555)
2,158,362

55,777
(14,381)
1,408,375

615,742
(140,576)
8,643,398

307,882
319,378
1,016,617

176,926
1,137,742
221,430

160,805
1,123,179
11,610

324,003
333,941
1,226,437

1,478,130

951,972

848,208

15,073

65,080

798,201

59,821

250,407
179,972
4,400,594

399
3,563
2,507,105

18,044
14,118
1,392,836

232,762
169,417
5,514,863

19,417
550
365,225

$12,294,005

$4,665,467

$2,801,211

$14,158,261

$963,489

______
598,264
163,771
121,666

2,430,102

General Obligation Bonds General obligation bonds are authorized and issued primarily to provide funds for State owned capital improvements,
facilities for institutions of higher education and the construction of public schools in political subdivisions. Bonds have also been
issued for local government improvements, including grants and loans for water quality improvement projects and correctional
facilities, and to provide funds for loans or outright grants to private, not-for-profit cultural or educational institutions. Under
constitutional requirements and practice, the Maryland General Assembly, by a separate enabling act, authorizes loans for
particular objects or purposes. Thereafter, the Board of Public Works, a constitutional body comprised of the Governor, the
Comptroller and the State Treasurer, by resolution, authorizes the issuance of bonds in specified amounts. Bonds are issued and
accounted for on a "cash flow" basis rather than a "project" basis and are not sold to specifically fund an enabling act. General
obligation bonds are subject to arbitrage regulations. However, there are no major outstanding liabilities in connection with these
regulations as of June 30, 2010. Bonds issued after January 1, 1988, are subject to redemption provisions at the option of the State.
General obligation bonds, which are paid from the general obligation debt service fund, are backed by the full faith and
credit of the State and, pursuant to the State Constitution, must be fully paid within 15 years from the date of issue.
Property taxes, debt service fund loan repayments and general fund and capital projects fund appropriations provide the resources
for repayment of general obligation bonds. During fiscal year 2010, the State issued $1,938,963,000 of general obligations at a
premium of $196,323,000 with related issuance costs of $9,282,000.
Included in bond issuances were $798,080,000 to refund certain outstanding general obligation bonds issued between 2004
and 2009. From the refunding bonds and related premium of $130,455,000, $924,185,000 was transferred to an escrow account
and used to purchase U.S. Government securities. These securities will be used to secure the principal, call premium, and interest
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related to the refunded bonds. The interest rates on the refunded bonds range from 4.3% to 5.0%. The purpose of the refunding was
to realize savings on debt service costs. The aggregate difference in debt service between the refunded debt and the refunding debt is
$35,134,000. The economic gain on the transaction, that is, the difference between the present value of the debt service streams for the
refunding debt and refunded debt, is $33,527,000.
Refunded bonds of $899,710,000 maturing in fiscal years 2012-2023 and callable in fiscal years 2011-2017 were considered
defeased as of June 30, 2010. Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in these
financial statements.
General obligation bonds issued and outstanding, as of June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
________________________________________________________________________________________________
Interest
Annual Principal
Principal
Principal
Issue
Maturity
Rates
Installments
Issued
Outstanding
________________________________________________________________________________________________
8/3/00
2004-2016
5.1-5.8%
$
15,900
$ 200,000
$ 15,900
3/8/01
2004-2016
4.0-5.5
15,900-20,535
200,000
108,830
7/26/01
2005-2017
5.0-5.5
15,130-20,285
200,000
123,200
11/21/01
2016
0(b)
18,098
18,098
18,098
3/21/02(a)
2003-2017
4.0-5.5
15,180-19,765
309,935
121,715
8/15/02(a)
2003-2018
3.0-5.5
16,000-23,055
515,830
153,930
3/6/03
2006-2018
5.0-5.3
35,920-49,830
500,000
339,210
8/5/03
2007-2019
5.0
34,060-41,605
500,000
188,695
8/10/04
2008-2020
5.0
26,025-33,420
400,000
177,590
10/21/04(a)
2005-2016
5.0
18,495-108,620
574,655
274,200
11/30/04
2020
0(b)
9,043
9,043
9,043
3/17/05(a)
2006-2020
4.0-5.3
29,195-105,235
631,185
440,295
8/11/05
2009-2021
4.3-5.0
30,565-43,820
450,000
313,155
3/23/06
2009-2021
4.0-5.0
20,060-27,955
300,000
234,615
8/10/06
2010-2022
4.3-5.0
21,160-34,870
350,000
264,300
12/20/06
2022
0(b)
4,378
4,378
4,378
3/15/07
2010-2022
5.0
19,445-28,455
325,000
214,135
8/16/07
2011-2023
5.0
21,000-38,265
375,000
375,000
12/18/07
2023
0(b)
4,986
4,986
4,986
3/12/08
2011-2023
4.0-5.0
22,585-40,555
400,000
331,600
7/28/08
2012-2024
5.0
24,365-41,705
415,000
415,000
12/16/08
2010-2021
1.6(b)
464
5,563
5,099
3/16/09(a)
2011-2024
2.0-5.0
22,620-61,690
490,800
451,285
8/18/09
2013-2025
2.0-5.3(c)
29,070-50,000
485,000
485,000
11/3/09
2013-2025
4.5-5.0(c)
11,205-20,400
200,000
200,000
12/16/09
2025
0(d)
50,320
50,320
50,320
12/17/09
2011-2025
1.6(b)
371
5,563
5,563
12/18/09(a)
2016-2021
2.0-5.0
29,560-178,775
602,765
602,765
3/9/10(c)
2019-2025
4.0-4.6
52,450-62,170
400,000
400,000
3/9/10(a)(b)
2018-2023
3.0-5.0
2,330-60,600
195,315
195,315
$9,118,436
$6,523,222
(a) Includes refunding debt
(b) Qualified Zone Academy Bonds for which the purchaser receives Federal tax credits each year the bonds
are outstanding
(c) Includes federally taxable Build America Bonds for which the State receives a subsidy payment from the Federal
government equal to 35% of interest payments
(d) Qualified School Construction Bonds for which the purchaser receives Federal tax credits each year the bonds are
outstanding
General obligation bonds authorized, but unissued, as of June 30, 2010, total $2,394,985,000.
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As of June 30, 2010, general obligation debt service requirements for principal and interest in future years are as
follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Years Ending
_________ June 30,
Principal
2011…………………………$ 515,094
2012………………………… 542,179
2013………………………… 564,299
2014………………………… 529,389
2015………………………… 506,374
2016-2020…………………. 2,459,889
2021-2025………………… 1,405,998
Total……………………… $6,523,222

Interest
$ 304,968
278,952
250,866
222,808
196,748
612,117
139,354
$2,005,813

Subsequent to June 30, 2010, on August 10, 2010, general obligation bonds aggregating $485,175,000 were issued for capital
improvements. Serial bonds in the amount of $440,000,000 with interest rates ranging from 2.0% to 5.0% mature through 2026.
Term bonds in the amount of $45,175,000 with an average interest rate of 4.4% mature in 2026.
Of these bonds, $120,175,000 were issued as federally taxable bonds. Bonds in the amount of $75,000,000 are Build America
Bonds under the American Recovery and Reinvestment Act of 2009 (ARRA). For these bonds, the State receives a subsidy
payment from the Federal government equal to 35% of interest payments. Bonds in the amount of $45,175,000 are Qualified
School Construction Bonds under ARRA. For these bonds, the State receives a subsidy payment from the Federal government
equal to 100% of interest payments.
Transportation Bonds Transportation bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Outstanding
Consolidated Transportation Bonds – 3.0% to 5.5%, due serially through 2024 for State
transportation activity ..............................................................................................................................................
Consolidated Transportation Bonds, Refunding – 5.0%, due serially through 2014 for State
transportation activity ...............................................................................................................................................
Total ....................................................................................................................................................

$1,593,655
51,355
$1,645,010

Consolidated Transportation Bonds are limited obligations issued by the Maryland Department of Transportation
(Department) for highway, port, airport, rail, or mass transit facilities, or any combination of such facilities. The principal must be
paid within 15 years from the date of issue.
As provided by law, the General Assembly shall establish in the budget for any fiscal year a maximum outstanding aggregate
amount of these Consolidated Transportation Bonds as of June 30 of the respective fiscal year that does not exceed $2,600,000,000
through June 30, 2010, and thereafter. The aggregate principal amount of those bonds that was allowed to be outstanding as of
June 30, 2010, was $1,830,010,000. The aggregate principal amount of Consolidated Transportation Bonds outstanding as of June
30, 2010, was $1,645,010,000. Consolidated Transportation Bonds are paid from the transportation debt service fund. Principal
and interest on Consolidated Transportation Bonds are payable from the proceeds of certain excise taxes levied by statute and
a portion of the corporate income tax credited to the Department. These amounts are available to the extent necessary for that
exclusive purpose before being available for other uses by the Department. If those tax proceeds become insufficient to meet debt
service requirements, other receipts of the Department are available for that purpose. The holders of such bonds are not entitled to
look to other State resources for payment.
Under the terms of the authorizing bond resolutions, additional Consolidated Transportation Bonds may be issued, provided,
among other conditions, that (1) total receipts (excluding Federal funds for capital projects, bond and note proceeds, and other
receipts not available for debt service), less administration, operation and maintenance expenses for the preceding fiscal year, equal
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at least two times the maximum annual debt service on all Consolidated Transportation Bonds outstanding and to be issued, and that
(2) total proceeds from pledged taxes equal at least two times the maximum annual debt service on all Consolidated Transportation
Bonds outstanding and to be issued.
The 2009 session of the General Assembly established a maximum outstanding principal amount of $661,800,000 as of June 30,
2010, for all nontraditional debt of the Department. Nontraditional debt outstanding is defined as any debt instrument that is not
a Consolidated Transportation Bond or GARVEE bond (tax-exempt debt backed by annual federal appropriations for federal-aid
transportation projects). This debt includes certificates of participation, debt backed by customer facility charges, passenger facility
charges, or other revenues, and debt issued by the Maryland Economic Development Corporation or any other third party on behalf
of the Department. As of June 30, 2010, the Department's nontraditional debt outstanding was $674,740,000 and is reported as
obligations under capital leases and includes funds held by the bond trustee under these agreements.
Arbitrage regulations are applicable to the transportation bonds payable. The Department estimates there are no material liabilities
for arbitrage rebates as of June 30, 2010.
During fiscal year 2010, the Department issued $140,000,000 of Consolidated Transportation Bonds at a premium of
$631,000, with maturities ranging from June 15, 2013, to June 15, 2025, with interest rates ranging from 2.0% to 4.7%. Of these bonds,
$126,000,000 were issued as federally taxable bonds (Build America Bonds).
As of June 30, 2010, Department bond debt service requirements for principal and interest in future years are as
follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Years Ending
June 30,
2011...........................
2012 ...........................
2013 ...........................
2014 ...........................
2015 ...........................
2016-2020 .................
2021-2025 .................
Total ...........................

Consolidated Transportation Bonds
Principal
Interest
$ 83,170
$ 75,492
102,845
71,672
109,340
66,908
130,620
61,480
147,280
55,421
696,000
168,717
375,755
40,047
$1,645,010
$539,737

Obligations Under Capital Leases Obligations under capital leases as of June 30, 2010, bore interest at annual rates ranging from .9% to 6.7%. Capital lease
obligations with third parties in fiscal year 2010 increased by $15,073,000 for master equipment and building leases entered into by the
general fund and include leases for various transportation related projects entered into by the Maryland Department of Transportation.
The capital leases with component units include the general fund’s capital leases with the Maryland Stadium Authority, which are
being paid with the net proceeds transferred from certain Lottery games, and with other non-major component units. Following is
a schedule of annual future minimum payments under these obligations, along with the present value of the related net minimum
payments as of June 30, 2010 (amounts expressed in thousands).
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Years Ending
Capital Lease Obligations with ____________
___June 30,
Third Parties
Component Units
2011……………………………………………… $ 99,343
$ 34,046
2012………………………………………………
95,167
33,209
2013………………………………………………
88,044
32,958
2014………………………………………………
84,835
33,059
2015………………………………………………
69,324
31,312
2016-2020……………………………………….
322,492
124,252
2021-2025……………………………………….
278,425
47,290
2026-2030……………………………………….
175,640
6,432
2031-2035……………………………………….
29,379
_
Total future minimum payments……………. 1,242,649
342,558
Less: Amount representing interest……..
410,960
99,557
Less: Restricted cash and investments…
33,488
10,239
Present value of net minimum payments. $ 798,201
$ 232,762
The reduction shown for restricted cash and investments in the amounts of $33,488,000 and $10,239,000 is monies held by the
bond trustee to be used primarily for construction expenditures.
The assets acquired through capital leases are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Asset
Construction in progress ..........................................................
Land and improvements ...........................................................
Buildings and improvements ...................................................
Machinery and equipment .......................................................
Infrastructure .............................................................................
Total acquired assets...........................................................
Less: Accumulated depreciation .....................................
Total capital assets - net .................................................

Third Parties
Amount_________________________________
$ 51,854
19,102
1,043,334
263,928
319,383
1,697,601
480,355
$1,217,246

Pollution Remediation Obligations The State has recognized a pollution remediation obligation on the statement of net assets for governmental activities. A
pollution remediation obligation is a liability which addresses the current or potential detrimental effects of existing pollution and
may include pre-cleanup activities (site assessment, feasibility study), cleanup activities (neutralization, containment, removal and
disposal, site restoration), oversight and enforcement and post remediation monitoring.
Obligating events initiate the recognition of a pollution remediation liability. These events include any of the following.
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

There is an imminent danger to the public.
The State is in violation of a related permit or license.
The State is identified as a responsible party or potentially responsible party (PRP) by a regulator.
The State is named or has evidence that it will be named in a lawsuit.
The State commences, or legally obligates itself to commence, pollution remediation activities.

The pollution remediation obligation is an estimate and subject to changes resulting from price increases or reductions,
technology, or changes in applicable laws or regulations. The liability is recognized as it becomes estimable. In some cases,
this may be at inception. In other cases, components of a liability (for example, legal services, site investigation or required
post remediation monitoring) are recognized as they become reasonably estimable. At a minimum, the liability is reviewed for
sufficiency when various benchmarks occur, such as receipt of an administrative order, participation as a responsible party or PRP
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in a site assessment, completion of a corrective measures feasibility study, issuance of an authorization to proceed, and as remediation is
implemented and monitored.
Measurement of the liability is based on the current value of outlays expected to be incurred using the expected cash flow
technique. This technique measures the liability as the sum of probability-weighted amounts in a range of possible estimated amounts the estimated mean or average. Expected recoveries reduce the pollution remediation expense.
The pollution remediation estimated liability is $680,697,000 with approximately $511,280,000 of estimated recoveries from
third parties to reduce the liability. Included in this liability are cost estimates for site monitoring and repair, excavation of road and
infrastructure and replacement of buildings as a result of site contaminations by hazardous materials under Federal and State law in the
amount of $155,670,000. In these cases, either the State has been named in a lawsuit by a State regulator or the State legally obligated
itself under the Environmental Article, Section 7-201, of the Annotated Code of Maryland.
The estimated liability also includes $12,461,000 for the clean-up of an illegal tire dump for which the State is legally obligated
under the Environmental Article, Section 9-2 of the Annotated Code of Maryland. The State is also responsible for the removal
and replacement of underground storage tanks and the monitoring of wells, in an estimated amount of $1,286,000, as a result of not
complying with federal requirements under the Clean Water Act and the Resource Conservation Recovery Act.
The cost estimates and assumptions for the pollution remediation due to site contamination from hazardous materials are based on
engineering design estimates. The cost estimates and assumptions for the tire dump clean-up are based on estimated unit cost of $325/
ton based on historical data, fuel costs, specific site factors and adjusted by 3% - 4% CPI.
No pollution remediation liability has been recognized for a former landfill on land owned by the highway department that has
been identified for cleanup by the EPA. The EPA has invited the agency to participate in a PRP Group as owner-operator of the land.
The agency has replied that it transferred the land in question to a local government. The State has not made a final commitment.
Cleanup costs have yet to be determined.
For the governmental activities, compensated absences, self insurance, net pension obligations, net other post-employment
benefits obligations, obligations under capital leases, and pollution remediation obligations are generally liquidated by the general or
special revenue fund as applicable.
B. Long Term Obligations – Business-type Activities:
Changes in long-term obligations for business-type activities as of June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).

Bonds Payable:
Revenue bonds payable ..........................
Other Liabilities:
Lottery prizes ..........................................
Escrow deposits ......................................
Rebate liability ........................................
Compensated absences .........................
Self insurance costs ...............................
Obligations under capital leases ...........
Total other liabilities........................
Total long-term liabilitiesbusiness type activities ..........
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Balance
June 30, 2009

Amounts Due
Balance
June 30, 2010 Within One Year

Additions

Reductions

$5,422,501 $ 1,083,158

$344,026

$6,161,633

$358,646

119,702
40,479
10,106
11,648
8,720
5,748
196,403

8,279
25,393
1,074
6,835
2,086
________
43,667

29,656
34,851
3,146
6,082
2,010
487
_76,232

98,325
31,021
8,034
12,401
8,796
5,261
163,838

24,098
6,537
725
2,868
1,363
1,166
_ 36,757

$5,618,904

$1,126,825

$420,258

$6,325,471

$395,403
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Debt service requirements for business-type activities’ notes payable and revenue bonds to maturity are as follows (amounts
expressed in thousands).

Years Ending
June 30,
2011 ...............................
2012 ...............................
2013 ...............................
2014 ...............................
2015 ...............................
2016-2020 .....................
2021-2025 .....................
2026-2030 .....................
2031-2035 .....................
2036-2040 .....................
2041-2045 .....................
2046-2050 .....................
Total……………..
Discounts, premiums ..
and other deferred
costs .........................
Accumulated accreted
interest....................
Total ....................

Community
Development
___Administration___
Principal Interest
$ 126,506 $ 120,530
318,595 117,375
73,585 114,526
80,050 111,442
83,310 108,058
431,025 484,390
348,600
395,810
340,185 315,259
487,405 229,502
535,910 124,064
251,510
39,743
39,055
3,448
3,115,736 2,164,147
21,147
_________ _________
$3,136,883 $2,164,147

Maryland
Water Quality
Financing
___Administration__
Principal Interest
$ 14,465 $ 5,499
15,660
4,890
13,400
4,240
13,470
3,760
6,560
3,192
32,835 11,863
30,330
3,834

______________
126,720 37,278
3,696
________ ______
$130,416 $37,278

Maryland
Maryland
Unemployment
Transportation
Insurance
____Authority____
__Program__
Principal
Interest
Principal
$ 84,465 $ 135,559
88,058
131,349
101,588
127,530
114,957
122,918
108,762
117,765
598,316
500,237
315,215
377,967
339,320
288,684
352,310
197,396
357,815
106,252
213,485
18,706
_______ _______
2,674,291 2,124,363

$133,841

_______
133,841

52,308
_ _33,894 _________
$2,760,493 $2,124,363

_______
$133,841

Community Development Administration (Administration) - Revenue Bonds:
The Administration, an agency of the Department of Housing and Community Development, has issued revenue bonds,
proceeds of which were used for various mortgage loan programs. Assets aggregating approximately $3,717,989,000 and
revenues of each mortgage loan program are pledged as collateral for the revenue bonds. Interest rates range from 0.5% to 6.8%,
with the bonds maturing serially through June, 2049. The principal amount outstanding as of June 30, 2010, is $3,136,883,000.
Substantially all bonds are subject to redemption provisions at the option of the Administration. Redemptions are permitted
at rates ranging from 100% to 101% of the outstanding principal amount. During fiscal year 2010, the Administration issued
$138,205,000 of revenue bonds with interest rates ranging from 0.5% to 5.3% and maturing serially through November, 2041 and
$246,330,000 of revenue bonds at variable short-term rates and maturing on January 1, 2012.
Subsequent to June 30, 2010, the Administration issued a total of $93,555,000 and redeemed a total of $69,720,000 revenue
bonds.
Interest Rate Swaps:
Objective of the interest rate swap. As a means to lower its borrowing costs, when compared against fixed-rate bonds at
the time of issuance, the Administration entered into interest rate swaps in connection with variable rate revenue bonds totaling
$295,555,000. The intention of the swaps was to effectively change the Administration’s variable interest rate on the bonds to fixed
rates.
Terms. The bonds and the related swap agreements mature from September 1, 2025 through September 1, 2043, and
the swaps’ notional amount of $295,555,000 matches the amount of the variable rate bonds. Under the swap agreements, the
Administration pays the counterparty a fixed payment of from 3.7% to 4.8% and receives a variable payment computed as either
64% of the London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) plus .2% or .3%. Conversely, the bonds’ variable rate is based on the Securities
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Industry and Financial Markets Association Rate.
Credit risk. The fair value of the swaps represents the Administration’s credit exposure to each counterparty as of June 30,
2010. The fair value of three swaps with one counterparty is ($8,205,000), the fair value of one swap with a second counterparty is
($4,560,000), the fair value of three swaps with a third counterparty is ($17,625,000), and the fair value of one swap with a fourth
counterparty is ($2,240,000). Therefore, the Administration is not exposed to credit risk as of June 30, 2010, because the swaps have
a negative fair value. However, should the valuation of the swap change and the fair value turn positive, the Administration would
be exposed to credit risk in the amount of the swap’s fair value. The first counterparty is rated AA by Standard & Poor’s and Aa by
Moody’s, the second counterparty is rated A by Standard & Poor's and Fitch and Aa by Moody's, the third counterparty is rated Aa by
Moody's and AAA by Standard & Poor's and Fitch, and the fourth counterparty is rated Aaa by Moody’s and AA by Fitch. To mitigate
the potential for credit risk, if the counterparties’ credit quality falls below A, the fair value of the swaps will be fully collateralized by
the counterparties.
Basis risk. The swaps would expose the Administration to basis risk should the relationship between LIBOR and the Securities
Industry and Financial Markets Association Rate converge. If a change occurs that results in the rates moving to convergence, the
expected cost savings may not be realized.
Termination risk. The Administration or the counterparty may terminate the swap if the other party fails to perform under
the terms of the contract. The counterparty can terminate the contract if the ratings on the related bonds fall below the credit rating
thresholds. If a swap is terminated, the underlying variable rate bonds may be exposed to rising interest rates. If at the time of such
termination a swap has a negative fair value, the Administration would be liable to the counterparty for a payment equal to the swap’s
fair value along with any accrued interest.
Swap payments and associated debt. Using rates as of June 30, 2010, debt service requirements of the variable rate debt and net
swap payments, assuming current interest rates remain the same for their term, are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands). As
rates vary, variable rate bond interest payments and net swap payments will vary.
Years Ending
June 30,
2011………………………..
2012………………………..
2013………………………..
2014………………………..
2015………………………..
2016-2020…………………
2021-2025…………………
2026-2030…………………
2031-2035…………………
2036-2040…………………
2041-2045…………………
Total…………..

Hedged Variable
Rate Bonds
Principal
Interest
$
110
$ 901
919
915
916
916
6,695
4,552
9,560
4,385
21,555
4,175
148,505
2,554
77,365
997
31,765
247
$295,555
$21,477

Interest Rate
Swaps, Net
$ 11,303
10,818
10,365
9,958
9,588
41,814
33,236
28,606
20,628
8,944
912
$186,172

Total
$ 12,314
11,737
11,280
10,874
10,504
53,061
47,181
54,336
171,687
87,306
32,924
$503,204

Fair value. Because interest rates have generally decreased since execution of the swaps, the swaps have a fair value of
($32,630,000) as of June 30, 2010. The swaps’ fair value may be countered by a decrease in total interest payments required under the
variable rate bonds, creating a lower synthetic interest rate. Because the coupons on the Administration’s variable rate bonds adjust to
changing interest rates, the bonds do not have a corresponding fair value decrease.
The table below summarizes the total fair values for the Administration’s interest rate swaps as of June 30, 2010 and 2009, and the
changes in fair values for the year ended June 30, 2010 (amounts expressed in thousands).

Interest rate swaps:
Cash flow hedges
Investment derivatives
Total
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Total
Fair Value at
June 30, 2009
$ (14,149)
(15,306)
$ (29,455)

Total
Fair Value at
June 30, 2010
$ (32,630)
________
$ (32,630)
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Change in
Fair Value
for the Period
$ (18,481)
15,306
$ ( 3,175)

The fair value balances of derivative instruments (interest rate swaps) outstanding as of June 30, 2010, classified by type,
and the changes in fair value as presented on the financial statements for the year ended June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts
expressed in thousands).
Change in Fair Value
Classification Amount

Fair Value at June 30, 2010
Classification
Amount

Cash flow hedges:
Pay fixed interest
rate swaps

Deferred
outflow

$(18,481)

Debt

Investment derivatives:
Pay fixed interest
rate swaps

Investment
revenue

$ 15,306

Investment $

$(32,630)

–

Outstanding Notional
Amounts
$295,555

$

–

The fair value of the swaps is based on market value and is affirmed by an independent advisor whose valuation method and
assumptions are in accordance with accounting guidance issued by GASB. The fair values of the interest rate swaps were estimated
using the zero-coupon method. This method calculates the future net settlement payments required by the swap, assuming
that the current forward rates implied by the yield curve correctly anticipate future spot interest rates. These payments are then
discounted using the spot rates implied by the current yield curve for hypothetical zero-coupon bonds due on each future net
settlement on the swaps.
At June 30, 2009, the Administration determined that 2007 Series F, J and M interest rate swaps did not meet the criteria for
effectiveness. Therefore, the swap fair values in the amount of $15,305,000 were reclassified as investment revenue and restated
beginning net assets on these financial statements.
Maryland Water Quality Financing Administration (Administration) - Revenue Bonds:
The Administration, an agency of the Department of Environment, has issued revenue bonds for providing loans and grants.
Interest rates range from 3.3% to 4.1%, payable semiannually, with annual installments from $2,625,000 to $12,920,000 to March
1, 2025. The principal amount outstanding as of June 30, 2010, is $130,416,000. These bonds are payable solely from the revenue,
money or property of the Administration.
Maryland Unemployment Insurance Program - Non-Interest Loan Agreement:
The Program entered into a new non-interest loan arrangement with the U.S. Department of Labor for a maximum amount
of $300,000,000 to provide liquidity to the Program. During the year, the Program was advanced $133,841,000 which is still
outstanding as of June 30, 2010. The loan is due on December 31, 2010.
Short-term debt activity during fiscal year 2010 is as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Outstanding short-term debt as of June 30, 2009……….....
Issuance…………………………………………………….
Retirements………………………………………………...
Outstanding short-term debt as of June 30, 2010…........

$
133,841
______$133,841

This amount of short-term debt is included in the revenue bonds payable-current on the Statement of Net Assets.
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Maryland Transportation Authority Bonds:
Bonds outstanding as of June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Series 1992 Capital appreciation refunding and financing revenue bonds for the Authority's Transportation
Facilities Projects maturing in annual installments of original principal ranging from $721 to $5,080 from
July 1, 2010, to July 1, 2015, with approximate yields to maturity of 6.3% to 6.4% and an accreted amount ......................... $ 50,520
BWI Consolidated Car Rental Facility Revenue bonds, Series 2002, maturing in annual installments ranging
from $2,145 to $8,505 from July 1, 2010, to July 1, 2032, with interest rates ranging from 2.7% to 6.7%,
payable semiannually .......................................................................................................................................................................... 105,855
BWI Parking Garage Revenue Bonds, Series 2002 A and B, maturing in annual installments ranging from
$4,315 to $17,470 from March 1, 2011, to March 1, 2027, with interest rates ranging from 4.0% to 5.3%
payable semiannually .......................................................................................................................................................................... 220,575
BWI Facilities Projects Bonds, Series 2003, maturing in annual installments ranging from $9,900 to $11,200
42,300
from July 1, 2010, to July 1, 2013, with a current variable rate of .3%, payable semiannually ..................................................
from
ranging
installments
annual
in
maturing
2004,
Series
Bonds,
Projects
Parking
WMATA Metrorail
$1,205 to $2,780 from July 1, 2010, to July 1, 2028, with interest rates ranging from 3.0% to 5.0%,
35,635
payable semiannually .........................................................................................................................................................................
Series 2004 Revenue bonds, for construction and improvement of Authority's Transportation Facilities projects,
maturing in annual installments of $1,155 to $15,235 from July 1, 2010, to July 1, 2032, with interest rates
ranging from 4.5% to 5.3% payable semiannually ......................................................................................................................... 156,855
Calvert Street Parking Project Revenue bonds, Series 2005, maturing in annual installments ranging from
$635 to $1,415 from July 1, 2010, to July 1, 2032, with interest rates ranging from 3.3% to 4.4% payable
21,960
semiannually .......................................................................................................................................................................................
Grant and Revenue Anticipation Bonds, Series 2007 (GARVEE bonds), maturing in annual installments ranging
from $24,345 to $34,390 from March 1, 2011, to March 1, 2019, with an interest rate of 4.0%
payable semiannually to finance the Intercounty Connector Highway Project.......................................................................... 257,090
Series 2007 Revenue Bonds, for construction and improvement of Authority’s Transportation Facilities projects,
maturing in annual installments of $1,025 to $12,685 from July 1, 2012, to July 1, 2031, with interest rates
ranging from 4.0% to 5.0% payable semiannually ......................................................................................................................... 300,000
Series 2008 Revenue Bonds, for construction and improvement of Authority’s Transportation Facilities projects,
maturing in annual installments of $8,885 to $31,070 from July 1, 2012, to July 1, 2038, with interest rates
ranging from 4.8% to 5.1% payable semiannually ........................................................................................................................ 573,305
Series 2009 Revenue Bonds, for construction and improvements of the Authority’s Transportation Facilities
projects maturing in annual installments of $2,380 to $14,570 from July 1, 2016 to July 1, 2023 with interest
rates ranging from 3.0% to 5.0% payable semiannually ............................................................................................................... 549,385
Grant and Revenue Anticipation Bonds, Series 2008 (GARVEE bonds), maturing in annual installments
ranging from $30,295 to $48,865 from March 1, 2011, to March 1, 2020, with an interest rate of 4.3%,
payable semiannually .......................................................................................................................................................................... 394,705
52,308
Unamortized premium ............................................................................................................................................................................
$2,760,493
.......................................
Total ...............................................................................................................................................................
Revenue bonds are payable solely from the revenues of the transportation facilities projects. Capital assets constructed from BWI
facilities, WMATA Metrorail and the Calvert Street Parking Project are not capital assets of the Authority. Capital appreciation bonds
payable as of June 30, 2010, include an accreted amount of $33,894,000.
The Authority is authorized to issue Grant and Revenue Anticipation Bonds (GARVEE Bonds) to a maximum amount of
$750,000,000 to build the Intercounty Connector highway project to be built in Montgomery and Prince George's Counties, Maryland.
Debt service on these bonds is payable from a portion of Maryland's future Federal highway aid and other pledged moneys. These
bonds are not general obligations of the Authority or legal obligations of the Maryland Department of Transportation or the State. The
Authority has issued all GARVEE bonds authorized as of June 30, 2010.
During the year ended June 30, 2010, the Authority issued Series 2009 Revenue Bonds of $549,385,000 for construction and
improvments to the Authority’s transportation facilities projects, including bonds of $98,870,000 with interest rates ranging from 3.0%
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to 5.0% and maturing serially through July, 2023 and term bonds of $450,515,000 maturing July 1, 2029 and 2043 with coupons of
5.8% and 5.9% respectively.
Obligations Under Capital Leases Obligations of business-type activities under capital leases as of June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in
thousands).
State
Lottery Agency________________________________

Years Ending June 30,
2011 ...............................................................................................................
2012 ...............................................................................................................
2013 ...............................................................................................................
2014 ...............................................................................................................
2015 ...............................................................................................................
Total minimum lease payments.................................................
Less: Imputed interest ..........................................................
Present value of net minimum lease payments ...........

$1,286
1,252
1,217
1,216
607
5,578
317
$5,261

The Lottery has entered into lease agreements for certain on-line gaming system equipment and a computer system. As
of June 30, 2010, assets acquired under leases and the related accumulated amortization totaled $5,882,000 and $1,626,000
respectively, and are included in capital assets in the Statement of Net Assets, Business-type Activities.
C. Notes and Revenue Bonds Payable - Component Units:
Higher Education Certain State higher education institutions have issued revenue bonds for the acquisition, renovation, and construction of
student housing and other facilities. Student fees and other user revenues collateralize the revenue bonds. Interest rates range
from 2.0% to 6.1% on the revenue bonds.
Debt service requirements to maturity, excluding debt of the foundations in the amount of $4,572,000, are as follows (amounts
expressed in thousands).
Years Ending
June 30,
2011..................................
2012..................................
2013..................................
2014..................................
2015..................................
2016-2020……………..
2021-2025……………..
2026-2030……………..
2031-2035……………..
2036-2040……………..
Total……………..…
Accumulated accreted
interest and other
deferred costs…..…
Total…………....….

Notes Payable and
Other Long-Term Debt
Principal
Interest
$ 5,600
$ 3,878
6,235
4,964
7,216
3,823
6,298
3,618
4,256
3,462
15,002
15,838
60,020
5,168
_______
104,627

______
40,751

Principal
$ 75,725
78,235
68,840
64,035
66,950
341,865
234,450
112,570
9,840
___ 725
1,053,235

_____
$104,627

_______
$40,751

___28,033
$1,081,268

Revenue Bonds
Interest
$ 47,305
42,943
39,835
36,861
33,931
120,402
51,692
13,558
928
____ 51
387,506
________
$387,506

The bonds issued are the debt and obligation of the issuing higher education institutions and are not a debt and
obligation of, or pledge of, the faith and credit of the State.
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As of June 30, 2010, higher education institutions have defeased debt outstanding of $133,300,000 resulting from the refunding of
previously issued debt. Accordingly, the trust account assets and the liability for the defeased bonds are not included in these financial
statements.
As of June 30, 2010, cash and cash equivalents and investments were held by the trustees for the higher education institutions
in the amount of $244,120,000 for the University System of Maryland (System), $626,000 for St. Mary’s College of Maryland, and
$5,954,000 for Morgan State University.
For the year ended June 30, 2010, the System issued $87,320,000 of 2009 Refunding Series C and D Revenue Bonds to refund
$87,105,000 of existing bonds at a premium of $5,383,000. The refunding bonds bear interest at 2.0% to 4.0% and mature from 2011 to
2023. The purpose of the refunding was to realize savings on debt service costs. The aggregate difference in debt service between the
refunded debt and the refunding debt is $6,732,000. The economic gain on the transaction, that is, the difference between the present
value of the debt service streams for the refunding debt and refunded debt, is $5,828,000.
On April 2, 2010, the System issued $120,000,000 of 2010 Series A and B Revenue Bonds to finance new educational and auxiliary
facilities and for renovations. The bonds bear interest at 2.5% to 5.4% and mature from 2011 to 2030. The bonds were issued with a
$2,854,000 premium.
Obligations under capital leases of $10,526,000 exist as of June 30, 2010, bearing interest at annual rates ranging from 1.0% to 6.8%.
Maryland Stadium Authority (Authority) - Revenue Bonds:
Debt service requirements to maturity for Maryland Stadium Authority revenue bonds and notes payable are as follows (amounts
expressed in thousands).
Years Ending
June 30,
2011...................................................................
2012...................................................................
2013...................................................................
2014...................................................................
2015...................................................................
2016-2020.........................................................
2021-2025.........................................................
2026...................................................................
Total ..............................................................
Unamortized discount net of
unamortized premium ................................
Total ..............................................................

Principal
$ 18,069
20,693
21,757
30,839
22,475
100,874
41,403
6,080
262,190

Interest
$ 15,139
14,388
13,080
11,656
10,184
31,667
8,337
352
104,803

__ _(15)
$262,175

_______
$104,803

The Authority has issued various lease revenue bonds and notes to finance the construction of the baseball and football stadiums,
convention center expansions in Baltimore City and the Town of Ocean City and certain other facilities. The outstanding debt is to be
repaid through capital lease payments from the State, as the State has entered into capital lease arrangements for the use of the facilities
financed with the debt proceeds.
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As of June 30, 2010, the Authority had outstanding revenue bonds for the construction, renovation and expansion of certain
facilities as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Facility
Baseball Stadium ............................................
Football Stadium ............................................
Baltimore City Convention Center ..............
Ocean City Convention Center ....................
Hippodrome Performing Arts Center .........
Montgomery County Conference Center ...
Camden Station ..............................................
Camden Yards Complex ................................
Total..................................................................

Outstanding
Amount
$116,234
72,672
21,395
7,595
15,491
17,971
7,870
2,947
$262,175

Interest
Rates
Variable
Variable
Variable
4.8% to 5.4%
5.0% to 6.3%
2.0% to 5.0%
3.0% to 5.2%
5.6%

Maturity
Date___________
July 1, 2022
March 1, 2026
December 15, 2014
December 15, 2015
June 15, 2022
June 15, 2024
December 15, 2024
January 1, 2018

12. Insurance:
The self-insurance liabilities represent the State’s liability for its various self-insurance programs. The State is self-insured for
general liability, property and casualty, workers’ compensation, environmental and anti-trust liabilities and certain employee health
benefits. Commercial insurance coverage is purchased for specialized exposures such as aviation hull and liability, steam boiler
coverage and certain transportation risks. There were no significant reductions or changes in the commercial insurance coverage
from the prior year, and the amount of settlements have not exceeded insurance coverage for any of the past three fiscal years.
All funds, agencies and authorities of the State participate in the self-insurance program (Program). The Program, which is
accounted for in the general fund, allocates the cost of providing claims servicing and claims payment by charging a "premium"
to each fund, agency or public authority, based on a percentage of each organization's estimated current-year payroll or based on
an average loss experienced by each organization. This charge considers recent trends in actual claims experience of the State as a
whole and makes provision for catastrophic losses.
The Program's liabilities are reported when it is probable that a loss has occurred and the amount of that loss can be
reasonably estimated. Liabilities include an amount for claims that have been incurred but not reported. Because actual
claims liabilities depend on such complex factors as inflation, changes in legal doctrines, and damage awards, actual claims
paid could differ from these estimates. Claims liabilities are reevaluated periodically to take into consideration recently settled
claims, the frequency of claims and other economic and social factors. Non-incremental claims adjustment expenses have been
included as part of the liability for claims and adjustments for the general liability, property and casualty, workers’ compensation,
environmental and anti-trust liabilities. Liabilities for incurred workers’ compensation losses to be settled by fixed or reasonably
determinable payments over a long period of time are reported at their present value using a 4% discount rate. The workers’
compensation and property and casualty costs are based upon separately determined actuarial valuations for the following fiscal
years ending. The employee health benefits liability is calculated based on claims subsequently reported and claims trends.
Changes in the self-insurance liabilities during fiscal year 2010 were as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Balance
_________________________________June 30, 2009___
Property, casualty and general liability..... $ 15,378
Workers’ compensation.............................. 265,751
Employee health benefits............................
80,371
Total self-insurance costs....................... $361,500

Claims and
Amount
Changes in
Claim
Balance
Due Within
Estimates_______Payments_ June 30, 2010_____One Year___
$

5,270
59,761
1,082,789
$1,147,820
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$

5,193
52,944
1,073,175
$1,131,312

$ 15,455
272,568
89,985
$378,008

$ 3,906
34,605
89,985
$128,496
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As of June 30, 2010, the Program held $243,087,000 in cash and investments designated for payments of these claims.
Changes in the self-insurance liabilities during fiscal year 2009 were as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Balance
June 30, 2008
Property, casualty and general liability…
Workers’ compensation…………………
Employee health benefits………..………
Total self-insurance costs…………….

$ 16,334
269,503
72,958
$ 358,795

Claims and
Changes in
Estimates
$ 5,313
57,642
929,793
$992,748

Claim
Payments

Balance
June 30, 2009

$

6,269
61,394
922,380
$990,043

$ 15,378
265,751
80,371
$361,500

Amount
Due Within
One Year
$ 3,914
33,845
80,371
$118,130

As of June 30, 2009, the Program held $230,987,000, in cash and investments designated for payments of these claims.

13. Fund Equity:
The unrestricted deficit for governmental activities on the government-wide statement of net assets is $6,664,836,000. A
portion of the deficit results from the State incurring debt for the purposes of capital acquisition and construction on behalf of local
governments and private organizations. Since the incurrence of this debt does not result in capital assets of the State, the debt is not
reflected in the net asset category, invested in capital assets, net of related debt, but rather in the unrestricted net assets category. As of
June 30, 2010, the State has reported outstanding general obligation bonds and capital leases applicable to these non-State projects of
$4,016,965,000. Without State financing for these capital assets, the State would have reported an unrestricted deficit for governmental
activities in the amount of $2,647,871,000.
The statement of net assets for the primary government reports $2,435,944,000 of restricted net assets, including $150,191,000
restricted by enabling legislation.
Detail of the fund balance categories and classifications shown in the aggregate on the governmental funds balance sheet are as
follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
____Special Revenue___
Maryland Department
of Transportation

General
Fund balances:
Nonspendable – Prepaid items, inventories
and long-term loans and notes receivable ...........
Spendable:
Restricted for:
Capital improvements .......................................
Debt service ........................................................
Other purposes ..................................................
Committed to:
State Reserve Fund ............................................
Health and mental hygiene ..............................
Education............................................................
Human resources ...............................................
Public safety .......................................................
Transportation ...................................................

$448,982

$171,094
2,657

398
614,706
222,992
43,257
7,689
26,657
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Other
Governmental
Funds

412

161,559

Total
Governmental
Funds

$620,076

$151,317

2,657
151,317
810
614,706
222,992
43,257
7,689
26,657
161,559

Judicial .................................................................
Labor, licensing and regulation ........................
Natural resources and recreation .....................
Housing and community development ...........
Environment .......................................................
Agriculture ..........................................................
Business and economic development ..............
Capital projects ...................................................
Other purposes ...................................................
Unassigned ...............................................................
Total fund balances ...........................................

29,446
9,431
71,089
3,972
38,398
9,337
23,887
39,815
(340,964)
$1,249,092

447,295
_______
$335,722

(358,796)
$239,816

29,446
9,431
71,089
3,972
38,398
9,337
23,887
447,295
39,815
(699,760)
$1,824,630

A portion of the general fund’s committed fund balance, in the amount of $614,706,000 as of June 30, 2010, includes the
State Reserve Fund, consisting primarily of the Revenue Stabilization Account with a balance of $611,619,000. The Revenue
Stabilization Account, authorized in Section 7-311 of the State Finance and Procurement Article, Annotated Code of Maryland, is
designed to retain State revenues for future needs and reduce the need for future tax increases.
Appropriations are required to the Revenue Stabilization Account when the unappropriated general fund surplus of the
second preceding fiscal year exceeds $10,000,000. Appropriations are also required in years when the account balance is less than
7.5% of estimated general fund revenues. If the account balance is at least 3% but less than 7.5%, an appropriation of $50,000,000
or whatever lesser amount is necessary to bring the account balance to 7.5% of estimated general fund revenues is required; if the
account balance is less than 3%, the required appropriation is $100,000,000. For fiscal years 2011 and 2012, any appropriation is
not required if it would result in the loss of Federal funds to the State. Transfer of funds from the account that does not result in
a balance below 5% must be authorized by (1) an act of the General Assembly or (2) a specific provision of the State budget bill as
enacted. Transfers resulting in a balance below 5% must be authorized by an act of the General Assembly other than the budget
bill. The use of a budget amendment for fund transfer is prohibited.
The unrestricted deficit in net assets in other enterprise funds of $13,992,000 for the Economic Development Insurance
Programs occurred because of restrictions for insuring mortgages.

14. Segment Information:
The State’s Economic Development Loan Program contains two separately identifiable activities that have separately issued
revenue bonds outstanding; housing loans of the Community Development Administration and water quality loans and grants of
the Maryland Water Quality Administration.
The Community Development Administration (CDA) has issued revenue bonds, the proceeds of which were used for various
mortgage loan programs. The assets of the loan program and revenues of each mortgage loan program are pledged as collateral for
the revenue bonds. The bond indentures require the CDA to separately account for the identifiable activity’s revenues, expenses,
gains and losses, assets and liabilities.
The Maryland Water Quality Administration has issued revenue bonds to encourage capital investment for wastewater
treatment systems and bay restoration. These bonds are payable solely from, and secured by, the revenue, money or property of the
Maryland Water Quality Administration. The bond indentures require separate accounting for the identifiable activity’s revenues,
expenses, gains and losses, assets and liabilities.
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Summary financial information for the two loan programs is presented below.

Condensed Statement of Net Assets
As of June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)

Community Development
Administration

Assets:
Current restricted assets……………...……..
Non-current restricted assets…………....…..
Total assets……………………...…

Maryland Water Quality
Administration

$ 860,255
2,857,734
3,717,989

$ 80,199
588,718
668,917

Liabilities:
Current liabilities ………………………...…
Non-current liabilities ……..……………….
Total liabilities………………….….

195,066
3,061,193
3,256,259

16,058
116,334
132,392

Net Assets:
Restricted…………………………………....
Total net assets…………………......

461,730
$ 461,730

536,525
$536,525

Condensed Statement of Revenues, Expenses and Changes in Net Assets
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)

Community Development
Administration

Operating income (expenses):
Interest on loan income…………………….
Other operating revenues…………………..
Other operating expenses…………………..
Operating income (loss)………….……...
Non-operating revenues (expenses)…………….
Change in net assets……………………...
Beginning net assets, as restated……….....
Ending net assets…………………...….

$ 144,355
4,763
(28,542)
120,576
(78,507)
42,069
419,661
$ 461,730

Maryland Water Quality
Administration
$

9,390

(18,486)
(9,096)
(37,979)
(47,075)
583,600
$ 536,525

Condensed Statement of Cash Flows

For the Year Ended June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)
Community Development
Maryland Water Quality
Administration
Administration

Net cash provided (used) by:
Operating activities…………………....…….
Non-capital financing activities…….……….
Investing activities………………….………..
Beginning cash and cash equivalents……..
Ending cash and cash equivalents………....
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$ 158,958
9,417
8,112
425,426
$ 601,913

$

50,277
(69,455)
680
18,498
$
–
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15. Retirement Benefits:
Maryland State Retirement and Pension System (System):
The State is a sole employer in the cost-sharing multiple-employer public employee retirement system established by the
State to provide pension benefits for State employees (other than employees covered by the Maryland Transit Administration
Pension Plan described below) and employees of 100 participating political subdivisions or other entities within the State. The
non-State entities that participate within the System receive separate actuarial valuations in order to determine their respective
funding levels and actuarial liabilities. Retirement benefits are paid from the System's pooled assets rather than from assets
relating to a particular plan participant. Consequently, the System is accounted for as a single plan as defined in GASB Statement
No. 25, “Financial Reporting for Defined Benefit Pension Plans and Note Disclosures for Defined Contribution Plans.” The
System prepares a separately audited Comprehensive Annual Financial Report, which can be obtained from the Maryland State
Retirement and Pension System, 120 E. Baltimore Street, Suite 1600, Baltimore, Maryland 21202-1600.
Plan Description:
The System is administered in accordance with the State Personnel and Pensions Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland
and consists of several plans which are managed by the System’s Board of Trustees. All State employees and employees of
participating entities are covered by the plans.
“Retirement System” - retirement programs for substantially all State employees, teachers, State police and judges who are not
members of the State Pension System.
“Pension System” - retirement programs for employees and teachers hired after January 1, 1980, and prior employees who
elected to transfer from the Retirement System.
The System provides retirement, death and disability benefits in accordance with State statutes. Vesting begins after
5 years of service. A member terminating employment before attaining retirement age, but after completing 5 years of service
becomes eligible for a vested retirement allowance provided the member does not withdraw his or her accumulated contributions.
Members of the Retirement System may retire with full benefits after attaining the age of 60, or completing 30 years of service
credit, regardless of age. Members of the Pension Systems may retire with full benefits after attaining the age 62, or after
completing 30 years of Service Credit, regardless of age. State police members may retire with full benefits after attaining age 50,
or completing 22 years of service credit, regardless of age. Members of the Law Enforcement Officers System may retire with full
benefits at age 50, or completing 25 years of service credit, regardless of age.
The annual benefit for Retirement System Members is equal to 1/55 (1.8%) of the member’s highest three-year average final
salary multiplied by the number of years of service credit. A member may retire with reduced benefits after completing 25 years of
service, regardless of age. A member of the Pension System will generally receive, upon retirement, an annual service retirement
allowance equal to 1.2% of the member’s highest three-consecutive year average final salary multiplied by the number of years
of service credit on or before June 30, 1998, plus 1.8% of the highest three consecutive year average final salary multiplied by the
number of years of service credit after June 30, 1998. The annual benefit for a Pension System member who is employed by a
participating governmental unit that does not provide enhanced pension benefits is equal to 0.8% of the member’s highest threeconsecutive year average final salary multiplied by the number of years of service credit, with a provision for additional benefits for
compensation earned in excess of the Social Security Integration Level base. A member of either type of pension system may retire
with reduced benefits after attaining age 55 and completing 15 years of service.
The annual retirement allowance for a State Police member is equal to 2.55% of the member’s highest three-year average
final salary multiplied by each year of service and may not exceed 71.4% of member’s three years average final compensation.
The annual retirement allowance for a member of the Law Enforcement Officers Pension System is 2.0% of the member’s highest
three-consecutive year average final salary (AFC) multiplied by each year of service up to a maximum of 30 years plus 1.0% AFC
of accumulated credible service in excess of 30 years. Neither the State Police Retirement System nor Law Enforcement Officers
Pension System provide for an early retirement.
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Funding Policy:
In accordance with the State Personnel and Pensions Article of the Annotated Code of Maryland, employer contribution rates and
the actuarial accrued liability are established by annual actuarial valuations using the entry age normal cost method and other actuarial
assumptions adopted by the Board of Trustees. Effective July 1, 1980, in accordance with the law governing the Systems, all benefits of
the System are funded in advance. The entry age normal cost method is the actuarial cost method used to determine the employers’
contribution rates and the actuarial accrued liability. Members of the Retirement System are required to contribute to the System a
fixed percentage of their regular salaries and wages, 7.0% or 5.0% depending on the retirement plan selected. Members of the Pension
System are required to contribute to the System 5.0% of their regular salaries and wages. Members of the Pension System who are
employed by a participating government that does not provide enhanced pension benefits are required to contribute to the System 5.0%
of their regular salaries and wages that exceed the Social Security wage base. State Police members are required to contribute 8.0% of
their regular salaries and wages to the System. Members of the Law Enforcement Officers Pension System are required to contribute
4% of earnable compensation. All contributions are deducted from each member’s salary, and the resulting payments are remitted to
the System on a regular and periodic basis.
The contribution requirements of the System members, as well as the State and participating governmental employers, are
established and may be amended by the Board of Trustees for the System. Effective July 1, 2002, State law provides that the
contribution rates may be more or less than the actuarially determined rates for the Employees’ Retirement and Pension Systems and
the Teachers’ Retirement and Pension Systems. Contributions to these Systems are based on the Modified Corridor Funding Method
which establishes a budgetary contribution rate. This method effectively maintains the contribution rate in effect for the Teachers' and
Employees' combined systems during the preceding fiscal year (as adjusted for any legislative changes in the benefit structure) as long
as such systems remain between 90 percent and 110 percent funded. If either system falls below 90 percent funded (i.e., below the
corridor), then the contribution rate in effect for the subsequent fiscal year will be the rate in effect for the preceding fiscal year plus
20 percent of the difference between the current fiscal year full funding rate and the prior fiscal year contribution rate. Conversely, if
either system exceeds 110 percent funded (i.e., above the corridor), then the contribution rate in effect for the subsequent fiscal year
will be the rate in effect for the preceding fiscal year minus 20 percent of the difference between the current fiscal year full funding
rate and the prior fiscal year contribution rate. The methodology for computing the State's employer contribution rates for the Law
Enforcement Officers' Pension System, State Police Retirement System and the Judges' Retirement System remain unchanged. For
each of these three systems, the employer contribution rate is equal to the sum of the normal contribution and the accrued liability
contribution rates.
During fiscal year 2010, the State paid $1,206,149,000, of the required contribution totaling $1,427,579,000 which was 12.3% of
covered payroll and 84.5% of the required payment. The difference represents an additional pension cost liability in the governmentwide statement of net assets. The State makes non-employer contributions to the System for local school system teachers. The covered
payroll amount includes amounts for employees for whom the State pays retirement benefits, but does not pay the payroll. As of
June 30, 2010, the State’s membership includes 171,811 active members, 45,154 vested former members, and 106,776 retirees and
beneficiaries.
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Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation:
The annual pension cost and net pension obligation as of June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Teachers’
Retirement
and Pension
System

Employees’
Retirement
and Pension
System

Annual required contribution. .................
Interest on net pension obligation ...........
Actuarial adjustment to
annual required contribution............
Annual pension cost ..................................
Contributions made ...................................
Increase in net pension obligation… .......
Net pension obligation,
beginning of year ................................
Net pension obligation,
end of year ..........................................

$ 889,605
26,555

$ 438,176
50,337

Amortization period (years rolling).........

State Police
Retirement
System

Judges’
Retirement
System

Law
Enforcement
Officers’ Pension
System

$ 37,114
1,804

$ 19,955

$ 32,359

(24,814)
891,346
820,867
70,479

(42,152)
446,361
307,503
138,858

(1,360)
37,558
25,465
12,093

______
19,955
_19,955

______
32,359
32,359

342,646

649,523

23,280

______

______

$ 413,125

$ 788,381

$ 35,373

20.7

24.8

30

$

-.....

$

18.8

-.....
16.8

Three Year Historical Trend Information for the System is as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).

Plan______________________________________________________
Teachers’ Retirement and Pension System.........................................
Employees’ Retirement and Pension System.....................................
State Police Retirement System...........................................................
Judges’ Retirement System...................................................................
Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System ......................................

Annual Pension Cost
___________As of June 30___________
2010
2009
2008____
$891,346
$758,391 $ 669,341
446,361
383,310
357,419
37,558
31,217
22,559
19,955
17,520
16,661
32,359
32,234
34,355

Plan_______________________________________________________
Teachers’ Retirement and Pension System.........................................
Employees’ Retirement and Pension System.....................................
State Police Retirement System...........................................................
Judges’ Retirement System...................................................................
Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System......................................

Percentage of Annual Pension Cost
Contributed
___________As of June 30,_________
2010
2009
2008_____
92%
89%
94%
70
71
76
68
56
59
100
100
100
100
100
100
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Net Pension Obligation
_________As of June 30,___________
Plan_________________________________________________________ 2010
2009
2008____
Teachers’ Retirement and Pension System......................................
$413,125
$342,646 $257,511
Employees’ Retirement and Pension System...................................
788,381
649,523
529,464
State Police Retirement System.........................................................
35,373
23,280
9,277
Judges’ Retirement System.................................................................
Law Enforcement Officers Pension System......................................
The funded status of each plan as of June 30, 2010, the most recent valuation date, is as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).

Plan
Teachers’ Retirement and Pension System .........
Employees’ Retirement and Pension System .....
State Police Retirement System............................
Judges’ Retirement System ...................................
Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System .......

(Unfunded AAL)
Actuarial
Actuarial (Unfunded AAL)
/Excess
Value of
Accrued
/Excess of
as a
Plan Liability (AAL)
Assets
Funded
Covered
Percentage of
Assets
Entry Age
over AAL
Ratio
Payroll Covered Payroll
$20,908,150 $31,963,421 $(11,055,271)
65.41% $6,411,550
(172.43)%
9,224,784
15,451,890
(6,227,106)
59.70
3,163,684
(196.83)
1,085,281
1,722,564
(637,283)
63.00
83,123
(766.67)
276,643
426,215
(149,572)
64.91
40,654
(367.91)
367,934
715,568
(347,634)
51.42
89,227
(389.61)

The schedule of funding progress, presented as RSI following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend
information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the AAL for benefits.
The Schedule of Funding Progress also discloses the relationship between the System’s covered payroll (i.e., all elements included
in compensation paid to active members on which contributions are based) and the unfunded actuarial accrued liability. This
relationship, expressed as a ratio, is a measure of the significance of the unfunded AAL relative to the capacity to pay all contributions
required to fund the liability.
The significant actuarial assumptions listed below were used in the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2010, the most recent
valuation date.
Valuation method ..........................................................................
Cost method of valuing assets
Rate of return on investments......................................................
Projected payroll growth ..............................................................
Discount rate ..................................................................................
Post retirement benefit increase ..................................................
Amortization method ...................................................................
Remaining amortization period ..................................................
New layers as of June 30, 2001 – 2010 .......................................
Status of period (Open or Closed) ..............................................

Individual Entry Age Normal Cost Method
Five-year smooth market (maximum 120% and minimum 80% of
market value)
7.75%
3.5% - 12%
7.75%
2.75% to 3.5% (depending on system and provisions)
Level Percent of Payroll
10 years as of June 30, 2010 for prior UAAL (existing on June 30, 2000)
16 – 25 years as of June 30, 2010 for new UAAL.
30 years is used wherever the equivalent single amortization
period exceeds 30 years.
Closed

Effective April 2010, the July 2010 cost-of-living adjustment for retirees of the Teachers’ Retirement and Pension System,
Employees’ Retirement and Pension System, State Police Retirement System, and the Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System was
determined to be zero with the actual negative adjustment (-.0356) to be offset against a future positive cost-of-living adjustment.
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Maryland Transit Administration Pension Plan (Plan):
The Plan is a single employer non-contributory plan, which covers all Maryland Transit Administration (Administration)
employees covered by a collective bargaining agreement and all those management employees who were employed by the
Baltimore Transit Company. In addition, employees who enter the management group as a result of a transfer from a position
covered by a collective bargaining agreement maintain their participation. The Maryland Transit Administration was given
authority to establish and maintain the Plan under Transportation Article, Section 7-206(b)2(ii), of the Annotated Code of
Maryland. For the year ended June 30, 2010, the Administration's covered and total payroll was $145,029,000. The Plan is
administered and funded in compliance with the collective bargaining agreements. The Plan prepares separately audited financial
statements, which can be obtained from the Maryland Transit Administration Pension Plan, William Donald Schaefer Tower, 8
Saint Paul Street, Baltimore, Maryland 21202.
Plan Description:
The Plan provides retirement, normal and early, death and disability benefits. Members may retire with full benefits
at age 65 with five years of credited service or age 52 with 30 years of credited service. The annual normal retirement
benefit is 1.4% - 1.6% (1.3% prior to September 8, 2002) of final average compensation multiplied by credited service, with
minimum and maximum benefit limitations. Participants are fully vested after five years of credited service.
As of June 30, 2010, membership in the Plan includes 2,827 active members, 472 vested former members, and 1,373
retirees and beneficiaries. There were no investments in, loans to, or leases with parties related to the Plan. There were no Plan
investments representing 5 percent or more of total Plan assets.
Funding Policy:
The Administration’s required contributions are based on actuarial valuations. The entry age normal cost method is the
actuarial cost method used to determine the employer’s contribution rates and the actuarial accrued liability. All administrative
costs of the Plan are paid by the Plan.
Employer contributions to the Plan totaling $37,761,000 (26.0% of covered payroll) for fiscal year 2010 were made in
accordance with actuarially determined contribution requirements based on an actuarial valuation performed as of June 30, 2009.
This amount consisted of $4,163,000 normal cost and $21,988,000 amortization of the actuarial accrued liability (2.9% and 15.2%,
respectively, of covered payroll). The liquidation period for the actuarial accrued liabilities, as provided by law, is 9 years from June
30, 2010.
Significant actuarial assumptions used to compute contribution requirements are the same as those used to compute the
annual pension cost and net pension obligations. The computation of the annual required contribution for fiscal year 2010 was
based on the same actuarial assumptions, benefit provisions, actuarial funding method and other significant factors used to
determine pension contribution requirements in the previous year.
Annual Pension Cost and Net Pension Obligation:
The Administration's annual pension cost and net pension obligation as of June 30, 2010, are as follows (amounts expressed in
thousands).
Annual required contribution (ARC) ...............................
Interest on net pension obligation……………………...
Adjustment to ARC .............................................................
Annual pension cost ...........................................................
Contributions made ............................................................
Decrease in net pension obligation ...................................
Net pension obligation, beginning of year .......................
Net pension obligation, end of year ..................................
Amortization period ...........................................................
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$ 24,893
540
__ 718
26,151
_ 37,761
(11,610)
__ 1,168
$(10,442)
13.7 years
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Three Year Historical Trend Information for the Plan is as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Fiscal
Year
Ended,
6/30/2010 ......................................
6/30/2009 ......................................
6/30/2008 ......................................

Annual
Pension
Cost (APC)
$26,151
24,659
24,635

Percentage
of APC
Contributed
144%
111
99

Net
Pension
Obligation
$(10,442)
1,168
3,763

Funded Status and Funding Progress:
As of June 30, 2010, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the plan was 38.2% funded. The actuarial accrued liability for
benefits was $426,041,000 and the actuarial value of assets was $162,756,000 resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability
(UAAL) of $263,285,000. The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees covered by the plan) was $145,029,000 and the ratio
of the UAAL to the covered payroll was (181.5)%.
The schedule of funding progress, presented as RSI following the notes to the financial statements, presents multiyear trend
information about whether the actuarial value of plan assets is increasing or decreasing over time relative to the actuarial accrued
liability for benefits.
The significant actuarial assumptions listed below were used in the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2010, the most recent
valuation date.
Valuation method ...........................................................
Cost method of valuing assets ......................................
Rate of return on investments.......................................
Discount rate ...................................................................
Rate of salary increase....................................................
Postretirement benefit increase ....................................
Amortization method ....................................................
Remaining amortization period ...................................
New amortization period ..............................................
Status of period (Open or Closed) ...............................

Entry Age Normal Cost Method
Smoothing 20% market; 80% actuarial value
7.75% Compounded per annum
7.75% Compounded per annum
4.0% Compounded per annum
Preceding Year Consumer Price Index, capped at 3%
Level percent of payroll
9 years from June 30, 2010 for UAAL (existing on June 30, 2002)
17 years from June 30, 2010 for new UAAL
Closed

During fiscal year 2010, there were no changes in actuarial assumptions or benefit provisions from 2009 that significantly affected
the valuation of the annual pension cost and net pension obligation. No significant changes in these assumptions are planned in the
near term.
Deferred Compensation Plan (Plan):
The State offers its employees a deferred compensation plan (Plan) created in accordance with Internal Revenue Code Sections
457, 403(b), 401(a) and 401(k). The Plan, available to eligible State employees, permits participants to defer a portion of their salary
until future years. Participation in the Plan is optional. The deferred compensation is not available to employees until termination,
retirement, death or unforeseeable emergency. State law provides that the Governor appoint the nine member Board of Trustees of the
State's Supplemental Retirement Systems. The Board is responsible for the implementation, maintenance and administration of the
Plan.
The State of Maryland Match Plan and Trust was established by the State on July 1, 1999. The plan is designed to be a tax-
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qualified 401(a) defined contribution matching plan under Internal Revenue Code section 401(a). Under plan provisions, the
State contributes to each participant’s account an amount equal to each participant’s contributions to the State’s Supplemental
Retirement Plan during the same plan year. By statute, the maximum amount contributed to this plan for each participant is $600
for each State fiscal year. An employee’s interest in his/her account is fully vested at all times. The match program continues to be
established and funded in statute. During the year ended December 31, 2009, the State suspended the match contribution. For the
plan year ended December 31, 2009, the State contributed $3,102,000 and participants contributed $161,570,000 to the Plan.

16. Other Postemployment Benefits, Health Benefits (OPEB)
State Employee and Retiree Health and Welfare Benefits Program:
Plan Description:
The State Employee and Retiree Health and Welfare Benefits Program (Plan) is a single-employer defined benefit healthcare
plan established by State Personnel and Pensions Article, Sections 2-501 - 2-516, of the Annotated Code of Maryland. The Plan is
self-insured to provide medical, hospitalization, prescription drug and dental insurance benefits to eligible state employees, retirees
and their dependents. State law grants authority to establish and amend benefit provisions to the Secretary of the Department of
Budget and Management (DBM). In addition, the Secretary shall specify by regulation the types or categories of State employees
who are eligible to enroll, with or without State subsidies, or who are not eligible to enroll.
The Postretirement Health Benefits Trust Fund (OPEB Trust) is established as an irrevocable trust under Section 34-101 of
the State Personnel and Pensions Article to receive appropriated funds and contributions which will be used to assist the Plan in
financing the State's postretirement health insurance subsidy. The OPEB Trust is administered by the Board of Trustees for the
State Retirement and Pension System. A separate audited GAAP-basis postemployment benefit plan report is not available for the
defined benefit healthcare plan.
Funding Policy:
The contribution requirements of Plan members and the State are established by the Secretary. Each year the Secretary
recommends to the Governor the State’s share of the costs of the Plan. Beginning in fiscal year 2008, State law requires DBM to
transfer any subsidy received as a result of the federal Medicare Prescription Drug Improvement and Modernization Act of 2003
or similar subsidy to the OPEB Trust to prefund costs of retirees’ health benefits. Also, funds may be separately appropriated in
the State's budget for transfer to the OPEB Trust. Applicable administrative expenses are payable from the OPEB Trust, but may
not exceed $100,000 annually. The 2009 Budget Reconciliation and Financing Act redirects the subsidy to the Plan for fiscal years
2010-2012.
Generally, a retiree may enroll and participate in the health benefit options if the retiree retired directly from State
service with at least five years of creditable service, ended State service with at least 10 years of creditable service and within five
years before the age at which a vested retirement allowance normally would begin, or ended State service with at least 16 years
of creditable service. As of July 1, 2010, the State's Plan membership includes 82,071 active employees, 4,588 vested former
employees, and 57,149 retirees and beneficiaries. Based on current practice, the State subsidizes approximately 50% to 85% of
retiree premiums to cover medical, dental, prescription and hospitalization costs, depending on the type of insurance plan. The
Plan assesses a charge to retirees for post-employment health care benefits, which is based on health care insurance charges for
active employees. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, retiree plan members contributed $69,520,000 or approximately 17% of
total retiree premiums, and the State contributed $332,985,000. In fiscal year 2010, the State transferred $999,000 from the federal
Medicare drug subsidy to the OPEB Trust to prefund future OPEB costs. The State also contributed $2,425,000 of additional
funding to the Trust.
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation:
The State's annual OPEB cost (expense) is calculated based on the annual required contribution (ARC) of the employer,
an amount actuarially determined in accordance with the parameters of GASB Statement No. 45. The ARC represents a level
of funding that, if paid on an ongoing basis, is projected to cover normal cost each year and amortize any unfunded actuarial
liabilities over a period not to exceed 30 years. The following table shows the components of the State's annual OPEB cost, the
amount actually contributed to the Plan and the State's net OPEB obligation as of June 30, 2010 (amounts expressed in thousands).
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Annual required contribution (ARC) ...................................
ARC adjustment .......................................................................
Interest on net OPEB obligation beginning of year ............
Total Annual OPEB Cost (AOC) ...........................................
Less: Contributions made .......................................................
Increase in net OPEB obligation ............................................
Net OPEB obligation - beginning of year .............................
Net OPEB obligation - end of year ........................................
Percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed .....................

$

$

1,184,552
(57,332)
63,560
1,190,780
336,408
854,372
1,478,130
2,332,502
28.3%

Historical trend information for the OPEB Plan since inception is as follows (amounts expressed in thousands).

Fiscal Year Ended,
AOC
6/30/10………………………………………………………. $1,190,780
6/30/09……………………………………………………… 1,148,597
6/30/08……………………………………………………… 1,086,240

Percentage
of AOC
Contributed
28.3%
31.9
35.9

Net
OPEB
Obligation
$2,332,502
1,478,130
695,921

Funded Status:
As of June 30, 2010, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the OPEB Trust was 1.1% funded. The actuarial accrued liability
for benefits was $16,098,602,000, and the actuarial value of assets was $183,388,000, resulting in an unfunded actuarial accrued liability
(UAAL) of $15,915,214,000. The ratio of the actuarial value of assets to the actuarial accrued liability was 1.1%. The covered payroll
(annual payroll of active employees covered under the Plan) was $4,627,379,000, and the ratio of the UAAL to the covered payroll was
(343.9)%.
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions:
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the
probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and
healthcare cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past
expectations and new estimates are made about the future. Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the
substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the
time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The
actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial
accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.
The accompanying schedules of funding progress and employer contributions following the footnotes present information about
the actuarial value of plan assets relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits and amounts contributed to the plan.
The actuarial method and significant assumptions listed below were used in the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2010.
Actuarial cost method...................................
Asset valuation method ................................
Rate of return on investments......................
Aggregate salary growth ...............................
Method to determine blended rate .............

Entry Age Normal (percent of pay)
Five-year smoothed market.
4.30% (blended rate)
3.50%
Blended rate of the expected long-term investment returns on plan
assets (7.75%) and on the State’s own assets (4.25%) calculated based on the
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Healthcare cost trend rate ............................
Amortization method ...................................
Amortization period .....................................

funded level of the plan at the valuation date.
Medical: 8.0% for 2011 trending down to 5.0% by FYE 2019
Prescription drug: 9.0% for 2011 trending down to 5.0% by FYE 2020
Dental: 4.5% (0.0% in 2011)
Level percentage of projected payroll
30 years (open)

Maryland Transit Administration Retiree Healthcare Benefit:
The Maryland Transit Administration Retiree Healthcare Benefit (MTA OPEB) provides retiree health care benefits under
a collective bargaining agreement to all employees who are members of the MTA pension plan, except transfers from union to
management positions who are required to enroll in the State Employee and Retiree Health and Welfare Benefits Program. The
MTA currently funds retirees’ health care on a pay-as-you-go basis. The MTA does not currently have a separate fund set aside to
pay health care costs.
Plan Description:
The MTA OPEB provides medical, hospitalization, prescription drug, dental and vision insurance benefits to eligible
MTA employees, retirees and their dependents. Members are eligible at age 65 with five years of service or age 52 with 30 years of
services provided the member is enrolled in an MTA health plan at normal retirement. Members are also eligible at age 55 if the
sum of the participant’s age plus years of actual credited service equals at least 85 and the participant is enrolled in an MTA health
plan at early retirement. A separate audited GAAP-basis postemployment benefit plan report is not available for the healthcare
plan.
As of June 30, 2010, 2,317 active employees and 1,095 retirees and beneficiaries were covered by healthcare insurance
provided by MTA.
Funding Policy:
Based on current practice, MTA subsidizes approximately 50% to 100% of retiree healthcare premiums depending on
the type of insurance plan and whether the retiree receives Medicare. Retirees make the same contribution as active employees,
however Medicare is handled separately.
Annual OPEB Cost and Net OPEB Obligation:
MTA’s annual OPEB cost is calculated based on the annual required contribution of the employer, an amount actuarially
determined in accordance with GASB Statement No. 45. The following table shows the components of MTA’s annual OPEB cost,
the amount actually contributed and MTA’s net OPEB obligation as of June 30, 2010 (amounts expressed in thousands).
Annual required contribution (ARC) .............................................
ARC adjustment .................................................................................
Interest on net OPEB obligation beginning of year .....................
Total annual OPEB cost (AOC) .......................................................
Less: Contributions made .................................................................
Less: Interest on contributions .........................................................
Increase in net OPEB obligation ......................................................
Net OPEB obligation – beginning of year ......................................
Net OPEB obligation – end of year .................................................
Percentage of annual OPEB cost contributed ................................

$ 45,500
(4,200)
2,900
44,200
(10,900)
(200)
33,100
64,500
$ 97,600
24.7%

Historical trend information for the MTA OPEB since adoption of GASB Statement No. 45 is as follows (amounts
expressed in thousands).
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Fiscal
Year
Ended
6/30/10
6/30/09
6/30/08

Percentage
of AOC
Contributed
24.7%
23.3
23.4

AOC
$44,200
43,300
41,400

Net
OPEB
Obligation
$97,600
64,500
31,500

Funded Status:
MTA OPEB is unfunded. As of June 30, 2009, the most recent actuarial valuation date, the actuarial accrued liability (AAL)
for benefits was $431,500,000. The covered payroll (annual payroll of active employees participating in MTA health plans) was
$151,560,000, and the ratio of the AAL to the covered payroll was (284.7)%.
Actuarial Methods and Assumptions:
Actuarial valuations of an ongoing plan involve estimates of the value of reported amounts and assumptions about the
probability of occurrence of events far into the future. Examples include assumptions about future employment, mortality, and
healthcare cost trends. Actuarially determined amounts are subject to continual revision as actual results are compared with past
expectations and new estimates are made about the future. Projections of benefits for financial reporting purposes are based on the
substantive plan (the plan as understood by the employer and the plan members) and include the types of benefits provided at the
time of each valuation and the historical pattern of sharing of benefit costs between the employer and plan members to that point. The
actuarial methods and assumptions used include techniques that are designed to reduce the effects of short-term volatility in actuarial
accrued liabilities and the actuarial value of assets, consistent with the long-term perspective of the calculations.
The accompanying schedules of funding progress and employer contributions following the footnotes present information
about the actuarial value of plan assets relative to the actuarial accrued liability for benefits and amounts contributed to the plan.
The actuarial method and significant assumptions listed below were used in the actuarial valuation as of June 30, 2009.
Actuarial cost method…………………………
Asset valuation method………………………
Rate of return on investments………………...
Aggregate salary growth………………………
Healthcare cost trend rate……………………

Amortization method…………………………...
Amortization period…………………………….

Entry Age Normal
Fair market value at fiscal year end
4.5%
3.5%
Medical: 7.9% in 2009, 7.0% in FY 2010 and
gradually decreasing to 5.0% in FY 2011
Prescription drug: 5% for all future years
Dental and vision: 5.0% for all future years
Level annual payments over a fixed number of years
25 years (closed)

17. Commitments:
Encumbrances for specific purposes for which resources already have been reported as restricted or committed on the
governmental funds balance sheet are $184,413,000 in the general fund and $447,295,000 in other governmental funds as of June 30,
2010.
The State’s governmental funds lease office space under various agreements that are accounted for as operating leases. Many of the
agreements contain rent escalation clauses and renewal options. These leases contain termination for convenience clauses providing
for cancellation after a certain number of days notice to lessors. In addition, these leases contain appropriation clauses indicating
that continuation of the lease is subject to appropriation by the legislature. Rent expenditures for the year ended June 30, 2010, were
approximately $65,833,000.
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As of June 30, 2010, the governmental funds, other than the Department of Transportation, had commitments of
approximately $65,764,000 for service contracts.
As of June 30, 2010, the Department of Transportation and Maryland Transportation Authority had commitments of
approximately $3.2 billion and $1.3 billion, respectively, for construction of highway and mass transit facilities.
Approximately 52% of future expenditures related to the Department of Transportation commitments are expected to be
reimbursed from proceeds of approved Federal grants when the actual costs are incurred. The remaining portion will be funded by
other financial resources of the Department of Transportation.
The Department of Transportation, as lessor, leases space at various marine terminals, airport facilities and office
space pursuant to various noncancelable operating leases with scheduled rent increases . Minimum future rental revenues are as
follows (amounts expressed in thousands).
Years Ending June 30,_______________________Amounts
2011 .................................................................
$124,031
2012 .................................................................
121,286
2013 .................................................................
116,668
2014 .................................................................
112,348
2015 .................................................................
110,250
2016 -2020 ......................................................
211,882
2021 -2025 ......................................................
116,650
Total .........................................................
$913,115
The cost and accumulated depreciation of the assets as of June 30, 2010, are $1,477,829,000 and $606,323,000, respectively.
Total minimum future rental revenues do not include contingent rentals that may be received under certain concession
leases on the basis of a percentage of the concessionaire's gross revenue in excess of stipulated minimums. Rental revenue was
approximately $155,501,000 for the year ended June 30, 2010.
As of June 30, 2010, the Maryland State Lottery Agency had commitments of approximately $375,000,000, for services to be
rendered relating principally to the operation of, and advertising for, the lottery games and the video lottery terminal program.
As of June 30, 2010, the enterprise fund loan programs had committed to lend a total of $269,285,000 in additional loans. The
Community Development Administration, also an enterprise fund loan program, has $339,820,000 of revenue bonds outstanding
that are not included in the financial statements of the Administration because the bonds are not guaranteed by the State or any
other program of the State or any political subdivision. The revenue bonds are secured solely by the individual multi-family
project properties, related revenues, applicable credit enhancements or investments equal to the debt outstanding.
Pursuant to legislation enacted by the Maryland General Assembly in April, 1996, the Maryland Stadium Authority is required
to pay $2,400,000 per year into the Public School Construction Fund over ten years, subject to availability of funds, beginning in
fiscal year 2001. The Authority was relieved of its fiscal year 2010 obligation through the approval of the State’s budget.
As of June 30, 2010, the higher education fund had commitments of approximately $382,439,000 for the completion of
projects under construction.

18. Contingencies:
The State is party to legal proceedings that normally occur in governmental operations. The legal proceedings are not, in the
opinion of the Attorney General, likely to have a material, adverse impact on the financial position of the State as a whole.
As of June 30, 2010, economic development loan programs were contingently liable to financial institutions for
$4,587,000 for the repayment of loans for small businesses. Non-major enterprise funds were contingently liable as insurers of
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$168,146,000 of $394,601,000 mortgage loans made by public and private lenders. Non-major component units were contingently
liable as insurers of $17,510,000 of $433,221,000 economic development and growth bonds issued by financial institutions.
As of June 30, 2010, there were approved economic development bonds pending settlement which were insured by non-major
component units for $1,415,000.
The State receives significant financial assistance from the U.S. Government. Entitlement to the resources is generally
conditioned upon compliance with terms and conditions of the grant agreements and applicable Federal regulations, including
the expenditure of the resources for eligible purposes. Substantially all grants are subject to financial and compliance audits by the
grantors. Any disallowances as a result of these audits become a liability of the fund which received the grant. As of June 30, 2010, the
State estimates that no material liabilities will result from such audits.

19. Tobacco Settlement:
Legislation enacted by the 1999 General Assembly established the Cigarette Restitution Fund for all revenues received from any
judgment against or settlement with the tobacco industry. Expenditures from the fund are made by an appropriation in the annual
State budget. The law provides that at least 50% of the appropriations shall be made for tobacco or health related purposes and the
remaining appropriations may be for any public purpose. During the 2002 legislative session, legislation was enacted providing that for
each of fiscal years 2003 through 2006, at least 25% of the appropriations shall be made for the Maryland Medical Assistance Program
(Medicaid); the 2005 legislative session increased that percentage to 30% for each year for which appropriations are made. During the
2003 legislative session, legislation was enacted requiring that .15% of the fund be appropriated for enforcing the escrow requirements
for nonparticipating tobacco product manufacturers. Transfers of $165,551,000 were made from the proceeds in the Cigarette
Restitution Fund for fiscal year 2010 expenditure of appropriations.
As part of the Master Settlement Agreement between the states and the tobacco companies, Maryland’s share during fiscal year
2010 was $157,064,000, including the award from the arbitration panel for attorney fees. This amount does not include $12,722,000 the
tobacco companies paid to the disputed account pending the outcome of litigation.
It is estimated that the payments made to the State pursuant to the Master Settlement through fiscal year 2015 will total $2.54
billion of which $149,873,000 was paid to outside counsel. The actual amount paid each year, however, will reflect adjustments for
inflation and cigarette shipment volume. In addition, the State expects to receive $81,012,000 during that same period pursuant to an
award for attorney fees by the national arbitration panel.

20. Landfill Closure and Postclosure Care Costs:
State and Federal laws require the Maryland Environmental Service (the Service) to cover the Midshore Regional Landfill
(Midshore), which the current cell is expected to close in December 2010, and to perform certain maintenance and monitoring
functions at the Midshore and Easton Landfill (Easton) sites for thirty years after closure. Although closure and postclosure care costs
at Midshore will be paid near or after the date the landfill stops accepting waste, the Service reports a portion of these closure and
postclosure care costs as a liability based upon the estimated useful life of the landfill. Midshore's current cells are approximately 98 %
filled as of June 30, 2010. Total closure and postclosure care costs for the landfill is currently estimated to be $12,886,000 as determined
through engineering studies, and $11,236,000 has been recognized as a liability on the June 30, 2010, Combining Statement of Net
Assets, Non-Major Component Units. Actual costs may be subject to change due to inflation, deflation, technology, and changes in
applicable laws and regulations.
A receivable from project participants corresponding to the accrued liability has also been recorded.
Under Federal regulations, the Service has satisfied its financial assurance requirements based upon the local government financial
ratio tests of the project participants as of June 30, 2009. The Service expects to satisfy these requirements as of June 30, 2010, using the
same criteria.
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STATE OF MARYLAND

Schedule of Revenues and Expenditures and Changes in Fund Balances - Budget and Actual Budgetary General, Special, and Federal Funds
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010
(Expressed in Thousands)






Revenues:
Income taxes ................................................................................
Sales and use taxes .......................................................................
Other taxes ...................................................................................
Licenses and fees..........................................................................
Charges for services ....................................................................
Interest and other investment income ......................................
Other .............................................................................................
Federal revenue ............................................................................
Total revenues .........................................................................
Expenditures and encumbrances by major function:
Payments of revenue to civil divisions of the State ................
Public debt ...................................................................................
Legislative ....................................................................................
Judicial review and legal ............................................................
Executive and administrative control ......................................
Financial and revenue administration .....................................
Budget and management ...........................................................
Retirement and pension ............................................................
General services ..........................................................................
Transportation and highways ...................................................
Natural resources and recreation .............................................
Agriculture ..................................................................................
Health, hospitals and mental hygiene ......................................
Human resources ........................................................................
Labor, licensing and regulation ................................................
Public safety and correctional services ....................................
Public education .........................................................................
Housing and community development ...................................
Business and economic development ......................................
Environment ...............................................................................
Juvenile services ..........................................................................
State police...................................................................................
State reserve fund .......................................................................
Reversions....................................................................................
Total expenditures and encumbrances ................................
Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures ................
Other sources (uses) of financial resources:
Transfers in (out)
Excess of revenues over (under) expenditures
and other sources (uses) of financial resources ...............
Fund balances - beginning of the year
Fund balances - end of the year

*HQHUDO)XQG
%XGJHW$PRXQWV
2ULJLQDO
)LQDO
$FWXDO
%XGJHW
%XGJHW
$PRXQWV

9DULDQFH
3RVLWLYH
1HJDWLYH 

$7,157,665
3,605,424
1,066,748
199,052
295,670
73,000
599,461

$6,600,565
3,473,936
1,010,987
202,944
291,250
35,000
598,114

$6,888,949
3,528,960
1,034,718
204,963
271,923
64,759
705,211

$ 288,384
55,024
23,731
2,019
(19,327)
29,759
107,097

12,997,020

12,212,796

12,699,483

486,687

124,011

124,011

124,011

84,655
498,501
239,847
189,348
54,378

84,655
493,964
213,198
198,718
40,308

70,961
462,295
204,722
195,843
36,979

13,694
31,669
8,476
2,875
3,329

61,790

53,842

52,254

1,588

53,717
30,369
3,166,495
573,424
36,036
1,050,955
7,067,918
12,888
97,146
47,760
262,123
172,698
139,948
(63,680)
13,900,327
(903,307)

46,891
25,645
2,986,536
614,170
33,283
1,009,875
7,016,638
12,500
85,974
45,234
260,637
166,543
114,948
(63,680)
13,563,890
(1,351,094)

45,421
25,626
2,962,552
606,280
32,970
1,004,495
6,989,558
11,028
67,638
39,195
260,382
160,714
114,948

1,470
19
23,984
7,890
313
5,380
27,080
1,472
18,336
6,039
255
5,829

(903,307)
(4,119,081)
$(5,022,388)

See accompanying Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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(1,351,094)
(3,216,934)
$(4,568,028)

13,467,872
(768,389)

(63,680)
96,018
582,705

898,877

898,877

130,488
925,637
$1,056,125

1,481,582
4,142,571
$5,624,153

6SHFLDO)XQG
%XGJHW$PRXQWV
2ULJLQDO
)LQDO
$FWXDO
%XGJHW
%XGJHW
$PRXQWV
$

153,638
221,092
2,368,102
701,290
1,039,426
30,550
1,020,474

187,978
217,117
2,409,219
771,483
1,338,337
25,690
785,894

$ 202,736
224,817
2,306,559
767,541
1,314,441
32,013
695,130

5,534,572

5,735,718

5,543,237

(192,481)

784,987
100
99,420
284,709
101,977
28,748
39,974
2,606
2,777,816
184,820
87,068
725,868
88,365
42,161
170,866
95,738
92,214
92,208
488,892
1,343
76,326

784,987
100
101,344
288,353
106,154
30,426
39,512
2,543
2,488,286
184,403
96,305
901,904
135,917
41,037
176,328
120,889
98,340
92,696
503,080
2,039
75,431

776,666
90
76,896
235,365
100,077
17,356
31,644
2,534
2,358,259
126,123
53,129
867,516
132,854
33,558
147,438
110,996
46,500
30,620
121,994
714
65,320

8,321
10
24,448
52,988
6,077
13,070
7,868
9
130,027
58,280
43,176
34,388
3,063
7,479
28,890
9,893
51,840
62,076
381,086
1,325
10,111

6,266,206
(731,634)

6,270,074
(534,356)

5,335,649
207,588

934,425
741,944

(135,121)

(135,121)

72,467
1,702,041
$1,774,508

606,823
4,318,545
$4,925,368

(731,634)
(2,563,005)
$(3,294,639)

$

9DULDQFH
3RVLWLYH
1HJDWLYH 

(534,356)
(2,616,504)
$(3,150,860)

$

14,758
7,700
(102,660)
(3,942)
(23,896)
6,323
(90,764)

)HGHUDO)XQG
%XGJHW$PRXQWV
9DULDQFH
2ULJLQDO
)LQDO
$FWXDO 3RVLWLYH
%XGJHW
%XGJHW $PRXQWV 1HJDWLYH

$
$9,308,051
9,308,051

1,037 $

1,037

$10,338,384
10,338,384

9,095,525
9,096,562

857

857

6,693
171,200

7,178
233,157

6,160
157,523

1,018
75,634

1,002
1,081,016
44,973
14,623
4,418,200
1,285,008
184,143
49,367
1,662,639
366,726
3,286
220,578
15,057
35,003

1,002
1,010,289
61,542
15,703
4,697,467
1,682,358
192,262
86,187
1,846,705
474,383
3,625
221,553
16,287
39,292

1,002
804,900
34,287
10,964
4,666,835
1,547,816
163,469
75,243
1,393,417
294,568
3,042
63,587
10,296
24,224

205,389
27,255
4,739
30,632
134,542
28,793
10,944
453,288
179,815
583
157,966
5,991
15,068

9,559,514
(251,463)

10,589,847
(251,463)

9,258,190
(161,628)
161,628

(251,463)
(1,687,321)
$(1,938,784)

(251,463)
(1,687,314)
$(1,938,777)

$

(1,242,859)
(1,241,822)

1,331,657
89,835
161,628

251,463
1,687,314
- $1,938,777

www.marylandtaxes.com105

A-105

STATE OF MARYLAND

Reconciliation of the Budgetary General and Special Fund, Fund Balances to
the GAAP General and Special Revenue Fund, Fund Balances
June 30, 2010

(Expressed in Thousands)

Amount in budgetary funds, fund balance (pages 104 and 105) ..............................
Budgetary special funds reclassified to the general fund .......................................
Budgetary special funds reclassified to other funds................................................
Other non-budgetary funds reclassified to governmental funds ..........................
Total of budgetary fund balances reclassified into the governmental
funds’ fund structure.....................................................................................................
Accounting principle differences:
Assets recognized in the governmental funds financial statements
not recognized for budgetary purposes:
Cash ...........................................................................................................................
Investments ..............................................................................................................
Taxes receivable .......................................................................................................
Intergovernmental receivables ...............................................................................
Other accounts receivable ......................................................................................
Prepaid items............................................................................................................
Inventories ................................................................................................................
Loans and notes receivable .....................................................................................
Due from other funds .............................................................................................
Liabilities recognized in the governmental funds financial
statements not recognized for budgetary purposes:
Salaries payable ........................................................................................................
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities ..............................................................
Due to other funds ..................................................................................................
Accounts payable to political subdivisions ..........................................................
Deferred revenue .....................................................................................................
Accrued self insurance costs ..................................................................................
Financial statement governmental funds’ fund balances,
June 30, 2010 (page 28) ..............................................................................................
See accompanying Notes to Required Supplementary Information.
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General

Special

$1,056,125
961,852

$1,774,508
(961,852)
(557,840)
417

301,352
2,319,329

(67,992)
36,579
27,143
154,438
(1,177)
(219,934)
25,987
33
2,713
(164)
(244,771)
(381,110)
(12,809)
(311,485)
(77,688)
$1,249,092

255,233

2,114
2,657
79,089
(1,178)
16,005

(18,198)

$ 335,722

STATE OF MARYLAND

Required Supplemental Schedule of Funding Progress for
Maryland Pension and Retirement System
(Expressed in Thousands)

Actuarial
Valuation
Date
June 30,

Actuarial
Value of
Plan
Assets

2010
2009
2008
2007
2006
2005

$ 20,908,150
20,605,618
23,784,404
22,814,759
21,575,451
20,801,529

2010
2009
2008
2007
2006
2005

$ 9,224,784
9,230,381
10,699,418
10,332,264
9,825,416
9,544,541

2010
2009
2008
2007
2006
2005

$ 1,085,281
1,119,766
1,343,208
1,334,375
1,301,877
1,289,345

2010
2009
2008
2007
2006
2005

$

276,643
270,870
306,716
293,052
273,679
260,125

2010
2009
2008
2007
2006
2005

$

367,934
354,707
389,793
354,364
316,709
281,659

2010
2009
2008
2007
2006
2005

$ 31,862,792
31,581,342
36,523,539
35,128,814
33,293,132
32,177,199

Actuarial
(Unfunded AAL)
Accrued
/Excess of
Liability (AAL)
Assets
Funded
Covered
Entry Age
over AAL
Ratio
Payroll(1)
TEACHERS RETIREMENT AND PENSION SYSTEM
65.41% $ 6,411,550
$ 31,963,421
$ (11,055,271)
31,172,917
(10,567,299)
66.10
6,411,550
29,868,705
(6,084,301)
79.63
6,117,591
28,122,575
(5,307,816)
81.13
5,709,765
25,617,484
(4,042,033)
84.22
5,269,185
23,305,198
(2,503,669)
89.26
5,055,392
STATE EMPLOYEES RETIREMENT AND PENSION SYSTEM
59.70% $ 3,163,684
$ 15,451,890
$ (6,227,106)
15,080,783
(5,850,402)
61.21
3,250,809
14,337,460
(3,638,042)
74.63
3,110,640
13,363,507
(3,031,243)
77.32
3,022,476
12,184,215
(2,358,799)
80.64
2,828,348
11,241,813
(1,697,272)
84.90
2,743,255
STATE POLICE RETIREMENT SYSTEM
63.00% $ 83,123
$ 1,722,564
$ (637,283)
1,710,356
(590,590)
65.47
87,070
1,601,575
(258,367)
83.87
86,464
1,516,935
(182,560)
87.97
83,191
1,325,875
(23,998)
98.19
80,649
1,284,950
4,395
100.34
76,463
JUDGES RETIREMENT SYSTEM
64.91% $ 40,654
$ 426,215
$ (149,572)
421,039
(150,169)
64.33
40,965
406,782
(100,066)
75.40
37,943
371,987
(78,935)
78.78
37,638
352,537
(78,858)
77.63
35,939
328,033
(67,908)
79.30
33,074
STATE LAW ENFORCEMENT OFFICERS’ PENSION SYSTEM
51.42% $ 89,227
$ 715,568
$ (347,634)
684,424
(329,717)
51.83
89,571
611,367
(221,574)
63.76
85,814
593,308
(238,944)
59.73
82,079
504,373
(187,664)
62.79
71,678
470,677
(189,018)
59.84
72,374
TOTAL OF ALL PLANS
63.37% $ 9,788,238
$ 50,279,658
$ (18,416,866)
49,069,519
(17,488,177)
64.36
9,879,965
46,825,889
(10,302,350)
78.00
9,438,452
43,968,312
(8,839,498)
79.90
8,935,149
39,984,484
(6,691,352)
83.27
8,285,799
36,630,671
(4,453,472)
87.84
7,980,558

(Unfunded AAL)
/Excess as a
Percentage of
Covered Payroll(2)
(172.43) %
(164.82)
(99.46)
(92.96)
(76.71)
(49.52)
(196.83) %
(179.97)
(116.95)
(100.29)
(83.40)
(61.87)
(766.67) %
(678.29)
(298.81)
(219.45)
(29.76)
5.75
(367.91) %
(366.58)
(263.73)
(209.72)
(219.42)
(205.32)
(389.61) %
(368.11)
(258.20)
(291.11)
(261.82)
(261.17)
(188.15) %
(177.01)
(109.15)
(98.93)
(80.76)
(55.80)

(1) Covered payroll includes the payroll cost of those participants for which the State pays the retirement contribution but
does not pay the participants’ payroll cost.
(2) (Unfunded AAL)/ excess assets over AAL as a percentage of covered payroll.

A-107

www.marylandtaxes.com107

STATE OF MARYLAND

Required Supplemental Schedule of Funding Progress for
Maryland Transit Administration Pension Plan
Actuarial
Valuation
Date
June 30,
2010
2009
2008

Actuarial
Value of
Plan
Assets
$162,756
143,319
136,294

(Expressed in Thousands)
Actuarial
Unfunded
Accrued
Actuarial
Liability (AAL) Accrued
Funded
Entry Age
Liability
Ratio
$426,041
$(263,285)
38.20%
337,667
(194,348)
42.44
326,988
(190,694)
41.68

Unfunded AAL
as a
Covered Percentage of
Payroll Covered Payroll
$145,029
(181.54) %
155,560
(124.93)
144,775
(131.72)

Required Supplemental Schedule of Funding Progress for
Other Post-Employment Benefits Plan
(Expressed in Thousands)

Actuarial
Valuation
Date
June 30,
2010
2009
2008*

Actuarial
Actuarial
Unfunded
Value of
Accrued
Actuarial
Plan
Liability (AAL) Accrued
Assets
Entry Age
Liability
$183,388 $16,098,602 $(15,915,214)
174,250
15,453,599 (15,279,349)
118,884
14,852,304 (14,733,420)

Unfunded AAL
as a
Funded
Covered Percentage of
Ratio
Payroll Covered Payroll
1.1% $4,627,379
(343.9) %
1.1
4,740,553
(322.3)
0.8
4,625,145
(318.6)

Required Supplemental Schedule of Employer Contributions
and Other Contributing Entities for Other Post-Employment Benefits Plan
(Expressed in Thousands)
Percentage Contributed
Annual Required
Employer
Other Contributing
Contribution
Contributions (a)
Entities (b)
$1,184,522
25.8%
2.5%
1,148,597
29.4
2.5
1,086,240
34.2
1.7

Year Ended
June 30,
2010
2009
2008*

Total
28.3%
31.9
35.9

Required Supplemental Schedule of Funding Progress for
Maryland Transit Administration Retiree Healthcare Benefit
(Expressed in Thousands)

Actuarial
Valuation
Date
June 30,
2009
2007*

Actuarial
Value of
Plan
Assets
$
-

Actuarial
Unfunded
Accrued
Actuarial
Liability (AAL) Accrued
Entry Age
Liability
$431,500
$(431,500)
411,400
(411,400)

Funded
Ratio
0.0%
0.0

Unfunded AAL
as a
Covered Percentage of
Payroll Covered Payroll
$151,560
(284.7)%
144,775
(284.2)

Required Supplemental Schedule of Employer Contributions for
Maryland Transit Administration Retiree Healthcare Benefit
(Expressed in Thousands)

Year Ended
June 30,
2010
2009
2008*

Annual Required
Contribution
$45,500
43,900
41,400

Actual
Contribution
$10,900
10,100
9,700

Percentage
Contributed
24.0%
23.4
23.0

*Information for prior years not available.
(a) Employer contributions include pre-funding and pay-as-you-go contributions (net of retiree premiums).
(b) Other contributing entities consists of the Federal Medicare drug subsidy contributed to the OPEB Trust.
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STATE OF MARYLAND
Notes to Required Supplementary Information
For the Year Ended June 30, 2010

1. Budgeting and Budgetary Control:
The Maryland Constitution requires the Governor to submit to the General Assembly an annual balanced budget for the
following fiscal year. This budget is prepared and adopted for the General Fund, which includes all transactions of the State, unless
otherwise directed to be included in another fund and the Special Fund, which includes the transportation activities of the State,
fishery and wildlife funds, shared taxes and payments of debt service on general obligation bonds. In contrast, the GAAP special
revenue fund includes only the operations (other than debt service and pension activities) of the Maryland Department of Transportation. The budgetary Federal fund revenue and expenditures are included in the GAAP General and Special Funds as Federal
revenues and expenditures by function. An annual budget is also prepared for the Federal Fund, which accounts for substantially
all grants from the Federal government, and the current unrestricted and restricted funds of the Universities and Colleges. In addition to the annual budget, the General Assembly adopts authorizations for the issuance of general obligation bonds. The expenditures of the resources obtained thereby are accounted for in the capital projects fund.
All State budgetary expenditures for the general, special and Federal funds are made pursuant to appropriations in the
annual budget, as amended from time to time, by budget amendments. The legal level of budgetary control is at the program level
for the general, special and Federal funds. State governmental departments and independent agencies may, with the Governor’s
approval, amend the appropriations by program within the budgetary general fund, provided they do not exceed their total general
fund appropriations as contained within the annual budget. Increases in the total general fund appropriations must be approved
by the General Assembly. For the fiscal year ended June 30, 2010, the General Assembly approved a net increase in General Fund
appropriations of $195,752,000. Appropriations for programs funded in whole or in part from the special or Federal funds may
permit expenditures in excess of original special or Federal fund appropriations to the extent that actual revenues exceed original
budget estimates and such additional expenditures are approved by the Governor. Unexpended appropriations from the general
fund may be carried over to succeeding years to the extent of encumbrances, with all other appropriations lapsing as of the end
of the fiscal year. Unexpended appropriations from special and Federal funds may be carried over to the extent of (a) available
resources, and (b) encumbrances. The State’s accounting system is maintained by the Comptroller in compliance with State Law
and in accordance with the State’s Budgetary Funds. It controls expenditures at the program level to ensure legal compliance. The
“Agency Appropriation Unencumbered Balance Report,” which is available for public inspection at the Office of the Comptroller,
provides a more comprehensive accounting of activity on the basis of budgeting at the legal level of budgetary control.
The original and amended budget adopted by the General Assembly for the general, special and Federal funds is presented in the Schedule of Revenues, Expenditures and Encumbrances, and Changes in Fund Balances-Budget and Actual-for the
year ended June 30, 2010. The State’s budgetary fund structure and the basis of budgeting, which is the modified accrual basis
with certain exceptions, differs from that utilized to present financial statements in conformity with generally accepted accounting
principles. The budgetary system’s principal departures from the modified accrual basis are the classification of the State’s budgetary funds and the timing of recognition of certain revenues and expenditures. A summary of the effects of the fund structure
differences and exceptions to the modified accrual basis of accounting, as of June 30, 2010, is provided in the “Reconciliation of the
Budgetary General and Special Fund, Fund Balances to the GAAP General and Special Revenue Fund, Fund Balances” immediately following the budgetary schedule.
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STATE OF MARYLAND
Combined Summary Of Revenues,
Expenditures, Other Sources And Uses
of Financial Resources and Changes in Fund Balances,
General, Special Revenue, Debt Service and Capital Projects Funds
(Expressed in Thousands)

Revenues:
Income taxes………………………………………
Retail sales and use taxes………………………
Motor vehicle taxes and fees…………………….
Other taxes…………………………………………
Other licenses and fees…………………………..
Charges for services……………………………….
Revenues pledged as security for bonds……….
Interest and other investment income……………
Federal………………………………………………
Other………………………………………………..
Total revenues……………………………………
Expenditures:
Current:
General government……………………………..
Health and mental hygiene……………………..
Education (a)…………………………………
Human resources………………………………..
Public safety and judicial……………………….
Transportation…………………………………….
Labor, licensing and regulation…………………
Natural resources and recreation………………
Housing and community development…………
Environment………………………………………
Agriculture………………………………………..
Business and economic development…………
Intergovernmental………………………………
Debt service………………………………………
Capital outlays…………………………………
Total expenditures……………………………….
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over expenditures….
Other sources (uses) of financial resources:
Capital and direct financing leases…………………..
Proceeds from bond issues…………………………..
Other long-term liabilities………………….
Proceeds from refunding bonds………………………
Payments to escrow agents………………………….
Operating transfers in………………………………….
Operating transfers out………………………………..
Special items…………………………………………..
Net other sources (uses) of financial resources
Excess (deficiency) of revenues over
expenditures and net other sources
(uses) of financial resources………………….
Fund balance, July 1…………………………………….
Fund balance, June 30………………………………….

2009

$6,957,811
3,754,326
1,796,769
2,289,006
682,756
1,639,917
89,521
121,233
9,386,888
413,762
27,131,989

$7,156,297
3,851,752
1,787,144
2,267,044
686,806
1,259,309
66,098
161,696
7,767,558
377,127
25,380,831

$7,868,899
3,748,933
1,920,460
2,444,883
651,079
1,108,666
77,541
307,403
6,604,348
214,755
24,946,967

$7,325,181
3,447,896
1,982,329
2,243,581
782,712
1,050,187
70,563
315,121
6,407,172
240,671
23,865,413

$7,108,573
3,382,851
1,983,439
2,332,968
808,617
970,345
70,593
219,609
6,118,583
108,689
23,104,267

$6,814,378 $ 5,499,953
3,153,676
2,945,060
2,031,862
1,792,769
2,105,362
1,852,417
759,953
754,995
978,535
1,044,636
70,875
52,255
102,532
32,251
5,916,233
5,872,371
331,224
162,748
22,264,630
20,009,455

753,206
9,040,549
9,104,692
2,291,347
2,330,049
1,422,085
226,118
184,342
315,630
110,092
92,954
74,578
1,187,153
935,867
1,200,176
29,268,838
(2,136,849)

753,821
8,286,032
8,948,062
2,061,959
2,410,373
1,333,618
182,751
205,876
244,208
106,307
142,804
90,892
1,425,506
888,629
1,430,170
28,511,008
(3,130,177)

727,119
7,536,747
8,638,203
1,761,284
2,391,708
1,262,973
166,848
188,675
244,581
95,918
147,494
94,503
1,597,734
814,979
1,476,506
27,145,272
(2,198,305)

715,235
7,252,117
7,683,885
1,643,078
2,318,213
1,219,507
164,255
177,553
228,105
92,460
101,252
65,774
1,590,590
773,715
1,437,741
25,463,480
(1,598,067)

736,694
6,547,288
6,758,158
1,622,922
2,097,175
1,121,714
154,607
165,439
215,940
83,793
64,044
56,374
1,562,539
767,691
1,538,927
23,493,305
(389,038)

700,391
6,329,383
6,235,534
1,569,032
1,897,974
1,273,622
166,787
167,018
211,577
76,393
56,624
57,287
1,453,408
726,516
1,531,461
22,453,007
(188,377)

627,626
6,064,735
5,919,742
1,560,876
1,792,078
1,143,520
174,047
166,730
202,346
84,443
60,537
58,259
1,461,133
671,952
1,461,067
21,449,091
(1,439,636)

15,472
1,347,382

27,945
1,318,716

31,185
1,071,403
102

56,860
831,193
2,411

121,197
904,907
5,320

928,535
(924,185)
1,895,049
(1,280,255)

69,433
(69,213)
1,202,988
(741,794)

1,180,435
(702,499)

1,137,421
(787,865)

1,133,853
(676,003)

154,434
937,480
12,321
855,840
(940,591)
1,063,529
(642,709)

1,981,998

1,808,075

1,580,626

1,240,020

1,489,274

1,440,304

145,455
898,818
142,015
83,591
(83,537)
1,111,330
(675,796)
1,621,876

(154,851)
1,979,481
$1,824,630

(1,322,102)
3,301,583
$1,979,481

(617,679)
(358,047)
1,100,236
3,919,262
4,277,309
3,177,073
$3,301,583 $ 3,919,262 $ 4,277,309

1,251,927
1,925,146
$ 3,177,073

182,240
1,742,906
$ 1,925,146
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APPENDIX B
SUPPLEMENTARY DEBT SCHEDULES
General Obligation Bonds
General Obligation Bonds Issued and Outstanding
The following table shows the principal amounts of outstanding general obligation bonds and authorized
and unissued amounts: (1) at the end of each fiscal year shown; and (2) adjusted to give effect to sale of the 2011
Second Series A, B, C and D Bonds as of August 31, 2011, and the Bonds offered hereby.
($ in thousands)
As of
June 30

Issued and
Outstanding

Authorized
but Unissued

2006.....................................................................
2007.....................................................................
2008.....................................................................
2009.....................................................................
2010.....................................................................
March 31, 2011...................................................

$4,868,471
5,142,154
5,493,830
5,873,643
6,523,222
6,982,845

$1,774,484
1,911,587
2,063,853
2,328,351
2,394,985
1,416,615

August 31, 2011..................................................
Refunding Bonds Issued ....................................
Refunded Debt ....................................................
Pro Forma............................................................

$7,298,890
254,915
(264,605)
$7,289,200

$1,843,333
$1,843,333

(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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Debt Service Requirements on General Obligation Bonds
The following table shows for all general obligation bonds of the State for all future fiscal years: (1) the
debt service requirements for outstanding bonds as of August 31, 2011; and (2) the debt service after giving effect to
the issuance of the Bonds. Not included is debt service on general obligation bonds for which United States
government obligations sufficient to provide fully for the timely payment of principal, interest, and applicable
redemption premium are being held in escrow funds.
Debt Service Requirements on General Obligation Bonds
Actual - General Obligation Bonds Outstanding
($ in thousands)

Fiscal Year

2012 .......................................................
2013 .......................................................
2014 .......................................................
2015 .......................................................
2016 .......................................................
2017 .......................................................
2018 .......................................................
2019 .......................................................
2020 .......................................................
2021 .......................................................
2022 .......................................................
2023 .......................................................
2024 .......................................................
2025 .......................................................
2026 .......................................................
2027 .......................................................

Principal

Gross Interest

Gross Debt
Service

Interest
Subsidy (1)

Net Debt
Service

$ 345,824
564,299
613,979
623,924
657,747
627,434
614,139
569,439
549,292
482,984
435,644
386,222
316,201
294,466
165,898
51,395
$7,298,890

$249,919
314,235
285,045
255,093
225,547
193,779
164,176
135,386
108,891
86,379
65,439
46,451
30,822
17,104
6,851
1,191
$ 2,186,309

$595,743
878,534
899,024
879,017
883,294
821,213
778,315
704,825
658,183
569,363
501,083
432,673
347,023
311,570
172,749
52,586
$9,485,195

$ (9,570)
(11,954)
(11,954)
(11,954)
(11,954)
(11,954)
(11,954)
(11,954)
(11,220)
(10,447)
(9,632)
(8,505)
(7,042)
(5,092)
(2,138)
(447)
$(147,771)

$586,173
866,580
887,070
867,063
871,340
809,259
766,361
692,870
646,963
558,916
491,451
424,168
339,980
306,477
170,610
52,139
$9,337,420

Debt Service Following Issuance of 2011 Second Series E Bonds
($ in thousands)

Fiscal Year

2012 .......................................................
2013 .......................................................
2014 .......................................................
2015 .......................................................
2016 .......................................................
2017 .......................................................
2018 .......................................................
2019 .......................................................
2020 .......................................................
2021 .......................................................
2022 .......................................................
2023 .......................................................
2024 .......................................................
2025 .......................................................
2026 .......................................................
2027 .......................................................

Principal

$345,824
564,299
613,979
621,959
656,172
626,339
612,389
567,304
548,122
482,984
435,644
386,222
316,201
294,466
165,898
51,395
$7,289,197

Gross Interest

$247,970
314,167
284,977
255,302
225,367
193,117
164,166
135,766
108,302
86,379
65,439
46,451
30,822
17,104
6,851
1,191
$2,183,372

Gross Debt
Service

$593,794
878,466
898,956
877,261
881,539
819,456
776,555
703,070
656,424
569,363
501,083
432,673
347,023
311,570
172,749
52,586
$9,472,569

______
Totals may not add due to rounding.
(1) Interest Subsidy is the Federal Subsidy for Build America Bonds, Qualified School Construction Bonds and Qualified Zone Academy Bonds.
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Interest
Subsidy (1)

Net Debt
Service

$ (9,570)
(11,954)
(11,954)
(11,954)
(11,954)
(11,954)
(11,954)
(11,954)
(11,220)
(10,447)
(9,632)
(8,505)
(7,042)
(5,092)
(2,138)
(447)
$(147,771)

$584,224
866,512
887,002
865,307
869,585
807,502
764,601
691,116
645,204
558,916
491,451
424,168
339,981
306,478
170,611
52,139
$9,324,798

Maryland Stadium Authority
Lease Revenue Debt Outstanding as of March 31, 2011
The following table shows the lease revenue debt of the Maryland Stadium Authority outstanding as of
March 31, 2011, the uses of the proceeds thereof, and the sources of repayment of the debt. Project descriptions
follow.

Source of
Repayment

Use of Proceeds

Principal Amount
Outstanding as of
March 31, 2011
($ in thousands)

Bonds Outstanding

Oriole Park at Camden Yards (a)

Lease Payments/
Operating Revenues

$102,315

Baltimore City Convention Center Expansion

Lease Payments

17,585

Ocean City Convention Center

Lease Payments

6,630

Ravens Stadium

Lease Payments

63,590

Hippodrome Theater

Lease Payments

15,435

Montgomery County Conference Center

Lease Payments

17,970

Camden Station Renovation

Lease Payments

7,575

Capital Leases Outstanding

Oriole Park at Camden Yards (Equipment)
Ravens Stadium (Equipment)
Oriole Park at Camden Yards (Energy)
Ravens Stadium (Energy)

Operating Revenues
Operating Revenues
Operating Revenues
Operating Revenues

Total Debt Outstanding (a)

2,638
3,836
5,857
2,395
$245,826

________
(a) Total includes $10.0 million of lease revenue bonds that are not tax-supported. Therefore, the total tax-supported debt of the Maryland Stadium
Authority is $235.8 million as of March 31, 2011. See “STATE TAX-SUPPORTED DEBT AND CAPITAL PROGRAM – Tax-Supported Debt
Outstanding.”
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Project Descriptions
Oriole Park at Camden Yards - Bonds. Currently the Maryland Stadium Authority (“Authority”) operates
Oriole Park at Camden Yards, which opened in 1992. In connection with the construction of that facility, the
Authority issued $155.0 million in notes and bonds. In October 1993, the Authority entered into an agreement to
implement a synthetic fixed rate refinancing of the sports facility bonds using a combination of variable rate
refunding obligations and forward interest rate exchange agreements. As provided under the agreements, savings of
$15.5 million was paid to the Authority on April 1, 1996. In accordance with this agreement and in consideration for
the prior payment of the savings, the Authority issued its $17.9 million Sports Facilities Lease Revenue Refunding
Bonds in December 1998 to refund its outstanding Sports Facility Lease Revenue Bonds Series 1989C, and issued
its $121.0 million Sports Facilities Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds in December 1999 to refund its Sports
Facilities Lease Revenue Bonds Series 1989D.
The Authority’s notes and bonds are lease-backed revenue obligations, the payment of which is secured by,
among other things, an assignment of revenues received under a lease of Oriole Park at Camden Yards from the
Authority to the State. The rental payments due from the State under that lease are subject to annual appropriation
by the General Assembly. Revenues to fund the lease payments are generated from a variety of sources, including in
each year revenues from sports lotteries, the net operating revenues of the Authority, and $1.0 million from the City
of Baltimore.
In November 2001, the Authority issued $10.3 million in bond anticipation notes, which were refunded in
July 2002 with $10.3 million in taxable lease-backed revenue bonds. The 2001 bond anticipation notes were used to
fund a $10.0 million deposit to the “Supplemental Improvements Fund” under the Baltimore Orioles Lease in
accordance with the order of the panel of Arbitrators in American Arbitration Association Case No.
16Y1150005500.
In April 2010, the Maryland Stadium Authority issued the Sports Facilities Taxable Revenue Bonds, Series
2010, in the amount of $10.0 million. The proceeds were used for capital repairs to Oriole Park at Camden Yards
and to fund a debt service reserve account. The Series 2010 will mature on December 15, 2013.
Annual debt service on the Authority’s total bond obligations for Oriole Park at Camden Yards is $15.6
million and the amount outstanding as of March 31, 2011 totaled $102.3 million.
Oriole Park at Camden Yards - Leases. In early 2007, the Baltimore Orioles filed for arbitration over the
selection and installation of a new video board at Oriole Park at Camden Yards. In September 2007 the Authority
and the Baltimore Orioles reached a settlement, agreeing to purchase and install $9.0 million of new audio and video
equipment funded by $5.5 million from the “Supplement Improvements Fund” and $3.5 million from the Authority.
The Authority’s share was financed under the State’s Master Equipment Lease-Purchase Program and amortized
over 10 years. The outstanding balance of the lease as of March 31, 2011 was $2.6 million.
In November 2009, the Maryland Stadium Authority entered into a contract with Pepco Energy Services to
provide $6.0 million of energy upgrades and enhancements to Oriole Park at Camden Yards and the adjoining
warehouse. The Authority is financing the upgrades and enhancements under the State’s Energy Performance
Contract Lease-Purchase Agreement over 12 years. Some of the upgrades and enhancements include the
replacement of a chiller and cooling tower, replacement of light fixtures and upgrades to the generator plant. The
outstanding balance as of March 31, 2011 was $5.9 million.
Baltimore City Convention Center Expansion. The Authority also constructed an expansion of the
Baltimore City Convention Center. The Convention Center expansion cost $167.0 million and was financed through
a combination of funding from Baltimore City revenue bonds ($50.0 million), Authority revenue bonds ($55.0
million), State general obligation bonds ($58.0 million) and other State appropriations. As required, the City sold its
revenue bonds before the Authority’s sale of lease-backed revenue bonds on August 25, 1994. The State sold $58.0
million in general obligation bonds designated for the Convention Center in sales from October 1993 to October
1996. The agreement between the City and the Authority provides that: (1) the City and the Authority each make
equal annual contributions to a capital improvements reserve fund; (2) after completion of construction through
fiscal year 2008, the Authority and the City contribute toward operating deficits in the proportion Authority (2/3),
City (1/3); and (3) the City be solely responsible for operating deficits and capital improvements prior to completion
of the expansion and after fiscal year 2008. Authority debt service in fiscal year 2010 was $5.0 million. The 2010
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contribution to operating deficits and the project’s capital improvements fund was approximately $6.4 million. The
project has generated direct and indirect benefit to the State that offset its costs (debt service, operating deficit
contributions, deposits to the capital improvements fund, and that portion of the Authority’s budget that is allocable
to the Baltimore City Convention Center project) since 1999.
In June 1998, the Authority entered into an agreement to implement a synthetic fixed rate refinancing of its
revenue bonds for the Baltimore City Convention Center using a combination of variable rate refunding obligations
and forward interest rate exchange agreements. As provided under the agreements, savings of $0.6 million was paid
to the Authority on June 10, 1998. The Authority issued refunding bonds in the amount of $31.6 million of which
$31.2 million was used to call the outstanding principal balance on the 1994 Series on December 15, 2006. The
balance of the proceeds, $400,000 was used towards closing costs. The 1994 Series was called on December 15,
2006 in accordance with the swap agreement.
The amount outstanding of Maryland Stadium Authority Bonds related to the Baltimore City Convention
Center project totaled $17.6 million as of March 31, 2011.
Ocean City Convention Center. The Authority also constructed an expansion of the Ocean City Convention
Center in Ocean City. The expansion cost $33.2 million and was financed through a matching grant from the State to
Ocean City and a combination of funding from Ocean City and the Authority. In October 1995, the Authority issued
$17.3 million in revenue bonds to provide State funding; as required, Ocean City sold $15.0 million of its special tax
and general obligation bonds before the sale by the Authority. Authority debt service in connection with the revenue
bonds for the Ocean City Convention Center is about $1.5 million.
In March 2011, the Authority refinanced the outstanding balance of $6.5 million. A new fixed rate series
was issued in the amount of $6.6 million with $6.5 million being used to call the Series 1995 and the balance used
for transactional costs. The annual debt service on the Series 2011 is approximately $1.4 million annually.
The Authority will also continue to pay one-half of any annual operating deficits of the facility through
December 15, 2015, after which time Ocean City will be solely responsible for operating deficits. The 2010
contribution to operating deficits and the project’s capital improvements fund is approximately $1.5 million. The
project has generated direct and indirect benefits to the State that offset its costs (debt service, operating deficit
contributions, deposits to the capital improvements fund, and that portion of the Authority’s budget that is allocable
to the Ocean City Convention Center project) since 2007.
Ravens Stadium. The Authority currently operates Ravens Stadium, which opened in 1998. In connection
with the construction of that facility, the Authority sold $87.6 million in lease-backed revenue bonds on May 1,
1996 for Ravens Stadium. The proceeds from the Authority’s bonds, along with cash available from State lottery
proceeds, investment earnings, contributions from the Ravens and other sources were used to pay project design and
construction expenses of approximately $229.0 million. The bonds are solely secured by an assignment of revenues
received under a lease of the project from the Authority to the State. In June 1998, the Authority entered into an
agreement to implement a synthetic fixed rate refinancing of the football lease-backed revenue bonds using a
combination of variable rate refunding obligations and forward interest rate exchange agreements. As provided
under the agreements, savings of $2.6 million were paid to the Authority on June 10, 1998. The Authority issued
Maryland Stadium Authority Sports Facilities Lease Revenue Refunding Bonds Football Stadium Issue Series 2007
in the amount of $73.5 million of which $73.1 million was used to call the outstanding principal balance on the 1996
Series on March 1, 2007. The balance of the proceeds, $375,000, was used for closing costs. The 1996 Series was
called on March 1, 2007 in accordance with the swap agreement.
On December 15, 1997 the Authority issued $4.6 million in Sports Facilities Lease Revenue Bonds, Series
1997 whose proceeds were used toward the construction of Ravens Stadium. The Series 1997 bonds fully matured
on December 15, 2007. The Authority’s combined debt service on the remaining outstanding revenue bonds is $7.3
million annually. The bonds outstanding as of March 31, 2011 totaled $63.6 million.
In November 2009, the Maryland Stadium Authority entered into a contract with Pepco Energy Services to
provide energy upgrades and enhancements to Ravens Stadium. The energy upgrades and enhancements will cost
approximately $2.5 million. The Authority is financing the upgrades and enhancements under the State’s Energy
Performance Contract Lease-Purchase Agreement over 12 years. The outstanding balance as of March 31, 2011 was
$2.4 million.
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In the spring of 2010, the Maryland Stadium Authority entered into several contracts for the replacement of
the video boards and control room at Ravens Stadium. The budget for the project was estimated at $10.0 million
with the Baltimore Ravens funding approximately $6.0 million and the Maryland Stadium Authority funding $4.0
million. The Maryland Stadium Authority’s share was financed under the State’s Equipment Lease-Purchase
Program and amortized over 10 years. The outstanding balance as of March 31, 2011 was $3.8 million.
Hippodrome Theater. In July 2002, the Authority issued $20.3 million in taxable lease-backed revenue
bonds in connection with the renovation and construction of the Hippodrome Theater as part of Baltimore City’s
West Side Development. The cost of renovating the theater was $63.0 million and was financed by various public
and private sources. The Authority will not have any operating risk for the project which was completed in
February 2004. The average annual debt service for these bonds is $1.8 million. The bonds outstanding as of March
31, 2011 totaled $15.4 million.
Montgomery County Conference Center. In January 2003, the Authority issued $23.2 million in leasebacked revenue bonds in connection with the construction of a conference center in Montgomery County. The
conference center is adjacent and physically connected to a Marriott Hotel, which has been privately financed. The
center cost $33.5 million and was financed through a combination of funding from Montgomery County and the
Authority. The Authority does not have any operating risk. The average annual debt service for these bonds is
$1.75 million. The bonds outstanding as of March 31, 2011 totaled $18.0 million.
Camden Station Renovation. In February 2004, the Authority issued $8.7 million in taxable lease-backed
revenue bonds in connection with the renovation of the historic Camden Station located at the Camden Yards
Complex in Baltimore, Maryland. The cost of the renovation was $8.0 million. The Authority has executed lease
agreements for the entire building, with the Babe Ruth Museum leasing approximately 22,600 square feet since May
2000 and Geppi’s Entertainment Museum leasing the balance of the building since early fall 2006. To date, lease
payments have not been sufficient to cover debt service on the bonds and the shortfall has been subsidized by the
Authority. The average annual debt service for these bonds is $0.8 million. Bonds outstanding as of March 31,
2011 totaled $7.6 million.
(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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State Tax-Supported Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings
Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings Outstanding as of March 31, 2011
The following table shows, by State agency, State tax-supported capital lease and conditional purchase
financings, the facilities financed, and the principal amount outstanding at March 31, 2011.

State Agency

Facilities Financed

Department of Transportation

Headquarters office building

Principal Amount
Outstanding as of
March 31, 2011
($ in thousands)

$26,090

MAA shuttle buses – BWI

7,700

St. Mary’s County Multi-service
office building

1,705

Hilton Street Facility

1,635

Department of General Services

Prince George’s County Justice
Center

19,908

Maryland Environmental Service

Water and wastewater facility at
Eastern Correctional Institution

Various State Agencies

Energy performance projects

Various State Agencies

Communications, data processing,
and other equipment

40,281

Maryland Transportation Authority

State office parking facility

21,325

Maryland State Lottery

Video Lottery Terminals
(Ocean Downs & Perryville)

40,900

Total

665

156,319

$316,528

(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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Revenue and Enterprise Financings
Revenue and Enterprise Financings Outstanding as of March 31, 2011(a)
The following table shows, by issuing agency, certain revenue and enterprise non-tax-supported debt
outstanding as of March 31, 2011, the facilities financed, and the sources of repayment of the debt.

Agency

Facilities Financed

Source of Repayment

Principal Amount
Outstanding as of
March 31, 2011
($ in thousands)

Higher Education (b)
University System of Maryland

Academic facilities, Student
Housing, parking facilities,
and equipment
Communication, data processing,
other equipment, and lighting
fixtures

Tuition and auxiliary
enterprise facilities revenues

$993,065

Operating revenues

64,140

Student fees
Student fees
Student fees
Maryland Higher
Education Commission (c)

22,805
4,615
28,315

Student housing/
campus center and
athletic facility

Academic fees and auxiliary
facilities fees

39,460

Community Development
Administration of the
Department of Housing and
Community Development

Mortgage and construction loans
Loans to local governments for
infrastructure projects

Mortgage repayments and sales
Loan repayments

Maryland Environmental Service

Landfill projects
Equipment

Tipping fees
Operating revenues

Maryland Transportation Authority

Bridges, tunnels, and highways
Parking garage at BWI
Car rental facility
Improvements at BWI Airport
WMATA Metrorail parking facility

Tolls
Parking revenues
Customer facility charges
Passenger facility charges
Lease rental payments

Maryland Water Quality Financing
Administration

Loans to local governments for
water pollution control facilities

Loan repayments

Maryland Aviation Administration

BWI renovations, de-icing ramp
BWI Piers A/B

Lease revenues
Airline rentals and concession
revenues

Maryland Transit Administration

MARC rail station parking garage

Parking revenues

13,070

Maryland Port Administration

Masonville Automobile Terminal

Lease revenues

12,615

Warehouse Facility
South Locust Point Terminal

Lease revenues

23,830

Morgan State University

St. Mary's College of Maryland

Student housing
Stadium/Fine Art
Student Center
Boiler

3,095

3,178,010
136,720

19,635
9,703

2,187,417
211,110
103,710
32,400
34,430
70,695

Maryland Department of
Transportation

Total

19,610
201,015

$7,409,465

________
(a) The table does not include debt of certain authorities that, under criteria prescribed by the Governmental Accounting Standards Board, are not
considered State entities for financial reporting purposes or debt for which United States government obligations sufficient to provide fully for the
timely payment of principal, interest, and applicable redemption premium are being held in escrow funds.
(b) As of March 31, 2011, the outstanding capital leases financed by the State Treasurer’s office (including Capitalized interest) for University
System of Maryland, Morgan State University, and St. Mary’s College of Maryland were $36.2 million, $3.8 million, and $1.5 million, respectively.
(c) The Maryland Higher Education Commission has included sufficient funds in its annual grants to Morgan State University to pay the debt
service on these Academic Facilities Bonds.
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Descriptions of Revenue and Enterprise Financings
Higher Education Institutions. Legislation limits the aggregate principal amount of revenue bonds
outstanding and the present value of capital lease payments, less the amount of any reserves established therefore,
for academic or auxiliary facilities; effective June 1, 2011 the limits are $1,400.0 million for the University System
of Maryland, $88.0 million for Morgan State University, $60.0 million for St. Mary’s College of Maryland, and
$65.0 million for Baltimore City Community College. As of March 31, 2011, outstanding debt and lease purchase
financings of the University System of Maryland, Morgan State University, and St. Mary’s College of Maryland was
$1,093.4 million, $62.6 million, and $41.0 million, respectively. Lease and Conditional Purchase Financings have
been used for facilities at various colleges and universities.
Community Development Administration. The Community Development Administration (“CDA”), a unit
within the Department of Housing and Community Development, is responsible for housing finance and assistance
programs. CDA issues bonds and notes to provide funding for various home ownership and rental housing loan
programs. The debt service on CDA’s revenue bonds and notes generally is paid from mortgage repayments. As of
March 31, 2011, $3,178.0 million of these bonds and notes were outstanding. CDA also issues bonds to provide
loans to local governments for various infrastructure projects. The bonds are secured by the general obligation
pledges of the participating local governments. As of March 31, 2011, $136.7 million of these bonds were
outstanding.
Maryland Environmental Service. The Maryland Environmental Service (“MES”) was established in 1993
to provide water supply, wastewater treatment, and waste management services to State agencies, local
governments, and private entities. MES is authorized to issue revenue bonds secured by the revenue derived from
its various facilities and projects. In February 2011 MES issued the Midshore II Regional Landfill Project Revenue
Bonds in the amount of $18.3 million. Outstanding debt of MES amounted to $29.3 million as of March 31, 2011.
Maryland Transportation Authority. The Maryland Transportation Authority (“MDTA”) of which the
Secretary of Transportation is Chairman, is responsible for the administration of the various toll revenue facilities,
which consist of bridges over the Susquehanna, Patapsco, and Potomac Rivers and the Chesapeake Bay; two tunnels
under the Baltimore Harbor; the John F. Kennedy Memorial Highway; and the Intercounty Connector (“ICC”). The
tolls and other revenues received from these facilities are pledged as security for revenue bonds of the MDTA issued
under and secured by a second amended and restated trust agreement dated as of September 1, 2007, as further
supplemented, between the MDTA and a corporate trustee. In September 2007, the MDTA issued $300.0 million of
its revenue bonds under this agreement. Under separate supplemental trust agreements, the MDTA issued additional
revenue bonds of $573.3 million in March 2008, $549.4 million in December 2009, and $326.4 million in July 2010.
In addition, in October 2010 the MDTA began monthly draws pursuant to a secured loan agreement with the United
States Department of Transportation under the Transportation Infrastructure Finance and Innovation Act of 1998
(“TIFIA”). The $516.0 million TIFIA loan, which provides funding for the ICC, was also evidenced by a revenue
bond that was issued pursuant to a supplemental trust agreement. As of March 31, 2011, the MDTA had drawn
$244.1 million under the TIFIA loan.
In March 2002, the MDTA issued revenue bonds in the amount of $264.1 million for the construction of
projects at BWI. Parking revenues are pledged for the repayment of the bonds. In June 2002, the MDTA issued
revenue bonds in the amount of $117.3 million for construction of a consolidated rental car facility at BWI.
Customer Facility Charge revenues on rental cars are pledged for the repayment of the bonds. In December 2003,
the MDTA issued revenue bonds in the amount of $69.7 million for the construction of additional projects at BWI.
Passenger Facility Charge revenues are pledged for the payment of the bonds. In June 2004, the MDTA issued lease
revenue bonds in the amount of $40.0 million to finance the costs of parking facilities projects at certain Metrorail
stations operated by the Washington Metropolitan Area Transit Authority (“WMATA”). Lease revenue payable by
WMATA and other amounts from Prince George’s County, Maryland are pledged for the repayment of the bonds.
As of March 31, 2011, $2,569.1 million of the MDTA’s revenue and enterprise financings were
outstanding under various trust agreements, including the TIFIA loan. On June 2, 2011, the MDTA announced a
proposal to increase tolls and hold public hearings during the month of June. A final decision on toll increases is
expected in the fall of 2011.
Maryland Water Quality Financing Administration. The Water Quality Financing Administration in the
Department of the Environment administers the Water Quality Revolving Loan Fund (the “Fund”). The Fund may
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be used to provide loans, subsidies, and other forms of financial assistance to local government units and private
entities for wastewater and drinking water projects as provided by the federal Water Pollution Control Act and the
federal Safe Drinking Water Act.
The Administration is authorized to issue bonds secured by revenues of the Funds, including loan
repayments, fees, federal capitalization grants, and matching State grants. As of March 31, 2011, $70.7 million of
the Administration’s revenue bonds were outstanding.
Units of the Maryland Department of Transportation
Revenues from the following projects financed for units of the Maryland Department of Transportation
(“Department”) are pledged to the payment of principal and interest on the respective bonds and certificates;
therefore, these financings are also not considered to be tax-supported.
Maryland Aviation Administration (“MAA”). MAA and the Department entered into a conditional purchase
agreement to provide financing for capital improvements at BWI and sold $42.8 million Project Certificates of
Participation for various MAA projects in May 1999. The MAA Series 1999 was refunded in December 2010 for
$19.6 million. As of March 31, 2011, $19.6 million of the certificates were outstanding.
In April 2003, MEDCO issued lease revenue bonds in the amount of $223.7 million to finance the
expansion and renovation of Piers A and B and the Terminal building at BWI. The Department records this
financing as a capital lease, which is subject to annual appropriation by the General Assembly. Airline rentals and
concession revenues are pledged to the payment of principal and interest on the bonds; therefore, this financing is
not considered tax-supported. As of March 31, 2011, $201.0 million of the MEDCO lease revenue bonds were
outstanding.
Maryland Transit Administration (“MTA”). MTA and the Department entered into a conditional purchase
agreement in fiscal year 2001 to provide financing to expand parking in the vicinity of BWI at the Maryland Rail
Commuter BWI rail station, and sold $33.0 million Project Certificates of Participation in October 2000. The MTA
Series 2000 was refunded in December 2010 for $13.1 million. As of March 31, 2011, $13.1 million of the
certificates were outstanding.
Maryland Port Administration (“MPA”). The Department entered into a capital lease in the amount of
$18.4 million by virtue of an agreement with the MDTA for financing the MPA Masonville Automobile Terminal.
As of March 31, 2011, $12.6 million was outstanding.
In addition, MPA and the Department entered into a conditional purchase agreement in fiscal year 2006 to
provide financing to construct a warehouse at the South Locust Point Terminal, and the Department sold $26.5
million Project Certificates of Participation in June 2006. As of March 31, 2011, $23.8 million of the certificates
were outstanding.

(THE REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK)
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APPENDIX C
Supplementary Revenue Schedules
STATE OF MARYLAND
Comparison of Combined General, Special, Federal, and Higher Education Funds
Revenue Estimates and Collections
The following table shows, on a net budgetary basis, a comparison between the original revenue estimate (made 19 months before the end of the fiscal year), the
revised revenue estimate (made seven months before the end of the fiscal year and reviewed four months before the end of the fiscal year), and the actual revenue
collections for the combined General, Special, Federal, and Higher Education Funds for the four fiscal years ended June 30, 2010.
(in millions)
Fiscal Year 2007
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections
Income Taxes.........................
Sales and Use Taxes..............
Motor Vehicle User Taxes,
Fees.....................................
Property, Franchise, Excise
Taxes ..................................
Sundry Fees, Licenses,
Charges ..............................
Federal ...................................

(in millions)
Fiscal Year 2008
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections

(in millions)
Fiscal Year 2009
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections

(in millions)
Fiscal Year 2010
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections

$7,444.9
3,528.9

$7,348.5
3,485.7

$7,461.2
3,447.8

$7,839.0
3,652.8

$7,773.0
3,874.0

$7,675.5
3,748.9

$8,345.3
4,623.5

$7,894.3
3,946.0

$7,226.2
3,641.9

$7,956.8
3,942.4

$6,791.0
3,508.8

$7,067.6
3,747.2

2,169.1

2,086.5

2,068.9

2,144.2

2,099.4

2,004.5

2,199.8

1,904.4

1,790.0

1,921.2

1,853.0

1,778.0

1,920.0

1,951.7

1,790.8

1,915.6

2,048.2

1,942.0

2,023.4

2,020.0

1,940.7

1,991.3

1,914.4

1,958.3

6,040.8
6,569.6
$27,673.3

6,496.2
6,653.4
$28,022.0

6,278.6
6,441.9
$27,489.3

6,542.7
6,709.1
$28,803.5

6,572.8
6,607.9
$28,975.4

6,694.6
6,561.3
$28,626.8

6,975.0
6,900.0
$31,067.0

7,081.0
7,102.2
$29,947.8

7,052.4
7,758.9
$29,410.1

7,459.1
7,662.8
$30,933.5

7,486.7
9,793.8
$31,347.7

6,773.8
9,825.0
$31,149.9

_________
Notes:
The estimates and actuals exclude transfers and other actions appearing on page C-3 as extraordinary transfers. Federal revenues are generally recognized to the extent related expenditures chargeable to
the federal grant have been recognized.
*Totals may not add due to rounding.
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STATE OF MARYLAND
Comparison of General Fund Revenue Estimates and Collections
The following table shows, on a budgetary basis, a comparison between the original revenue estimate (made 19 months before the end of the fiscal year), the
revised revenue estimate (made seven months before the end of the fiscal year and revised four months before the end of the fiscal year), and the actual revenue
collections for the four fiscal years ended June 30, 2010.
($ in millions)
Fiscal Year 2007
Original
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Estimate
Collections
Income Taxes.................................. $7,231.9
$7,167.4
$7,269.0
Sales and Use Taxes ....................... 3,502.1
3,457.2
3,420.1
Motor Vehicle User Taxes,
Fees ........................................
13.7
13.3
13.2
Property, Franchise, Excise
Taxes ......................................
987.0
1,014.1
1,021.3
Sundry Fees, Licenses, Charges .... 1,030.0
1,135.6
1,138.4
Federal.............................................
78.5
77.7
78.4
$12,843.2
$12,865.2
$12,940.2

Original
Estimate
$7,652.5
3,623.0

($ in millions)
Fiscal Year 2008
Revised
Actual
Estimate
Collections
$7,545.2
$7,491.8
3,751.7
3,675.3

($ in millions)
Fiscal Year 2009
Original
Revised
Estimate
Estimate
$8,104.6
$7,363.8
4,260.2
3,611.0

Actual
Collections
$7,027.9
3,620.4

($ in millions)
Fiscal Year 2010
Original
Revised
Estimate
Estimate
$7,798.8
$6,729.6
3,701.7
3,481.9

Actual
Collections
$6,867.6
3,522.8

13.6

13.4

13.2

0.0

6.5

6.5

0.0

8.4

8.4

1,016.6
1,068.1
79.1
$13,452.8

1,142.0
1,084.3
80.3
$13,616.8

1,158.4
1,126.3
80.7
$13,545.6

1,196.6
1,101.9
79.9
$14,743.1

1,176.9
993.9
88.4
$13,240.5

1,116.8
1,030.3
90.6
$12,892.6

1,144.4
1,031.7
61.6
$13,738.3

1,071.0
1,025.7
66.2
$12,382.7

1,088.7
1,005.0
67.7
$12,560.1

_________
Notes:
The estimates and actuals exclude transfers and other actions appearing on page C-3 as extraordinary transfers. Federal revenues are generally recognized to the extent related expenditures chargeable to
the federal grant have been recognized.

*Totals may not add due to rounding.
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STATE OF MARYLAND
Summary of Revenues by Source
The following table shows, on a net budgetary basis, the trend of the operating revenues of the principal
sources of funds of the State for the four fiscal years ended June 30, 2010, and the most recent estimate for the year
ending June 30, 2011. See the footnotes to the summary table of revenues in “STATE REVENUES” for certain
information essential to the evaluation of the following data.
($ in millions)
Fiscal Year
Estimated
2011(a)

2007

2008

2009

2010

Individuals (b).......................................................
Corporations ........................................................
Total .................................................................

$6,679.2
782.0
7,461.2

$6,940.1
735.3
7,675.5

$6,477.2
749.0
7,226.2

$6,178.2
889.4
7,067.6

$6,339.3
791.7
7,131.0

Sales and Use Taxes (c) ......................................

3,447.8

3,748.9

3,641.9

3,747.2

3,945.0

Motor Vehicle User Taxes, Fees
Motor Vehicle Fuel Taxes ..................................
Motor Vehicle Licenses, Fees ............................
Motor Vehicle Titling Tax ..................................
Total .................................................................

755.7
609.4
703.8
2,068.9

755.2
599.6
649.7
2,004.5

736.0
540.0
514.0
1,790.0

721.0
514.0
543.0
1,778.0

728.8
517.9
571.0
1,817.7

Property, Franchise, Excise Taxes
Real Property Tax................................................
Property Transfer Tax .........................................
Business Franchise Taxes ...................................
State Tobacco Tax (d) ..........................................
Tax on Insurance Companies .............................
Tax on Distilled Spirits, Wine, Beer ..................
Tax on Horse Racing...........................................
Death Taxes .........................................................
Total .................................................................

552.7
212.5
206.6
278.2
283.3
28.7
4.4
224.3
1,790.8

625.7
153.5
208.0
376.1
301.8
29.0
4.3
243.5
1,942.0

698.6
121.5
201.4
405.6
275.2
29.2
3.8
205.5
1,940.7

742.9
123.4
202.5
405.9
277.0
29.9
3.3
173.5
1,958.3

781.1
149.9
202.9
412.5
287.0
30.5
3.5
194.7
2,062.2

Sundry Fees, Licenses, Service Charges
University and College Receipts ........................
Mass Transit, Port, Aviation Income .................
Miscellaneous Taxes, and Other Receipts .........
Interest on Invested Funds..................................
District Courts Fines and Fees............................
State Lottery Receipts .........................................
Total .................................................................

2,870.1
369.2
2,200.2
189.5
97.0
552.6
6,278.6

3,091.6
395.0
2,369.5
170.2
91.3
577.1
6,694.6

3,247.2
393.0
2,683.5
87.0
89.4
552.3
7,052.4

3,377.8
388.6
2,307.3
50.2
87.3
562.5
6,773.8

3,559.1
373.7
3,209.5
54.0
86.5
566.2
7,848.9

Federal Receipts ................................................

6,441.9

6,561.3

7,758.9

9,825.0

10,308.8

Extraordinary Transfers
& Revenues (e) ................................................

-

-

7..9

28.0

3.7

Grand Total........................................................

$27,489.3

$28,626.8

$29,418.0

$31,177.9

$33,117.3

Income Taxes

_________
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)
(e)

The estimated revenues include the general fund estimate by the Board of Revenue Estimates on March 9, 2011 and the federal and special funds authorized in the State budget as
set forth in the fiscal year 2012 budget books.
The State has recorded revenues from individual income taxes on a modified accrual basis.
Legislation enacted by the General Assembly during the 2007 Special Session increased the sales tax rate from 5% to 6% effective January 3, 2008.
Legislation enacted by the General Assembly during the 2007 Special Session increased the cigarette tax rate from $1.00 per pack to $2.00 per pack effective January 1, 2008.
In fiscal year 2009, a $7.9 million GAAP surplus in the local income tax reserve account was transferred to the General Fund. In fiscal year 2010, an additional $28.0 million was
collected across various tax types due to a tax amnesty program. In fiscal year 2011, an additional $3.7 million is expected to be collected across various tax types due to payment
agreements enacted during the fiscal year 2010 tax amnesty program.

*Totals may not add due to rounding.
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STATE OF MARYLAND
Comparison of General Fund Revenues Collected
as of March 31, 2011
The following table compares actual cash collections for the period from July 1 to March 31 during fiscal
year 2011 with collections during that same period in the previous four fiscal years. The table does not reflect
accruals.
($ in millions)
Fiscal Years
2007
Individual Income Tax (a) (c) ...........
Corporate Income Tax (b) (c) ...........
Sales and Use Tax (c) ......................
State Lottery ...................................
Business Franchise Taxes..............
Tobacco Tax (c) ...............................
Insurance Taxes and Fees..............
Alcoholic Beverage Taxes ............
Death Taxes....................................
Clerks of Court...............................
Motor Fuel Taxes...........................
Highway User Revenues (d) ...........
Hospital Patient Recoveries ..........
Interest on Investments..................
District Court Fees.........................
Miscellaneous ................................
Total................................................
_________
(a)
(b)
(c)
(d)

$4,095.9
391.8
2,231.6
292.7
93.9
192.8
171.8
18.8
173.5
41.1
7.8
NA
70.1
78.0
72.9
163.6
$8,096.4

2008

2009

2010

2011

$4,309.1
325.9
2,357.4
334.4
101.1
217.4
179.7
19.0
188.4
36.4
7.8
NA
71.1
76.1
70.0
186.2
$8,480.2

$4,244.7
371.3
2,436.7
299.2
96.7
280.2
161.6
18.9
167.7
26.6
6.5
NA
58.3
52.7
67.5
122.3
$8,410.9

$4,008.3
359.7
2,292.1
320.0
94.1
275.2
162.7
19.1
128.7
28.1
7.2
NA
43.2
17.9
65.8
118.7
$7,940.7

$4,197.0
355.6
2,395.8
317.0
94.1
278.2
161.3
19.4
157.0
25.1
5.0
222.0
56.9
28.2
64.9
126.6
$8,504.1

The State has recorded revenues from individual income taxes on a modified accrual basis.
Fiscal year 2010 includes an extraordinary payment from a corporate taxpayer.
These taxes were increased on January 1 and January 3, 2008, by the General Assembly through actions taken at the 2007 special session. See “STATE FINANCES – State Revenues”
for details.
These revenues include existing transportation related taxes whose distributions were changed for fiscal years 2010 through 2012 in the fiscal year 2011 operating budget approved by the
General Assembly during the 2010 session. The fiscal year 2010 distribution was treated as a transfer.

*Totals may not add due to rounding.
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STATE OF MARYLAND
General Fund Revenues
Needed to Meet Estimates During the Last Three Months of Fiscal Year 2011
The following table compares: (1) the revenues needed during the period from April 1 to June 30, 2011
(including appropriate accruals), in order to meet the most recent official estimate of revenues for the 2011 fiscal
year with (2) actual collections for that same period during the previous four fiscal years (including appropriate
accruals).
($ in millions)
Fiscal Years

Individual Income Tax (a) (b) ...........
Corporate Income Tax (b) ...............
Sales and Use Tax (b) ......................
State Lottery ...................................
Business Franchise Taxes..............
Tobacco Tax (b) ...............................
Insurance Taxes and Fees..............
Alcoholic Beverage Taxes ............
Death Taxes....................................
Clerks of Court...............................
Motor Fuel Taxes...........................
Highway User Revenues (c) ...........
Hospital Patient Recoveries ..........
Interest on Investments..................
District Court Fees.........................
Miscellaneous ................................
Total................................................
_________
(a)
(b)
(c)

2007

2008

$2,583.2
198.0
1,188.5
180.5
112.7
85.4
111.5
9.9
50.9
11.2
5.4
NA
14.8
100.9
24.1
166.9
$4,843.8

$2,631.0
225.7
1,317.8
162.7
106.9
158.7
122.1
10.0
55.2
6.1
5.4
NA
15.4
90.4
21.3
136.7
$5,065.4

2009

2010

2011

$2,232.5
179.4
1,183.7
174.0
104.7
125.4
113.6
10.2
37.8
13.9
0.0
NA
38.2
30.3
21.9
216.0
$4,481.6

$2,169.9
329.7
1,230.6
171.0
108.4
130.7
114.3
10.8
44.8
7.4
1.2
NA
29.5
32.3
21.5
217.2
$4,619.4

$2,144.8
255.7
1,313.6
175.5
108.8
134.4
125.7
11.1
37.7
6.2
0.0
148.0
17.8
25.8
21.6
192.4
$4,719.1

The State has recorded revenues from individual income taxes on a modified accrual basis.
These taxes were increased on January 1 and January 3, 2008, by the General Assembly through actions taken at the 2007 special session. See “STATE FINANCES – State Revenues”
for details.
These revenues include existing transportation related taxes whose distributions were changed for fiscal years 2010 through 2012 in the fiscal year 2011 operating budget approved by the
General Assembly during the 2010 session. The fiscal year 2010 distribution was treated as a transfer.

*Totals may not add due to rounding.
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APPENDIX D
FORMS OF OPINIONS OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL
OF MARYLAND AND BOND COUNSEL
Form of Opinion of the Attorney General
(Date of Delivery)
Board of Public Works
State of Maryland
Annapolis, Maryland
J.P. Morgan Securities LLC
As Representative of the Underwriters
383 Madison Avenue
8th Floor
New York, NY 10179
Ladies and Gentlemen:
This opinion is rendered with respect to the $254,915,000 aggregate principal amount of the State of
Maryland General Obligation Bonds, State and Local Facilities Loan of 2011, Second Series E, Tax-Exempt
Refunding Bonds (the “Bonds”). The Bonds are issued pursuant to §§8-117 through 8-124, inclusive, and §8-131 of
the State Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of the State of Maryland (2009 Replacement
Volume, as amended), and §22 of Article 31 of the Annotated Code of the State of Maryland (2010 Replacement
Volume) (collectively, the “Acts”). The Bonds are being issued in fully registered form in denominations of $5,000
each or any integral multiple thereof, dated the date of their issuance and delivery, and bear interest and mature as
set forth in the Bonds. The Bonds are not subject to redemption prior to their respective maturities.
The Bonds are being issued in accordance with the resolutions of the Board of Public Works of the State of
Maryland (the “Board”) adopted on June 15, 2011, July 6, 2011 and July 27, 2011 (the “Resolutions”).
This Office has reviewed the Acts, the Resolutions and such other legal opinions and the originals or
certified copies of such resolutions, documents, records and other proofs as we deemed pertinent.
As to questions of fact material to this opinion, without undertaking to verify the same by independent
investigation, this Office has relied upon the certified proceedings of the Board and certifications by public officials.
This examination has been limited to the foregoing as they exist or are in effect as of the date hereof. This opinion
is limited to the matters expressly set forth herein, and I express no opinion concerning any other matters.
No opinion is expressed as to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of the Official Statement relating to
the Bonds, and no opinion is expressed regarding the federal income taxation of the interest payable on the Bonds.
Based on the foregoing, I am of the opinion as of the date hereof and under existing law that:
(a)
The Bonds have been duly authorized for issuance by the Board for the valid public
purposes stated in the Acts.
(b)
The Bonds have been lawfully issued and constitute valid and binding general obligations
of the State of Maryland to the payment of which, as to both principal and interest, the full faith and credit
and taxing power of the State are unconditionally pledged.
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(c)
By the terms of the Acts, the Bonds, their transfer, the interest payable thereon, and any
income derived therefrom, including any profit realized in the sale or exchange thereof, will be exempt
from taxation within the State of Maryland by the State or by any of its political subdivisions, municipal
corporations, or public agencies; no opinion is expressed as to estate or inheritance taxes, or any other taxes
not levied or assessed directly on the Bonds, their transfer, or the income therefrom.
(d)
The Bond Purchase Agreement dated September 14, 2011 (the “Bond Purchase
Agreement”), executed by the Maryland State Treasurer on behalf of the Board and by J.P. Morgan
Securities LLC as representative for and on behalf of the underwriters named therein (the
“Representative”), has been duly authorized by the Board, and duly executed and delivered by the
Treasurer and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the Representative, the Bond
Purchase Agreement is a legal, valid and binding agreement of the State, enforceable against it in
accordance with the terms thereof.
(e)
The Continuing Disclosure Agreement dated September 28, 2011, executed by the Board
has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Board and is a legal, valid and binding agreement
of the State, enforceable against it in accordance with the terms thereof.
(f)
The Escrow Deposit Agreement dated September 28, 2011 (the “Escrow Deposit
Agreement”), executed by the Maryland State Treasurer and by Citibank, N.A., as escrow deposit agent
(the “Escrow Deposit Agent”), has been duly authorized by the Board, and duly executed and delivered by
the Treasurer and, assuming the due authorization, execution and delivery by the Escrow Deposit Agent,
the Escrow Deposit Agreement is a legal, valid and binding agreement of the State, enforceable against it in
accordance with the terms thereof.
In rendering this opinion, I wish to advise you that the rights of the holders of the Bonds and the
enforceability thereof and of the documents identified in this opinion may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency,
reorganization, moratorium and other similar laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights generally, and their
enforcement may also be subject to the application of equitable principles and the exercise of judicial discretion in
appropriate cases.

Very truly yours,

[to be signed “Douglas F. Gansler
Attorney General”]
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Form of Opinion of Bond Counsel
(Date of Delivery)

Board of Public Works
State of Maryland
Annapolis, Maryland
Ladies and Gentlemen:
This opinion is rendered with respect to the $254,915,000 State of Maryland General Obligation
Bonds, State and Local Facilities Loan of 2011, Second Series E Tax-Exempt Refunding Bonds (the
“Bonds”). The Bonds are issued pursuant to §§8-117 through 8-124, inclusive, and §8-131 of the State
Finance and Procurement Article of the Annotated Code of the State of Maryland (2009 Replacement
Volume, as amended), and §22 of Article 31 of the Annotated Code of the State of Maryland (2010
Replacement Volume) (collectively, the “Acts”). The Bonds are being issued in fully registered form in
denominations of $5,000 each or any integral multiple thereof, dated the date of their issuance and
delivery, and bear interest and mature as set forth in the Bonds. The Bonds are subject to redemption
prior to maturity in the manner and upon the terms and conditions set forth in the respective Bonds.
The Bonds are being issued in accordance with the resolutions of the Board of Public Works of
the State of Maryland (the “Board”) adopted on June 15, 2011, July 6, 2011 and July 27, 2011 (the
“Resolutions”).
The Board, on behalf of the State of Maryland, has covenanted in a Tax Compliance Certificate
executed in connection with the issuance of the Bonds that it will comply with the requirements of §148
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the “Code”) pertaining to arbitrage bonds and stating
the reasonable expectations of the Board with respect to the proceeds on the date of issue of the Bonds.
Also, the Board has filed or caused to be filed with the Internal Revenue Service reports of the issuance of
the Bonds as required by §149(e) of the Code.
We have reviewed the Acts, the Resolutions and such other legal opinions and the originals or
certified copies of such resolutions, documents, records and other proofs as we deemed pertinent.
As to questions of fact material to our opinion, without undertaking to verify the same by
independent investigation, we have relied upon the certified proceedings of the Board and certifications
by public officials. Our examination has been limited to the foregoing as they exist or are in effect as of
the date hereof. Our opinion is limited to the matters expressly set forth herein, and we express no
opinion concerning any other matters.
Based on our examination of the foregoing, we are of the opinion as of the date hereof and under
existing law, as follows:
(a)
The Bonds have been duly authorized for issuance by the Board for the valid public
purposes stated in the Acts.
(b)
The Bonds have been lawfully issued and constitute valid and binding general obligations
of the State of Maryland to the payment of which, as to both principal and interest, the full faith and credit
and taxing power of the State are unconditionally pledged.
(c)
By the terms of the Acts, the Bonds, their transfer, and any income derived therefrom,
including any profit realized in the sale or exchange thereof, will be exempt from taxation within the State
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of Maryland by the State or by any of its political subdivisions, municipal corporations, or public
agencies; no opinion is expressed as to estate or inheritance taxes, or any other taxes not levied or
assessed directly on the Bonds, their transfer, or the income therefrom.
(d)
Interest on the Bonds is excludable from gross income for purposes of federal income tax
under existing laws as enacted and construed on the date of initial delivery of the Bonds, assuming the
accuracy of the certifications of the Board and the continuing compliance by the Board with its covenants
relating to the requirements of the Code. Interest on the Bonds is not an item of tax preference for
purposes of either individual or corporate federal alternative minimum tax (“AMT”); however, interest
paid to corporate holders of the Bonds (other than an S corporation, regulated investment company, or
real estate investment trust) may be indirectly subject to AMT because of its inclusion in the adjusted
current earnings of a corporate holder. We express no opinion regarding other federal tax consequences
relating to the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual of receipt of interest on, the Bonds.
Original issue premium on a Bond issued at an issue price that exceeds its principal amount, is
amortizable periodically over the term of such Bond through reductions in the holder’s tax basis for such
Bond for determining taxable gain or loss from sale or from redemption prior to maturity. Amortization of
premium does not create a deductible expense or loss.
In rendering our opinion, we wish to advise you that:
1.
The rights of the holders of the Bonds and the enforceability thereof and of the
documents identified in this opinion may be subject to bankruptcy, insolvency, reorganization,
arrangement, fraudulent conveyance, moratorium and other laws relating to or affecting creditors’ rights
heretofore or hereafter enacted to the extent constitutionally applicable, and their enforcement may also
be subject to the application of equitable principles and the exercise of judicial discretion in appropriate
cases.
2.
We express no opinion herein as to the accuracy, adequacy or completeness of any
offering material relating to the Bonds.
3.
Except as set forth above, we express no opinion regarding any other tax consequences
relating to the ownership or disposition of, or the accrual or receipt of interest on or the receipt of tax
credits relating to the Bonds.
4.
In rendering the opinions herein, we have relied, with permission, on the legal opinions
of the Attorney General. As to the opinions set forth in paragraph (d), the Attorney General expresses no
opinion and relies solely on the opinion of Ballard Spahr LLP.
This opinion is addressed to, and is solely for the benefit of, the Board and may not be relied
upon by any other person without our express written consent.
Very truly yours,
(to be signed by “Ballard Spahr LLP”)
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APPENDIX E

FORM OF CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT

This CONTINUING DISCLOSURE AGREEMENT (this “Disclosure Agreement”) dated as of
September 28, 2011 is executed and delivered by the State of Maryland (the “State”) in connection with the issuance
of its $254,915,000 General Obligation Bonds, State and Local Facilities Loan of 2011, Second Series E, TaxExempt Refunding Bonds (the “Bonds”). The Bonds are being issued pursuant to resolutions passed by the Board of
Public Works (the “Board”) on June 15, 2011, as amended and supplemented by resolutions adopted on July 6 and
July 27, 2011. The State, intending to be legally bound hereby and for good and valuable consideration, the receipt
and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, does hereby covenant and agree as follows:
Section 1.

Purpose of the Disclosure Agreement.

This Disclosure Agreement is being executed and delivered by the State for the benefit of the owners and
beneficial owners of the Bonds and in order to assist the Participating Underwriters in complying with Securities and
Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12(b)(5). The State’s obligations hereunder shall be limited to those required by
written undertaking pursuant to the Rule.
Section 2.

Definitions.

In addition to the definitions set forth above, which apply to any capitalized term used in this Disclosure
Agreement unless otherwise defined in this Section, the following capitalized terms shall have the following
meanings:
“Continuing Disclosure Service” shall mean the continuing disclosure service established by the
Municipal Securities Rulemaking Board known as the Electronic Municipal Market Access (“EMMA”) system.
“Listed Events” shall mean any of the events listed in Section 4(a) of this Disclosure Agreement.
“Participating Underwriter” shall mean any of the original underwriters of the Bonds required to comply
with the Rule in connection with offering of the Bonds.
“Rule” shall mean Rule 15c2-12(b)(5) adopted by the Securities and Exchange Commission under the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as the same may be amended from time to time, any successor provisions of
similar import promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission in the future, and any applicable no-action
and other authoritative interpretations of Rule 15c2-12 released by the Securities and Exchange Commission.
Section 3.

Provision of Annual Financial Information, Operating Data and Audited Information.

(a) The State shall provide to the Continuing Disclosure Service, annual financial information and
operating data as set forth in Schedule A to this Disclosure Agreement, such information and data to be updated as
of the end of the preceding fiscal year and made available within 275 days after the end of the fiscal year,
commencing with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2011.
(b) The State shall provide to the Continuing Disclosure Service, annual audited financial statements for the
State, such information to be made available within 275 days after the end of the State’s fiscal year, commencing
with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2011, unless the audited financial statements are not available on or before such
date, in which event said financial statements will be provided promptly when and if available. In the event that
audited financial statements are not available within 275 days after the end of the State’s fiscal year (commencing
with the fiscal year ending June 30, 2011), the State will provide unaudited financial statements within said time
period.
(c) Except as otherwise set forth in this paragraph (c), the presentation of the financial information referred
to in paragraph (a) and in paragraph (b) shall be made in accordance with the same accounting principles as utilized
in connection with the presentation of applicable comparable financial information included in the final official
statement for the Bonds.
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(1) The State may make changes to the presentation of the financial information required in
paragraph (a) and paragraph (b) necessitated by changes in Generally Accepted Accounting
Principles;
(2) The State may otherwise modify the presentation of the financial information required herein,
provided that this Disclosure Agreement is amended in accordance with Section 6 hereof.
(d) If the State is unable to provide the annual financial information and operating data within the
applicable time periods specified in (a) and (b) above, the State shall send in a timely manner a notice of such failure
to the Continuing Disclosure Service.
Section 4.

Reporting of Significant Events.

(a) This Section 4 shall govern the giving of notices of the occurrence of any of the following events with
respect to the Bonds:
(i)

principal and interest payment delinquencies;

(ii)

non-payment related defaults, if material;

(iii)

unscheduled draws on debt service reserves reflecting financial difficulties;

(iv)

unscheduled draws on credit enhancements reflecting financial difficulties;

(v)

substitution of credit or liquidity providers, or their failure to perform;

(vi)

adverse tax opinions, the issuance by the Internal Revenue Service of proposed or final
determinations of taxability, Notices of Proposed Issue (IRS Form 5701-TEB) or other
material notices or determinations with respect to the tax status of the security, or other
material events affecting the tax status of the security;

(vii)

modifications to rights of security holders, if material;

(viii)

bond calls, if material, and tender offers;

(ix)

defeasances;

(x)

release, substitution, or sale of property securing repayment of the securities, if material;

(xi)

rating changes;

(xii)

bankruptcy, insolvency, receivership or similar event of the obligated person;

(xiii)

the consummation of a merger, consolidation, or acquisition involving an obligated person or
the sale of all or substantially all of the assets of the obligated person, other than in the
ordinary course of business, the entry into a definitive agreement to undertake such an action
or the termination of a definitive agreement relating to any such actions, other than pursuant
to its terms, if material; and

(xiv)

appointment of a successor or additional trustee, or the change of name of a trustee, if
material.

(b) Whenever the State obtains knowledge of the occurrence of a Listed Event, the State shall promptly, not
in excess of ten (10) business days after the occurrence of such event, file a notice of such occurrence with the
Continuing Disclosure Service.
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Section 5.

Termination of Reporting Obligation.

The State’s obligations under this Disclosure Agreement shall terminate upon the payment in full of all of
the Bonds either at their maturity or by early redemption. In addition, the State may terminate its obligations under
this Disclosure Agreement if and when the State no longer remains an obligated person with respect to the Bonds
within the meaning of Securities and Exchange Commission Rule 15c2-12.
Section 6.

Amendment.

The State may provide further or additional assurances that will become part of the State’s obligations
under this Disclosure Agreement. In addition, this Disclosure Agreement may be amended by the State in its
discretion provided that: (i) the amendment may only be made in connection with a change in circumstances that
arises from a change in legal requirements, change in law, or change in the identity, nature, or status of the State as
the obligated person with respect to the Bonds, or type of business conducted; (ii) the Disclosure Agreement, as
amended, would have complied with the requirements of the Rule at the time of the issuance of the Bonds, after
taking into account any amendments or interpretations of the Rule, as well as any change in circumstances; and (iii)
the amendment does not materially impair the interests of holders of the Bonds, as determined by counsel selected
by the State that is expert in federal securities law matters. The reasons for the State agreeing to provide any further
or additional assurances or for any amendment and the impact of the change in the type of operating data or
financial information being provided will be explained in information provided with the annual financial
information containing the additional or amended operating data or financial information.
Section 7.

Additional Information.

Nothing in this Disclosure Agreement shall be deemed to prevent the State from disseminating any other
information, using the means of dissemination set forth in this Disclosure Agreement or any other means of
communication, or including any other information in any disclosure made pursuant to Section 4(a) or (b) hereof or
notice of occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is required by this Disclosure Agreement. If the
State chooses to include any information in any disclosure made pursuant to Section 4(a) or (b) hereof or notice of
occurrence of a Listed Event in addition to that which is specifically required by this Disclosure Agreement, the
State shall have no obligation under this Disclosure Agreement to update such information or include it in any future
disclosure made pursuant to Section 4(a) or (b) hereof or notice of occurrence of a Listed Event.
Section 8.

Law of Maryland.

This Disclosure Agreement, and any claim made with respect to the performance by the State of its
obligations hereunder, shall be governed by, subject to, and construed according to the laws of the State of Maryland
or the federal law.
Section 9.

Limitation of Forum.

Any suit or other proceeding seeking redress with regard to any claimed failure by the State to perform its
obligations under this Disclosure Agreement must be filed in the Circuit Court for Anne Arundel County, Maryland.
Section 10.

Limitation on Remedies.

The State shall be given written notice at the address set forth below of any claimed failure by the State to
perform its obligations under the Disclosure Agreement, and the State shall be given 45 days to remedy any such
claimed failure. Any suit or other proceeding seeking further redress with regard to any such claimed failure by the
State shall be limited to specific performance as the adequate and exclusive remedy available in connection with
such action. Written notice to the State shall be given to the State Treasurer, Louis L. Goldstein Treasury Building,
80 Calvert Street, Annapolis, Maryland 21401, or at such alternate address as shall be specified by the State with
disclosures made pursuant to Section 4(a) or 4(b) hereof or a notice of occurrence of a Listed Event.
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Section 11.

Relationship to Bonds.

The Disclosure Agreement constitutes an undertaking by the State that is independent of the State’s
obligations with respect to the Bonds; any breach or default by the State under this Disclosure Agreement shall not
constitute or give rise to a breach or default under the Bonds.
Section 12.

Beneficiaries.

This Disclosure Agreement shall inure solely to the benefit of the owners and beneficial owners from time
to time of the Bonds, and shall create no rights in any other person or entity.
IN WITNESS WHEREOF this Continuing Disclosure Agreement is being executed by the Board of
Public Works on behalf of the State of Maryland as of this 28th day of September, 2011.

STATE OF MARYLAND

By:__________________________________
Martin O’Malley, Governor

By:__________________________________
Peter Franchot, Comptroller

By:__________________________________
Nancy K. Kopp, Treasurer
as Members of the Board of Public
Works of the State of Maryland
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Schedule A

(1) Summary of Outstanding Tax-Supported Debt.
(2) Summary of State Revenues and Expenditures.
(3) Summary of General Fund Balances.
(4) Summary of State Reserve Fund.
(5) Budget for Current Fiscal Year.
(6) Description of material litigation based on the accountant’s report contained in the Comprehensive Annual
Financial Report.
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APPENDIX F
Book-Entry Only System

Book-Entry Only System — General. The Depository Trust Company (“DTC”), New York, New York,
will act as securities depository for the Bonds. The Bonds will be issued as fully-registered securities registered in
the name of Cede & Co. (DTC’s partnership nominee) or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. One fully-registered bond will be issued for each maturity of the Bonds in principal amount
equal to the aggregate principal amount of the Bonds of such maturity, and will be deposited with DTC.
DTC, the world’s largest depository, is a limited-purpose trust company organized under the New York
Banking Law, a “banking organization” within the meaning of the New York Banking Law, a member of the
Federal Reserve System, a “clearing corporation” within the meaning of the New York Uniform Commercial Code,
and a “clearing agency” registered pursuant to the provisions of §17A of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934. DTC
holds and provides asset servicing for over 3.5 million issues of U.S. and non-U.S. equity issues, corporate and
municipal debt issues, and money market instruments from over 100 countries that DTC’s participants (“Direct
Participants”) deposit with DTC. DTC also facilitates the post-trade settlement among Direct Participants of sales
and other securities transactions in deposited securities, through electronic computerized book-entry transfers and
pledges between Direct Participants’ accounts. This eliminates the need for physical movement of securities
certificates. Direct Participants include both U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust
companies, clearing corporations, and certain other organizations. DTC is a wholly-owned subsidiary of The
Depository Trust & Clearing Corporation (“DTCC”). DTCC is the holding company for DTC and Fixed Income
Clearing Corporation, all of which are registered clearing agencies. DTCC is owned by the users of its regulated
subsidiaries, as well as by the New York Stock Exchange, Inc., the American Stock Exchange, LLC, and the
National Association of Securities Dealers, Inc. Access to the DTC system is also available to others such as both
U.S. and non-U.S. securities brokers and dealers, banks, trust companies, and clearing corporations that clear
through or maintain a custodial relationship with a Direct Participant, either directly or indirectly (“Indirect
Participants”). Standard & Poor’s has assigned DTC a rating of AA+. The DTC Rules applicable to its Participants
are on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission. More information about DTC can be found at
www.dtcc.com.
Purchases of Bonds under the DTC system must be made by or through Direct Participants, which will
receive a credit for the Bonds on DTC’s records. The ownership interest of each actual purchaser of each Bond
(“Beneficial Owner”) is in turn to be recorded on the Direct and Indirect Participants’ records. Beneficial Owners
will not receive written confirmation from DTC of their purchase. Beneficial Owners are, however, expected to
receive written confirmations providing details of the transaction, as well as periodic statements of their holdings,
from the Direct or Indirect Participant through which the Beneficial Owner entered into the transaction. Transfers of
ownership interests in the Bonds are to be accomplished by entries made on the books of Direct and Indirect
Participants acting on behalf of Beneficial Owners. Beneficial Owners will not receive certificates representing their
ownership interests in Bonds, except in the event that use of the book-entry system for the Bonds is discontinued.
To facilitate subsequent transfers, all Bonds deposited by Direct Participants with DTC are registered in the
name of DTC’s partnership nominee, Cede & Co., or such other name as may be requested by an authorized
representative of DTC. The deposit of Bonds with DTC and their registration in the name of Cede & Co. or such
other DTC nominee do not effect any change in beneficial ownership. DTC has no knowledge of the actual
Beneficial Owners of the Bonds; DTC’s records reflect only the identity of the Direct Participants to whose accounts
such Bonds are credited, which may or may not be the Beneficial Owners. The Direct and Indirect Participants will
remain responsible for keeping account of their holdings on behalf of their customers.
Conveyance of notices and other communications by DTC to Direct Participants, by Direct Participants to
Indirect Participants, and by Direct Participants and Indirect Participants to Beneficial Owners will be governed by
arrangements among them, subject to any statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time.
Redemption notices shall be sent to DTC. If less than all of the Bonds are being redeemed, DTC’s practice
is to determine by lot the amount of the interest of each Direct Participant in such Bonds to be redeemed.
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Neither DTC nor Cede & Co. (nor any other DTC nominee) will consent or vote with respect to the Bonds.
Under its usual procedures, DTC mails an Omnibus Proxy to the Issuer as soon as possible after the record date. The
Omnibus Proxy assigns Cede & Co.’s consenting or voting rights to those Direct Participants to whose accounts the
Bonds are credited on the record date (identified in a listing attached to the Omnibus Proxy).
Principal and interest payments on the Bonds will be made to Cede & Co., or such other nominee as may
be requested by an authorized representative of DTC. DTC’s practice is to credit Direct Participants’ accounts upon
DTC’s receipt of funds and corresponding detail information from the State or the Paying Agent, on payable date in
accordance with their respective holdings shown on DTC’s records. Payments by Direct and Indirect Participants to
Beneficial Owners will be governed by standing instructions and customary practices, as is the case with securities
held for the accounts of customers in bearer form or registered in “street name,” and will be the responsibility of
such Direct or Indirect Participant and not of DTC, DTC’s nominee, the Paying Agent or the State, subject to any
statutory or regulatory requirements as may be in effect from time to time. Payment of principal and interest to Cede
& Co. (or such other nominee as may be requested by an authorized representative of DTC) is the responsibility of
the State or its Paying Agent, disbursement of such payments to Direct Participants shall be the responsibility of
DTC, and disbursement of such payments to the Beneficial Owners shall be the responsibility of Direct and Indirect
Participants.
Book-Entry Only System — Miscellaneous. The information in the Section “Book-Entry Only System —
General” has been obtained from DTC. The State takes no responsibility for the accuracy or completeness thereof.
The State will have no responsibility or obligations to DTC Participants or the persons for whom they act as
nominees with respect to the payments to or the providing of notice to the DTC Participants, or the Indirect
Participants, or Beneficial Owners. The State cannot and does not give any assurance that DTC Participants or
others will distribute principal and interest payments paid to DTC or its nominees, as the registered owner, or any
redemption or other notices, to the Beneficial Owners, or that they will do so on a timely basis or that DTC will
serve and act in the manner described in this Official Statement.
Discontinuation of Book-Entry Only System. DTC may discontinue providing its services as securities
depository with respect to the Bonds at any time by giving reasonable notice to the State. Under such circumstances,
in the event that a successor securities depository is not obtained, bond certificates are required to be printed and
delivered. The State may also decide to discontinue use of the system of book-entry transfers through DTC (or a
successor securities depository). In that event, bond certificates will be printed and delivered.
In the event that the Book-Entry Only System is discontinued, the Bonds in fully certificated form will be
issued as fully registered bonds without coupons in the denomination of $5,000 each or any integral multiple
thereof. Such Bonds will be transferable only upon the registration books kept at the principal office of the Bond
Registrar, by the registered owner thereof in person, or by an attorney duly authorized in writing, upon surrender
thereof together with a written instrument of transfer in the form attached thereto and satisfactory to the Bond
Registrar, and duly executed by the registered owner or a duly authorized attorney. Within a reasonable time of such
surrender, the State shall cause to be issued in the name of the transferee a new registered bond or bonds of any of
the authorized denominations in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the Bond
surrendered and maturing on the same date and bearing interest at the same rate. The new bond or bonds shall be
delivered to the transferee only after due authentication by an authorized officer of the Bond Registrar. The State
may deem and treat the person in whose name a bond is registered as the absolute owner thereof for the purpose of
receiving payment of or on account of the principal or redemption price thereof and interest due thereon and for all
other purposes.
In the event that the Book-Entry Only System is discontinued, the Bonds may be transferred or exchanged
at the principal office of the Bond Registrar. Upon any such transfer or exchange, the State shall execute and the
Bond Registrar shall authenticate and deliver a new registered bond or bonds without coupons of any of the
authorized denominations in an aggregate principal amount equal to the principal amount of the bond exchanged or
transferred, and maturing on the same date and bearing interest at the same rate. In each case, the Bond Registrar
may require payment by any holder of Bonds requesting exchange or transfer of Bonds of any tax, fee or other
governmental charge, shipping charges and insurance that may be required to be paid with respect to such exchange
or transfer, but otherwise no charge shall be made to the holder of Bonds for such exchange or transfer.
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The Bond Registrar shall not be required to transfer or exchange any Bond after the mailing of notice
calling such Bond or portion thereof for redemption as previously described; provided, however, that the foregoing
limitation shall not apply to that portion of a Bond in excess of $5,000 which is not being called for redemption.
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APPENDIX G
2011 PENSION REFORMS SUMMARY
Employees’ and Teachers’ Pension System, Alternate Contributory Pension Selection
Members at June 30, 2011
Changes effective for service earned on and after 7/1/2011

Employee
contribution

Through 6/30/2011

Approved Reforms - Effective 7/1/2011

5% of Annual Earnable
Compensation

7% of Annual Earnable Compensation

Compound COLA remains linked to CPI but capped at:

Cost-of-Living
Adjustment

Compound Annual Retiree
COLA linked to Consumer Price
Index (CPI) with a cap of 3% per
year

2.5% if assumed rate of return* for investments in prior
year is achieved.
1% if assumed rate is not met
(Applies to credit earned by current and new employees
on or after 7/1/2011)
*Assumed rate of return is currently 7.75%
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Employees’ and Teachers’ Pension System, Reformed Contributory Pension Benefit (established July 1, 2011)
New Hires -- employed on or after 7/1/2011
Approved Reforms - Effective 7/1/2011
Employee
Contribution

7%

Benefit Multiplier

1.5%

Average Final
Compensation

Calculate using highest 5 consecutive years

Full Service
Retirement

Rule of 90
(sum of age and eligibility service must equal 90)
or
age 65 with 10 years eligibility service

Early Service
Retirement

Age 60 and 15 years eligibility service

Vesting

10 years eligibility service

Compound COLA remains linked to CPI but capped at:
Cost-of-Living
Adjustment
(COLA)

2.5% if assumed rate of return* for investments in prior
year is achieved.
1% if assumed rate is not met
*Assumed rate of return is currently 7.75%
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State Police Retirement System (SPRS)

Approved Reforms - Effective 7/1/2011

Through 6/30/2011
Average Final
Compensation

Calculate using 3 years of highest
compensation

Calculate using 5 years of highest compensation
(new hires only)

Full Service
Retirement

Age 50 or 22 years

Age 50 or 25 years (new hires only)

Vesting

5 years

10 years (new hires only)

Compound COLA remains linked to CPI but capped at:
2.5% if assumed rate of return* for investments in prior
year is achieved.
Cost-of-Living
Adjustment
(COLA)

Unlimited annual compound
COLA linked to Consumer Price
Index (CPI)

1% if assumed rate not met
(Applies to credit earned by current and new employees
on or after 7/1/2011)
*Assumed rate of return is currently 7.75%

Deferred
Retirement Option
Program

Accounts earn interest at rate of 4% compounded
annually (applies to DROP accounts set up by current and
new employees on and after July 1, 2011)

Accounts earn interest at rate of
6% compounded monthly
Eligibility up to 28 years of service

Eligibility between 25 and 29 years of service and less
than age 60
(applies to new hires only)
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Correctional Officers’ Retirement System (CORS)

Approved Reforms - Effective 7/1/2011

Through 6/30/2011
Average Final
Compensation

Calculate using 3 years of
highest compensation

Calculate using 5 years of highest compensation
(new hires only)

Vesting

5 years

10 years (new hires only)

Compound COLA remains linked to CPI but capped at:
2.5% if assumed rate of return * for investments in prior
year is achieved.
Cost-of-Living
Adjustment

Unlimited annual compound
COLA linked to Consumer Price
Index (CPI)

1% if assumed rate not met
(Applies to credit earned by current and new employees
on or after 7/1/2011)
*Assumed rate of return is currently 7.75%
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Law Enforcement Officers’ Pension System (LEOPS)

Through 6/30/2011

Approved Reforms - Effective 7/1/2011

Employee
Contribution

4% of earnable compensation

6% of earnable compensation for FY 2012 and 7% of
salary for FY 2013 and beyond
(current employees and new hires)

Average Final
Compensation

Calculate using 3 highest
consecutive years of compensation

Calculated using 5 highest consecutive years of
compensation (new hires only)

Vesting

5 years

10 years (new hires only)

Compound COLA remains linked to CPI but capped at:
2.5% if assumed rate of return* for investments in prior
year is achieved.
Cost-of-Living
Adjustment

Compound Annual Retiree COLA
linked to Consumer Price Index
(CPI) with a cap of 3% per year

1% if assumed rate not met
(Applies to credit earned by current and new employees
on or after 7/1/2011)
*Assumed rate of return is currently 7.75%

Deferred
Retirement Option
Program (DROP)

Accounts earn interest at rate of 4% compounded
annually
(applies to DROP accounts set up by current and new
employees on and after 7/1/2011)

Accounts earn interest at rate of
6% compounded monthly
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